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COUNTER-CASE OF THE UNITED STATES OF
VENEZUELA

L—-INTRODUCTION.

Pursuant to Article VII of the Treaty of Arbitration
signed at Washington on the 2nd day of February, 1897,
between the United States of Venezuela and Her
Majesty, the Queen of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Ireland, the Agent of Venezuela, before the
Arbitral Tribunal, has the honor to submit the present
Counter-Case, accompanied by an Appendix, in two vol-
umes, and an Atlas. Said Appendix, pursuant to the
provisions of the Treaty of Arbitration, contains addi-
tional documents, correspondence and evidence in reply
to the Case, documents, correspondence and evidence
heretofore presented by Great Britain.

At later stages of this proceeding, and in compliance
with the provisions of Article VIII of the Treaty of
Arbitration, Venezuela will present to the Arbitral
Tribunal printed and oral arguments in support of its
contentions.

The object of the present Counter-Cuse will, in part,
be to examine the statements of the British Case with
a view to ascertaining the attitude of Great Britain
towards the present controversy.

Incidentally some of those statements will be refuted :
yet this will not be the main purpose of the examina.
tion. The important thing, at present, is to discover
where (Great Britain stands; what exactly is her theory
of the pending controversy. Her formal stand is well
known : she claims the disputed area because she alleges
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Purpose of Coun- it to have been Dutch; Duteh in its oceupation, Duteh

ter-Case,

in its settlement, Dutch in its control. But it is believed
that this is far from being a complete statement of her
position.

The British Case contains admissions, denials and
allegations. Certain of these admaissions, because they
relate to facts of first-rate importance which have here
tofore been in controversy, constitute an acknowledgment
that further controversy over them is useless, Certain
of the denials and allegations are clearly of the nature
of formal pleadings, made without regard to the
evidence: they should be accepted as such. Thus viewed
they serve to indicate points which Great Britain regards
as strategic—to be maintained at all hazards. These
admissions, denials and allegations taken together dis-
close the defenses behind the line. If the British Case
has been rested upon these defenses because no others
were available, if the position taken is one of constraint
and not of choice, as indeed appears to be the case, then
these defenses are full of significance. The primary
object of this Counter-Case will be to ascertain that
significance.

It has been said that éncidentally some of the state-
ments of the British Case would be refuted. It should
be noted in this connection that,so far as disclosed by
the two Cases already submitted, the two Governments
are substantially agreed as to many important facts.

Such agreement is, indeed, not always immediately
apparent, for the same fact assumes quite different
aspects according to the manner of its presentation and
the significance accorded it. With regard to other facts
real differences exist, and as to these an appeal can lie
only to the evidence itself.

The consideration of this evidence and the reasons to
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he urged in support of the contentions of each govern- (o Purpose of Coun-
ment will be proper subjects for the printed and oral

arguments to be submitted later. For the present, as

already stated, what is sought is to throw light upon

(Great Britain’s atfitude rather than to refute the state-

ments in her Case.

In doing this it will be necessary to comsider and
briefly to comment upon some of the allegations of
that Case; to note some of its admissions; to supple-
ment some of its statements; and to correct some asser.
tions which, if unchallenged, might tend to create con-
fusion. So far as possible, however, repetition of what
has been set forth in the Case already submitted by
Venezuela will be avoided. That Case it is believed
contains a sofficient expression of Venezuela's views
regarding the questions in controversy; and in view of
that fact it is not deemed necessary to make any formal
traverse at this time of such allegations in the British
Case as may be inconsistent with those views.

The present Counter-Case is submitted for the pur.
poses thus stated.






II.—GEOGRAPHIOCAL.

In the Case heretofore submitted by Venezuela the
facts out of which the present controversy arose were
set forth in a sequence which was believed to be both
logical and convenient.

The present statement being in the nature of an
answer to the British Case, its purpose will probably be
better served if the special facta to which it is proposed
to iunvite the attention of the Arbitral Tribunal be
treated more nearly in the order in which they are
presented by that Case. That order will, in the main,
be followed ; yet, as the allegations to be considered are
isolated statementa taken from the connected story of
which they form a part, it will not always be possible
to adhere strictly either to the order of those statements
or to the narrative itself.

The first section of the opening chapter of the British
Case presents little difficulty in this regard, since its
purpose is merely to give a geographical description of
the territory in dispute. The significance of that de-
seription will be better appreciated if it be considered
in connection with some of the mape submitted with it.

Map No. 8 of the British Atlas divides the entire
tervitory into dratnage basins. One of these, therein
designated as the Barima Waini Basin, is bounded
on the west by a line drawn about midway between
the Amacura and the Barima rivers. This is a die
tinet recognition of the Amacura as a part of the
Orinoco Basin, and constitutes a claim that the Barima
and the Waini together form a different and independ.
ent basin by themselves,

Introduction.
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Whether or not this elaim be sound theoretically—and
the evidence 18 certainly against it—it 18 difficult to see
what practical value can attach to a boundary which
in every other respect must be purely fanciful. That it
is fanciful, and for all practical purposes worthless, is
testified to by no less an authority than Sir Robert
Schomburgk himself, who in his report of June 22,
1841, after establishing to his own satisfaction the “ uo-
doubted right of Her Majesty to the Barima, with all
the tributary streams which fall into it,” thus continues:

““But a8 in the demarcation of a territory it is of great
‘“ importance to fix upon s line of boundary which is permanent
‘““and fixed in nature, and which canunot be destroyed by human
““ hands, I thought it advisable to claim the eastern or right bank
““ of the River Amacura, preserving for Her Majeaty, or for such of
““ her subjects as may deem it advantageous for their purposes,
““ the same rights to the navigation and fisheries of that stream
““ as the Venezuelans may claim hereafter.” '

The action of the British (Government in subsequently
adopting the Schomburgk Line as the boundary in this
locality proves that it too is of opinion that this line
between the Barima and the Amacura is a purely
artificial one, not “permanent and fixed in nature,” nor
opposing any obstacle to the westward or eastward
march of empire.

The statement of the British Case itself on this point
is entirely in line with this suggestion of Map No. 3.
That Case alleges that the Orinoco Delta is bounded on
the east by the main stream of the Orinoco and that,

““The low lund on the coast to the east of the Orinoco has no
““ connection with the Orinoco delts, having been formed by the
““ detritns brought down by the rivers to the esstward of the
“* Orinoco, and carried westward under the influence of the west.
““ erly current and the prevailing wind on that coast.” *

! Britiah Case, Appendix, VII, p. 18.
? British Case, p. 8, lines 8-14.
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The correctness of this statement is certainly chal- Orinoco deits.
lenged ; but in any event, Venezuela considers that,
whether correct or not, this theory can have no possible
influence upon the present controversy. In the Case of
Venezuela it was stated that af present the region there
designated the Orinoco Delta Region, is geographically
and politically a unit.' If its present unity, from a geo-
graphiocal and political standpoint be admitted, it can be
matter of small consequence whether in remote ages,
before the advent of man, geological forces were at
work upon one or upon two drainage basins. The
title to a delta region is not derived by following the
detritus to its place of deposit, hut is rested upon the
relation of the delta to the security of the nation that
possesses the river. Whatever importance may be
attached, under the general principles of International
Law, to the division of a country into drainage basins,
that importance must rest, not upon theoretical but
upon practical considerations; it is not imaginary but
real barriers that are to be sought for.

In the case of the Amacura and the Barima, a glance
at the map must remove any doubt as to the present
relations of those streams to each other. Whatever
their geological history, it is a fact that fo-day they form
with the Orinoco, Imataca, Aguire, Arature and Waini,
a single network of waterways. So completely inter-
laced are the water courses in this delta swamp, so flat
and featureless 18 the district, so variable is the run off
in its sluggish bayous and sloughs, that, within the limits
of tide water, natural drainage basins do not exist.
The joining of the Barima and Waini into one, under the
designation of the Barima-Waini Basin, and the separa.
tion of this from the Orinoco Basin, is purely fanciful

I Venezoelan Case, p. 34.
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The Geographical part of the introduction to the
British Case presents another point worthy of notice.

Map~No. 3 of the British Atlas shows the limit of
the Cuyuni savannas. According to evidence here-
with submitted' it appears that the forest region extends
some leagues west of the great bend of the Cuyuni
river. It appears then that Spanish posts of the last
century, notably the Curumo Fort, had penetrated
beyond the savannas and into the forest region. These
posts had, therefore, crossed this seeming barrier of
wood ; had pushed well into the tropical jungle, and
had crossed the Cuyuni river. On the southern bank
of that river, in the very heart of the forest, a military
poet had been erected; a post from which Spanish
control continued to make itself felt throughout the
entire Cuyuni-Mazaruni Basin down to the lowest falls
of those streams. This Spanish oceupation and control
of the Cuyuni-Mazaruni forest is significant.

That all geographical matters may be disposed of
together, a statement in the next section of the British
Case may profitably be anticipated here. The following
is the statement referred to:

“In 1628 assistants were engaged ‘to lie on the Wild Coaxt’
—a name by which the coast between the Essequibo and the
Orinoco hud become well known.”?

This definition of the phrase “ Wild Coast™ is an in-
advertence whose repetition cannot be too earnestly
protested against. Not “the coast hetween the Esse-
quibo and the Orinoco,” but the whole coast of Guiana,
Jrom the Orinoco to the Amazon, was what the Dutch
called the Wild Coast. For this, as every scholar
knows, it was their current and accepted name. No
cage has ever been adduced, no case can be adduced, of

1 Affidavit of E J. Monge, fn Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 8.
British Case, p. 25, linea 29-82, '
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)

its use in any narrower sense. It is important that this , Defnition of

be from the outset clearly understood.

“ Wild Ooaat.”

Before passing to the next chapter it will be well to Great Britain's

inquire whether the present one throws any light upon
(Great Britain’s attitude towards the controversy. W hat,
for instance, is the significance of the separation claimed
to exist between the Barima- Waini Basin on the one
hand, and the ('rénoco Basin on the other

If Venezuela be correct in maintaining that no such
separation exista; that the so-called * Barima-Waini
Basin " is wholly fanciful ; that the separation itself is
based upon a misconception as to the present relations
of the coast streams which flow into the Orinoco and
which mingle their waters together; that a division
hetween the Barima and the Waini would be quite as
logical as a division between the Barima and the Ama-
cura; that in fact the division relied upon by the
Rritish case is wholly without practical value ; then the
fact that such division is alleged, and that, in part, the
British Case rests upon it, is full of meaning.

It discloses a recognition on the part of Great Britain
of the necessity for a barrier between the Orinoco, on
the one hand, and the Barima and Waini, on the other.
It shows a realization of the fact that but for such
barrier the constructive occupation of the latter rivers
by the Spaniards of Santo Thomé cannot be excluded.
It brings to light a well grounded fear that if the Barima

ocoast region.

and the Waini shall be held to be one with the Orinoco, |

the two smaller streams must perforce go with the
larger. The present unity of these rivers is not ven-
tured to be questioned; and, the fact that an appeal
should have to be made to ages gone by, and to condi-
tions which if they ever existed have long since passed
awsy, is itself the best possible proof that no such
separation exists to-day.
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The attempt to prove the existenee of two separate
basins may fail, but the fact that the effort has been
made throws light upon Great Britain's attitude. It
shows an appreciation of the paramount importance of
divorcing the Barima from the Orinoco, if the British
hold upon the Barima is to continue. Dutch settlement
in that region cannot be made the basis of British title
for no Dutch settlement ever existed there. The
physical conditions of to-day cannot be invoked to cut
the region loose from the Orinoco and to link it to the
Essequibo, for those physical conditions bind the region
to the Orinoco so closely that, if in times gone by, they
were ever two, all traces of such duality have vanished.
A theory of geologic origin 18 alone left. It is not
strange that this theory should be seized and built
upon ; but the house thereon erected is a house which
cannot withstand the winds and storns of controversy,
for it is a house built upon the sand.



III.—HISTORIOAL RESUME.

The Geographical part of the introduction to the British Introduction

Case is followed by a section entitled ethnological,
and this again by another section which is entitled
historical—which latter constitutes a résumé of many of
the points in controversy.

This historical résumé, as well as the section immedi-
ately preceding it, deals also with certain special sub-
jects, which in this Counter.Case will be treated later by
themselves. These subjects include Dutch trade, and
the nature and effect of Dutch, British and Spanish rela-
tions with the Indians,

Other subjects touched upon in this résumé are dealt
with more at length in the succeeding chapters of the
British Case, and their consideration may therefore be
postponed until those chapters shall have been reached.
A distinet advantage, however, is to be derived from
an examination of this introductory British bird's-eye
view of the entire question; and to this, therefore, the
present chapter will be devoted.

As already stated, it 18 gratifying to note that upon
many important points the two governments are sub-
stantially agreed.

It is admitted, for instance, that the Spaniards were
the first to discover and the first to settle Guiana;
that the earliest Dutch voyage to that coast was full
two years after the founding of Santo Thomé on the

14 Tha Gret pavigator who sighted the coast of Guiana was a Span-
fard.” British Case, p. 30, lines 8-10. * In 1581, Antonio de Berrio came
down * * * the Orinoco * * . Berrio's actions gave the Span-
iards their first looting in Guaysna. and led to the settlemeat of Baato
Thomé.” Same, p. 30, lines 33-35.

British Admissinns



12 MISTORICAL RESUME

Britsh Admisions. South bank of the Orinoco;' that the Dutch atfacks

on Santo Thomé and Tnmria.d in 1629 and 1637 were
mere raids which resulted in the pillage and burning of
Epanmamanta, but which were ineffectual to dis-
possess their Spanish occupants ;' that the title
of the Netherlands to the Dutch establishments on
the coast of Guiana was confirmed hjr Eplm through
the Trent}r of Miinster ? that the attempted Pomeroon
colony of 16568 came to an end at the hands of the
British in 1666 ;* that the second attempt at a similar

tuluny in IEBE was fruatrat.ed hjl" the French ;* that the

——

the gathering in of the Indians under missionaries, in
the subjection of these Indians to Spanish control, and
in their instruction and employment in ecattle-farming ;®
that the Dutch Cuyuni Post of 1764-1758 was destroyed
by the Spaniards ;7 that Dutch smugglers and sojourners
—dignified in the British Case by the more imposing
but guite unwarranted title of settlers and residents—
were ejected from the Barima by Spanish officials sent

14 The site of the village [Santo Thom#é] * * * was visited in
1585 or 1508 by Keymia. * * * [a 1508, the Dutchman Cabeliau
arrived on the coast of Guiana." British Case, pp. 20-21, lines 88-1,
83-34. After theadvent * * #* of the Dutch in (st the latest) 1608."
British Case, p. 24, lines 20-31.

" Tn 1620, and agsin in 1887, they [the Dutch] sacked the settlement
of Banto Thomé, and in the latter year they also raided the laland of
Trinidad.” Britisxh Case, pp. 12-13; lines &5-47, 1.

#°In 1648 * * ®* tho BtatesUeneral obtained from Spain, by a
special Treaty at Mioster, etc.,, ®* * * and were confirmed in the
possession of all the * * * country which they then held." British
Case, p. 18, lines 1429,

‘In 1868 ®* * * i{he Pomeroon was seitled * * * the whole
Colony, including Pomeroon and Easequibo, was oocupied for a short
time in 1886 by British forces.” British Case, p. 18, lines 25-34.

%4 This new [Fomercon] settlement was in 1889 destroyed by the
French.” British Case, p. 18, lines 40-41.

**' In these Missions [of the Catalonian Capuchins] the Indisns were
gathered together and employed in cattle farming."” British Case, p.
14, lines 41-48,

7' In 1758 the Bpanish authoritiea ® * * sant a secret expedition,
which surprised and destroyed the [Dutch] Post [on the Cuyuni]. British
Case, pp. 14-15, lines 40-50, 1-2,
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there to clear them out;' and, finally, that the sole title
of Great Britain to British Guiana is the title conveyed
to her by the Dutch in 18141

These facts are now undisputed, but beyond these
the British Case contains other admissions, some of
them too important to pass unnoticed.

For instance, it is stated that

““ After the conclusion of the Trealy of Miinster greal sxien-
““ gions of their possessions in Guiaua were made by the Dutch;"?

and again that,

“[n addition to thess indications of actnal possession, the
* Duteh throughont the period of their occupation were con-
“ tinually increasing their political control.”¢

The importance and significance of these admissions
it would be difficult to overestimate: By the Treaty
of Minster the Dutch received from Spain, in 1848, a quit-
claim to what l‘-heyﬂbmgonamd ® not to any subsequent
ertension of those possessions at Spanish expense. By

that Treaty also the Dutch agreed to respect Spanish
possessions, and to acquire no_more ﬂpmmh territory.*

14 Tha Bpaniards from time to time condocted raiding expeditions
down the cosst. ®* * * They raided the property of Dutchmen setiled
in Barima, and Spanish vessels several times arrested Dutch fshing
veasels in the Orinoco on charges of smuggling.” British Case, p. 18,
lines 8844,

su It [the Dulch Colony of Essequibo] was formally ceded to them
[the British] after the general pacification in 1814 They have remained
in possession of it ever since.” British Case, p. 17, linea 15-17.

"British Case, p. 18, lines 38-35.

‘Britiash Case, p. 15, lines §7-40.

%« Each one, that is to say, the said Lords, the King and Siates
respectively, shall remain in possession of and esjoy such lordships
* ® * and countries * * * which the said Lords, the King sod
HStates respectively hold and possess.’ Treaty of Miinster, Art, Vin
Venezuelan Case, vol. 8, p. 7. ""Each [i ¢ Bpain and Holland] shall
remain effectively in the possession and enjoyment ol the countries,
towna, forts, lands and dominlons which he holds and possesses al
present,” Bame, Art. ili in Venezuelan Case, vol. 8, p. 8.

% Comprising also the spota and places which the said Lords, the
Blates hersafter without infraction of the present Ireaty shall come to
conquer and possess.” Treaty of MQoster, Art. V. in Venezuelan Case,
vol. 8, p. 7.

13
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At that date the title to the region between the
Essequibo and the Orinoco was and continued to be

vested in Spain, and hence “great evtensions qf their

(the Dutch) possessions in Guiana,” if these extensions
were west of the Essequibo—and no other region is
here in question—prove a breach of treaty obligations
by the Dutch, and the use of the phrase constitutes an
admission, that in 1648 the Dutch did not in
that region all they subsequently claimed.

This historical section of the introduction to the
British Case is significant almost as much in what it
denies asin what it admite. As was suggested in the In
troduction to this Counter-Case, denials which bear the
imprint of formal pleadings, made without regard to
the evidence, should be accepted as such, and should be
regarded as indications of strategic points. For in.
stance, it i8 asserted in the British Case that Santo
Thomé “was until 1723 the only possession of the
Spaniards in Guiana.™ This can hardly be intended
literally, for however the presence of the Spaniards in
the Essequibo prior to the Dutch advent may be re-
garded, that presence was certainly sufficient to entitle
the Essequibo to be classed as a Spanish “possession”
in those days

Some new evidence of this Spanish occupation was,
indeed, published for the first time h}- Venezuela in the

Appendix to her Case? but the British Government has,

APRENGIX ¥ Der
nevertheless, long been cognizant of the testimony, on this

point, of Keymis, of Thomas Masham,® of Unton Fisher*

VBritish Case, p. 12, lines 20-21,
*Venezuelan Case, vol. 2, pp. 268-264.

'See Hakluyt, edition of 1811, vol. iv; also United States Commission
Report, vol. i, p. 4T.

‘U. B. Com. Report, vol. i, p. 48, foot-note.
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and of Sir Walter Raleigh; and to entirely ignore their
testimony amounts to an admission that it cannot be
successfully controverted.

Not only so; over and above this, and more import-
ant still, this purely formal denial proves that Great
Britain recognizes the importance of the early Spanish
settlement in the Easequibo, and that she hesitates to
meet the issue thus raised. Deny it specifically, she
does not and cannot. To admit it would be to admit
that Spain, before the arrival of the Dutch in the
Essequibo, had by occupation and settlement com-
pleted her title to that very river; and that if
posseasion of Kykoveral by a mere trespasser can be
made the basis of a claim to the entire drainage
basins of the Essequibo, Cuyuni and Mazarun, with
vastly more reason might the same claim be urged in
favor of the nation that first discovered the country and
that first built the fort upon which the trespasser in
question subsequently squatted.

[t was also stated in the Introduction to this Counter-
Case that certain purely formal sllegations which, like
certain denials, partake of the nature of mere formal
pleadings, constitute admissions that the points
thus sought to be established are essential to British
success and must be alleged at all hazarda. The résumé
under examination contains certain allegations which
may be said to come under this category. They can there-
fore serve but to emphasize the voids which they are
intended to fill, and to disclose a just appreciation by
(Great Britain of the necessity of filling them,

For example, it is alleged, that “Between 1621 and
1648 * * * the Dutch commanded the whole of
the coast of Guiana and as far as Trinidad.™

'British Case, p. 12, lines §7-89,

16
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A sufficient refutation of this allegation will be found
in the following facts:

Before 1632 the Dutch founded colonies on the coast
of Guiana, but by or before that year' these had all
been abandoned. Only the trading post in the Esse-
quibo, which the West India Company (the Nineteen)
then voted to abandon, was kept up at its own instance
by the Zeeland Chamber® and Berbice was still main-
tained by its patroons, At the same time, according to
a British contemporary witness, both French and English
were settling on the coast at “ Wiapoeo,” “Cayan,”
“Meriwina,” “ Suramaco,” “ Suranam,” “Curanteen,” and
“Comonina,” all these being places on the coast and
east of the Eesequibo.® No claim to the whole of this
coast was ever made by the Duteh®, There ia indeed
a statement in the British Case which would seem to
imply that the Dutch not only claimed the whole coast,
but that their settlements reached to the very Orinoco.
The assertion is not made directly, but instead there is
quoted the statement that in 1618 there were three or
Jour settiements between the Orinoco and the Amazon®
This may or may not have been so; but in any event it
18 well known that the westerninost of those *settle-
menta” was on the Corentine, 300 miles east of the Ori-
uoco and 120 miles east of the Essequibo. This western
most Dutch settlement was by the Spanish (Governor of
Trinidad, Don Juan Tostado, deemed within his juss-
diction, and by reason “of the mischief” done by the
Corentine Dutch, the settlement was destroyed by the
Spaniards from Trinmidad.

‘Cayeone was abandoned in 1831. Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 2,
p- 7L

*U. 8. Com. Report, vol. ii, p. 85 and foot note,

*Brilish Case, Appendix I, pp. 188-170,

*Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 3, p. 190.

"British Crse, p. 22, lines 19-22,
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It will thus be seen that the allegation that “ between
1621 and 1648 * * * the Dutch commanded the whole
of the coast of Guianaand as far as Trinidad,” must be
regarded as a mere formal pleading, made because he who
urges it sees the necessity of showing Dutch oceupation
of the coast from the Essequibo to the mouth of the
Barima. If this be not shown, Great Britain has no other
foundation for her claim to the Barima and Waini ;: even
the theory of a separate drainage basin for those rivers
could do no more than separate them from the Orinoco
and keep out the constructive occupation of the Ori.
noco Spanish: it could not avail to join the Barima
and Waini to the Essequibo, nor to give them a Dutch
character by constructively extending Dutch occupa-
tion from the east. Hence the necessity of proving
actual possession of the whole coast by the Dutch.
Not only so; even acfual possession, in order to be
effective, must either antedate the Treaty of Manster
(1648), or else be shown to have had all those qualities
requisite for the creation of a prescriptive title. There-
fore it is that, choosing the first horn of this dilemma,
the allegation is made specifically to refer to the years
“between 1621 and 1648."

Again, it is alleged, that in 1637 and 1638, the Dutch
were “gettled” in the River Amacura' Possibly a
few of the Dutchmen who raided Santo Thomé
in 1637 may have sojourned for & time in the
A macura; but that any importance should be attached
to such an incident would seemn to indicate that Dutch-
men along that coast must bave been very scarce in
those days.

The significance of the allegation consists rather in
the evidence which it furnishes of the conscious need

i British Case, p. 18, lines 8-5, and p. 85, line 45.

17
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of proving some Dutch control of this coast region, even
though that control be but a shadow cast by the tem-
porary presence of Dutchmen wandering along its
streams. It is also significant that this shadow, ifindeed
it was even that, appears to have been cast not on the
Barima, but on the Amacura, a stream which Great
Britain admits to have belonged to Spain then, and to
belong to Venezuela now. Great Britain's extreme
claim reachea but to the eastern bank of that river.

The lines of the British Case which follow the above
allegation, to wit: that “during the whole of this period
they (the Dutch) were masters of the sea in the neigh-
bourhood of the mouths of the Orinoco'"” are quite
without foundation.

Passing on to the period after 1648, it will be seen
that this need of proving Dutch presence or Dutch
control west of the Moruca has been constantly kept in
mind by the compilers of the British Case.

A single allegation will be cited. The proposition of
Governor Beekman in 1683 for a “small shelter” at
Barima, for the use of the Pemeroon postholder upon
his proposed occasional visits to that river for purposes
of trade, is once more made the basis of an allegation
that “servants of the Company were regiding in the
Barima and in the Pomeroon in the year 1683"; and
this, notwithstanding the fact that the proposition itself
evoked a missive of the severest condemnation from the
Company and that no Dutch representative ever resided
at Barima.

It has been seen that one of the things which the
British Case strives to establish is that geographically
the Barima and Waini are independent of the Orinoco.
This effort is supplemented by another intended to

1British Case, p. 18, lines 8-8.
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prove that the same two rivers (the Barima and Waini)
were in fact under the political control of the Essequibo
Dutch. The following are some of these allegations:

“ The Essequibo Government thenceforward continued to con-
“ trol the district of the Pomeroon, and of the rivers and crecks
“ connected with it, including the Barima,” !
as though the Barima were one of these “rivers and
creeks " and a mere appendage of the Pomeroon.

Again,

“It (the Post) waa situated sometimes on the River Pomeroon
“ jteelf and sometimes on one or other of the neighbouring creeks,
“ Wukepo and Moruka. It commanded the means of sccess Lo
“ the Waini and Barima distriots, which were commercially and
¢ politically controlled by the Postholder.” ¥

And,

“ By means of the Post at Moruka, the entry of traders into the
*« Barima and Waini districts was controlled,® ete.”

These statements might have some value in the
way of showing a dependence of the Barima and Waini
upon the Pomercon and Morues, if the inference in-
tended to be drawn from them were warranted, namely,
that the Pomeroon commanded the only means of access
to the Barima Waini region. Of course this is not so,
because that region may be reached with perfect ease from
any point in the Orinoco Delta. But, while these two
passages fail to accomplish the purpose for which they
were apparently intended, they do accomplish another
and a very useful purpose, which is to prove that the
region lying east of the Moruca is so completely sepa-
rated by natural barriers from the Barima-Waini region
on the west, that a single post near the entrance to the
narrow artificial channel which, during the miny season,

' British Cass, p. 18, lines 44-47.
"British Case, p. 14, lines 8-10.
"Britiah Case, pp. 16-16, lines 48-48. 1.
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renders poasible a difficult communication between them,
18 enough to completely control the travel between the
two.

These attempts to find some basis, be it geological or
historical, for the division of what is essentially a single
region into two basins, and for the union of what are
essentially distinct basins into a single region, have a
significance of still another kind. They contain an
implied admission that no historical basis of actual and
effective Dutch occupation or settlement is to be found
to support a Dutch claim to the Barima-Waini Region.
If Duteh title to the Barima must rest upon the ease
with which the Duteh postholder on the Pomeroon or
the Moruca could have gone to the Barima, or upon the
coutrol which he exercised in that river, it means that
that is the only kind of control which can be alleged,
and that there was neither occupancy nor settle.
ment. The facts of control have been sufficiently
set forth in the Case submitted by Venezuela. They
need no repetiticn here. It is sufficient at this time
merely to note that Great Britain presents no other
grounds for Dutch title to that region, except perhaps
that afforded by the occasional presence there of some
Dutch smugglers or sojourners, whose existence is
known to posterity only by the fact that they were ex.
pelled therefrom by Spanish officials.

The above examination discloses the attitude of the
British Government towards the Barima- Waini Region.
Passing from this to the Essequibo proper, the points
which, for the moment, merit attention relate to the
period prior to 1648.

It is alleged that there were Dutch settlers in the
Essequibo in 1621;' that the Dutch West India Com.

' British Case, p. 1%, line 32,
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pany “at once (1621) established there an organized Dutch in Easequibo.

colony"!'; and finally, that the “Colonial Government "
of the company was situated at Fort Kykoveral.

These statements might all be true without in any
way detracting from the strength of Venezuela's claims.
Spain having first settled the Essequibo, and having
been in occupation of it until at least as late as 1617, it
can make little difference whether Dutchmen who
went there later arrived in 1621, or at any other date
after the departure of the Spanish and before 1648.
Whatever the date of their first appearance, it is well
known that in 1632 the Company voted to abandon the
post which was then there, and that that post was with
difficulty kept alive until 1648, It may be added
that the presence of Dutchmen in the Essequibo in 1621
ia most unlikely; and that the statement itself is
unsupported by contemporary evidence.

The second allegation, as to the character of this
Dutch occupation, is an error. To speak of the first
Dutchmen who went there as ssttlers, or to say that as
early as 1621 the Dutch West India Company “estab-
lished there an organized colony,” is to make statements
which are inconsistent with well known facts. From
the first, the establishment was nothing more than a
trading post, and even at the time of the Treaty of
Miinster it waa altogether insignificant.

Reference to Fort Kykoveral as a site of a “ Colonial
(Fovernment,” is incorrect, if it be the intention to
include onder that term any other part of Guiana than
the Island of Kykoveral itself; even so, it is certainly
a high-sounding title to apply to the few traders who
lived on that island.

As the various allegations of the British Case in con-

nection with the Barima Waini ﬂiun have made clear
SBritish Case, p. 12, line 83,
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o Dutch n the In- (reat Britain's attitude towards it, so do similar allegs.
tions with reference to the interior of the country dis-
close her position there.

One of the first allegations in this connection amounts
to a confession that in 1648 Dutch trade with the
interior had not yet begun. The following is the
allegation referred to:

“* Besides their enterprise upon the coast, the Duich had also
““ bafors (he and of the ssvenieenih cemiury penetrated fur into
“ the interior. Negro traders were employed by the Company to
““ travel umong the Indisns and obtsin by barter the products
““of the conntry. [In 1688 and onwards these traders are men.
“ tioned as periodically visiting the Pariacot SBavannah, and s
“ using the name of the Dutch Government to put an end to native
“ wars on the Cuyani, which hindered commerce!

W hatever the value of this kind of oceupation, it is
fair to conclude that it did not begin until about 1683.
This means that at the date of the Treaty of Miinster the
interior was not visited by the Dutch, and that it was
outside of Dutch control.

This allegation, with others which follow, is also
useful because it shows the kind of occupation upon
which the British Case relies to establish British rights to
the interior. It was an occupation which consisted ex-
clusively of trade and of relations with Indians. Both
of these subjects will be considered later. For the
present it 18 enough to note that if we except the tem.
porary trading posts on the Cuyuni, from which the
Spaniards ousted the Dutch, or which the Dutch
abandoned for fearof the Spaniards, the whole British
claim to the interior is made to rest, first upon the
theoretical consideration of drainage basins, and second
upon alleged trade and Indian alliances. Excepting for
certain so-called “ Dwtch residences™ shown in various

!British Case, p. 14, lines 11-31.
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parts of this region, in the first four maps of the British Dutch in the Ln-

Atlas, for all of which evidence is wanting, there 18 no
pretense that any Dutch settlemenis ever existed above
the lowest falls of the Cayuni and Mazaruni. It is well
known that the only Dutchmen in those parts were
wandering traders and smugglers, or else slave catchers
disguised at times as Indians for the purpose of escaping
capture at the hands of the Spaniards. This general re-
lianee of (Great Britain upon trade and Indian relations
is illustrated by the following extract from the historical
résumé of her Case:

“ Bayond the lands nctoally planted by agricnlturists, the Duteh
“ ware, by their nse and enjoyment of its resources, and by their
“« gxercise of political control, in posscssion of all the terntory
“» now claimed by Great Britain.

“The Datch Posts were maintsived on the Essequibo and
“ Cuyuni, snd in the district of the coast rivers, at Pomeroon or
«« Moruks. The timber in the forests of Massaruni, Cuyuni,
““and Waini was granted ount by the Government for felling,
“ gud mines were opened and worked in the range called the
<t Blanwenberg, to the north of the Cayuni.

“ In addition to these indications of actual possession, the
“ Duteh throughout the period of their occupation were con-
* tinually increasing their political control.

“ The Indians of the outlying districts were in sllisnce with
“ them throughout the whole region from the Essequibo to
“ Barims, and acted under them on many occasions agsinst re-
“ yolting or absconding negroes. Their Chiefs received badges
“ and insignis as tokens that they were recognized by the Gov.
““ arnment. "1

These allegations are denied by Venezuela. She as
serts that the Dutch never exercised control, political or
otherwise, over the region in queation. Dutch posts were
not maintained on the Cuyuni, but on the contrary
such as were attempted invariably came to an end be
cause the Spanish would not tolerate them there. Such

" British Case, page 15, lines 23-47.
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Dutch in the In- Jimited timber cutting as was indulged in was surrepti-

terior.

tious. The mining operations of Hildebrandt, already
referred to in the Venezuelan Case, amounted to nothing
and were abandoned almost as soon as begun; and
Dutch relations with the Indians, as will be shown
later, were never of such a character as to afford a
foundation for a claim of Dutch sovereignty to the terri-
tory in dispute.

But, as before stated, it is not the purpose of this
Counter-Case to traverse allegations of the British
Case. These allegations are considered with a view to
defining Great Britain's affituds toward the questions
involved rather than to affirming or denying the truth of
the allegations themselves. Viewed in this light, the
passage above quoted is useful because it shows that
there is no claim to seftlements in the interior, and that
Dutch title to that interior is acknowledged to depend
upon the legal effect of these various acts alleged in
the British Case itself to bave taken place “beyond the
lands actuaily planted by agriculturists.”

The necessity of proving some tangible and actual
occupation of land above the falls was doubtless appre-
ciated by the compilers of the British Case; at least that
is an inference which may fairly be drawn from the im.
portance attributed by them to the Dutch posts which
were vainly attempted to be maintained on the Cuyuni
river. It is the only evidence of actual Dutch occu-
pation to which any appeal was possible, and it is not
surprising, therefore, that the most should have been
made of it.

The facts as to all these posta have been fully re-
cited in the Venezuelan Case; so also have the nature
and effect of the Duteh remonstrances which were in
consequence presented to the Spanish Court. Their
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further consideration may, therefore, be deferred until a  Dutch in the In-

later stage of this controversy.

Having considered the allegations of the British Case
as to Dutch control of the interior, it will be profitable
to consider how Spanish control of the same region is
regarded by Great Britain. Some of the statements in
this direction, if considered by themaselves, are calculated
to discourage further inquiry. For example:

““The Spaniards never exercised domipnion on the Cuyani;
“ they never utilised the resources nor controlled the inhabitants
“ of its valley in any way. Nor did they exercise any dominion
¢ gr control in the Massaroni or Essequibo.”!

And again :

“ They [the Spanish Catalonian Capuchin Missions] never
“ reached the forest region or the valley of the Cuyuni.”®

These assertions, however, can hardly be intended
literally, as the British Case elsewhere admits that the
Duteh Cayuni post of 1754 to 1758 was destroyed by the
Spaniards, and that the Spanish Missions did eventually
reach and cover the Pariacot Savannah,

To be sure the first admission is hedged about with
many allegations as to the secret character of the
Spanish expedition, as to its rapid retreat, the con
sequent remonstrance to Spain, and the reestablishment
of “a post on the river.”™ But it is not stated, that
the only secrecy about the expedition was for the pur-
pose of preventing the escape of the Dutch postholder;
that the destruction of the post was effected by the
Spaniards under a claim of right; that its Dutch occu-
pants were taken prisoners; that a Dutch demand for
their release was refused ; that a Dutch remonstrance
against the destruction of the post was treated with con-
tempt by the Spanish Court; that the Dutch never re

1 British Case, page 15, lines 7-11.
"British Case, page 14, lines 39-41.
'British Case, pages 14, 16, linea 48-51, 1-8.

of t

coRteol
Iaterior.



ag HISTORICAL RESUNME.

of paclah cootrol egtgblished that post; that their remonstrances on the
subject were finally abandoned ; that the Dutch thus
acquiesced in their ejectment from the Cuyuni; and that
posts subsequently attempted lower down the river were
successively abandoned because of the Spaniards.
Neither is any note taken of the following testimony of
the Dutch Governor to the completeness of Spanish
dlominion on the Cuyum :

“ In my previous despatches I had the honour from time to time
“ to inform your Honours of the secret doings of the Spaniards
“ and especially in my second letter by the‘ Vrouw Anna' and
“in my letter by the * Geertruida Christiana,” did right cir-
“ cumstantially concerning the fatal and, for the Colony, most
“ highly-perilous news of the River Cayuni. My opinion has
“ always been that they would gradually acquire a foothold in
““ Cuyoni, and try to obtain the maatery of the river, as they now
“ practically have dons al tha end of the past year.'

_ Bstind of Bgiden The other assertion, above quoted, to the effect that
the Spanish missions never reached I:he__iallaf of the
Eujuni,mmatant‘;rith the later admission that
“In the course of the next seventy years [after 1724]
these Missions were extended on to the Pariacot Sav-
annah.™  As a matter of fact thev were there within
ten years. This assertion is furthermore inconsistent
with the following statement of the Case itself, unless
indeed the term Cuyuni valley is to be taken as re-
stricted to the immediate banks of the stream itself:

“ Recognizing, however, the fact of the eatablishment of Spanish
¢ Missions during the eighteenth century on territory south of
¢ the Orinoco, in the neighbourhood of the River Yuruari, which
“ Missions continued to existup to the year 1817, the Govern-
“ ment of Greal Britain has never actively sought to presa ita
“ glaim to that portion of the district north-west of the Cuyuni, in
‘* which missions were actually sitnated."”

1'Venezuslan Case, Vol. 2, p. 188,
"British Case, p. 14, linea 87-89.
"British Case, P- 0, lines 24-82,
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But even as regards the Cuyuni river itself the as-
sertion regarding the limita of Spanish occupation in the
Cuyuni-Mazaruni basin cannot be accepted as true. The
Curumo Fort, erected and maintained on thesouth bank
of the Cuyuni opposite the mouth of the Curumo, in the
midst of the forest region, was certainly an occupation
of the Cuyuni vallsy; and the evidencediscovered by
Professor Burr regarding the existence of Spanish Mis-
sions on the Wenamu, in Queribura and at Mawakken'
remains uncontradicted save by unsupported denials
in the British Case.

The allegations thus made with a view to belittling the
extended Spanish occupation and control of the Cuyuni
valley, are supplemented by other allegations intended
to minimize the control exerted by the Spanish mis-
gionaries in the Cuyuni forests. There is, for example,
the following statement :

“ Oyvar the forest country and the Indiana therein the mission-
“ grips exercised no control whatever. On the contrary, the
“ Missions were frequently raided and destroyed by the Carib
“ Indians of that region.™

This is certainly a mistaken view of the matter. It
was from these very foresta that the mission Indians
were gathered; and from 1748 on, the missions them-
selves were almost exclusively of Caribe or Accoways
taken from these Cuyuni forests. These undoubtedly
revolted at times, and tried to throw off the Spanish
yoke:; bat, although some individuals escaped, yet over
the Indians as a whole the strong hand of Spanish control
continued to make itself felt throughout the entire
region, and throughout the entire period of Spanish
domination.

"Venesuelan Counter-Case, vol. 3, p. 308,
"British Case, p. 14, linea 48-47.
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The British denial of a Spanish occupation of the
Cuyuni valley and of a Spanish contrel of the Cuyuui
and Mazaruni rivers cannot shake the evidence in favor
of both or do away with the facts themselves. Equally
futile are the allegations as to the weakness of Santo
Thomé or as to Spanish abandonment of the OUrinoco
itself. The Santo Thomé of the seventeenth and eigh-
teenth centuries can hardly be compared with a fortified
city of the nineteenth century, The needs and possi-
hilities of those days were not the needs or possi-
bilities of these. Moreover, Spanish commanders found
it to their interest at times to magnify their present
needs so as to obtain desired supplies, and at other
times to draw pictures favorable to themselves by plac-
ing their own achievements in contrast with the poverty
of the past.

But, whatever may have been the numerical strength
of the Spanish garrisons or the size of the Spanish town,
one thing is certain, both were always equal to the
emergency. Other nations were kept out of the Orinoco
and out of the interior. While the Essequibo Gov-
ernor was writing hysterical letters to bis company
pleading for help from the extinction which at times
threatened him; while a few plantations on the banks
of the Easequibo marked the extent of his domains;
while in his helplessness he was turning to the savages
of the forests for protection, Spain was building fort-
resses on the Orinoco and the Cuyuni; her missions
and missionaries were penetrating into the interior; her
vessels were patrolling the coasts, and everywhere she
was demonstrating her ability to hold the territories
which she had been the first to discover and to oceupy.

It is alleged by Great Britain that Governor Marmion
at one time proposed to abandon the Orinoco for sixty
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miles from its main mouth' and to treat the former Bpanish claims
site of Santo Thomé as the frontier of the Spanish
possessions. Such an allegation is wholly without
foundation. Neither Marmion nor any other Span

ish Governor ever made any such proposition; and

Spain herself from first to last proclaimed her sole right

to the whole of Guiana south of the narrow fringe of

Dutch, French and English settlements along the coast.

The Orinoco and the entire coast region as far east as

the Essequibo she alwaye regarded as her own.

|British Case, page 18,







IV.-HISTORICAL SYNOPSIS.

The Historical Synopsis which constitutes Chapter
11 of the British Case, and which follows the Astor.

ical résumé just counsidered, contains much in the way
of detail which is not covered by the résumé; its
allegations are, however, in general along the same lines.
At the present time these details will be considered only
so far as they happen to fall within the general scope of
this examination. No attempt will be made to deal
with them exhaustively nor singly, nor to traverse the
allegations which they may involve. The purpose of
this chapter is to continue the general examination
already begun; and the further British admnissions,
denials and allegations, to be examined, will be con.
sidered only so far as they serve to throw additional
light upon Great Britain's attitude.

As in the case of the historical résumé, the Historical
Synopsis contains many statements, which, either by
direct admission or by the character of their denial,
prove that the two Governments are really in accord as
to the controlling facts of this controversy.

1. The discovery and first settlement of Guiana by
Spain is frankly admitted; and the value of that
sdmission is in no way lessened by allegations as to
subsequent Dutch voyages.

2. Spanish occupation of and settlement in the
Essequibo is not in terms admitted ; but, on the other
hand, the earliest date at which the presence of Dutch
traders in that river is ventured to be alleged is one
subsequent to the time when Spanish title by discovery
bad already ripened into Spanish title by occupation,

Introduction.
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3. Dutch claims to the coast west of the Moruca are
acknowledged to rest, not upon any formal Dutch
occupation of the region, but solely upon Dutch trade,
Duteh fishing, Duteh relations with Indians, and the
occasional presence of Dutch smugglers or sojourners.
Nothing like a formal occupation by an authorized agent
of the West India Company, or of any other Dutch
authority, is even suggested.

4. Spanish control of this same region is indeed
denied ; but this general denial is accompanied by so
many admissions as to specific acts of control that the
effect of the denial itself is completely nullified.

6. British occupation of the entire coast, from the date
of the earliest British possession of the Duteh colony,
is formally alleged ; but except for a survey claimed
to have been made along the coast in 1781 and for

an alleged apportionment of lands in 1797, neither of
which, even if true, could be strictly regarded as an
act of occupation,® no occupation is either alleged or
proved until long after the agreement of 1850 with
Venezuela.

8. That actual Duteh occupation of the interior was
limited by the lowest falls of the three rivers Essequibo,
Cuyuni and Mazaruni is admitted in effect, though denied
in form; the only facts upon which the denial is based
being the mention of “an annatto store at a Carily
village above in Massaruni” (i, 4, up the Mazaruni) in
1686, reference to a “dye store in the Cuyuni™ in 1699,
the alleged removal of the plantation Poelwijk to the
head of the lowest Mazaruni falls in 1704, and the so-

called Cuyuni posts of 1708, 175458, 1766-69 and
1769-72.

' British Case, p. 57, lines 4847,
*British Case, p. 82, lines 15-19.
*Britlsh Case, p, 81, lines 17-20.
“British Case, p. B1, lines 49-50.
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When it is remembered that the mere mention of each
of the so-called stores in a single Dutch document is the
sum of present knowledge regarding them ; that the cor-
rectness of the statement ahout the plantation Poelwijk
is open to serious question, and that even if true the
removal was only temporary ; that the posts referred to
were all for purposes of trade ; that even the existence
of the first of these posts is doubtful ; that the second
was destroyed by the Spaniards; and that the other
two came to an end hecause of Spanish control of the
Cuyuni ; the mere enumeration of these facts would
seem to be enough to show that, whatever Duteh nghts
in the interior may have been, Dutch occupation was
never their basis,

7. On the other hand the presence and control of
Spain in this interior Cuyuni-Mazaruni basin is admitted.
The admission is, indeed, a grudging one, accompanied
by every possible and by many impossible qualifications ;
but the facts of Spanish occupation and control are
nevertheless distinctly recognized. Santo Thomé may
be depicted as a collection of eabins inhabited by
negroes, mulattoes and half breeds; the missions may
be pictured merely as things to be burned or destroyed

by Caribs ; the very existence of a Spanish fort on the
Cuyuni may be ignored or even denied ; but these very
qualifications and denials are in effect admissions. They
are an admission that, however weak the Spaniards of
Santo Thomé may have been, they were yet strong
enough to maintain Spanish sovereignty over the On-
noco ; that, if Caribs revolted against the missionaries
and destroyed the missions, it was because Caribs were
there to revolt against san authority whose power they
had been made to feel; and that, if Spain had no fort in
the forests of the Cuyuni, her power there was yet
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- potent enough to destroy Dutch posts and to fill Dutch-

men with a dread of her presence.

These seven general facts or groups of facts are, after
all, the controlling ones in this controversy : willingly
or unwilling, directly or indirectly, they are all admitted
by Great Britain : it is only as to details, and as to the
perspective in which the facts themselves should appear,
that any real difference exists. The correctness of this
assertion is so important that, in order to place it beyond
question, it is proposed to consider, in rather more detail,
each of the above paragraphs.

1. The admission as to the discovery and first settle.
ment of Guiana by Spain is made without qualification.’
It is frankly acknowledged that during the sixteenth
century the Orinoco was repeatedly navigated by
Spaniards; that, at least below the junction of the
Caroni, the interior of the country was explored by
Spaniards ; that these explorations had as their outcome
the founding of Santo Thomé ; that this took place prior
to the visit of Keymis in 1696.* It is also admitted
that the first Dutchmen who visited Guiana found
the Spanish already settled there; that in 1613 a Dutch
settlement on the Corentine was destroyed by the
Spaniards;® that Spain then claimed the whole of
Guiana from the Amazon to the Orinoco ; that she then
declared her intention to expel all foreign intruders;
that various Dutch and British expeditions against
Santo Thomé, Trinidad and other Spanish possessions
were unable to effect any permanent results, being
mere raids into territory confessedly Spanish.*

These admissions are made because the facts them.

! Britlsh Case, p. 20.
* British Cuse, pp. 20-21,
* British Case, p. 22, lines 12-17.
¢ British Case, pp. 20-21.



HISTORICAL BYNOPSIS.

selves are heyond dispute. The effect of these admis-
gions is most important. The title of a discoverer and
the title of a second comer stand on very different bases;
and these admissions constitute a recognition of the fact
that Spain was entitled to all the rights which, in the
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, were by civilized
nations accorded to discoverers. They are, at the same
time, an acknowledgment that Dutch rights are to be
measured by a different and a wuch stricter standard.
W hatever the extent of Dutch occupation, it was at best
hut the occupation of one coming after, an occupation
in derogation of a higher title: that higher title may
not be admitéed to have been complete, but even if
assumed to have been incomplete it had vigor enough
to be a determining factor in limiting the acquisitions of
intruders within the bounds of actual occupation.

2. The Spanish settlement in the Essequibo at the
close of the sixteenth century is again passed over in
gilence in this Historical Synopsis of the British Case,
and even its existence seems, though only by implication,
to be denied. At least the following words make such an
inference possible:

““ At this period the Spaniards were definitely excluded from
“ the coaat to the eastward of the Orinoco. Thisappears to have
““ been frequented by them for trading purposes at Lhe close of

“ the sixteenth century ; but after the advent of the English in
“ 1595 and of the Duatch in (st the latest) 1598, and the suceeod-

“ ing years, it became more and more insccessible to them.™?
The testimony of Thomas Masham, Unton Fisher,

Sir Walter Raleigh, the Duke of I.erma and others who

contradict this statement has already been referred to.
The only other references which the British Case

makes to this early history of the Essequibo, are first:

to the fact that Cabeliau, the first Dutchman to visit
" British Case, p. 23, lines 34-32. N
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the coast of Guiana, did not go to the Essequibo;! and
second, the following :

“In 1619 Geronimo de Grados was sent from Santo Thomi to
““reduce them (the Indians) to obedience, but, meeting with six
““ships of the English and Datch in the Essequibo, he was taken
“prisoner. I'his was the last of the early Spanish voyages to the
“cast of the Orinoco. Those who made them do not appear to

“lhave explored the country or done more than visit the mouths

“of the rivera.” ¥

But this is not a complete nor an accurate statement
of even the occurrence here referred to. After entering
the Essequibo and compelling the natives to submit,
Geronimo de Grados went away, and later, returning,
met at the mouth of the Essequibo six foreign ships
manned, not by Dutchmen, but by Englishmen.* The
other allegations of this quotation have been already
sufficiently denied.

While passing over in silence the early Spanish settle-
ment on the Essequibo, the British Case offers two
statements intended evidently to offset its effects.

One of these is that the Dutch Captain Groenewegel
“despatched a small fleet” to the Essequibo in 1616;
and that he then settled there and built Fort Kykoveral.
This statement is made upon the authority of the noto-
rious John Scott, whose reliability as a witness has been

! British Caae, p. 21, line 48,

* Britiah Case, p. 24, lines 1-8.

* “Late in 1819 or early in 1620, the Arwaccas having slain six
Spaniards, Fernando de Berrio sent out Captain Geronimo de Grados
from Bante Thomé to chastise them. He went into the Barima
[? Pomeroon] and compelled the natives to submit and to give him pro-
visions ; then into the Essequibo, where he did the same, and then into
the ** Verius," [Berbice]. At the niouth of the Essequibo, on his return
thither, he found six foreign ships (* navioa de enemigos ™), manned by
Englishmen, who seized him and sent word to Berric to ransom him
for B0 quintals of tobacco, March, 1820." Jameson (J. F.) in U. 8. Com.
Rep., vol. i, p. 51, following the contemporary Fray Pedro Bimon.
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questioned by Professors Jameson * and Burr+ Even
the British Case itself after quoting Secott in support of

*Nearer in point of time, but open to objection on other grounds, is
the testimony of & paper among the Sloane manuscripts in the British
Museum, of which portions (apparently nearly the whole) are printed
in the Rev, H. V. P. Bronkhurst's * The Coloay of British Quysna and
its Labouring Population,” London, 1888 (pp. 45-68). It sppears to be
of the year 1668, and is anonymous.! * The sixth colony,” the suthor
says, “ was undertaken by one Captain Gromweagle, a Dutchman, that
had served the Spaniard in Oranogue, but understanding & company of
merchanots of Zealand had before undertaken a voyage Lo Guiana and
altem pted & settlement there " (this no doubt refers to a preceding para-
graph, which notes an abortive seitlement of Zeelanders at Cayenne in
1815), “* he deserted the Spanish service, and tendered himself to his own
country, which was accepted, and he dispatched from Zealand, anno
1618, with two ships and & galliot, and was the first man that took firm
footing oo Guiana by the good likeing of the natives, whose humours
the genlleman perfectly understood. He erected a forte on a small
island thirty leagues up the river Dissckeeb, which looked into two great
branches of Lhat famous river, All this time the Colony flourished ;
*= & * he waa s great friend of all new colonies of Christians of what
nation soever, and Barbados oweth its first assistance, both for food and
trade, to {his man's special kindoess, anoo 1827, at which time they wers
in & miserable condition ; he dyed anno 1684, and in the 83d year of his
age, o wealthy man, having been Governor of that Colonie forty-eight
years, In this Colonie the suthour had the good fortune to meet with
some ingenious observations of the former Governor, of what had been
transacted in Guiana in bis time, to whom the world is obliged for many
particulars of thix story.” A fooinote relates how Capt. Thomas Powell,
governor of Barbadoa from 1825 to 1628, “ having understood the Dutch
had a plantation in the River Dissekeeb,” sent to his old friend Caplain
Gromweagle for aid, and how Gromweagle ' persusded a family of
Arawacoes, consisting of forty persons, to attend Powell to Barbados,
to learn the English to plant,” ete. (Bronkhurst, pp. 48-48.)

The author of this paper can be proved to have been Maj. John Boott,
somewhat famous in the hislory of Loog Island and of New Netherland
down to 1885. For he says (id., p. 30): * The same year [1885] in the
moanth of October, the author having been commissionated Commander-
inchiefl of a small fleet and o regiment of soldiers, for the attack of
Tobago, and several other settlementa in the hands of the Netherlanders
in Guinoa, a8 Moroco, Wacopou, Bowroome snd Dissekeeb, and having
louched at Tobago, in less than six months had the good fortune to be
in possession of those countriea™ Now, by reference to the ' Calendars
of State Papers, Colonial " (Vol. V, pp. 481, 520, 584), it will be seen,
both by Beott’s testimony and by that of another,that he was commander
of this expedition.® Joho Bcolt (see the Proceedings of the Massachu-
sells Historical Bociety, Vol. VI, pp. 88-74) has not the highest reputa-
tion. Lord Willoughby writes to Secretary Williamson (* Calendars,”
p- 540) that Scott has perchance told Williamson some truth, but sotall

—_——— — -

! The resunlts of Professor Burr's personal lovestigatlon of this mannseript will be foand
|in 7. 4. Commirsion Keport, vol. I, pp. 138188 ; and ln same, vol. L, pp. 172-177].

¥y refercnce o Professsr Bert's #ial ments [Io 7. 8. Commision Report, vol, Il, p. 184]
It wlil e soen thal the manaseripi i andoabtadly Ly Booll, the originel bearing bis name.
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Dutch in the Es- the ahove statement adds that “The date of the actual

sequibo,

foundation of the Dutch Colony on the Essequibo is
however somewhat uncertain.”{

gospel, Netscher, to whom the document is anonymous, declares that
while Aert Adrinenszoon Groenewegel (Bcott's * Captain Gromweagle )
woa commandant on the Essequibo from 1857 to 1668, he certainly did
not command there for forty-eight years. He also sayn, with justios,
that the paper is inaccurate in other parts (** Geschiedenis," pp. 42, 48,
B58).  Yet it seemns dificult altogether to discredit it. The Zeeland ex-
pedition of 1815 is historical. (* British Blue Book,” p. 58, No. 8.) The
passage regording Barbados receives independent confirmation from a
contemporary source, *' The True Travels, Adventures and Observalions
of Captain Jobn 8mith,” London, 1680, in chapter 28 of which we read
concerning Barbados : * The it planters brought thither by Captaine
Henry Powel, were forty English, with seven or eight Negroes ; then he
went Lo Disacuba in the maine, where be got thirty Indians, men, women
and children, of the Arawnooa™ 1

The indicatione given by Netscher and, in the last century, by the
Zeelanders as to what is or was in the Dutch archives, coupled with the
statementa of S8colt and Bmith, are at any rate sufficient to show that by
1627 the Duteh had an establishment, probably Kykoveral, on the Esse-
quibo, though De Laet makes no mention of any in his editions of 1825,
1630, or 1888. [U. 8. Com. Rep., vol. i, pp. 62-65.]

$The other document which gives for the foundation of the colony of
Essequibo an earlier date than 1821, lies in the library of the British
Museum, where it bears the mark **Bloape MBS, 8882." It is a thin
bound wolume, lettered on its back * Var. Tracts on the E.and W.
Indies.” The book is, however, all written by asingle hand, and the
suthor has made no effort Lo conceal his identity, for the volume begins
with an elaborate preface, to which he hassigned, at the end, his name in
full—"" John Beott.” It is an autograph fragment, or rather & collection
of sketches and materials, belonging to an unpublished and probably
never finished work oo the islands and coasts of America, from New-
foundland to the Amagon, and its author is that Major John Beolt, once
of Long Island, who, after an all too prominent part in the politics of
New England and New York, had fled to Barbados, and who while there
had been chosen to lead the expedition which in 1885-88 caplured for
England the Dutch colonies in Gulana. Among the chaplers here com-
pleted are those on Guisna and on the West Indian islands, Barbados,
Grenada and Tobago. The first named of these chapters, with a long
extract from the second, was a few years ago trunscribed by a colonial
scholar (though apparently without discovery of ils authorship) snd pub-
lished in & Guiana newspaper. Thence it was copled into the book of a
missionary, Bronkhurst, and so reached the world of scholars, Ita re-
ception by historians has not been flatteriog, and the name of its anthor
will hardly add greatly to its weight, for Beott's reputation lor socuracy
of statement is not unimpeached., His facilities for information were,
however, remarkable, and especially so for Guiana. For his statement
as to the lounding of the colony of Essequibo in 1818 by one Caplain

IBut frome certalo docoments {10 which my sitenlion bas been called by Professor Burr),
pablished ln Timabri for Jone, 1800, 1L appearm, on Powell's own evidence, pot caly thal these
Iodians were carried off withoal any ald from the Daich, bot that Powell koew nothlang of
ihe presence of the Dotch o the river. Beoll, tharefore, ls bere clearly wrong.
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The other of the two statements above referred to is
that in 1621 when the Dutch West India Company was
chartered, a Dutch Colony was already established in
the Essequibo.'! This assertion, based, as it is, upon
Hartsinck's testimony and upon the representations
made by the Zeeland Chamber in 1751, has been fully
refuted by Professor Burr.!

Gromwegle, and for the reasons why it must be doubted, I may refer to
the report of Profesor Jameson.

I have only to add that my own uumiutlnnui' the manuscript records,
while vindicating Scott in ssaigning to 1684 the death of Groenewagel,
and while carrying back to 1845 that governor's advent in the colony,
brings to light no sarlier mention of him in the books of the Weat Todis
Company, and convincea me that he oould nol earlier have been com-
mandeur on the Esssquibo. That in 10168 he or sny other, built there a
fort seema unlikely, from the fact that o fort needad to be built there in
1897. That he may in that year have come Lo some other Guisna colony
is not imposaible, though the records of the Zeeland admiralty for this
and the adjacent years fail to show the name of such a captain, In view
of the fact that Boott credits Lo Groenewegel's * ingenious observations™
only a part of the particulars of this story, and 1o view of his demon-
strable inaccuracy as to dates and names in what else he tells us of the
beginnings of colonizmtion in Guiana, I think it must be felt that, though
there are doubtless alements of truth in his story, his suthority is much
too slight for a statement else 80 unsupported, and so inconsistent with
facts better known., Is it not more probable that Socott has confused
with the original establishment of the Dutch in the Essequibo the found-
ing of the fAirst colony.of planters there—the Nova Zeelandias of the
Walcheren cities—in 1658 7 Of the Iatter Groenewegel was, aa we shall
presently see, indeed the first Commander, nod 80 in & sense the founder,
[Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 2, pp. 82-85.]

{ British Case, p. 28, lines 17-189,

§ Britinh Case, p. 24, lines 87-80.

| That there is no credible evidence for the presence of the Dutch in
thia river prior to the year 1613 has already been seen.  All assertions of
their presence there before the foundation of the Dutch Weat India Com-
pany in 1621 go back Lo two documents alone. Thesa are sught but con-
frmatory the one of the other; and each deserves a closer study.
Loageat known and implicitly (with more or less of distortion) followed
by most later writars is the memorial submitted to the States-General,
on August 23, 1781, by the directors of the Zealand Chamber of the Wesat
India Company, in defenss of its claim to the colony of Essequibo, Its
aim waa of course & thoroughly partisan one. In the report published
in the same behalf & year earlivr (in the sutumo of 1750) by the provincial
Estates of Zeeland. this Guiana colony was alleged to have been in ex-
istence and in the hands of the Zsslanders prior to the astablishment of
the West India Company in 1821 ; but the only document adduced in
sapport of this was an scoount book of the year 1827, which could hardly
prove anything of the sort The Amsterdam Chamber, in the reply
drawn up by it (Janusry 9, 1751) at the request of the States-General, had
pumsed lightly over this point, resting its claim on action of the Com-
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8. It seems to be admitted, as already stated, that
whatever rights the Duteh may have had in the coast
region west of the Moruca, those rights did not grow

pany at & much later period, and content with referring somewhat
loftily to the published liternture of the subject ns showing that Hol-
landers, too, had traded to the Guiana comst before 1821, But the
Zeeland directors felt the claim importsnt, and in their answering
memorial (August 28, 17581) came to its support with what seems fresh
evidence and with the skill of finished casuists,

Beginning their argument with & reminder of the project of Tea Haeff
in 1599, they bring into close connection with him a list of later Zealand
founders of Amarican colonies, without feeling it necessary to point out
that the earliest of these began his activity in 1828, and that they have
but borrowad the names from an old West India Company record book
covering the period 1626-1671. ** It ia true,”’ they now add, in a sentence
well culculated to muddle all later research, ** that, as regards the colony
of Essequibo, the name of the fimt projector and founder thereol we
have not yet been able with certainty to learn; yet it is nevertheless
more than probable that it was first visited and colonized by the Zeel-
anders, namely, so far as can be traced, by & certain Joost van der Hooge,
who thereafter was also the Orst director of the Zeeland Chamber, and
that, il not for several years before the creation of & Genernl West India
Company (& conclusion to which much eolor is given by a certain request
presented to the Board of Nineteen in the year 1889 by Jan de Moor,
wherefrom it becomes apparent that already as early ns 1813, and so
eighl years before the charter was granted to the West India Company,
the colonies on the Wild Coast were already in full existence), at least
Ly the time of the beginning of that Company such an establishment
must already have existed there, in view of the {act that in the frst
mentions of the river Easaquibo in the books, registers, and mioutes of
the Comipany then brought into existence one finds this colony spoken ol
as of an already established possession, strengthened by a fort which
then bore the name of Fort der Hooge, after an old noble Zseland family
near of kin to that of the noble lords van Borsselen, and shortly there-
after the oame of Kykoveral, and yet without the slightest shadow of
accompanying evidence that this had come about through the Company
or at its order, as would in that cass certainly appear in the resolutions
of that body. and nevertheless the Zeeland Chamber was at that Ume in
possesgion of that river and that fort, and also of the trade which waa
there carried on—these being, perhaps, brought into their hands by those
individual [ounders themselves, who alterwards, as we have already
aeen, formed o part of the Zeeland Chamber of the said Company and
were made directors thereof, as, for example, Messieurs Van der Hooge,
Ten Haef, Elfsdyk, Van Peere, and others, who had theretofore traded
to the aforesaid coast, were elected and installed aa directors in the afore-
said Chamber,™

" But be this as it may," they coatinue, taking breath in & fresh para-
graph, "so loog as from the side of the Amsterdam Chamber not the
slightest evidence can be produced that the aforesaid colony and river,
belors or at the beginning of the Company, waa traded to by the Hol-
lunders or by any other inhabitanta of the State excepl the Zeelanders,
it may safely be concluded, on lhe hereinbefore specified and more than
prouable grounds, that the inhabitanis of Zeeland alooe and exclusively,
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out of any actual Dutch settlement there, nor out of any
eontinued physical occupation of land on that coast.

from the beginning on, have traded to the aforesald river, srected there
{heir establishments, and, under the care and direction of the Zeeland
Chamber, have remained in continuous possession thereof. * In obacuris
enim inspicere solemus quod verimimilius esl,’ and * in pari causa, pos-
semsor polior haberi debet.'"

Now, to snybody who reads with care (as few hislorians seem to have
had the patience to do) these adroitly framed sentences, it is clear that
we have here not & positive prool of the existence of the Essequibo
colony prior to 1821, but & confession that no such proof can ba found.
And one needs Lo read but slightly between the linea to detect that the
directors have lighted upon but two items of possible evidence—an
uncertain allusion of the year 1839 to the existence of the Guiana colonies
in geoeral in 1613, and the mention in early records of the West India
Company of & ** Fort der Hooge "' in conpection with the Essequibo.

The alleged request of Jan de Moor in 1680 can not now be verifled, for
the minutes of the Nineteen for this year are lost ; but there is no reason
to doubt its existence or ita werily. It is, however, clearly a mere
relerence to the Guinns colonies in general ; explicit mention in it of the
Easequibo there is confessedly none. It would even seem, from the
cautious form of the statement, that its testimony to the Quiana colonies
at all is rather infersntial than direct.

What is urged as to a ** Fort der Hooge " would be more serious were
it borne out by the contemporary records on which it elaims to be based.
These very earliest records of the West India Company still remain to
us, and in precisely the copies used by the Zeeland directors themselves.
True, the very first volume of the minutes of the Zeeland Chamber ilsell
is now lackiog ; but there is much reason to believe that it was lacking
when this memorial was written, and, had it been in this that the phrase
was found, the memorialists would undoubtedly have cited volume and
date, as they have done wherever in their memorial these mioutes are
used. That there is here no citation whalever strongly suggests that
what is siated is ooly an impression. Now, in the exiant minutes of the
Zealand Chamber, running without a break from 1626 to 1844, and making
frequent mention of the Essequibo colony, there is never any mention
of & Fort der Hooge al all ; nor have I been able to Aad it elsewhere in
the records of the Company. Nor is this colony at firat spoken of, as
alleged, as a possession strengthened by a fort; for, ns appears from an
entry of August 38, 1627, it had as yet oo fort at all, though the Company
then promises to send soon some men to build one. The name of the
fort, Eykoveral, which does not appear in the records before 1844, in
thereafter conslantly mel ; and had thers been earlier a Fort der Hooge
pamed after & director of the Compenay, the Zeeland directors would
hardly have shown to an influential colleague the discouriesy of con-
stantly igneoring its title. Joost van der Hooge is, indeed, named lrst,
at the organization of the West India Company, among the stockholders
and directors of the Zeeland Chamber, nnd this has ssemed to some a
reasncn for accepting the story ; but they forget Lhat this place belonged
io him, ex officio, as burgomaster of Middelburg. It is more probable
that the place of his name suggested the tradition. There is nothing in
the minutes of thess bodies to connect him with Essequibo ; and he was
nol one of those Lo whom matiers relaling to this colony were commonly
referred. That the authors of the memorial were not writing with the
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The British Case does indeed contain the following
general allegation regarding Dutch relations to that re-

gion ;

“ At the time of the Treaty of Utrecht (1714) the Dutch had
““established themselves as the masters of a groat part of Guiana,
“from various positions on the coast as far as Harima, etc.!

But this wholly unfounded assertion is made without
the citation of any evidence to support it.
The only specific acts which are relied upon to prove

it are as follows:

“In 1758 * * * Dutch traders were resident on the ® * #
“ Paraman (Barama). In 1766 and 1768 Dutchmen were settled
“in Barima. Io 1769 the Prefect of the Missions reported that
““s Dotchman had been eight years domiciled on the River
“Apgunirra: ® @ & 72

Again:

““There is little doubt that at this time there were Dutch plan-
““ tations in the Aruka, a tributary of the Barima, and at Koriabo
“ higher up on the Barima. There are still visible trnces of set-
““tlements at these spots, and they correspond with the descrip-
“ tion given of Dutch settlements then existing in the records of
““ ecret expeditions made by the Spaniards to the Barima in 1760
“and 1768. In the lutter your the Spaniards seorctly and without
“ previous complaint made a raid npon Barima and destroyed

documents before them may be guessed from the fact that, of the three
others whom they mention with Van der Hooge as Guiana patroons who
hiul earned a seat in the Zeeland Chamber by the transfer of their colonies,
nol all were original members of that chamber,

There is, too, another claimant to the name of Fort der Hooge, or Ter
Hooge.

When in 1857 the control of the Essequibo had passed into the hands
of the three Walcheren cities (Middelburg, Flushing, and Vere), and they
had planted in its region their pew colony and given it the new name of
Nova Zeelandia, there stood on the bank of the Pomercon, we are told,
not only the fortress Nieuw Zeeland, nod below it the village Nieuw
Middelburg, but a little further downstream the * Huis ter Hooge "—
believed to have been a fortified lookout, The Zeeland Estates, in their
paper of 1750, fell into Lhe error of supposing the colony of Essequibo to
have borne from its outset the name of Nova Zeelandia. This the
Zeealand directors corrected ; but is it not ponsible that they fell into the
kindred error of forgetting the site and date of the Fort ter Hooge?
[Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 8, pp. 58-82.]

' British Case, p. 82, lines 811,

¥ British Case, p. 48, lines 8-183,
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‘s Dutch plantation, which was probably in the Aroka, but they
“did not themselves hold or occupy the district of the river.” ?

And again:

““The traces of cultivation remaining in the Aruka and at Ko-
“ rinbo probably mark the sites of plantations, one of which was
“ probably that destroyed by tho Spanish secret expedition in 1768
“and snother that reported in 1760, but which was sitnated too
“ far up the Barima for the Spaniards to reach.”®

These various passages contain allegations with refer.
ence to five possible incidenta.

The first of these is that Dutch traders were residing
in the Barama®in 17568. To support this assertion the
British Case cites Fray Benito de la Garriga; but Fray
Benito 1nakes no mention whatever of any Dutch resi-
dents; his reierence is purely to Dutch slave traders so-
journing in Tucupo, Capi and Paraman® This first
incident therefore falls because the very evidence cited
to support it contradicts it.

The second is that *there is little doubt that” in
1760 Dutchmen were settled and had plantations on
the River Barima and on the Aruka, a tributary of the
Barima.* For this assertion there i8 not a word of
evidence. In fact the account of the Spanish expedition
of this date flatly contradicts it; and the existence of
any Duteh plantation in the Barima at this time is not
to be reconciled with what is known of the occurrences
of 1766. It was only slave traders who were in question
in 1760.

The third is that in 1766 Dutchmen were settled in
the Barima. This statement has, for its only foundation,

! British Casa, p. 51, lines 56-47.

! British Case, p. 88, lines 20-B5.

' Poraman, pol Barama nor Barlma. Oarriga says * Numbers of
Dutch * * *® remain in the places called Tucupo, Capi and Paraman,
fo buy slaves. These places are in the interior, * ®* * " British Case,
Appendix, IT, p. 147, E.

! Britiah Case, p. 51, lines 36-30.
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a quarrel between two Dutchmen in Barima resulting
in the arrest of one of them, and in an order of the
Court of Poliey “ forbidding any one to stop in Barima.™

The fourth is that in 1768 Dutchmen were settled in
the Barima. While the evidence cited to support this
allegation unguestionably shows that there were at that
time some “foreigners clandestinely settled for com.
merce and traffic in the creek ealled the Creek of
Barima, jurisdiction of this (Guiana) province,”* it
nevertheless furnishes at the same time the most con-
vincing proof of Spanish control there; it tells of the
expulsion of those very foreigners by Spanish officials,
of the destruction of their dwellings, and of the seizure
and judicial sale of their effects.* But apart from this
there is every reason to believe, as Professor Burr has
pointed out, that of these “foreigners” only one was a
Dutchman, the rest being English from Barbadoes and
French from Martinique,' and even this one Dutchman
was there in direct defiance of the authority of the
Essequibo colony.

! British Case, Appendix, II1, p. 182,

* Rritish Case, Appendix, 1I1, p. 168,

*On the 18th April, 1788, * * ®* Don Francisco Cierto * * ¢
having been questioned, * * * declared ; ' That the Commandant-
(General there presanl having received information that in the creek
called the Creek of Barima ®* * * sundry Dutch families were
eslablished, dispatched him with instructions to warn them once, twice
and thrice to guit the whole of that territory because it belonged to the
siid provinee (Guinns) in virtue whereof the declarant went in hin vesscl,
® # * {heyonly found the deserted houses and the effecta, implements
and ulensils conlained in the invenlory, which they put on board the
{wo vessals and then set fire to the said houses, in order that they should
not form seltlements in future,” British Case, Appendix, 111, pp. 170-171.

“The Spanish testimony to this exploit speaks of “sundry Dutch families
and of *° the foreigners,” and menlions the houses and plantations sa If
there were several eatablishments. Bot, had there been any other setilers
from Essequibo, it seems probable that Storm would have learned it, if ooly
from the whlow La Riviere, and would have mentioped it to the Company.
It Is possible that the other settlers, if such there were, were from other
colonles—not Improbably Freach, or English from the lslands. In the
library of the British Museum. in that volume of the Egerton manuscripts
calling lwself Popeles Tocantes d la Provineia de Veneruela, Vol I1], 1773-1788
(marked Press 542, G.) ; there in & copy of & letter, addressed by Andrés de
Oleags, Contador of Guayaos, to Jose! de Abalos, Intendente of Carkcas,
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The fifth is that in 1769 a Dutchman Lad been
“domiciled with the Caribs more than eight years buy-
ing slaves from them.”' There is some reason to believe
that this Dutchman was from Surinam and not from
Essequibo; certainly if he was there at all it was in
no official capacity, but at best merely as a private
individual engaged in the slave trade: what is even
more to the point, the place of his sojourn is given as
the Aguirre® a river lying in territory confessedly
Venezuelan, and far outside of Great Britain’s present

extreme claim.
Present traces of former plantations are appealed to

by {+reat Britain to prove Dutch occupation. Schom-
burgk's testimony as to ceitain trenches “at the mouth
of the Barima"* is invoked, and living witnesses are
made to tell of traces of former cultivation at various

which seems Lo throw s Hght on this. [t contaios this passage (fol. 70, lines
18-83): ** Covetous of this spacious and sitractive terrilory on the banks of
the river Barima, the English of Barbados, united with the Dutch of Esse-
quibo, established & colony, and o the year 1778 were dislodged by sction
of this government through 1he agency of the privatesr boats of this place ;
and, in spite of the watch which has been kept, the English have continued
o make great ravages on the tmber " (' Enwidiosos de sste prands y amens
territorio en [a margen del Ric Barima, establacieron solonin e Frglases de la
Darvada wnidos con los (landeses do Baquivo, y el afo de 1778 fueron desalobados
”Mﬁmm”hhﬂ-mmﬁmﬂm,rprm
que s Ao eignlade mempre han lecha prandss soras de maderas loa Fraplases. ™)
Now “1TTB " Is bere a quits impossible date ; for the letter itself, though
misdated " 1777" (November 18), ls ao anawer to one of August 14, 1778, and
must have been wrilten before the end of that year. Inssmuch as the
Spanish parging of the Barims in 1768 answers so perfoctly to the description
io this passage, while none of 1778 bs known from the records, It scema & fair
conjecture that ** 1TT8" is here but an error for 1788, and that the other
setilers then ousted from the Barima were therefore English. That Oleags
was likely to know whereof he spoke will appear from the fact that it was
precisely he who in 1788 as Royal Accountant {o Banto Thomé recelved and
invoiced the confiscated property. (Blue Book * Vemezuela No. 8" pp
5i4-280 ; Venezuelan ' Documents,” [, pp. 281-2384) Governor Storm st
first believed ihe attack Instigated by certaln deserters from the Morucs
post and plantation (Blus Book ** Venezuels No. 8," pp. 148, 154 ; Exiracts,
pp. H40, 442) ; but there Is 00 mention of these In the Spanish documents,
and Btorm himsalf later speaks of It as simply the work of the Spaniards
(Exiracta, p. 458). [Venesuelan Counter-Case, vol. 2, p. 184.]

! British Case, Appendix, IV, p. 20.

" British Case, p. 48, lines 12-18.

* British Case, Appéndix, VII, p. 13,
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Incidents retid other points. So far as Schomburgk is concerned, Pro-
- somor vy Ut fessor Burr disposes of his theory of a Dutch post at
the mouth of the Barima in the following note:’

“ The assumption of Mr. Schomburgk, so constuntly repested
“ ginge, that it was at the mouth of the river, 18 without docu-
“ montary warrant and inprobable. No object for such a site—
“ without water and remote both frum the Caribs, with whom the
« Dateh wished to trade, and from their own colony—is easily con-
“ geivable. It is impossible that such a shelter could have left the
“ remaine which Mr. Schomburgk says Colonel Moody found there
“jn 1807.* Itis far more probable that these were remaius of the
“ fort built by the French in 1688.* The SBurinam expedition sent
““ to the Orinoco in 1711 stopped st the mouth of the Barima, both
“ in going and coming, and makes no mention of u shelter there,
“ though its jonrnal lways mentions one when found.¢ That site
““ would have been & more natural one for the French, who, ono
¢ their way from the islands to the Barima, would here first reach
“ the mainlund, than for the Dutch of the Guians colonies, who
 came through the Moraca snd reached the Barima by the Mora
¢ Pagsuge. 1 have never yet found in any Dutch doenment u men-
“ tion of Barima Point, and have no reason to belicve that the
¢ Dutch ever attached importance to it, Not even the description
“ of Hartsinck or the map of Bonchenroader, though so often cited
“ in snpport of the claim, place the traditional Barima post st the
“ mouth of the river. Hartsinok speaks of it only as ‘on the
“ river,” and Bouchenroeder'’s map plices it above what mnst be
“ meaut for the Mora Pussage. There is, of course, no rensm to
“ gnppose that either had any definite knowledge as to the
““ matter.”

As to the other statements regarding artificial canals
and fruit trees, relied on to prove settlements of Esse
quibo Dutch, it is difficult to discern in them any-
thing serious. If their origin be really European,
their existence is entirely accounted for by the mongrel
settlement of 1768 already mentioned—a settlement

! Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 2, p. 124,

¥ British Case, Appendix, VII, p. 18,

' Venexuelan Counter-Case, Vol. II, p. 128,

U, 8. Commission Report, Vol. ii, pp. 224228,
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made np of Englishmen from Barbadoes, of French
from Martinique, and of the renegade colonist Jan la
Riviére from Essequibo. It was a settlement which
was not only not authorized by the Essequibo authori-
ties, but was in defiance of those authorities, and was
promptly and publicly suppressed by the Spanish
officiala.  Apart from these outlaws it is not unlikely
that *“ Mener Nelch” may have contributed his share to
the fruit trees and ditches. He was a Dutchman who
at one time was postholder in Moruea, but who
having been discharged for incompetence probably
wandered off and for a time lived with some Caribs on
the Aruka.’

"There ls never agaln mention In Dutch documents of the stay of any
Dutehman in the Barima. A Bpaniard, however, the young officer Inclarte,
who in 1779, on his way to the Pomeroon, made & reconpoissance of Lhe
lower Barima, found In the Aruks, ita lowesi western tribatary of impor-
tance, at the distance of & league from the Barima, s hill ** which was & few
years ago inhabited by & Dutchman from Essequibo called Mener Nelch and
by certaln londians of the Carib tribe.”” At the fool of this hill be foand the
hulls of & large pirogue and of snother craft, and was assured by sn Indian
that these had belooged to the Duichman. On the bill be foond survivals
of colfee, banans, and orange trees.  Further details he noted In a diary,
which unfortuonately fa now lost.

“Mener”™ s doubtless MymAeer. It would be hard to repressnt ita
sound more sccuralely in Spanish. ** Nelch," | suspect to be a distortion
of Nelie. Diederik Nelis was 8 man well known to Emsequibo records.
In 1785 it was only the timely encounter with * the colonist Diederik
Nels coming from Barima™ which saved threa lost sailors from star.
wation. In August, 1787, Nelis was living in the upper Essequibo, " up
near the plantation Oostarbeek.” It waa to him that the Cariba reported
the desertion of the post Arinda; but befors the end of that year he had
been provisionally made postholder at Moruca, though the governor
conlessen his incompetence, and implies that he waa 8 man addicted to
drink, There he was kept until 1774, when he was replaced by the
bylier Vermeere.

As postholder in Moruca at the time of the Spaniah sack of the La
Riviere plantation, and as bhimsell expressly charged wiith sattention
to all that transpired in Barims and with the exclusion of Easequibo
seitlers, Nelis must have become more familinr with the place, and
may easily bave betaken himsell thither on his release from his duties
st Moruca. As the La Riviere plantation had already been clearsd,
and as the same coasiderations, agricultural and political, which would
direct his chodoe of site and of soil must have infuenced La Riviers be.
fore him, it is surely not improbable that the site eccupied by Nelis (il
" Mener Nelch ' was really he) bad been La Riviere's as well. [ Venemue-
lan CounterCase, vol. 2, pp. 184-185.)
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Incidents relled  The only other allegation of the British Case as to
upon Lo prove
Dutch occupation. [utch occupation of this region is the following :

“ Two years afterwards [1676] the Spanish Council of War of
i the Indies bronght forward the question of the Datch Colonies
“ on the Coast of Guisna, aud snggested » remonstrance with the
¢ States-General on the ground that they were cstablishing new
‘“ gattlements in the Indies without informing the King of Spain,
“ but it was resolved that to bring sach a complaint before the
¢ States-General of the United Provinces was not advisable. It
“is to be noted that the attention of the Conncil was called to
““ the fact that the Dutch at that time held the ehief portion of
“ the Conast of Guiava from Trinidad te the River Amazon, and
“ liad settlements in Berbice, Essequibo and Surinam.™!

The evidence cited in support of this statement
shows that what the Spanish Council had under con-
sideration was a proposed Dutch Colony at Cape
Orange between the Wiapoco and the Amazon, about

500 miles east of the present disputed territory; and

that, while it is true that the general and very ex

nggerated statement was made to the King that the

Duteh possessed “ the greater part of the coast from

Trinidad to the River Amazon," this statement was at

once qualified by the following phrase: “for they

already have settlements in Barbiche (Berbice), Se-
quiebes (Essequibo) and Surinamte (Surinam),™

Bpanish control 4. The visit of the Swedes to Barima, cited by the
of coast—Hwedes in = ; =T w o Lmh &

Iarima. British Case as an instance of Duteh jurisdiction in that

region, so far from proving LDutch control, furnishes

instead a convenient introduction to the subject of

Spanigh control. As already stated, this Spanish con-

trol, while denied in general terms is nevertheless in fact

recognized by the British Cuse, because specific acts of

Spanish control are admitted without anything sub-

stantial to counteract their effect. Some of these

' British Case, p, 29, lines 4-18.
"British Case, Appeodix, I, p. 178 E.
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specific acts will presently be mentioned : before pass- “Ewnhl in Bari-

ing to them, it is important to note that the conduct ot
Spain towards these Swedish intruders, so far from
proving the presence of Dutch control in Barima, demon-
strates the abssnce of that control, and the exercise there
of Spanish sovereignty.

The statement of the British Case in this connection
is as follows:

““In March 1732 a Swedish captain with a small vessel arrived
““in the River Essequibo. After his departure a rumour reached
“ tho Colony to the effect that he would retarn to take possession
“of a tract of land in the River Barima which, it waa reportad,
“the King of Spain had presentsd to the late Elector of Bavaria,
““who had been Governor of the Spanish Netherlands, and who
“had in tarn given it to the King of Sweden. Later iu the zsame
* year & report reached the Spanish Island of Trinidad that the
“ 3wedes were founding a settlement in the neighbonring island of
“Tobago. Alarmed by this report, the Spaniards sent to enquire
“into the facts, and, not being satisflod with the resalt of their
“ inquiries, dispatched an officer up the Orinoco to Guayana to
““obtain information. On his return he reported that he had
“learned from the Caribs of Barima, that s number of white
“men had bien seeking to establish themselves at that point, and
“that n Carib Ohief, with a large force, was established in the
“greek, who had received orders from the Dateh ‘not to show
“%the Bwedes & good place fur their settlement, as they them-
*“ “selves would give them all they required.” The King of Spain,
“on receiving this report, directaed the Governors of Carficas and
“ Margurita to take whatever steps they might consider necessary,
“bat tho Governor of Orinoco had, apparently, before receiving
“ thix order, written to the Governor of Essequibo a despatch, in
“which he suggested that the Duteh Governor should not
“tolerate the Swedes in their neighborhood. The Governor of
‘* Essequibo reported to tha West India Company that, should
“the Swedes try to establish themselvos between the Orinoco and
“ the Colony of Essequibo on the territory of the Company, he
“shonld be obliged to try to prevent it."!

'Britial Case, pp. 34-85.
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Bwedes in Bar-  The evidence cited by the British Case in support of
a1 W

this statement warrants the following counter-statement:

On June B, 1734, the Dutch Commandeur of Ease
quibo wrote to the West India Company that rein-
forcements had arrived for the Spaniards of Orinoco,
and that, to quiet any apprebensions on the part
of the Dutech, the Spanish Governor had written, ex-
plaining that these reinforcements had been sent to
prevent the Swedes from carrying out a reported plan
to found a colony on the River of Barima “lying betwesn
the Orinoco and your Honours' Post ot Wacguspo™
The Spanish Governor had in the same letter suggested
the inconvenience to the Dutch themselves of having
the Swedes, not, let it be noted, on Dutch ferritory,
but in the Dutch “neighborhood," the evident intent
of this suggestion being to further quiet Dutch appre
hension and to win Duteh approval of the action
proposed to be taken by Spain herself.

In commenting upon this to the Company, the Dutch
Commandeur bemoaned the weakness which would
prevent his making any effective resistance in case the
Swedes should establish themselves *Jbefween the
Orinoco and this Colony.” Though the claim of Spain
to this territory between the Orinoco and the Dutch
post at Wacquepo and her purpose to use her troops
there were thus made known to the Dutch Commandeur
and by him to the Company, the answer of that Com.
pany not only contains no words of protest against
Spain's proposed action, but even the Commandeur’s
suggestion, to himself do something to prevent the
Swedish settlement, is wholly ignored. In contrast to
this indifference on the part of the Dutch authorities is
the following order made by the King of Spain for the
protection of Barima :

'Britiah Case, Appendix, II, pp. 17-18
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‘““ In & letter of the 18th July of the year before last [1732] EE!HIH in Bari-

“ Don Rafsel de Eslaba, President of my Roysl Court of the city
““of SBanta Fé in the new Kingdom of Granuds, having communi-
“cated the representation made by Father Joseph Gumilla,
“Baperior of the Missions of the Orinoco, with respect to the sat-
““tlement which the Swedes were attempting to make in River
“ Barima, for whose ejection the Court of that Kingdom had
“ previonaly taken measures; and as soon as the eaid President
“eutered ou his office, he reqnested the said Father Joseph
“(Famills to repeat his former information, that he might take
“the necessary steps ; but thinking this a matter of considerable
“gravity he sends an acconunt of it for his reassurance. Having
“gonsidered the matter in my Council of the Indies, and taken
“the advios of my Fiscal thereupon, I hereby command that with
“what people yoa have and with the Capuchin Missions, you take
“ all proper measures to prevent the settlement sttempted by the
“Swedish nation from being established, and that you give me
““an sccount of your proceedings herein at the first opportunity.!”

The above is but one of many acts showing Spanish

control of this coast region: they were numerous and
constant ; many of them have been set forth in the Case
of Venezuela; some of them are admitted, in the British
Case, in passages making mention of Spanish inter-
ference with Dutch fishing and capture of Dutch craft,
particularly in 1746, 1760, 1762 and 1768° A letter
of the Director-General of Essequibu, dated June lst,
1768, wherein it is distinctly declared that the Spaniards
had by that time completely put an end to Dutch fish-
ing near the mouth of the Orinoco, is quoted by the
British Case.® The explanation offered viz: that the
interference of the Spaniards was always upon the plea
that the vessels were not fishing but smuggling, even if
true, tends to strengthen rather than to weaken the proof
of Spanish authority; for it discloses a Spanish discretion

! British Case, Appendix, 11, p. 63,
" Britlsh Case, p. 58.
" British Case, pp. 53-838,

Bpanish control
coast.
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in permitting certain acts and forbidding others. Be-
sides this interference with Dutch fishing and smug-
gling, the British Case admits the Spanish expeditions
of 1760 and 1768, which, it will be remembhered, re
sulted in the flight or expulsion of such Dutchmen as
had surreptitiously attempted to establish themselves
in the Barima for purposes of trade or smuggling.
These admitted acts on the part of Spain, especially in
the absence of any Dutch acts of control in that region,
warrant the statement heretofore made, that according
to even the British Case itself the coast between the
Orinoco and Moruca was under Spanish control.

6. Apart from a general allegation to the effect that
Great Britain controlled the entire coast from the earliest
days of the British occupation of Essequibo, the only
specific acts, prior to the agreement of 1850, cited to
support this allegation are an alleged survey of “the
captured Colony” “during the period of their occups-
tion " [1781], and an alleged apportionment of lands in
1797. The first of these acts was anything but a survey
of the “ captured Colony.,” Writing about it in 1780 to
the Count del Campo, Fermin de Sincinenea says, that in
anticipation of a war with Spain the English, when i
possession of Essequibo, Demerara, and Berbice, had sur-
veyed, or rather had taken soundings, along the coast from
Essequibo to the Orinoco and for even ten leagues up
the latter river. It is evident that this, so far from being
a survey of a Duteh Colony, was rather a reconnoissance
of Spanish territory preparatory to a hostile attack.’

Neither can the alleged apportionment of lands by
the English in 1797 constitute any evidence of British
occupation, (Great Britain and Spain had been at war
with each other since October, 1798; a report reached

! British Case, p. §7; also, Same, Appendix, V, p. 76,
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the Spanish Governor of Orinoco in 1797 that the
English had spportioned the lands on the coast as far
as Barima; but, instead of acquiescing in any such act,
the Spanish Governor gives the following account of
what he did :

“ Although this newa is not a8 clear as an affair of so much
“ importance demands, I have nevertheless considered it well not
“ to despise it altogether, and, consequently, in order to assure
““ myself thereof, in conformity with my daty, I have dispatched
“ Captain Don Mannel Astor, with the assistance of His Majeaty’s
“ revenne-catter on thia river, together with whatever boats and
“ Indinns he may consider necessary, to proceed at once to Point
“ Barimas, to reconnoitre it and make a scrupulouns investigation
“into the truth of this matter, or obtain proof that it is
“ unfounded. In case of finding any of the Notices that are said
“ to be posted up, he is to bring one back with him for grester
“ pyidence, bot on no account ia he to go any distance from that
“ point, on account of the danger of falling in with the enemy’s
“ grunisera, which are known to be cruising in the mouths of the
“ river, or into an smbuscade which the English may have pre-
“ pared.  Four the little force which he is taking to carry out his
* gomm ission is not enough for & greater axpedition.” !

The account of what followed shows that a Spanish
reconnoissance was in fact made, but that whatever the
English may have done on paper, the actual fronfier
gquard was “placed af the mouth of the Moruea™ Of
course no further action by Spain was called for at that
time when actual hostilitiea were pending, and as Great
Britain did not thereafter, either during the war or after
the reestablishment of peace, take possession of any
part of the coast west of the Moruca, no further notice
was taken of the matter.

Prior to the agreement of 1850 the only other
acts relied on by Great Britain to establish her right to
Barima relate to certain visits there in 1838 of the newly

1 British Case, Appendiz, V, pp. 184-185.
* British Case, Appendix, V, p. 185, E

British
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mﬁﬂlg‘“mwb created British “ Superintendent of Rivers and Creeks,”

Agreement of
1850,

residing on the Pomeroon. These acts will be considered
later in connection with the question of Indian re
lations: for the present it is sufficient to note two
things; first, that the year 1838 is the earliest year
in which any mention of such visits is to be found;
second, that even then the evidence cited by Great
Britain shows that the “ Superintendent " had no thought
of extending his juriediction to the boundary claimed
by Schomburgk.

Of course Venezuela knew nothing of any of these
visits, and hence made no protest against them ; as soon,
however, as Schomburgk’s surveys made it known for
the first time that Great Britain claimed the Barima-
Waini region, a vigorous protest was made by the Vene
zuelan Minister in London ' and this resulted in the re-
moval of the boundary posts erected by Schomburgk :*
shortly thereafter the agreement of 1850 between Vene
zuela and Great Britain forbade any occupation of this
terntory by either nation.?

(Great Britain admits that this agreement continued
binding upon her until at least 1886, but she alleges
that the granting of certain concessions by Venezuela
constituted a violation of that agreement® The maps,
reports and prospectuses, printed in the British Ap-
pendix in support of this allegation, were all private
acts of the grantees of the concessions; and Venezuela
can in no way be held responsible for them. The con-
cessions themselves never specified any portion of the
territory in dispute; they were always limited on
the east by “ British Guiana,” without any other specifi-

! Yenezuelan Case, Vol. 8, p. 107.

* YVenszuelan Case, Vol. 8, pp. 207-208,
" Venezuelan Case, Vol. 8, p, 213,

¢ Dritish Case, p. 18, lloes 8842,

* British Case, p. 78.
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cation of boundaries ; and it is a mistake to attribute to
Venezuela the maps referred to or printed by Great
Britain in Volume VI of the Appendix to her Case, in
the foot note on page 217, or opposite pages 222 or 237.
It is also & mistake to attribute to her the statements
contained in document No. 903 (p. 220) of the same
volume, or the statements in any other document eman-
ating from the grantees of the concessions referred to, or
from the agents of such grantees. Such maps and docu-
ments were prepared and printed without any authori
gation, express or implied, from the Government of
Venezuela,

6. Dutch occupation of the interior never went beyond
the lowest falls of the three rivers Essequibo, Cuyuni
and Mazaruni. The facts alleged in the British Case to
disprove this statement themselves constitute the best
evidence in its favor. '

To prove that from 1681 onwards
* the area of actual plantation extended along the rivers Cuyuni,
“ Massaruni, snd Upper Essequibo ",!
the British Case cites the fact that
“In 1681, aa island in fhs mouth of the River Cuyuni wae

 gleared and planted with cassava for the use of the garrison ; ™'%
and that in 1694 the Dutch Commandeur reported that

he had
“ ggnin begun to make here s new plantation in the River Ou-

yuni above fhe fori.""?

In another place reference is made to an
“ annattostore at s Carib village above in Massaruni ” and to “a
“ dye store in the Cayuni,”*

No further light is thrown upon the location or
pature of these “stores;” and the reference to facts so

! British Case, p. 30, lines 40432,
* British Case, p. 89, lines 42-45.
* British Oase, p. 29, lines 47-48.
¢ British Case, p. 81, lines 17.20.
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vague and unimportant would seem to indicate a dearth
of more substantial settlements.

A single plantation, called Poelwijk, is stated to have
been moved to “a position above the falla” in 1704
this solitary experiment by the Dutch in cultivation
above the falls, even if true, must have been short lived,
for as the British Case itself states :

““In 1722 the oflicials of the Company were making explora-
““ tions in order to ascertain the nature of the soil in the interior
“ with a view to plantations, and a Heport by Maurain Saincterre,
“‘ an engineer of the Company, stated that the ground was even
¢ better above in the Rivers Easequibo, Massaruni, and Cuayuni
“* than below, but that the rocks, falls, and islands had, up to that
“ date, prevented Europeans from establishing engar plantations
“ there.”*

The settlement of the revolted creole slaves in 1738,
referred to on page 35 of the British Case, was indeed
on an island in the Cuyuni; but the island was delow
the falls; and this proves, if it proves anything, that
even below those falls Dutch authority was too weak to
maintain Duteh sovereignty, for these slave rebels had
to be compromised with.

The facts as to the various trading posts of 1703,
175458, 1766-69 and 1769-72 have been sufficiently
set forth in the Case of Venezuela, and in an earlier
chapter of this Counter-Case. The location of the
second of these posts, namely, that destroyed by the
Spaniards in 1768, has been very fully considered by
Professor Burr, and his location of that post is certainly
the most western which the evidenece will warrant.®
The statement of the British Case that it was located
“gomewhere between the mouth of the Curumo and

! British Case, pp. 81-83, lines 40-50, 1-8. The falls referred to are the
lowest In the Mazarunl. Bee Venezuelan Case, Atlas, maps 59, 80, 50,

* British Case, p. 53, lines 26-85.

* Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, pp. 156-185; alee Atlas to Counter-
Case, map 28,

T
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that of the Acarabisi ™ is an abandonment of the claim
which had been advanced by the earlier British publi-
cations that the site was ai the mouth of the Curumo. In
the map submitted with the British Case, the phrase
“ gomewhere between the mouth of the Curumo and that
of the Acarabisi,” is made to mean a little below the
mouth of the Acarabisi; and this without offering so
much as a shred of fresh evidence or indeed any evi-
dence, new or old, for such a site. Nor does it answer
by so much as a word the arguments drawn by Profes-
sor Burr from the concurrent and explicit testimony of
the contemporary witnesses, both Spanish and Dutch—
the Dutch governor and the postholders, the Spanish
raiders and the Capuchin prefect-—as to the distance of
the post from the Essequibo on the one side and the
Spanish missions on the other.

Not less important are the admissions of the British
Case as to the Dutch post of 1766-69. In the first place,
it is conceded that “the description of the work done
upon it certainly is that of a new clearing in a new
place,” and that “there is little doubt that the site of
this Post was lower down the river than that of the for
mer Post.” This conclusion harmonizes strikingly with
the proofs and argumenta of Venezuela showing the
constant pressure exercised by the Spaniards in the
Cuyuni in the interval between the two posts, and the
terror in which they here held the Dutch and their Carib
friends. Venezuela accepts, therefore, without question
this concession of Great Britain.

In the second place, the advanced site claimed by Mr.
Schomburgk, and by others after him, for this post, is
definitely sbandoned by the British Case. There is no
mention, by the Case, of the Island of Tokoro (Toero,

| British Case, p. 47, lines 4845
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Tokoro-patti) or of the Indian testimony which placed
there a Dutch postholder. Discarding this, the British
Case places the post of 1766-69, not on an island, but
“on the banks of the river,” and close (as is clear from
the context) to the island of Toenamoeto “at the rapid
of Tonoma,” just at the head of the Cuyuni gorge, where
the Duteh postholder made his last stand.'

This conclusion, too, falls in wholly with the evidence
urged by Venezuela as to the Spanish advance in this
quarter; and the position taken by the British Case as
to the site of the post of 1766—69 she fully accepts
The importance of these concessions to the question of
the control of the Cuyuni basin it would be hard to
overrate,

Of course the final post of 1769-72 was lower down
still, as is admitted by the British Case in the following

. words:

Extent of Dutch
occupation.

“ it is probable that the Postholder had come nearer the settled
* districts, for Storm van 's Gravesande states that he would have
“ liked to move the Poet gradually higher up the river.”'?

In spite of all these Dutch failures at occupation
above the falls, the British Case makes the following
impossible elaim :

“ At the time of the Treaty of Utrecht (1714) the Duotch had
“ ggtablished themselves as the masters of a great part of Guiana,
“ from various positions on the coast as far as Barims, to the
““ Pariacot Savannah beyond the River Cuyuni in the interior of
“ the coontry, and they were slready opening up the higher
¢ renches of the Essequibo. Their plantations and settlements

" 1@ After trying a site on the banks of the river, the Postholder in 1768
moved the post to an island belween two falls which he ocalled
Toenamoeto, . . . Toeoamoeto ia at the rapid of Tonoma "—{British
Case, p. 52, lines 7-15.)

It is true that the map accompanying the British Case still places
this post at Tokoro; but this must be an oversight, as the text shown,

" Britlsh Case, p. 52, lines 11-16.
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“ lined the banks of the Essequibo, Massaruni, and Cuyuni for
““ pome distance from the junction of the three rivers.” ?

More nearly in accord with the real facts is the fol-
lowing later statement of the British Case:

“ Upon the Essequibo, the Massarani, and the Cuyuni, planta-
“ tion was not extended at this period [1840-41], the soil above
“ the estuary not being sufficiently fertile. But in 1881 the
‘“ country was described as sottled to the falls of the three
“ branches of the Essequibo, namely, the Esequibo, Massaruni,
“and Coyoni." ?

What is thus admitted to have been the situation
above the falls in 1881 and in 1840-41, may with entire
truth be said of every other period. Neither Dutch por
settlements passed above the lowest falls of these rivers
British until long after the agreement of 1850 ; and then
it was in violation of that agreement that they passed
them.

7. Spanish strength on the Orinoco and in the
Cuyuni-Mazaruni Basin is made light of by Great
Britain, but that strength is a fact which she admits and
tries to explain away, not a fact which she denies.
About Santo Thomé itself, no question is or can be
raised. At times, doubtless, its population was small
and its houses few ; yet it always served as a base for
Spanish operations into the interior; and the communi-
eation between it and Trinidad required and resulted 1o
the maintenance of Spanish control over the entire Ori-
noco river to its mouth. Santo Thomé was itself
at times surprised and pillaged by foreign freebooters;
but the Spanish strength in the Orinoco was always
adequate to prevent these from gaining any permanent
foothold upon its banks.

As to the missions, while their importance and extent

i British Case, p. 52, lines 6-18.
" Britiah Case, p. 85, lives §-11.
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Bpanish Missions. gre conceded, a strenuous effort is made to minimize as

Carib atiacka.

much as possible both of these facts. The “peaceful
development” of the Essequibo colony is contrasted
with the “ severe struggle” of the Spanish settlement:’
the mission villages are pictured as always on the defen
sive against the Caribs: the existence of some missions
is denied even where the documents accompanying the
British Case tell of their location and history.

That & contrast existed between the conditions of the
Duteh and Spanish colonies is very certain; but that
contrast was not the one pictured in the British Case. It
was a contrast between Dutch fear of extinction and
Spanish power; between Dutch influence on behalf of
barbarism and Spanish influence on behalf of civiliza
tion : between the final withdrawal of the Dutech to the
mouth of the Easequibo, and the gradual spread of Span-

ish settlement over the interior. This contrast reached

its climax when direct conflict ensued between Dutch

and Spanish strength, resulting in the destruetion of
Duteh posts, in the expulsion of Dutchmen from the
Cuyuni, in the prevention of Dutch fishing, in the cap-
ture of Dutch vessels, and in the flight of even Dutch
smugglers and slave catchers from the Barima-Waini
reglon.

The facts in support of these statements have been
already fully set forth in the Case of Venezuels, and are
confirmed by the evidence which Great Britain has her-
self submitted.

The Carib attacks on the missions are proof of Span.
ish strength rather than of Spanish weakness. The
Caribs who made these attacks were of two kinds: in
the first place they were of those who had been gathered
by the Spaniards into the missivns, and who, restive
under Spanish authority sought to throw off the

i British Case, p, 87. }
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Spanish yoke ; in the second place they were of those
who, still wandering through the forests in search of
human prey with which to furnish the Dutch market,
felt, even there, the power of the missions to obstruet
that trade. Had this form of obstruction not been felt,
the wild Caribs of the woods would never have molested
the Spanish missionaries. These Carib attacks and
revolts were at times successful, but in the end all
Caribs were either reduced to subjection or else driven
out of the Cuyuni by Bpain. Up to 1750 none of the
Capuchin missions had been destroyed by Caribs, and
notwithstanding the attacks of 1750 and of later years
these missions were exceedingly prosperous.’

The dates of foundation of the missions, the num-
ber of these, their location and extent eastward, are
often greatly confused or misstated by the British Case,
For instance, in the following lines, the missions of
Caroni and Buoay are confounded :

“The first Mission founded in this territory was La Purisima
“Concepcion del Caroni, more commonly known as Suay, in
1724,

Now Caroni and Suay were not the same. The
mission of Caroni, founded directly after Suay, was
eslled San Antonio until the suppression of Suay in
1762, when it took the name of La Purisima Concepeion.
It was several miles west of Suay, as will appear, for in-
stance, from the Capuchin Map of 1735 or from the
report of the Spanish Governor in 1743.

Again, the mission of Mutanambo, which was one of
those destroyed by the Caribs in 1750, is alleged by the

'Bee, as 10 this, Venezuelan Casa, vol. 2, pp. 386-200, where exiracts are
given from a report by Gregoric Espinosa ds los Monteros, Governor of
Cumank, and Venezuelan Cuse, vol. 8, pp. 8308-373 for further detalls by the
mumne (Jovernor,

"British Case, p. 88, Unes 58-40.

*Yenezuelan Case, Atlas, map T2

‘Venezuelan Case, vol. B, pp. 360, 70

Carlb stiacks
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Spanish Missions British Case to be mentioned “nowhere” except in a

letter of Fray Benito de la Garriga of July 6th, 1769
but the British Atlas* itself contains the maps of Cruz
Cano and of Surville, in both of which the mission is
given.

As to the “most easterly” mission at various
dates, the British Case is seriously in error. It makes
seven allegations as to this, every one of which is wrong,.

1. It states that in 1784 “the most easterly Mission
appears to have been Alta Gracia™ If by this 1s
meant to be implied that Alta Gracia represented the
farthest advance of Spanish missions into the region in
dispute it is an error; even the British atlas (map 1)
shows Cupapuy as over the divide and in the savanna
region.

2. In speaking of the year 1746 it says:

““In 1746 the Mission of Ban Miguel del Palmar seems to have
¢t heen founded, and in the same year & rumonr reached the Dutch
“‘ag to the progress of the Spanish Missions. It was reported to
*“the Commandeur ‘from up the Coyuni’ that the Spaniards
*‘had established a Mission above on the said river, and had
“‘ ggtablished a fort there. The Spanish documents which have
““ heen above referred to show that the Missions had advanced no
““ nearer than Divina Pastors and Palmar.”4

The documents referred to fail to show this The
Curumo Mission, which was much further east, was the
one which eaused the Duteh so much disquietude in this
year, Whether it was formally founded in 1746 or
not, is possibly doubtful; but, whether founded or
not, it was in existence, Itis well known that the prep-
arations for a mission often occupied two or three
years, sometimes more, before its formal foundation,

1British Cass, p. 41, lines 37-44.
*Maps 27 and 20,

" British Case, p. 39, lines 8, 17-18,
{British Case, p. 39, lines 20-19,
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Thus a settlement (Tupuquen) was being planned in
1743' though not “founded” till February, 1748.°
Cunuri was started in 1743, a year before its formal
“foundation” in February, 1744.* Yuruan (Aima or
San Joseph de Leonisa) waa in June, 1754, already “in
a very good state of restoration,” though not formally
founded till February, 17667 and ‘Tumeremo is
known to have been in existence for some years before
its founding in 17488, The jfounding was, in fact,
only the formal opening after the equipment with
church regalia by the Spanish Governor at the cost of
the State; and friction between the friars and civie
authorities might canse great delay in this. Governor
Marmion expressly complained that he waa not promptly
informed regarding the new missions.®
3. For 1748 the British Case makes this statement:

“In 1748 the Mission of Nuestra Sefiora del Monseratti del
“Miamo was founded near the River Miamo, a tributary of the
“Yurnari. This but elightly advanced the frontier of the
“ Missions, which were still many leagues from the Coyuni.”*

This is to ignore altogether, not only Curumo, but
also Tupuquen, far down the Yuruan, which latter
was founded in this same year.’

4, 5 and 6. Referring to the year 1770 the British
Case mentions, as {frontier missions, Miamo, Carapo,
Yuruari, Divina Pastora, and Avechica, and then adds:

“These documents show beyond question that Missions had
not come within s long distance of the Cuyuni.®

Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 3, pp. 184-188,
"Venezoelan Case, Vol. 8, p. 578

*Venezuelan Case, Yol. &, pp. 371, 578,
‘Yenezuelan Case, Vol. 8, p. 428,

'Hlus Book, Vesesuela, No. 3 (1808), pp. 535-334
"British Case, p. 40, lines 5-13.

"Venezuelan Case, Vol. 8, p. 578,

*British Case, p. 48, lines B9-41.

Apanish Missions.
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In line with this, and therefore to be considered with
it, are the following statements of the British case:

“The foregoing facta show that between the years 1750 and
¢ 1770, the Missions had not extended nearer to the Cayani than
“ the junction of the Mismo and the Yuruari.”?

And again:

“ It appears from the journal of Antonio Lopes de la Puents,
“ who in 1788 ascended the Carumo from the Cuyuni, that the
i River Mutanambe enters the Curumo just above the point upon
¢ tho latter river where the forest of the Cuayuni Valley gives
¢ place to the savannah, and that & leagne higher up he came to
“ what is called specifically * the SBavannahs of the Carumo." This
“ point was reached by De la Puente after eight days’ journey,
“ partly by water, and partly by land, from the mouth of the
“ Quramo. In the map by Croz Cano ¥ Olmedills the site of
“ Muotanambo is marked npon the banks of the river of that name
** gome distance above ita confluence with the Carumo, and npon
“ the Curameo itself at s corresponding distance above the month
““ of the Mutanambo there is marked the site of a Mission to
“ which no name seems given, but which may fairly be supposed
“ to be that of Cornmo.

“ Upon the whole the evidence as to the situation of these
* two Missions is conclusive against their having occupied any
*“ guch positions ss those which are marked on the Maps of
“ Storm van’s Gravesande. In estimating the value of the evi-
¢ dence there are two other considerations which muost not be lost
“gight of. In the first place, it is in the highest degree im-
¢ probable that either of these Missions was beyond the Savan-
“ nah region. All the other Missions were certainly situated in
“ the savannah, to which alone their organization and economy
‘““ ggem to have been suited. In the second place, the journal of
“ De la Puente distinctly suggesta that the lower Carumo was
“ before his time unknown to the Spaniarde. He gives it out as
“a discovery of his own that the chaonel of the river was
““ navigable throughout itsa whole course. He himsell made the
‘* mistake of abandoning his cances and marching throngh the
* forest, where he suffered greatly through the want of pro-
“ yigions.®

! British Case, p. 47, lines 8-12.
* British Case, pp. 41-42, lines 48-50, 1-40.
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BG

These various statements ignore altogether the Mis- Spanish Misioos

sions Cunurl, Tupuquen, Mutanamho and Curumo, which
were destroyed in 1760 to say nothing of Cavallapi,
or of the Mission on the Cuyuni itself at the mouth of
the Curumo river opposite the site later occupied by
the Curumo Fort, or of the other missions in Wenamu,
Queribura and Mawakken evidenced by Dutch recorda’?

The statement regarding De la Puente's expedition
and the location of Curumo mission ignores entirely the
fact that in 1788 the Capuchin prefect expresaly declared
that “the site of Curumo was less distant from the
Cuyuni ™ than was Tumeremo’s; and it ignores also the
fact that missions are shown lower down the Curumo
by Sarville’s map. The argument implied by what is
said abont the location of the savannas would hold also
against Tomeremo, if it would bold at all.* As to De
la Puente's having made a “discovery of his own that
the channel of the river was navigable throughout its
whole course,” the discovery may indeed have been new
to him, but it could hardly have been new to others, for
long before his expedition, which was some thirty years
after the abandonment of the Mission of Curumo, the
Capuchin prefect, Fray Benito de la Garriga, had called
official attention to the use of the stream by smugglers
and slave traders, and Fray Cauolin had made much of
this in his history of Guayana.®

7. The concluding statement under this head is very
sweeping. It is that
“The Mission stations south of the Orinoco, in the neighbour-

“ hood of the Yuruari never extended forther to the east than
“ Cora and Tumeremo.”"

! Venaxuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, p. 185,

' [, 8. Commission Report, Vol, 8, 670,

! Venerualan Counter-Case, Vol. 3, p. 108

¢ Venesuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 3, pp. 196-198,

! Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, p. 197, note 4
* British Case, p. TV, lines §-8,

o
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Spanish Missiovs.  Of course, this is to ignore Mutanambo and some of

Curumo fort.

the others already mentioned, especially Curumo.’

Closely connected with the question of the missions
is the question of the Curumo Fort, the facts regarding
which were set forth in the Venzuelan Case, and have
already several times been referred to in this Counter-
Case. The existence of this fort is denied by Great
Britain, although it is admitted that frequent recom-
mendations were made to establish it.*

In the Appendix to the Case of Venezuela (Vol. III,
p. 400), is printed a note appended to a letter of Gov-
ernor Marmion of July 10, 1788, This same note was
mistranslated in the British Blue Book (“ Venezuela
No. 8" p. 322), where the word Curumo appears as
Orinoco. It is again mistranslated in the Appendix to
the British Case, Vol. V, p. 68. In the Appendix to
this Counter-Case is printed a photographic copy taken
from the original document showing that the name is
in fact Curumo and not Orinoco. Even if Orinoco had
appeared it would have been a manifest clerical error,
as the Cuyuni and Orinoco nowhere meet, and
as the “new town” which was projected was in
fact the one at the junction of the Cuyuni and Curumo
rivers, The British Case, in a footnote on page 58, says :

“ The copy of Marmion’s Report of 1788, from which these
“ axtracts are taken, is stated to have been made by bim in 1793,
“ Vide App. V, p. 67.7

This statement of the British Case is most important,
for it serves to fix the date of the note above quoted and
thus to confirm what has before been maintained by
Venezuela, that the Curumo Fort was in existence as
early at least as 1798. It was the ruins of this very

1 Yenezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, p. 185.
* British Case, p. 47, lines 81.88; p. 69, lines 3632,
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fort, on the sowdh side of the Cuyuni river, that Schom-
burgk saw when he visited the spot in 1848,

While, however, all of these facts respecting the loca-
tion and dates of these missions and of this Curumo
Fort are of interest, they are, after all, questions of mere
detail. The incorrectness of the British statements
regarding them 18 beyond dispute, and the accuracy of
Venezuela's counter-statements rests upon impregnable
foundations; but, even so, it can make no difference at
all whether Alta Gracia or Cupapuy was the easternmost
mission in 1734, or whether the Curumo mission was
founded before, during or after 1746, or whether
Tumeremo or any other mission was the one nearest the
Cuyuni at some other date. Even the Curumo Fort
itself is after all nothing more than cumnulative evidence
of a well-known and at that time well recognized fact,
namely, that Spain was mistress of the whole interior.
Venezuela does not need for one moment to rest her title
to that interior upon the location of her missions or of her
forta. That interior was Spain's before ever the first
Dutchman rested his eyes on American shores; it was
Spain's when, in 1615, Spaniards tilled the soil of the
Essequibo for the “ Governor of Trinidad and Orinoco;”
it was Spain’s when, a century and a half later, she ex-
pelled the Dutch and their Carib allies from the Cuyuni;
it was Spain’s when the Dutch finally conveyed to the
British “the establishments of Demerara, Essequibo and
Berbice,” That interior was discovered by Spain ; it
was settled by Spain; it was neither discovered nor at
any time settled by any other nation; and the whole of
it was always under exclusive Spanish control. Under
such circumstances one mission or one fort more or less
can make no difference at all. It was not necessary
that every square foot of ground should be physically

67
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Sl ok Bpnalon occupied by Spain ; ber title was not that of an intruder

upon another’s property ; it was that of a discoverer and
first settler. Therefore it is that the admissions of Great
Britain, even if the evidence itself went no further,
are counted as sufficient by Venezuela; for, while deny-
ing mere details, she admits the wain fact. Whether
or not Spanish forts and Spanish missions had ever
reached or crossed the banks of the Cuyuni, Spanish
forts and Spanish missions were erected and maintained
in the Cuyuni-Mazaruni Basin, and Dutch intruders
were expelled therefrom. This was the history, the ad-
mitted history, of that region from the earliest days
until the British gold expeditions of 1880—for over two

centuries and a half. It is upon that broad fact that
Venezuela resta.




V.—POLITICAL OONTROL.

The third chapter of the British Case, entitled Poli- Introduction.
ticul Comtrol, might almost be regarded as a plea in
confession and avoidance. The necessity for it on the
part of Great Britain constitutes an admission that the
facts of occupation are against her.

It will be the purpose of the present chapter to pmnt
out how completely the attempt to prove this Political
Control fails to supply the need which is thus acknowl-
‘edged to exist.

The chapter to be examined is divided into three sec-
tions, entitled respectively Dufch Administration,
British Administration and Area Condrolied.

The theory upon which this British claim of Politi-
cal Control, appears to be based, is sufficiently disclosed
by the first of these sections. This theory will be con-
sidered first, and afterwards the facts alleged in its sup-
port will be examined in the order presented by the
British Case.

BRITIBH THBEORY OF POLITIOAL OCONTROL.

The British theory of political control, so far as Bd
8 disclosed by the British Case, rests upon certain Case.
general propositions which may be summarized under
the following heads:

1. Dutch trade in Guiana, ita nature, regulation, ex
tent and resulta.

2, Duteh control of timber cutting.

3. Duotch maintenance of the peace,

4. Duteh jurisdiction over Dutch settlers.

5. Duteh protection of and jurisdietion over Indians.

i
!
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BRITIBH THEORY OF POLITIOAL OONTROL.

That the propositions referred to may be presented,
as far as possible, in the words of the British Case, the
following extracts have been selected as expressive of
Great Britain's position with respect to each of these
subjects :

1. As to the nature, regulation, extent and results of
Dutch trade:

““The existence in any region of trade carried on by the
““ Duteh sysiemalically and nof om sufferance excludes the idea
“of Spanish political control, while it nalurally, and in fact
¢ lad to political control by the Dutch. Itis from this point of
“ yiew that it is important to see over what region the Dutch
“ traded systematically and as of right."!

Again,

““ The trade of the Duteh with the Indians lad naturally to
¢ control by the Company of the territory in which this trade
““ was carried on.

“ The Company, under their charter, had a right to a mon-
“opoly of trade. By sailing Regulations, issued from 1632 to
““ 1648, they reserved for their own ships the right of visiting the
““ goast to the east of the Orinoco. ™"

2. As to Duteh control of timber cutting :
“ Closely connected with trade, but involving still more direct

“ exercise of dominion over the country, is the assertion by the
“* Duteh of the right to control the cutting of timber."?

3. As to maintenance of the Peace:

“‘ As early as the seventeenth centary and thenceforward, the
““ Company found it necessary, not only to regulate trade itself,
¢ but aleo to exercise control of & political nature over the dis-
“ trict in which trade was carried on. It was imperative that
** the Indians with whom the trade was carried on should be pre-
“ vented from making war upon one another, and should be pro-
“ tected from ountrage at the hande of Europeans.”+

! British Casa, p. 30, linea 17-24.
¥ British Case, pp. 82-83, lines 47-50, 1-4.
" British Case, p. 83, lines 81-84,
* British Case, p. 84, lines 41-49,
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4, Asto Dutech jurisdiction over Dutch settlers:

“ The necessity of protecting the Indians from strangers and
“ from one another gave rise to the exercise of regular jurisdic-
* tion by judicial Tribunals, which the Indians themselves be-
““ came ready to invoke.”?

5. As to Dutch protection of and jurisdiction over
Indians:

“ The Qompany was obliged in very early times to interfere
 to protect the natives from the whites.,"*

And,

‘ While thus exercising criminal jurisdiction over its own set-
¢ tlers on complaint of the Indiane, the Court did not hesitate
“ to deal with crimes committed by the Indians themeelves."?

Again,

“JIt was of course essential for the maintensnce of police
“ and justioe that the Indian Chiefs should be indaced tosapport
“ the Dutch Administration, and marks of distinetion conferred
““ on them by the Commandeur became as time went on tokens
“ that the Chiefe were recognized by the Dutch Government as
““ men having tribal suthority.”*

And again,

“ The Dutch considered the Indians of Guians as their sub-
“ jects, and the Indisns, on their part, looked to the Duteh
“ Government in the Colony for protection against mny ill-treat-
““ ment at the hands of the Spaniards.'®

Many of the extracts which have been given are
statementa of fact rather than propositions regarding
“political control”; but, even so, they disclose with con-
siderable accuracy the grounds upon which Great
Britain basea her claima to control

It will thus be seen that trade is made the foundation
of the whole fabric. It is admitted that trade itself

! British Cass, p. 85, lines 87-41.
* British Case, p. 88, linea 15-30.
! British Case, p 88, lines 14-17.
¢ British Case, p. 90, linea 7-14.

¥ British Case, p. 77, lines 23-87,

1
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BRITISH THEORY OF POLITIOAL QONTROL.

ﬂ“"ﬁm did oot constitute control, but it is claimed that Dutch

trade in the disputed territory led to that control. Ii
is admitted that to produce such a result the trade in
question must be shown to have been carried on “ ays-
tematically and as of right” ; “systematically and not on
suffsrance” ; and the allegations regarding charter rights
and “sailing regulations” constitute a recognition of the
further qualification, that the trade must also be shown
to have been a monopoly.

The nature of the control itself, to which this sup-
posed trade is said to have led, is undefined except
that, control of timber cutting, maintenance of the peace,
and jurisdiction over both Dutch settlers and Indians,
are given as instances of its exercise. It ir fair to as-
sume that if trade, which merely led to control, must be
systematic, a8 of right, not on sufferance and avclusive, so
also must the resulting control partake of each of these
qualifications, Upon Great Britain's own statement of
her case, therefore, she must prove that the Dutch actu-
ally exercised jurisdiction over the whole of the dis
puted territory ; and that that exercise was “ systematic,”
“as of right”, “ not on sufferance” and “ avclugive” It
is safe to say that neither the specific acts which she
alleges in her Case nor the evidence which she offers
in her Appendices support a single one of these prop-
ositions.

A brief examination of the three sections of Chapter

II1 of the British Case will suffice to show the correct-
neas of this statement.

DUTOH ADMINISTRATION.

Following the heads above set forth, the subject of
Dutch trade will be first considered.



POLITICAL CONTROL.

1. Duron TrabpE.

The Treaty of Miinster, as pointed out by the British
Case itself’, forbade Dutch trade to Spanish terri-
tory. In preceding chapters it has been shown that at
the date of that Treaty all territory west of the Easse
quibo waa Spanish. Dutch trade to that territory was
therefore in violation of the Treaty of Minster and
could not be carried on “as of right.” Dutech trade in
the disputed territory was something which began after
1648, and which could therefore receive mo sanction
from a treaty of that date. The earliest specific in-
stances of such trade which the British Case has ven-
tured to allege are for 1673' in the Barima and for
1680 in the ioterior.?

Possibly to supply some basis for a claim of right to
trade, and avowedly as proof of territorial limits and
monopoly, the British Case makes repeated appeals to
the Charter of the Dutch West India Company and to
certain “ Sailing Regulationa”™ The following are the
passages in which these appeals are made :

““The trade of the Dutch with the Indians led naturally to
“ control by the Company of the territory in which this trade was
“ earried on.

*“The Company, ander their Charter, had s right to & mon-
“ opoly of trade. By miling Regulations, issved from 1632 to
““ 1848, they reserved for their own shipe the right of visiting the
“* coast to the east of the Orinoco.”

Also :

“Onthe 10th August in the same year [1648] the States-General
“ again issued trading regulations more specific than sny which
‘“ had been previously published. By the first Article of these
“ regulations nnchartered vessels were forbidden to trade on the
“ Wild Coast, and the mouth of the Orinoco was again made the
“ point at which the liberty to sail and trade granted to vessels

' British Cuse, p. 80,
* British Case, p. 81.
* Britiah Case, pp. MHI--ILT-H 1=4.

Dutch trade and
the Treaty of
Monster.

Charter and Balling
Regulations.
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Chartersnd Bailing *“ gther than those belonging to the Chartered Company was to

Regulations.

*‘ commence :—that is to say, the whole of the coast between the
““ Orinoco and the Amazon was treated as belonging to the West

““ India Company.” 1

And again :

“In 1674 & new Chartered Company was formed with the
“ snme rights and limits as those possessed by the former Dutch
** Company."” #

The fallacy of each of these statements has been fully
exposed by Professor Burr in his report to the United
States Commission.

The States-GGeneral of the Netherlands, by the charter
which they granted to the Dutch West India Company
in 1621, granted to that Company only such monopoly
of trade as 1t was in their power to grant, to wit, a mon-
opoly against other Dutchmen, not 8 monopoly against
the world. The territorial limits of that monopoly were
no less than the whole of North and South America
and a good part of Africa. It will hardly be contended
that the States-General claimed to control the trade of
those continents ; much less can it be maintained, as in-
timated by the British Case, that the Company was, by
virtue of the charter, vested with a monopoly of trade
as against other nations. That intimation by the British
Case is clear, because only an international monopoly
could possibly be made the basis of an international
title; and because, while alleging a monopoly as such
basis, the British Case appeals to the Charter, and to it
alone, in proof of it.

The socalled “Sailing Regulations” of 1632, and
others which followed, when they are brought uader the
light of investigation, vanish as quickly as the Charter.
They were not regulations of the Company for its own

! British Case, pp. 96-27, lines 4347, 1-7.
* British Case, p. 28, lines 46-48.
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trade, but regulations of the States-General forbidding ySalling Regula-
Dutch war ships from visiting the coast of Guiana. Itis
unnecessary to add that they could not and did not pro-
hibit the vessels of other nations from going there. The
trading regulations of 1648, which were drawn up
prior to the Treaty of Minster, though promulgated &
little Jater, threw open to free trade the Spanish coast
of the Caribbean and the Gulf, and the Orinoco served
merely as a point of departure for these, there being still
reserved to the Company, not Guisna only, but the
entire remaining coast of America and that of West
Africa

The British Case concludes that this Regulation
treated the whole coast between the Orinoco and the
Amazon as belonging to the West India Company ; but,
as Professor Burr very pertinently says, “were this a
territorial claim it would imply Dutch ownership of
all America and Africa”’

The new Charter of 1674 is also appealed to by the Charter of 1674
British Case, it being alleged that the new company of
that year “ was formed with the same rights and limits
as those possessed by the former Dutch Company.™

Thie is a grave misstatement. The limits of the
Company’s monopoly were cut down to a small part of
“ those possessed by the former Dutech Company.” On
the mainland of America nothing was granted except
Essaquibo and Pomeroon ; and that is why these were
specified.®

So far as the new Charter showed any limits at all be-
tween the Spanish and the Dutch possessions in Guiana, it
showed that the Dutch were limited to “ Essequibo and

! Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 4, p. ‘ll.

* British Case, p. 38, lines 4648,

' Venezuelan Counter-Case, vol. 2, p. 10, especially foot note: also
British Case, App. I, pp 1786
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Pomeroon;” and if the new Company traded beyond

these it did so without authority from the Duteh Gov-
ernment.

So much for the monopoly and territorial limits of
Dutch trade on paper. Was it in fact either systematic,
or avclusive or as of right or not on sufferance ¥

Was it systematic

In support of this, the British Case makes the follow-
allegations with regard to the coast trade:

1. That “in 1673 the Dutch were trading to Barima
for erab oil.™ In proof of this it cites the following
instance of a single boat going there :

““ Peaoo hnd been made with the Caribe in Barima and the
¢ Arawaks, and they had intercourse with each other, and ks was

“ going lo send a boal aflsr carap oil, intending in the meanwhile
““ to make trisl of the linseed oil.'®

2. That between 1673 and 1684 “ there are several
other references in the Dutch Records to trade carried
on between Essequibo and this district.™

In proof of this it cites the following instances of
Duteh trade:

(a) With the Spaniards of Orinoco in 1677.*

(b) With the Spaniards of Orinoco in 1678°

(¢) With the Spaniards of Orinoco in 1679.1

(d) The proposed “ shelter” at Barima in 1683, which
was disapproved of by the Company.”

(e) The following:

““ Just previonsly Captain (Gabriel Bishop, with his barges
“ from Surinam and Berbice, coming into the Barima in
““ order to trade there in annatto, letter-wood, ste., being sur-

! British Case, p. 80, lines 84-8.

* British Case, App. 1, p. 178,

* British Case, p. 80, line 38, p. 81, lines 1-3,

 British Cass, App. I, p. 181,

* British Case, App. I, p. 181,

* British Case, App. I, p. 153,

" British Case, App. I, pp. 185-8; also Venezuclan Case, Vol. 3, pp.
48-51 ; also Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, pp. 118-128,
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“ prised and overtaken by the Caribs aforessid, he, with fifteen = Dwich const trade.

‘““ of his men, was glain, and the barque was cot to piecea and
“ sunk to the bottom.”?

3. That in 1726 the postholder of Wakepo was in.
structed “fo éndsgvour to obtain them (slaves and bal
sam) in the Aguirre™ in case he was refused permis-
sion by the Spaniards to obtain them from “up the
Orinoco.” The Aguirre is beyond Great Britain's ex-
treme claim and is confessedly Venezuelan territory.

4. That “in 1730 a Duteh trader 18 mentioned in the

Aguirre.
6. That “in 1735, 1764, 1757 and 1760 Duatch traders
were in the Barima.™
The incidenta referred to in this last allegation are:

(a) That ofone Couderas who went to Barima to get

alaves for some one else, and who having gotten them
ran away “with some Frenchmen from Martinique, who

liksroisa tradad there™
(b) That of some “ Surinam wanderers” who went
from the Barima to the Waini*

(¢) That mentioned in the following extract :

“ Complaints having been repeatedly made by the Commandand
“ of Orinoco concerning the evil conduct in Barima of the traders,
“ or wanderers, as well from Surinam sa [rom bere, ] have written
“ gircumstantially to the ad énferim Governor there, Mr. L. Nep-
“ yvew, whoae reply is awaited daily."?

(d) That of five Dutchmen from Surinam and Esse

quibo, who were there gathering slavea, and who were
forthwith expelled by the Spanish officials *

! British Case, App. L p. 157,

* British Case, p. 81, lines 8-9.

* British Case, p. 81, lines 10-11.
! Britiah Case, p. 81, lines 11-13.
* British Case, App. II, pp. 30-3L
* British Case, App. II, p. 100.

" Britiah Case, App. I, pp. 181-2
* British Case, App. II, p. 187,
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6. That “in 1755, and again in 1758, it was reported
to the Spaniards that Dutch and Carib traders were in
the habit of passing by the Rivers Aguirre, Barima, and
Waini to the territory upon the confines of the Spanish
Missions,™

The citations offered in proof of these irrelevant facts
are two :

(a) The first is a document which treats of the move
ment of the Caribs, and which incidentally mentions
two Dutchmen, one Solomon Percico said to have
gone by the route above mentioned “in order to return
to Essequibo” and “the Dutch fugitive " Nicolas Colart
who “made his escape” that way.*

(b) The second document refers exclusively to slave
traders, whose movements, it says, extended to the Ori
noco, the Aguirre and the Carapo—all places which
were confessedly Spanish—and of whom it says that
“they have no flwed time for their journeys, for they
come and go whenever they choose™

7. That “in 1763 Governor Diguja reported that
there were no foreigners navigating the Orinoco above
Guyana, though below they did so freely,™

What Governor Diguja did say is this :

“ There are no foreigners navigating the Orinoco, that is,
‘“ above Guayans, for st its mouth and up to the neighborhood
““ of the said fortress they do so freely, buf without being able fo
““ land sn the said provinces, nor do any wnore trade than the fort-
‘“ ress allows, and within the time explained in my note 13 of
““my Book of Notes, and without the tolsration thersin slatled,
““wiick 12 absolutely necessary, they can do nothing.”®

! British Case, p, 81, lines 12-17.

* British Case, App. II, p. 110.

* British Case, App. II, p, 148,

* British Case, p. 81, lines 18-20,
¥ Britiash Case, App. III, p. 85.
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™

This, by the way, hardly looks as though, even when patch coast

the Duteh did trade there, they did so “ as of right."

8. That it was reported in 1769 that a Dutchman
had been domiciled for more than eight years in the
Aguirre (beyond Great Britain's extreme claim and in
confessedly Spanish territory) buying slaves from the
Cariba.!

9. That the Caribs and Arawaks from Barima
“served as paddlers and messengers to the Dutch in
Essequibo.™™

If from these various incidents, whmh are all that are
given by Great Britain to prove systematic trading, on
the coast, there be excluded all references to Dutch
trading or to the presence of Dutchmen (not traders)
in territory confessedly Spanish and beyond Great
Britain's present extreme claim, also all references to
trading directly with Spaniards, and also all references
to the Surinam Duotch—whose nghts are not repre
sented to-day by Great Britain—the following are all
that remnain :

1. A boat sent to Barima in 1673 for carap-oil.

2. A proposed “shelter” at Barima in 1688 which
was disapproved of by the Company.

8. Couderas, who ran away with some slavesa.

4. Surinam and Essequibo “wanderers,” against
whose evil conduct in Barima the Spanish complained.

5. Five Surinam and Essequibo Dutchmen who were
expelled from Barima by the Spaniards.

These are the incidents which, covering a period of
more than two centuries, are alleged and relied on by
Great Britain to prove a systematic trade which led to
political control.

' British Case, p. 81, linea 31-34.
* Britiah Case, p. 81, lines 80-H1.

trade.
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It seems hardly necessary to go further and ask
whether, in addition to being systematic, that trade was
also * evclugive,” or whether it was carried on “as of
right,” and “ not on sufferance.”

The very extracts already cited are quite enough to
negutive each of these propositions, though additional
proof might be indefinitely multiplied. The trade was
certainly not ewclusive, for the Surinam Dutch, the
French, the English, the Spaniards themselves shared
in it, and the Dutch Commaundeur in speaking of it
said: “I am of opinion that the Honourable Company
has the right to trade and traffic there in an open river
as much as other private persons.™

It waa certainly not “ as of right,”” for it was at times
prevented by Spain, and its prevention was acquiesced
in by the Dutch. It was certainly “ on sufferance,” for,
even when carried on, it was only with the connivance
or by the express permission of the Spaniards.

The facts as to the interior trade are quite as conclusive
against the British contention. The following are the
allegations upon which a claim to systematic and ez
clusive trading in that region is founded :

1. That between 1680 and 1688,

*“ Mention is continually made of the disturbance caused to
‘““this trade (which it is implied was well established) by native
““wars in those rivers and by the inroads of the French.”®

The documents cited to prove the ¢ disturbance”
caused by the Indian wars do indeed tend to show that
some Dutch trade had theretofore existed somewhere on
the Cuyuni, Essequibo and Mazaruni rivers; just where
does not appear, but the fact that the three rivers are
mentioned together as affected at the same time by these
wars would seem to indicate that the disturbance must

! Britiah Case, App, [, p. 158,
* British Case, p. 81, lines 87-40.
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have been somewhere near their common junction and = Dutch interior
probahly, therefore, below their lowest falls. But while

these documents do indeed tend to showin a vague and

indefinite way the previous existence of some sort of

trade, they also prove conclusively that the Dutch were

powerless to carry it on in the face of Indian wars; for,

whatever it may have been before those wars, their

coming put a stop to it. The following are the extracts

cited by the British case:

“The trade in hammocks and letter-wood has this year not
t“ had the desired success, on sccount of the war between those
# (f, &. the Indisns) of Cuyuni, Eesequibo, and Masaruni, sod
“ the Accowsys who live up country ; and we have repeatedly,
‘“ with many bot froitless arguments, tried to persuade the high-
“ aat Chief to make peace with the aforesaid nation, to that end
 offering axes and other warea. Thay evem fhrealsned, if we
“ wonld not let them continne the war, {0 deparf in great num-
“ bers fo Barima and elsewhere, Theee being the mrst import-
“ ant traders in dye J was, to my sorrow, compelled o desist ;
‘“snd hereby the River Cuyuni, our provision Chamber, is
1] nlm"j

And,

“ By reason of the dccotoay toar in Cruyuni, of which you have
“ heard, the trade in hammoocks, especially in new ones, has re-
“ sulted badly, for no one dares fo lrust himself among that faith-
* lags fribs, 8o thst no more than six common ones could be

“ sant.”®

But, however these extracts may serve to disprove the
British contention regarding the freedom of Dutch trade
(and incidentally also that other contention, to be con-
sidered later, that the Dutch confrolled the Indians), the
other extracts regarding the “inroads of the French "

leave the theory of arclusiveness and monopuly noth.
ing to stand on. It was not of French soldiers but of

! British Case, App. I, p. 188
" British Case, App. 1, p. 184
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French traders that the Duteh complained. The cause

of the disturbance to the Dutch trade was that,

“The French in the Barima come and fetch them (hammocks)
even a8 far as op in the Coyuni.'*

And that,

‘ All that he has been able to obtain is & little balsam oil and
““ hammocks, becanse the French are making expeditions through
““ the country up there in order to buy up everything.”*

2. That in 1703 there was a trading post in the
Savannah, high up on the Cuyuni. The facts as to this
post have been very fully stated by Venezuela in her
Case If the post was ever established, which
is very doubtful, it lasted for but a few weeks: its
purpose was to trade in horses, and when the Spaniards
prohibited that trade it came to an end.

3. That “in 1686 there is mentioned an annatto store
in the Massaruni, and in 1699 there is notice of a similar
store on the Cuyuni."

What may be meant by an anpatto “store " is no-
where disclosed, but the location of the “store” could
not have been very far away, for the mention of it here
is in connection with a proposition made by the Dutch
Commandeur to the Indians,

“ that if they had war in their minds, they should make war
“ far away in Mazaruni snd moreover inland against their com-
““ mon enemy, not against their and our friends whe dweli close

“ by the Caribs and the annatfo slore, who had always been their
“ friende.”"

The reference to a “dye store” in the Cuyuni is so
vague as to leave one entirely in the dark as to its char-
acter, though the connection in which it is mentioned

! British Case, App. I, p. 188,

* British Case, App. I, p. 201,

' Venezuelan Case, Vol. 2, p. 9.
¢ British Case, p. 81, lines 4749,
¥ British Case, App. I, p. 202,
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furnishes ground for believing that it too was “close by,” TDutch iaterior
for it is referred to as a starting point for traders about
to go up the Cuyuni to buy horses’

4, That in 1768 “Dutch merchants " resided in Tu-
cupo, Capi and Paraman.* The only one of these places
in the Cuyuni-Mazaruni basin was Tucupo, a tributary
of the Curumo. It will be remembered that 1768 was
the yearin which the Spaniards destroyed the first regular
trading post that the Dutch attempted to establish on
the Cuyuni. The Dutch postholder was captured and
kept a prisoner by the Spaniards against the unavailing
remonstrances of the Dutch, and the Dutch themselves
were 8o thoroughly scared that not until eight years had

passed did they venture to try another post lower down
the river and nearer their own settlements. It seems most

unlikely, therefore, that any “ Dutch merchants " should
have been “residing™ in Tucupo at that time; and
indeed the citation given to support the allegation war-
ranta nothing more than the statement that Dutch
slave traders or slave catchers—possibly some of those
very Dutchmen who disguised themselves as Indians—
went at times to that river, just as they went to
Paragua and to other places confessedly Spanish,

5. That “in 1760 the Dutch were also settled very
high up the Cuyuni, elose to the mouth of the Curumo.™
The authority for this statement is a letter of Fray
Benito de la Garriga dated in 1769. The reference
which he makes, to “Dutchmen* who had settled very
high up the Cuyuni, close to the mouth of the
Curumo,” 18 while speaking of the year 17568. Profes

"British Case, App. I, p. 218,

"British Case, p. 83, lines 11-18.

"British Case, p. 82, lines 18-16

“The translation of this passage as given in the Appendixz to the British
Case, Vol. v, p. 22, is incorrect ; the Bpanish word (Mandesss, which means
Duichowen being there translated Duieh fomdlise.
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sor Burr in reviewing the events of that year con-
sidered this letter in conmection with much other evi-
dence bearing on the subject, and his conclusion that
this reference of Fray Benito was to slave catchers who
were supposed to be sojourning near the Curumo, is
doubtless correct. One thing i8 very certain, and that
is that even slave catchers, if they were really there,
cleared out very quickly, for the Spanish expedition of
17568 failed to find them.’

In résumé the grounds upon which Great Hritain
bases a claim to a systematic and exclusive trade in the
Cuyuni-Mazaruni valley are the following :

1. That about 1680 the Indians, because the Duteh
were unable to control them, put a stop to atrade there-
tofore supposed to exist.

2. That in 1683-86 the French traders were success
fully competing with the Duteh traders in the Cuyuni.
8. That there was an * annatto store” somewhere in

the Mazaruni in 16886, and a “dye store " somewhere in
the Cuyuni in 1699.

4. That for a few weeks in 1703 there was a post
somewhere in the Pariacot Savannah for trading in
horses, a trade which lasted during the pleasure of the
Spaniards, and which came to an end when the Spaniards
prohibited it

5. That in 1758 some Dutch slave traders managed
to be about the Tucupo river notwithstanding the de-

struction of the Dutch post on the Cuyuni in that year
and the arrest of the Duteh postholder.

6. That the same year other slave traders, whom the
Spanish expedition failed to find, were sojourning near
the mouth of the Curumo,

'Yenezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 3, pp. 168-164
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This ia the Dutch trade which is stated to lu.va led D“ﬂ interior

to Duteh political control of the interior,

Before passing to the consideration of the general facts . Dieh acmiu of

upon which this subsequent alleged polifical control is
supposed to be based, the British Case, in proof of Dutch
control of trade, cites certain other facta which are full
of significance, and which therefore merit attention.

It is stated by the British Case that,

“Permission to pass the (Wakepo) Post was only given to thoee
“who had passports.’

Also that,
“In 1719, a form of pass was settled which bound the bearer
“not to go beyond the Bpanish fort on the Orinoco without por-
“ mimion of the Governor there.”

And again that,

“The pass system was applied to Indians as well as colonists
““and slaves ; thus a pass was issued to a Carib Chief permitting
“him to go to Barima, which pass was given up to the Comman.
““ denr of Essequibo by tho Chiel on his return.’

Also that,

“ A similar pass was issued by the Commandeur of Demerara
“ permitting a Oarib Chief of Essequibo, to go to Berbice and
“ back, and snother by the Commandeur of Essequibo permitting
““an Indisn to go to the coast of that Colony, and to pass the post
“of Moruka."™

The significance of this pass system seems to Vene-
zuela to be quite different from that which is attri.
buted to it by Great Britain. It will be noticed in
the allegations above quoted that a pass was required
to go from Easequibo to Berbice. So in the following
passage referred to by the British Case:

“ Both from English captains leaving the Essequibo (formerly

'British Case, p. 87, lines 41-3.
"British Case, p. 87, lines 4540,
"British Case, p. 88, lines 8-12.
"Britiah Case, p. B8, lines 13-18.
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Duteh passes. “the Colony) in their barquea or vessels and from private indi-
“yiduals the Governor receives for & pass 7 guilder 10 st.’"

It is plain that the purpose of the pass was to allow
the hearer to leave the colony.

The form of pass which is alluded to as having been
adopted in 1719 confirms this, for it says:

“We, Pieter van der Heyden Rezen, Commandeur of the

“ Colony and adjacent Rivers of Essequibo, in the name of the
“ Directors of the General Uhartered West India Company, in
“the Assembly of Ten,

“ Do give full permission to one N., a free inhabitant of this
““Colony, to depari from this Colony with his canoe and accom-
“ panying men to Rio Orinoco, and from there again hither.”®

This declared purpose of passes proves that when
they were presented at a post it was because the
bearer was af that point leaving the recognized limits
of the Colony : this conclusion is confirmed by the fact
that the most important object of the posts was to
prevent runaway slaves from going beyond them and
thus escaping from the Colony. That in the granting
of passes to go beyond the Moruca post the Barima
was not regarded as a part of the Essequibo colony is
shown by the letter of the Dutch Governor Storm
van 8' Gravesande to the Governor of Surinam, dated
August 18, 1764, wherein he says:

“ Whilst on this subject I take the liberty to inform yonr
“ Excellency that mentioning the River Barima in those passes
“canses complaints from the Spaniards, who, maintaining that

““ the river belonge to them, in which I believe they are right,

‘“some of these passes have already been sent to the Court of
ok ﬂw‘nl-”l

Postasafrontiers.  Other evidence that the posts were regarded as the
'British Case, App. IV, p. 128,

"British Case, App. I, p. 851.
"British Csse, App. IIT, p. 114




POLITICAL CONTROL.

87

frontiers of the colony is furnished by the British Case  Postsss frostiers.

itself when it says that,

“In 1790 the Postholders are desoribed as ‘ employés’ on the
“ frontier to foster the good understanding with the Indiana ; 1

and that the Moruea post was itself regarded as such
frontier on the northwest is evidenced by the further
statement, that,

“In 1737 the Commaundenr reported that, though the trade at
“Wakepo and Moruka was no longer remunerative, the Post
“ must, nevertheless, be kept up because it was established for (ke
“mainisnance of the Company's froniiers stretching fowards the
“ Orinoco.™?

Of equal significance in this connection is that pro-
jected but never completed road of Ignace Courthial
through the Cuyuni forests by which it was proposed
to bring ecattle and horses to the Essequibo colony,
and to charge an import doty upon them payabls at a
post to be established on the road itself.”

8o it appears that these various facts alleged by Great
Britain to prove a control beyond the posts, are facts
which prove just the reverse: those posts were regarded
and treated as posts on the frontier marking the limita
of the Colony itself. Of course it should be added that
the treatment of the Moruca, or the Wakepo or the
Pomeroon as the actual limit of the Dutch colony, whilst
binding upon the Dutch and upon their successors the
British, cannot operate to bar the rights of Spain or of
Venezuela as Spain's successor. Spain’s eclaim, and
Venezuela's, has always consistently gone all the way
to the Essequibo; and if the district between the
Moruea and the Essequibo seems to have been more

effectually squatted upon by the Duteh and British

1 British Case, p. 89, lines 54-80.
* British Case, p. 89, lines 35-80.
* British Case, App. II, p. 4.

Bpain’s claim,
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than the region to the west of the Moruca, none the less
was that squatting a usurpation of Spanish and Vene
zuelan territory and a violation of treaty stipulations.
So also with regard to the upper Essequibo: little at-
tention has been paid to that region in this Counter-
Case, because the only facts brought forward to defeat
the title which vested in Spain when she discovered
and settled the Essequibo are allegations of trade and
control ; and these have even less foundation than simi-
lar allegations respecting the Barima-Waini region and
the Cuyuni-Mazaruni basin,

But to pass to the evidence of Dutch control.

The Dutch control which grew out of this trade is
claimed to be evidenced by control over timber cutting,
by maintenance of the peace, and by jurisdiction over
both Dutch settlers and Indians.

How far are these general allegations in keeping with
the specific acts alleged in support of each, and with the
evidence submitted 1

2. Durcn Conrtron oF Tiuser Currive.

The allegations as to this control for the coast region
west of the Moruca are two only. It is stated that,

¢ Permission to cut timber in Waini was given in 17564, and ino
1756 a similar application was entertained.™

And that,

“In 1766 there was a man cutting cedar-wood in Barima on
‘““ account of Mr, Enott.”?

To these should probably be added a third, which is

that,

“In 1803, the Duteh, who had resnmed possession of the Colony
““in 1802, proposed to make regulations for the protectiou of the
“timber, aud for making grasuts for lumbering in Fomeroon,
““Waini, snd Barima.”?

! British Case, p. 84, linea 5-7.
* British Case, p. 84, lines 31-22,
¥ British Case, p, 84, lines 38-40.
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This last allegation is much too strong for the evidence
cited in its support, but under the circumstances that is
a matter of little moment. The important thing to note
is that, in proof of Dutch control of timber cutting dur-
ing & period of two centuries, Greal Britain alleges that
one man got permission once to cut in Waini; that
another asked for asimilar permission, but evidently did
not get it; that with or without permission, once during
these two centuries, a Dutchman actually cut some wood
in Barima; and that at the close of the two centuries
there was some sort of indefinite “ proposal™ about pro-
tecting timber ; a “propoeal " which, as a matter of fact,
was & mere suggestion by a single individual and which
ended in nothing.! Of course it is not pretended that
Spain had any knowledge of any of this Dutch “ timber
control.”

For the interior, the allegations are also two, namely,
that,

“ Bafore 1706 the cutting of timber above the falls in Coyuni
“had become & common occurrence.”?

And that,

“In 1735 leave was given to the Company's Director to fell
“timber in Cayuni for private building purposes.”

Both of these allegations could well be true without
going very far to prove that the Dutch for two centuries
controlled all the timber cutting in the disputed territory.

3. Durce MaxTENANCE oF THE PEACE

The next evidence of political control by the Dutch is
stated in the marginal heading to a paragraph of the
British Case to be Mainienance of the Peace. The al-
legation under this heading is as follows :

! Yenezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 8, document numbered 184,
" British Case, p. 88, lines 4043,
' British Cane, p. 84, Hnes B-5.
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“ As early as the seventeenth century and thenceforward, the
““ Company found it necessary, not only to regulate trade itself,
““ but also to exercise control of a political nature over the district
““in which trade was carried on. It was imperative that the
“ Indians with whom the trade was carried on shounld be prevented
“{rom making war upon one another, and should be protected
“ from outrage at the hands of Europeana,™

The first instance given of the exercise of this con-
trolling power 1s that,

““In 1680 and 1683, the Company's negra traders are found
“ gndsavoring to put sn end to & native war between the Indians
“of Cuyuni, Essequibo, and Massaruni, and Lhe Akawois, who
*“ lived in the country above."”?

This endsavor it will be rememhered was a signal
failure: the passage proving it has already been quoted,
but may be profitably repeated : it is as follows :

““The trade in hammocks and letler-wood has this year not had
““ the desired sucoess, on sccount of the war between those (i. &,
““the Indians) of Cuyuni, Essequibo, and Mazaruni, and the
““ Accoways who live up country; and we have repeatedly, with
““many but fruitless arguments, tried to persuads the highest
““ Chief to make peace with the aloreeaid nation, to that end
““gffering axes and other wares. They even threatened, if we
“ would not let them continne the war, to depart in great numbers
‘““to Barima® and elsewhere. These being the most important
““ traders in dye, I was, to my sorrow, compelled to desiat; and
“ hereby the River Cuyuni, onr provision chamber, ia closed. In
““ wddition, we lately have been embittered by the death of Gilles,
“an old vegro of the Company, recently poisoned up in the
““Cuyani, a8 the Cuaribs pretended, by the Accoways. On that
‘acconnl the aforesaid old negroes have become afraid to have
‘interconrse with that tribe; I shall, however, bethink me of
““means for conciliating that tribe.”¢

! British Case, p. 84, lines 41-40.

*British Case, p. B4. line 50; p. 85, lines 1-4

"Evidently Barima was regarded sa not a part of the Colony.
1British Case, App. 1, pp. 1884,
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The second instance given to prove Dutch Mainte-

nance of the Peace has little, if any, more evidence to
support it. The allegation is as follows:

“In 1688, the chief Captain of the Oaribs in Massaruni sent
““word to the Dutch Government that disturbances had broken
“out in that river, and thst thesupply of dye would consequently
““be short. Upon this occasion also the Commandeur used his
“ipfluence to prevent s continnance of disorder.™’

The proof cited in support of this is as follows

“ And Jacob, the Company’s old negro, also roports that when
“ Makonrawacke, with his tribe, were wishing to go to war with
“the Akuwayas up in Demerara, they were then dissuaded from
““the war by the Commsnder aforessid, and advised to go
“gud salt pork above in the Mazarani River with Jotte afore-
“ pamed, for which purpose s cask of salt was sent to him by the
“Sergeant ; but that if they had war in their minds, they should
““make war far nway in Mazaruni and moreover inlaud agaiost
“their common enemy, not against their and our friends who
“ dwelt ¢lose by the Caribs and the annatto store, who had slways
“ been their frienda.  T'his the aforenamsd Makourawacks would
“mnol comply with, snd this is tha chief and most principal
“ sause of this misfortune, which now falls upon the innocent.”®

The third instance alleged is that,

““In 1765 the Postholder of Arinds intervenced and restored
“ peace between two Lribes on the Ruopununi.™?

The document cited in proof of this contains the in-
structions given to the Dutch Commandant. These
throw much light on the attitude of the Dutch at that
time as guardians of the peace. They are given in the
following paragraph :

“ But in the meanwhile the Assistant of Arinda having arrived
“ with & written Report from the Postholder, in which be in-

“ forms me of this matter, I, finding that it was not so bad as
“had been thought, althongh at bottom perfectly true, set out

"British Case, p. 85, lines 4-10.
"British Case, App. I, p. 208,
"British Case, p. 85, lines 11-18.
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Malntensnce of “ ppon my journey, leaving Commuudant Bakker written in-

the Pesce.

* structions to send me immedisto reporis of any events of im-
““ portance, and in case he should be compelled by the Jdanger of
““ the settlers up the river to send any soldieis there, to give the
““ commanding esubaltern strict orders to sct simply on the de-
“* fensive, and not to interfere directly or indirectly in the quarrels
“ of the Indians, nor yet to allow himself to be induced on any
““ account to undertake any attack. I also impressed npon the
“ planters the desirability of remaining perfectly neutral in this
““ war."t

The last and the only real instance of control given
by the British Case relates to a Carib chief in Mazaruni
in 1766 who had invited some Spanish Indians to come
to Essequibo and there attack the Accoways, This
chief, who evidently lived within or very near the
Duteh Colony, was rebuked by the Duteh Commandeur
for his acts. But this solitary instance of control over
an Indian at the very door of the Duteh Colony can
hardly support a claim that the Dutch maintained the
peace, throughout the disputed territory for two cen
turies, especially as all the other evidence cited in sup-
port of the claim proves conclusively that they did not
and could not maintain it, but that in spite of Dutch
prayers, and Dutch bribes, the Indians continued their
fighting, thereby causing the Dutech Commandeur to ex-
claim that,

““ hereby the River Cuynni, our provision chiamber, is closed.™?

A review of all the evidence on this subject shows
that wherever any effort was made by the Dutch to
keep the peace among the Indians, it was not from a
sense of duty to maintain the peace of the community,
as in the settlements, but to keep the tribes from war
because war interfered with Dutch trade. This same
motive bas many times induced owe of the civilized

"British Case, App. I, p. 120,
"British Case, App. [, p. 188,




POLITICAL CONTROL.

pations to make representations to another nation in the
interest of peace, because the trade of the first was likely
to be injured by war. Efforts of that sort, so far from
evidencing political control, are a confession that there is
no political control at all ; that advice and not foree is
the only right nnd duty. Presents and persuasions are
a confession of a liberty to reject both, and the evidence
submitted by Great Britain herself shows that this
liberty was used by the tribea. The Duteh gave ex-
plicit instructions not to allow their officers and soldiers
to interfere in the quarrels of the Indians, but to remain
neatral : but neutrality and sovereignty are quite irre
concilable, as applied to the same territory or people.

4. Jurispicrion ovErR Durcr SerTLERs AND INDIANs.

Jurisdiction over both Dutch settlers and Indians is
the next and final allegation in support of the claim
that the Duteh exercised political control over the entire
disputed territory.

As regards the Dutch seftlers, the subject may be
dismissed in a very few words.

Four cases are cited by the British Case where Dutch-
men were brought to account befure the regular Court
of Justice of the Essequibo colony for ill-treatment of
Indians. The localities where the acts are stated to
have taken place are matters of no moment whatever.
The action of the Dutch authorities is sufficiently ex-
plained by the fact that it was the policy of the Com-
pany to court the friendship of the Indians, that an im-
portant aid to this was proper treatment of these Indians
by Dutchmen wherever they might meet, and that on
various occasions when Dutchmen transgressed this
rule they were reprimanded or punished. The territorial
question never arose. It was always an exercise of

Malotenance of
the Feace,

Jurisdiction owver
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Juraliction over jurisdiction over Dutchmen becauss they were Dudcl
men, not becanse they were persons transgressing Dutch
laws on Dutch territory.

In may be added that the Dutchmen punished for
offenses against the Indians were either agents of the
Essequibo government, or traders licensed by them ; and
the reports of the cases plainly show that the offenses
were not regarded as local, but as against the peace of
the colony in Essequibo, in that these acts of wviolence
put the colony in jeopardy. It is not simply that an
Indian was killed or maltreated at a particular point,
but it was particularly—indeed almost wholly—that
the act was likely to call down Indian vengeance upon
the colony. By reason of the cases which occurred in
the upper Essequibo, the Director-General, feeling his
inability to keep the peace there—showing the entire
absence of political control—closed the niver to trade,
as appears in the cases of Jan Stok' and Maillard.
This remedy i8 a confession not only that the Dutch did
not control the Indians, but that they could not control
their own traders who went in there,

In line with the above it may be well to anticipate for
a moment a few facts touching Dutch jurisdiction over
the Indians—a subject which will presently be treated
more fully.

The case of Maillard, just referred to, shows that the
Dutch did not attempt to exercise jurisdiction over the
Indians, but only over Dutchmen. In that case the
Indians who did the killing of which Maillard was ac
quitted, were not proceeded against at all. So in the
case of Marichal  the Carib chief who appeared before
the Court and confessed to having made the attack

! Britlsh Case, App- 11, p. 84.

* British Case, App. 11, p. 106,
" British Case, App. 11, p. 138,
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upon the Accoways, of which Marichal was accused —
saying he had done so at the instigation of Marichal—
was not proceeded against at all, though he said before
the Court, “ I committed the deed” The Court found
that Marichal had not instigated him to do the deed,
acquitted the Dutch colonist and took no notice what-
ever of the confessed crime of the Carib chief.

The case of the Indian Joris, in 1783, might seem to
be a case where the Dutch had taken jurisdiction to try
an Indian, but it was for killing a white man, The
Indian is spoken of as “formerly residing " on a planta
tion, and etill earlier “at Fort Zeelandia.™ The crime
was committed on the creek Wackepoey, and on the
river Baurom, upon a colonist, the person killed being
a Dutchman ; so that this case fails to show any control
over the wild tribes, and indeed is probably to be
classed with the cases where Dutchmen were punished
because they were Dutchmen. The crime of the
Indian here is punished because it was committed on a
Dutchman.

The question of Dutch jurisdiction over [ndians will
now be considered more fully. It 18 somewhat more
complicated than the question of jurisdiction over
Dutchmen, because the relations themselves between
the Dutch and the Indians were more complex. A
brief consideration of the subject, however, will
suffice to show that, except over the Indiaps living
in the Colony itself, or in the immediate vicinity of
the posts, the Dutch authorities exercised no political
control whatever ; and that, even over the Indians at
the posts, such control as was exercised depended
largely, if not entirely, on the permission of the Indians
themsel ves.

 Britiash Case, App. V, p. 8.

Jurisdictlon over
Bettlarn.

Jurisdiction over
Indisns.
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_ction over [ order that the significance of the facts alleged in

this connection by the British Case may be properly
appreciated, a word of introduction is bere necessary.

The extent of Dutch occupation has been considered
and disposed of. It has been shown that it was Jimited
to the banks of the Essequibo, and that it left the
whole of the disputed territory beyond those banks
untonched. Therefore it is, that the British Case has
appealed to Dutch trade, claiming that this led to
political control. The fact of such control it has sought
to prove by acts of timber cutting and by jurisdiction
exercised over Dutch “ settlers.” These acts and this
alleged exercise of jurisdiction have been shown to be
gignally insufficient to prove any such control. The
final line of defense is mow reached. Dutch political
control over the disputed territory is now to be proved
by control over Indians alleged to have inhabited that
territory, and so through these Indians a Dutch title to
the land itself is to be made out.

If it were possible to prove, beyond the peradventure
of a doubt, that the Indians had consented to accept the
Duteh control and that the Duteh exercised it, Venezuela
considers, and will claim, that it could form no founda
tion whatever for a territonal title As to such right
or title, claimed to be derived by the Duteh or British,
either directly or by implication, from or through the
Indian tribes, it will be contended first, that these tribes
were wanderers, and had not even possessory titles to
any defined territories; sacond, that by the law of
nations and the universal practice of all European
states the American tribes having distinet territorial
bounds had only a possessory right to the lands
occupied, and that this right they were incapable to
transfer except to a nation that had already, by dis.



POLITIOAL OCONTROL. a7

covery or other acta necessary to the appropriation of g okl over
wild lands, obtained the ultimate title to such lands —
such nation baving an exclusive right to extinguish the
possessory right of the tribes; third, that what such
tribes could not do by deed or treaty of cession, much
less could they do by any submission or alliance ; that
the prior right of Spain could not be diminished or
affected by any other power by virtue of any acts or
submissions of the tribes; fourth, that such acts and
submissions of the tribes were equally ineffectual to
extend the political control of the Dutch or the British.

A final discussion of this point will be reserved for a
later stage of the controversy; for the present it is
sufficient to state Venezuela's attitude towards this
claim of Great Britain,

While denying the efficacy of such Indian control,
even if itsa existence could be proved, an examin-
ation of the facta alleged to proveit and of the evidence
cited in support of those facts will serve to show that
the claim has as little foundation in fact as it has in
law,

It will readily be admitted thatif a title to land is to be  Indiass ws no-
based npon such control of its Indian occupants, it should PR
at least be shown that the land in question was in fact
oecupied by those Indians, and that such occupancy was
permanent and not merely that of nomadic tribes. It
appears, however, to be admitted by the British Case
that the Indians in question were in fact wanderers;
and no serious effoit is made to prove that any particu-
lar tribe occupied any specified territory for any speci-
fied length of time.

The following statements of the British Case are im-
portant in this conpection :

““The principal Indian tribes inbabiling ihe terrilory known as
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a8 no- “ (Fuiana were the Oaribs, ete., ete. * * * What precise localilia

i,

“ thiz tribe (Macunsis) oceupied it 18 difficult o trace, but in the
“ year 1833, when their numbers had become greatly redunced,
“ they were found at the head-waters of the Essequibo, Mention
““ must also be made of the Panacays, who appear o have lived
““ in the neighbourhood of the Upper Cuyuni, and of the Pariacots,
““who seem also to have inhabited the same district.”

“ Of the above tribes, by far the most nomerous and powerful
“ thronghout the whole period of the Dutch occupation of
“Guians was the Carib nation. ®* * * in the early daysof
“ tha Colony the Caribs, surpassing as they did all other nations in
“ personal bravery, were the great freebooters om all the coasi
“ from ihe laland of Trinidad lo the mouth of the Amazon.”

“In the interior of Guians they were found on the Upper
‘¢ Essequibo, the Maasaruni, the Upper Cuyuni, the Pomeroon,
“and the Barima, and fhey rangsd al will through the fores
“ region."”

““ Next in importance to the Caribs were the Akawoia No
“* fizad limits are indicated for the area of Akawoi setilemeni in
“garlier times. * * * i is probabls thatl this nation, like thai
‘““gof the Caribe, woas nomadic in ils habils, and was fo be found
““ sentterad fhroughout the Duich Colonies of Essequibo, Berbice
“and Surinam.”

“ Next in importance to the Akawois, was the tribe known as
“the Arawnk nation, * * * The Arawaks had for many
““years been united to the Dutch and incorporsted in their
““Colonies both in relationship and other ties. * * * Mo
“ preciss localily can be sndicated as their wanal place of abode.”!

Yet these are the Indians through whom Great
Britain claims a territory definite in extent and limited
on the west by a clearly defined boundary line,

From the admissions above quoted it would seem to
be more logical to conclude that if the Essequibo Dutch
did in fact control these Indians, and if title could be
derived from such control, the title of Great Britain to-
day should include mot only the region between the

' British Case, pp. 8-11
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]

Essequibo and the Orinoco, but at least the whole of Indisos as no-

(Guiapa, and possibly much more.

The only escape from this so far reaching conclusion
is had by asswining that the Dutch did oot control
all but merely some of these Indians. This would
certainly be nearer the truth, forit is well known that the
Spaniards controlled many of them, a number of the
Capuchin Missions being made up of Caribs and of
Acecoways. But if this limitation be admitted, it still re-
mains to be proved that this Dutch control of some
Indians was a control of all who occupied the region
hetween the Essequibo and the limit of the British claim.
But here again the fact that, on Great Britain's own ad-
mission, the Caribs and the Akawois were “ nomadic”,
and that as regards the Arawaks “no precise locality
can be indicated as their usual place of abode,” would
seem to make such proof impossible The fact is that
no such general control was ever exercised, either with
the consent of the Indians or otherwise; and even
the British Case, while it contains general allegations to
the contrary, itself furnishes abnndant evidence to dis-
prove such allegations. The only Indians who ever
came under any sort of Dutch control were the Indians
who were settled within the Colony, or who were col-
lected about the posta. This must be evident from the
fullowing statements of the British Case:

“The permission to trade with the Indians af and near the
“ Post gave the Postholders exceptional facilities for cultivating
“friendly relstions with those tribes, andl for ensuring their
“ maintensnoe when established. It was their duty to maintain
“order amonyg (ha Iudions at the Post.™

“The provisional instructions issned in 1766 to Pierre Msartyn,
*tho Postholder in the Upper Coyuni, directed him to take cure
“that the free Indisns were not molested or ill-treated, but to

F'mthl,p.ﬂ,ﬂl-“-

madic tribea

Indisns controlled
near posis,
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pAlans control- ¢ gndeavour, as much as possible, to atiract them to the Posl, and lo

FEAT pOals

“ protect thoss residing in the neighborkood.”™!

““ The Posthiolder of Mornka was directed by the 5th Article
“of his instroctions to treat all Indians properly ; to enrol, and
“‘take indo profection aboui the Post, as many of them as his means
“ wounld allow.”?

The following extract is peculiarly significant because
it is through the Peostholder that the control is alleged
to have been exercised :

““ It may be noted thst in these last instructions the Postholder
was prohibited from lsaving the Fost for the purpose of trading,
the object being to emswure Aiz allendance al fhe Post, and to
aliract the Indians o its neighbourhood.?

Yet this is the Postholder alleged to have represented
Dutch aothority at Barima 150 miles away from the
post which he was forbidden to leave. The following
are further statements along the same line, also taken
from the British Case itself:

“In 1784 the Weet India Company observing that the Indians
““ were withdrawing more and more from the nsighbourhood of the
““ white settlers (a fact probably due to the disturbances in the
“ Colony owing to its capture and occupation first by Great
‘““ Britain and then by France) directed, etc."4

And,
““ The object of these presents was to insure the sssistance of

““ the tribes in case of negro revolt, and to attrsct them fo lhe
“ naighbourhood of the Dutch Posts™"

Also,

““ The Post of Moruka was the station most suitable for inter-
“ copting deserters by the comst routea. Accordingly, houses
“ ware built there for the Arawaks, and around (he Post was
“ pottled o permanent body of Caribs, Warows, and Arawaks to
“ the number of 600 or 700, * * * Thess Indians were sub-

! Britlah Case, p. 58, linea 48-31; p. 89, lne 1.
¥ British Case, p. 59, lines 6-10.

* Britiah Case, p. 50, lines 18-17.

¢ British Case, p. 91, lines 80-88.

* British Case, p. #2, linea 7-10.
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u jacted to discipline and organization of & simple kind, and
“ {heir presence added to the importance of fhe Foal.™

And again,

“[n 17556 the Panacays settled in fhe neighbourhood of the
“ ('wyuni Post to prevent the encroachments of the Spaniards.”®

These extracts from the British Case show that the
Indians which are claimed to have been controlled by
the Datch were Indians living at or near the Posts and
settlements, not the Indians who might be roaming some
hundreds of miles away near the limits of the British
claim.

These extracts serve still another purpose. With the
exception of the case of a Carib Chief from Barima who
is alleged to have been “gummonsd” before the Dutch
Council in 1755, and of two cases in the neighborhood
of the Moruca posts, these extracts contain a complete
statement of all the specific instances of supposed Dutch
jurisdiction over Indisns which are cited by Great
Britain to prove the exercise of that jurisdiction.

The evidence cited in proof of the summoning of the
Carib Chief from Barima is as follows :

“ Moreover, the Council has sent to Barima a ocerisin An.
“ Ohristinansen to imvifs hither the Chief of the Caribs who
“ murdered the Acuways in Maszaruni, to be present at the
“ Bession for January next, that we may learn from the same
“ who have been the causers and inciters thereof, so that I think
“ this tumult will now be greatly allayed.”®

[t appears, therefore, that if the Pomeroon-Moruca
region be excepted, the entire case of Great Britain, so
far as it rests upon Dutch jurisdiction over Indians
is founded upon an snvitation sent in 1755 to a
Carib Chief of Barima to be present at a meeting of
the Council for the purpose of giving it information,

! Britlah Case, p. 98, lines 18-27.
* British Case, p. 95, linea 2880,
* Britih Case, App. 11, p. 128
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and upon the control of such Indians as may for a short
time have been about the Dutch posts in the Cuyuni
river; posts, it will be remembered, which came to an
end because of Spanish control in that quarter. This
is the Duteh jurisdiction which for two centuries is sup
posed to have been exercised over Indians from the
Moruea to the Orinoco on the coast, and from Kykoveral
to the junction of the Yuruari and Cuyuni in the in-
terior.

In this connection the British Case contains a gingular
admission. It says:

¢ [n British times the Postholderstravelled largely through the
¢ districts round their Posts and exercieed magisterial functions
“ During the Dulch period il does not appsar that they habitually
s did s0.""

If the word *habitually” were left out, this state
ment, which even as it stands, constitutes a complete
surrender of any claim to systematic exercise of Dutch
jurisdiction, would be actually true.

That the Dutch exercised no jurisdiction over the
Indians beyond these posts seems clear. That they had
some sort of relation with those Indians is, however,
equally plain. The question remains, what was the
nature of that relation?

A few extracts from the British Case will make
this plain.

Some of those already given show that in order to
gecure the attendance of Indian Chiefs in Essequibo, in-
vitations, not summonses, were sent to them, The
British Case makes a mumber of references to what
it calls the summoning of these Chiefs; but, as in the
case of the Barima Chief who was alleged to have been
summoned, and who turned out to have been merely

1 British Case, p. B9, lines 87-41.
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inviled, each of these alleged cases of “summonses " will mﬁiﬂnﬂ;ﬂm
be found to be unsupported by the evidence.

The fact that Indians were thus énvited and not sum-
monsd 18 a first indication as to the real nature of Dutch.
Indian relations, It shows that the Dutch did not as-
sume over the Indians that command which is an essen-
tial element of sovereignty. This attitude of the Dutch
toward the Indians is emphasized by the following
extracts from the British Case :

“In 1680 and 1683, the Company’s negro traders are found
‘“ endsavoring to put an end to a native war."!
and,

“ Upon this occasion aleo the Commander wsed his influence to
“ prevent a continusnce of disorder,”?

also,

“The Commandenr of Essequibo at once gave directions to
“the Postholder of Arinda to induce the Caribs in the neigh-
* bourhood of that Post to take up arms.™?
and again,

“The Governor of Berbice haviag expressed a wish for their
" amistance, the Caribe of Barima, ete."*

And many more to the same effect, both in the
British Case itself and in its Appendicesa

This manner of dealing with the Indians impliesa pDutehiIndian
state of friendship rather than a condition of allegiance
or gervilude. This was in fact what was sought by
the Dutch and what actually at times existed. It was
a friendship without any obligation to assist on the part
of the Indians, It was an alliance for the mutual bene-
fit of both without any thought on the part of the Indians
that they were surrendering their freedom or that they
were recognizing Dutch sovereignty, The evidence

"British Case, p. B4, line 50 ; p. 85, lines 1-3,
"British Case, p. 85, lines 8-10,
"Brizish Case, p. 4, linss 15-18.
‘Hritish Case, p. #i, lines B80-83,
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Dutch-Indisn which might be cited in support of these statements

Srisndaisp.

from the very documents submitted by Great Britain is
overwhelming. For the present, the statements of the
British Case itself are quite sufficient. These are some
of them :

“The permission to trade with the Indians at and near the
“ Post gave the Postholders exceptional facilities for cultivaling
“ frisndly relations with those tribea.”

“ The instructions to the Postholder at Arinda issued in 1764,

“ provided that he shonld try to maintain and cultivale frisndly
“ and peaceabls reladions with the Indian nations.™®

¢ In 1790 the Postholders are described as ‘ employés on the
*« ¢ frontier o foster the good undsrslanding with the Indisns'."?

““ The West India Company * * * directed * * * a
« potification to be given to the effect that the Duatch * * *
“ darired to live on mors friendly ferms with them."¢

“1n 1775 the Director-Generul wrote that the only use of the
“ Post of Arinds waa to conailials the Indians.”*

It was to foster this sort of friendship that the Dutch
made presents to the Indians ; and it was in that spirit
that the Indians themselves accepted the presents. The
following are statements of the British Case on this
point :

“The earliest reference to this subject notices that such gifts

“ ware required ‘to keep on friendly ferms with the Chiefs of
* the Indians’."’*

“ The object of these presents was to insure the assistance of
¢ the tribes in case of negro revolt, and to attract them Lo the
“ neighbourhood of the Dutch Post.™

But even this frieudship was by no means either
constant or exclusive. The Caribs were at times the

1British Cass, p. B8, lines 20-53.
"British Case, p. 88, linea 40-48.
*British Case, p. 89, lines 34-88.
“Tritish Case, p. 91, lnes 3040,
*British Case, p. 89, lines 80-84.
*British Case, p. 90, lines 14-17.
"British Case, p. 82, lines 7-10.
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friends, but at times also the enemies of the Dutch.
They attacked Dutch settlements and posts; they allied
themselves with French and English against the Dutch;
the very Barima Caribs, of whose alleged control the
British Case makes so much, were the ones who guided
the French from the Barima to the Pomeroon in 1689,
and who helped in the destruction of the new Duteh
Colony there.

This examination of Datch-Indian relations might be
supplemented by an account of Spanish-Indian rels-
tions, showing that Spain was in truth the recognized
sovereign of the Indians; that her rule over them was a
rule depending not on friendship nor acguiescence, but
upon force exerted by a ruler over subjects. Buch an
account seems, however, to be quite unnecessary, for,
with or without it, the fact remains that the Dutch never
claimed to be sovereigns over the Indians, that they
never treated the Indians as subjects, that the two were
at times bitter enemies, and that at best they were
quondom friends and allies, nothing more.

BRITIEH ADMINISTRATION.

The section on “Dutch Administration " is followed,
in the British Case, by one on *“ British Administration.”
It should be carefully noted that no claim has ever
been made, and that no claim is now made, by Great
Britain to any territory beyond that alleged to have
belonged to the Datch in 1814, and to have af that time
“constituted “ the W of Demérara, Essequibo
and Berbice” 1f Great Britain is to-day entitled to all
the territory east of the Schomburgk Line, it must be
because that territory belonged to the Dutch when Great
Britain took possession of Essequibo, not because Great

—

W?Eﬁndqd the limits of the Colony
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Great Britaln gjther by occupation or control. This is the position

merely &

of the Dutch.

which Great Britain has always admitted that she occu-
pied ; this is the position which Venezuela has always
insisted that Great Britain should be held to; and this

is the principle which the present treaty of nrhltrnhun
has adopted in Article I11 as the keystone in the whole

- —_—— e

mntrc-veray The question of British Administration
is therefore material only so far as it shows that the

Dutch Administration was continued. Any new control
e —— e ———

or new exercise of jurisdiction, which was unknown to
the Dutch, must be disregarded, no matter how perfect
it might be possible to show it to have become in British
hands. :

The British Case admits thisin the opening statement
of the section on British Administration; it says,

“ When enlering upon the government of the Colonies captured
* from the Duatch, the British authorities in their dealings with
“ the Indian races of the conntry carried on the system of ther
‘¢ predeceasors, preserving, as far as possible, an absolute contin-
““ nity both of policy snd administration.’

And later, speaking of Schomburgk's surveys, it adds,

“ It 18 important to notice that Schomburgk did not discover
““or invent any new boundaries. He took particular care to
“ fortify himsclf with the history of the subject. He had further,
““from sctoal explorstion and information obtained from the
“ [ndians, a8 well as from the evidence of local remains as at
““ Burimsa, and local traditions a8 on the Coyani, ascertained the
“ limita of Dutch possession, and the zone from which all trace
“ of Spanish influence was absent. On such data he based his re-
il Pﬂ-]'tﬂ."'

It 1s difficult to understand how, in view of these and
similar statements, which after all merely reiterate what
Great Britain has said over and over again, any import-
ance whatever can be attached to any British artension

*British Case, p, 99, lines 1-8,
"Britiah Case, p. 121, lines 3352,
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of jurisdiction, or to certain alleged acts of British con-
trol which constitute, without question, a wholly new de-
parture, with pothing in Dutch precedent to sanction
them : yet the British Case distinctly says:

“ The exercise of juriediction over disputes and offences by
¢ British officers and courts of law was greatly exiended by the
¢« British, and was readily submitted to by the Indisns, tacitly in
“ most cases, but sometimes in consequence of an expreses agree-
““ ment with a tribal Chief."?

Not only so, the British Case goes further; it refers
to and relies upon jurisdictional acts which are either

admittedly or demonstrably new. For instance, it says :

*¢ After the British finally took possession of the Dutch Colo-
“ pies, Magistrates were appointed to deal summarily with small
“ offences, and the nomber of instances of the exercise of juris-
““ dietion, of which & record has been preserved, is much grester,
* as will sppear in the subsequent part of this chapter dealing
“ with the British period. In the Dufch period if was only in
“ tha case of the more important crimes that the Duteh Courts
“ agrumed the lask of Irying the offendsr.”®

And again,

“ It will be found that in British times the Postholders
“ travelled largely throngh the districts round their Posts and
“ gxercised mnagisterial functions. During the Duich period it
“ does mol appear thal they habilually did s0,"*

Among new acts of jurisdiction which have been
practiced by Great Britain, and which were wholly un-
known to the Dutch, is the appointment of Indian Cap-
tains by the Colonial Government. The British Case at
various times speaks of this new practice as though it
were something dating very far back, into Dutch times;
but in reality it 1s wholly British, as the following &x.
tract from a letter of Superintendent McClintock, dated
March 27, 1869, will show :

"British Case, p. 101, lines 84-89.
*British Case, p. B8, lines Bd—4d.
*British Case, p. 89, lines B8 41,
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“ Previous to Missions being established smong the aborigines
“ of this district, their Captains, or Chiefs, were always selected
“ by themselves, and the men possessing the art of conjurer—or,
““ secording to the people’s belief, the power of destroying the
“ lives of others by their incantations and prayers—were in-
¢ yuriably chosen to fill the office. This system proving such s bar-
“t rjer to everything calculatad to ameliorate their then degraded
¢ gondition, the conjurers having so muoch influence over their
“ respective tribes a8 to induce them to set their faces, so to
“ gpeak, against all kind of instruction, and seeing, as [ did, the
“ necessity for some interference, I brought matters under the
“ notice of Sir Heury Light, the then Governor of the Colony,
“ gxpecting the difficulties to be overcome belfore auy permanent
“ good for the Iudiana could be achieved. With the view, there-
“ fore, of removing, if not to suppress entirely, the then prevailing
¢ influence of the Chiefs, I suggested to his Excellency Sir
# Henry Light that they shounld at once be disposessed of all an-
“ thority to nominate captains, and the power of making such
“ yppointments should be vested in the Executive ; this arrange-
“ ment, which has been acted upon to the present time, has
““ proved most beneficial.” 1

In Dutch times the Indians selected their own Chiefs,
and such authority as was vested in them emanated
from the Indians themselves. The gewgaws, which these
Chiefs at times received from the Dutch authorities,
tickled their vanity, and their recognition as Chiefs by
the Dutch probably gave them a feeling of still greater
satisfaction ; but never did they, nor the Dutch for that
matter, suppose that such act conferred any anthority on
the Chief. The Chief was the principal man of his
family or tribe, and it was precisely because he was
Chief that the Dutch courted his friendship. The
British, however, actually made Chiefs. There is a vast
difference between recognizing and making. One 15 a
creative act, the other a mere acquiescence in what
already is. An enemy or an independent sovereign

" 1 British Case, App. VL, p. 200,




POLITICAL CONTROL.

may be recognized—only a subject can be made a Brithh

magistrate.

Something else wholly new and unknown to the
Dutch Administration were the visita to the Waini and
Barima of the Superintendent of Creeks and Rivers.
The first of these was in 1889, twenty years after the
Treaty of London. The occasion for this arose out of a
condition of things which is thus explained by the
British Case :

““ In 1837 the Coart of Policy decided that it would no longer
““ defray the cost of the distribution of presenta by the Post-
““ holders, and in 1838 Governor Light spoke of the Indian sub-
“¢ gidy as entirely discontinned. In consequence of this by the
** following year no Indians were to be found residing at the
“¢ Posts who could be considered as attached to them." !

That 8 to say, the Indians who had up to that
time lived at the Moruca Post left that post in 1838 be-
cause they got no more presents from the British, and
wandered off to the Waini and Barima. In order to
hold these Indians, and to secure laborers for the British
plantations along the Arabian coast, the Superintendent
of Creeks and Rivers in 1839 went for the first time
into the region beyond the Moruca, seeking to foster
among the late residents of the Pomeroon and the
Moruca who had gone there, a feeling that it was to their
intereat to have the British continue to look out for them.

These visite are in themselves wholly unimportant,
and were undertaken and effected without any knowledge
of them on the part of Venezuela; but above all they
were something wholly new, somethingin sharp contrast
to the conduet of the former Dutch postholders, who had
received as a part of their regular instructions an order
not to leave their posts to go to the Indians, but to en.
deavor to attract the Indians to the posta

' British Case, p. 1008, lines 5847,

jurisdiction.
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It is well to note in this connection that the first inti-
wation which Venezuela received of the presence of any
British in the Barima-Waini region was at the time of
the Bchomburgk survey in 1841; that she at once pro-
tested against it; that in consequence of that protest
the boundary posts erected by Bchomburgk were re.
moved ; and that very shortly thereafter, in order to
prevent any new British aggression into that region, the
agreement of 1850 was concluded, by which Great
Britain bound herself to keep out of it. That put ao
end to any claim of “ British control” there.

Before leaving this subject, it is also important to
note that these visits of the Superintendent of Creeks
and Rivers, even while they lasted, were confined to the
coast region. There i8 no record of any such visits into
the Cuyuni or Mazaruni. Not even the Brifish Ad-
ministration ever extended there.

A further consideration of British Administration
would seem to be unnecessary. If only Dutch territory
is to be awarded to Great Britain, and if the political
control which the Dutch exercised never extended to
the Waini nor to the Barima nor beyond the lowest
falls of the Cuyuni, Mazaruni and Essequibo rivers, it
can make no difference whatever how far British con-
trol may subsequently have gone.

That no erroneous impression may, however, be left
upon the minds of the Arbitrators respecting the real
nature of even this new and arvtended “ British Adminis-
tration,” it may be wise, before concluding, to say that
the facts alleged by Great Britain respecting it fail
wholly to show any exercise of real control either in
the Barima-Waini region or in the Cuyuni-Mazaruni
hasin.

Ag during Dutch times, 8o in British times, the only
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Indians who can in any sense be considered as under
British influence were those about the posts or in the
immediate neighborhood of the Dutch settlement. The
British Case recognizes this when it makes the follow-
ing statementa :

“*The Indians had, on the defeat of their protectors and rulers,
““ the Dutch, retired to the remote districta of the interior. It
‘““ was the aim of the British Government to altract them, as far
‘“ aa possible, to the more populsted districtsa of the ocomst, an
“ object which as time went on was graduoally attained.”
Again,

““ Bach postholder was bound Lo keep an sccurate journal of
“ pocurrences at his Fost, which he was to transmit quarterly to
*“ the Protector of Indians in his district—a new officer whose
“ position and duties will presently be considered. He waa to
“ attach the Indians to the Post and to endeavour to preserve
“ peace and order among them."*

Again,

“ When the British took possession of the Colonies of Essequibo
“and Demerara, the subsidy which the Dutch had from early
“ {imes been sccustomed to pay to the natives waa, in the firet
‘“ instance, neglected. The Indians received mo presents, and
““ obtained no signs of that esteem and friendehip which had
“ been shown them by the Dutch, and consequently they retired
*farther inland. This fact was quickly observed, and ita pos-
“ sible consequences in the event of trouble with the alave popu-
‘“ lation were pointed ont. Presenis for 1,000 Indisns were ac-
“ cordingly ordered from Euorope, and the date was fixed for a
“ general distribution. The Court ol Policy slso resclved that
“ the Postholders should, for the purpose of attracting Indians
“ to the Post, distribute amall presents from time to Lime so that,
“in case of need, the services of the Indisns might be more
“ readily obtainable."?

Again,

“The principal fleld of Iabour of the Indians from the year 1805

‘ onwards was the district extending from the Easequibo to the

"1 British Case, p. 99, lines 514,
! British Case, p. 9, lines 8847,
¥ Britiah Case, p. 104, lines 8-37.
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‘““ Moruka. The position of the Post in the Moruka was, in the
““ boginning of that year, ordered to be removed to & point mnore
““ advantageous for keeping up communication with the Indians.

“ In 1811 the Court of Policy settled a scale of annual payment
““ to be made for theservices of Indians employed st all the Posta.

“ Qther regulations as to Indian laboar were loft to the Protectors
“ of Indianse. !

Again it should be noted that, even after the coming
of the British, the Indians continued to be their own
avengers, keeping in their own hands the execution of
their own laws instead of submitting to British author-
ity. The British Case itself states that,

“The ecarly days of British administration prodonced no imme-
“ diate change in the custom of the Indians to exact the penalty
“* of life for life in every case in which 8 white inhabitant did not
‘“ step in to boy off the avenger.”?

And, apparently, as though it were an act showing
the exercise of jurisdiction and proving the existence of
sovereignty, the British Case adds that

““ It was not unusual for the Protector or the Postholder to buy
““ off the animosity of the friends of an Indian who had met with

““ his death under circumstances which afforded no grounds for
“ the inatitution of & prosecution.”?
It is difficult to understand how buying off a criminal

can prove political control over him.,

That, like the Dutch, the British regarded the Indians
as friends and allies, not as subjects, and that the presents
given them were merely for the purpose of retaining this
Jriendship and of protecting themselves against their
possible hostility (savoring indeed of the nature of
tribute) is shown by the following statements of the
British Case :

“In the nutumn of 1810 a Carib Chief from the Upper Esse-
‘* quibo or the Rupununi, with his followers, visited the capital.

! British Case, p. 107, lines 26.38.
¥ British Case, p. 101, lines 22-28,
* British Case, p. 101, lines 2033,



POLITICAL CONTROL.

“ He had previously sent an envoy, who had received certain
““ presenta from the Governor. He now came in person, and the
““ (jovernor represented to the Court of Policy the desirability of
“ preventing him from making war in the remoter districta of the
“ Colony for the purpose of obtaining elaves. An agreement was
“ accordingly made by which the Chief bound himself Lo refrain
“ from doing this, and to live in pence and friendship with the
‘“ white scttlers. The Colonial Government, on their part, nnder-
“ took to give the Chief certain presents, some at once, and others
““ annually when called for.™?

Also,
“When the British Government entirely abolished negro

“ glavery the dangers of such risings were regurded as past, and
““ the subeidies to the Indians were accordingly discontioued."?

It is thus seen that whether regarded as something
new and unprecedented, or as something old and a con-
tinuativn of Duteh practices, “ British Administration”
beyond the Moruca on the coast, and beyond the falls
of the Cuyuni, Mazaruniand Essequibo in the interior,
is something which did not exist until within the last
few years, when in violation of the agreement of 1850
Great Britain bad invaded the territory in dispute,

The section on “ Area Controlled " which followa the
one on “ British Administration” in the British Case
seems hardly to require consideration at this time. Its
statements are largely a repetition of those already con-
sidered. Many of those statements Venezuela believes
to be erroneous in fact and misleading in form; but it
is believed that in the chapter already examined her
own views on the subject of political coutrol have been
sufficiently set forth to make perfectly clear her attitude
toward it

' British Case, p. 104, linea 87-48; p. 108, lines 1-4.
' British Case, p. 108, lines 18-17.
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V1.—COONCLUSION.

In the preceding chapters an effort has been made to
present the facts alleged in the British Case in such a
manner as to leave the main issues more clearly defined.
Many statements of that Case have been passed un-
noticed because, however important in themselves, their
bearing on the points actually ander discussion was not
apparent. Some of those statements have been cun-
sidered and commented upon by Sefior Dr. Rafael Seijus,
former Minister of Foreign Affairs of Venezuela. The
results of his examination, contained in two able papers,
are published in the Appendix to this Counter-Case.!

The remaining chapters of the British Cuse deal with
the diplomatic negotistions between Venezuela and
(rreat Britain, with the Schomburgk Line, with the sub-
ject of maps, and with some of the principles of law
involved in the controversy. Some of these subjects
have already been treated by Venezuela in her Case.
Her views on all of them have been defined ; and hence
their further discussion may properly be deferred until
the time of the printed and oral arguments.

In connection with the subject of maps, a second
atlas has been prepared to accompany this Counter-
Case, and to rebut the allegation of the British Case
that,

“ the view of map-makers, other than Spanizh aud Veneznelan,
“ 1 absolutely inconsistaut with the Veuezuelan clwim.”®

This new atlas contains maps by well known French,
(rerman, Dutch, Italian and even British map-makers,

1Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol, 8, documents numbered 177 and 138,
*British Cuse, P 140, lines 3-31.
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to say nothing of Spanish and Venezuelan, showing
lines favorable to Venezuela's claim. In this coonection,
too, and also as showing the cartographic origin of the
Schomburgk Line, a rveport on the Cartographical
Yestimony of Geographers, prepared for the United
States Commission in 1896 by its Secretary, is reprinted
in the Appendix to this Counter-Case!

A full discussion of the points covered by that report,
as also of the relation of the Schomburgk Line to this
controversy, will be deferred to the time of arpument.

Another subject which would seem to belong to the
argnments, rather than to the Counter-Case, is the ques
tion of legal principles involved. The principles npon
which Venezuela relies are believed to be sufficiently
indicated by the general statements in her Case and
Counter-Case. There is one point however which, since
the British Case refers to it at some length, it may be
well briefly to touch upon at this time. No direct
reference to it bas heretofore been made by Venezuels,
except in the diplomatic correspondence published in
the Appendix to her Case; that point relates to the
Papal Bull of 1493.

Papal authority, as a basis of territorial title, might
not avail if attempted to be exercised now at the
close of this nineteenth century: it was far other
wise at the close of the fifteenth. During the middle
ages, and until after the discovery of America, the Pope
was the recognized arbiter of the civilized world: his
word was in those days supreme. Whatever may be
thought now of the logir of it, there can be no two
views as to the fact itself, nor as to the benefits which
accrued therefrom to civilization. What there waa of
international law in the dark ages was in the keeping

! Venezuelan Counter-Case, Vol. 2, pp. 267-811.
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of the Holy See. Sovereign princes did not hesitate to Papal Ball of 1498,

surrender their dominions into the Pope’s hands, and to
receive them back as his acknowledged vassals, bound
to him by feudal ties. As Mr. Harrisse points out in his
recent work on The Diplomatic History of Awmerica,
there is good reason for believing that Great Britain’s
title to Ireland has its foundation in a Papal grant;
" and it is a fact quite beyond dispute that Henry II
“placed his own Kingdom of England and all its
dependencies under the pontifical sovereignty.™ IHenry
VII, in 1485, and again in 1493, sent embassies of
obedience to Rome to the very Pope® (Alexander VI)
whose Bull regarding America is now so lightly esteemed
by Great Britain.

Four centuries have indeed wrought great changes.
The thoughts and ideals of those days are past. New
forces rule the world, and new laws direct its destiny ;
but to judge those days by the standards of these would
be to judge falsely. Even after her separation from
the Church of Rome, England recognized, by acts, if
pot by words, the power of the Holy See and the
validity of Papal acts. Notwithstanding English settle-
ment, or English occupation along the coast of North
America, England was not unwilling, in 1670, to receive
from Spain a release of Spanish title to those regions
That it was thought worth while to obtain such a
release is in itself significant.

The statements of the British Case in connection
with this subject of Papal Bulls are both incomplete
and inaceurate, but their discussion may profitably be

postponed to the time of argument.

In closing this Counter-Case, the Government of Vene- 001, 500,

_ 'Tl‘htﬁt;nuu_lcl-lht_urrﬂ i;u-rlu by Heory Harrinse, p. 42,
" The Diplomatic History of America by Henry Harrisse, p. 43,
* The Diplomatic History of America by Heary Harrisse, p. 44.


















INTRODUCTORY NOTE.

This volume is wholly made up of reprints. It is composed of six
reports, all prepared for, submitted to and originally printed by the Uniled
Slates Commission apposnted lo invesligale and report upon the lrue
divisional line between Venezuela and Brifish Guiana. Of these six
reports five were prepared by Professor (George Lincoln Burr, of Corpell
University, in 1866 and 1867. One was prepared, in 1866, by Mr. Severo
Mallet- Prevost, then Secretary of the Commission. These reports are here
reprinted without change, printing errors excepted. The indented figures
with accompanying asterisks indicate the pages of the original. The foot
notes are, of course, those of the original, except such changes of reference
as were found necessary to avoid confusion.

As to certain matters these reports contain original testimony. The
statement by Professor Burr that ‘‘the name of the fort, Kykoveral,
which doee not appear in the records before 1644 is thereafter constantly
met,” ia an example of such testimony. It has been deemed more useful
to reprint, for the convenience of the Tribunal, the entire reports than
to select therefrom merely those passages which, strictly speaking, are
entitled to be classed as evidence.

(v}
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*Report as to the meaning of Articles V and VI of the Treatyof *73
Munster.

By Guosax Limooiw Boms.

I have been asked by the Commission to investigate and report as to the
meaning of that clause in the ty of Mfinster between Spain and the
Netherlands, signed January 80, 1648, w provides for the possession by
the Spaniards and the Dutch, respectively, not only of ‘' such lordshipes,
cities, castles, fortresses, commerce, and countries in the East and West
Indies, as also in Brazil and on the coasts of Asia, Africa, and America,
respectively, as the said Lords, the King and the States respectively, hold
and posseas,” but also ' comprehending therein particularly the places and
forts which the Portuguese have taken from the Lords, the States, since the
vear 1641; as also the forts and the places which the said Lords, the Stales,
shall chance lo acquire and possess after this, withoul infraction of the
present Trealy ”; and of the kindred clause, in the following article, which
provides that *‘ among the places held by the said Lords, the States, shall
be comprehended the places in Brazil which the Portuguese took out of the
hands of the States, and have been in possession of ever since the year 1841,
Ag also all the other pluces which they possess at present, so long as
they shall continve in the hands of the *said Portuguese, anything *74
contained in the preceding Article notwithstanding.”!

The question to which my attention is especially asked, whether these
clauses gave the Dutch liberty to make fresh acquisitions in territory
claimed by the Spaniards, but held by aborigines; or whether they applied
only to lands held by the Portuguese.

In order to a conclusion, I have addressed my study to the following
pointa:

1. What was meant by the words translated ' forts and places™?

The treaty was drawn in French and in Dutch, the two versions being
of equal authority.? The Dutch expected a controversy on this point, and

! This translation lato English, which is that printed in the British Bloo-Book (* Venesvela No. 1,"
P 6, 7), bs open, as will sppear in Lhe course of Lhis report, o serious oljectioss. It ls borrowed,
doshiloss, from the slandard old Ohlleciion of off the Trwatics . . . betwern Greal Briloim and oiher
Fowery published at London In 1785 by Debrett. At loeast the trapslstion (bhere givea (i, pp. 14, 18) la
the sume, save for a alight correction or two. The palpable error ” upon” for ' and oa " (following
~ Brasil *), common Lo bolh, ls corrected In the sbove Lranscript. There is aléo bere omitted from their
rosmersiion of * lordships, citiss, castles, Lowna, fortresses, countries, and commerce,” the word * towns,”
which bas nothing answering o it in the original ; aad ' commerce " la restored Lo [t proper place, befure
~ roantrie. ©

1 Aitvema, Sabem van Sast /m Ooriowgh (s Graveahage, 1671), vl 2 { Ferdael vam de Nederlandsche
Frvde Hemdeling), p. 812, CL also Leclere, Nigosialions secriies ivuchant la Paiz de Mussier (La Hays,
1738), br, p. 71,
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instructed their envoys to meet a claim for the use of Spanish with an
answering claim for the use of Dutch, but were prepared to concede the
use of Spavish and French to the one side and of Dutch and French to the
other, or to compromise by the use of Latin altogether. The Spaniards
seem, however, to have made no difficulty on this point, but to have granted
more than was asked (a course characteristic of the general policy of Spain
; in these negotiations): for it was agread at Miinster, May 5, 1646,
#75  “that all *the writings which have to beé made for the above-named
present treaty shall be written 1 the Krench and in the Flemish
[i. e., Dutch] language, and that the writing in these said two languages,
yet only after being very exacily collated the one with the other, shall be
held equally authentic. But in the conferences and speeches which have
to be made orally, respectively, there may be used indiscriminately the
French, the Flemish [i, e., Dutch), or the Latin language, according as one
or another may for the greater convenience be able to make himself the
better understood.”
The clause in question is a part of Article V, and reads, in the Freoch
text:!

* & * compris aussi les lieux ef places qu'iceuxr Seigneurs Estats ci

pPTes sans m_,f‘ru.chmz du presenl Traitté viendront @ conquerir el pos-
Hdﬁ‘r % #

And in the Dutch text:?

® * * of de plaetisen die sy hier naemaels sonder infractie van'l Jﬁgﬂﬂ
woordigh Traciaet sullen komen te verkrygen en fe besitten. * *

The words *‘ ltewr " and ** places,” ** plaelsen,"” are the most general and
indefinite terms known to these languages for the expression of locality,
and ¢orrespond wholly to the cognate English word ** places.” The French

** place ” might in certain contexts mean a ** place forle,” a fortress;
*76  but its translation by ®"the Dutch '* plaefsen” makes that here out

of the question. The English translation should therefore run, not
““ forts and places,"” hut ** places " alone.

A study of the use of these words in the negotiations leading to the
Treaty of Miinster shows them commonly employed to denote towns rather
than stretches of country; but this may be explained by the circumstances
of each case, and further study has eonvinced me that no inference as to
tha character of the localities in thought can safely be based upon them.

1] anrih-u earefully from llu nﬂ’.rl.ﬂ text, printed by nr«r.’:rr of the States-General and by the uﬂ:hl
printars at The Hague in 1808. As given by Dumont (Corpe unirerse’ diplomafique, Amsterdam, 1718,
vol. vi, pt. 1, p. 480} snd by others —mostly fullowing him—the orthography varies alightly. The Lext
hera clted is in the library of the Department of State, Since writing these pages | bave been able to
examine, in the Dutch archives, the sumptuous official original of this treaty, both in ita French and in
ita Duteh text, and can certily that the cardinal phrasea hero discussed stand in the manuscript precisely
as in the printsd editions. Tao be parfectly exact, the Franch text has over the preposition * a ™ an acuts
accent instead of & greve, and puts & comma after ** conguerir; * but this is mere archale usage.

* As printed in the official tasue at The Hague, 1816, see note abuve.  Altzena's text (i, p. 260
vi, 2, p. 387) varies slightly from this in spelling.
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2 What was meant by the words translated * acquire and possess™ §

As already seen, the words answering to these in the official languages
of the Treaty are the French *‘ congquérir et posséder,” the Dutch *‘verk-
rygen en besitten.” Of ** posséder " and of ‘‘ besitten™ *‘ possess” 18 a true
and adequate translation; but the English ** acquire " by no means answers
to the French “‘conquérir.” The Dutch word ** wverkrijgen,” indeed,
which originally and properly meant *‘ to conquer,” had already, as is evi-
dent from a study of contemporary documents, gained the broader mean-
ing of ** to acquire” in general, with which it is now currently used. Bat,
as the word is here used as an equivalent to the French *' congquérir " (rend-
ered in the Spanish version by ‘‘conguistar”™), it must, unless one is to
suspect the Dutch of double dealing, have been meant in the more restricted
sense.' ** Conquer aid possess " would therefore be a truer English
translation; and the phrase would seem to imply rather a *seizure *77
from another State than an occupation of lands held only by
aborigines.

3. What ** places” were in the thought of the parties to the trealy ?

The only places suggested by the negotiations are those to be won back
from the Portuguese in Brazil.

Thus, in the Spanish dispatches? relating to the Treaty of Miinster,
there is, from beginning to end, no mention of any other American pos-
session in this connection.? It is clearly on the Dutch hostility to the
Portuguese, occasioned by the loss of Brazil, and on the Dutch wish for a free
hand in order to win back that colony, that Spain especially grounds her
hope of coming to terms with the Netherlands.* Nor are the Dutch pre.
liminaries less rich in evidence that this design was uppermost in the
Dutch thought. Thus one sees the fleet destined for the relief of Brazil
held back by the States-General pending the negotiations,* '‘that they
may not enter into war with new enemies (friends and allies of France)
while they are seeking to conclude a peace with the old enemy,” but in-
structed to sail immediately on the completion of the treaty. And the
French dispatches emphasize yet more this influence of the affairs of

! Postscripl—1 may add that later siudy sad my disoossicns with IMateh scholars bave removed my
besitation Lo saspect sharp practice In the use of werkrijpen 88 the squiralest of conguirir. [t now seema
io be most plansible to conjectars that when the Dutch eavoys foand themeelves unable to make ihe
Spaninrds scoept is Lhe Freoch text of the trealy the true equivaient of rerkrrjgan— acqudri r—i hey com
promised by coasesting to the use of congudrir in tbe Freach whils retaining verbryjgm in the Duteh,
Yot they must bave knowa that, by a well-knows principle of interpretation, the tresly eculd be bioding
oaly in its more restricted sense.

* Priated in Lhe grest national Oblecoion de documanios inididos pars la historia de Espana, vole
Bl

*CL e g, vol 82, pp. 181, 838, 381, 495; wvol. 83, pp. 548, 673, 674,

' Of Aitzema, vi, 2, passim.

' Leclere, Negocinfions secrifes, v, pp. 402, 408,
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Brazil. At the very outset of the negotiations between Spain and the
Dutch at Milnster, Mazarin wrote to the French envoys:'

1 have no occasion to say to you anything this time as to the ambas-

sadors of the Netherlands and the negotiations which the Spaniards have

begun with them, except that doubtless, amoug the motives which

*7%  *they will use to try to win them, they will take advantage of the

division existing between Portugal and Holland in the West Indies,

offering the Dutch tﬁnir aid against enemies more recent, and therefore
more hated.

And this fear seemed to them confirmed by the event. The French
even learned, in September, 1646, from their representatives in Holland,
that the Spaniards were trying to hurry the Duich into the treaty by
alleging the existence of a league between France, Sweden, and Portugal
at their coat.

It will be asked why, then, this clause should have been made general,
instead of limiting the places to be ‘‘conquered and possessed™ to the
possessions of Portugal. The answer lies near that the Dutch had reason
to fear that, in case of emergency, the Portuguese would hand over their
Brazilian possessions to one of their allies, most probably to France; and
that it was matter of life and death for the Dutch West India Company to
win them back, whoever might hold them. It is highly suggestive of this
that, as appears from the Spanish papers, the Dutch were unwilling,* even
in the direst extremity, to send to Brazil any of the French troops in their
service. And it is especially to be noted that when, at the completion of
the treaty,® the Dutch States-General formally provided for its transmis-
gion to all their leading representatives abroad—'* to the East and the West
India Companies, also to the Governor-General in the East Indies, also to
the President and Councilors and to the Lieutenant.General of the Forces
in Brazil, also to Admiral De Witt, also to the Commander on the
Coast of (Guinea, also to the Directors in Loanda de St. Paulo and St
Thome, also to the Director in New Netherland " —there is no mention of

Guiana or of any of its settlements.
=19 *On all these points the source and original intent of the articles
in question bas clearly an important bearing. 5o far as it can be
traced in the printed documents left to us from the negotiations, their
story 1s as follows.

Early in 1045 (January 27), when it had not yet been fully determiuned
to enter into negotiations with Spain, and long before the envoys were
actually sent to Miinster, both the East and the West India Companies
submitted to the States-General certain *‘ considerations.” Thoee of the
West India Company were seven in number, and provided:

! March 3, 1848, Tha letter is printed by Leclere { Négociarions, ili, pp. 102, 108},

* Gee letter of I'hilippe Le Roy to the Archduke, Septembor 2, 1847, in the Colencion, vol. 83, p.
489,

¥ Aftzema, vi, 2, p. 584,
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(1) That, “*in case of the combination of the two Companies [which
then seemed imminent], it would be more profitable for the combined
Companies to continue the war, both in the East and the Wesl Indies, the
coast of Africa, Brazil, the South Sea, and other guarters south of the
Tropic of Cancer or beyond the Equator than to make any peace or truce
with the King of Spain.”

(%) That, in case the companies are not combined, the peace or truce
with Spain, if accepted also by the East India Company, might be of use.

(3) That, in case of a general peace or truce, the Company should be
guaranteed ita faithful observance by Spain.

(4¢) That, in such peace or truce there should be included all powers,
nations, and peoples with which the West India Company, within the
limits of its grant, are in friendship and alliance.

(5) That the Company shall be allowed to push its trade in all places,
within the aforesaid limits of its grant, where the King of Spain has no
castles, joriadiction, or territory (casteelen, jurisdictie, noch gebietf); and
that with such merchandise, wares, slaves, and else as they shall see fit.

(6) That the subjects of Spain shall in no wise be permitted to
travel or trade in any ports or places where the West *India Com- *8)
pany has any castles, forts, and territory, or lodges,' unless like
trade privileges shall be granted to the aforesaid Company in all quarters
and places belonging under the said King of Spain.

(T) That each party shall continue to poesess and enjoy such cities, cas-
tles, fortresses, trading places, and lands as shall at the conclusion of the
ireaty belong [compeleren] to each.

The plenipotentiaries of Spain were eventually given general powers to
make suoch terms as they might find wise; but from the first® the Estales
of Zeeland stoutly opposed the sending of Dutch envoys to Milnster until
the preliminary points to be submitted to Spain should have been definitely
established; and this became the policy of the States-General. On October
38, 1645, there was adopted by them a very elaborate body of instructions,
pumbering no less than 116 articles.

Of theae the eleventh prescribed that the subjects of Spain and Hol-
land, respectively, should have the *nght of free travel and traffic in all the
European possessions of each, and in such extra-European possessions as

are open to their other allies; and that, ‘‘as regards the places, cities,
ports, and harbors which they hold outside Lhe aforesaid limits, the afore-
said States [of the Netherlands] and their subjects shall not carry on any
traffic without the express permission of the said King [of Spain]. But
they [the Dutch] shall be permitted, if thay choose, to carry on traffic in

' This word = logien " already needed definition, and ls explained in tbe discussions of the Estates of
Holland to mean warvhosses. [~ Dal is Pockhuysm, daer wyl de Koopmanschappen ende Warenm worden
rerimkd"" ]

¥ Aftzema, wi, 2. pp- 187, 196, 199,
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the lands of all other princes, potentates, and peoples who ghall allow them
to do so (even outside the aforesaid limits); and neither the aforesaid
*81 King, nor his officers and subjects, shall on this *account do any
harm to the princes, potentates, and peoples who allow or shall allow
the same, nor likewise to themselves [the Dutch] nor to the individuals
with whom they carry on or shall carry on the aforesaid traffic.”
There had followed this two articles! relating to the trade of the Indies.
These had, however, been canceled on October 14. Yet they are printed
with the rest and prescribe:

(1) That the Spaniards shall retain their trade (vaert) in the East Indies
as it exists at present, but shall not be allowed to extend it further, and
shall also keep out of the Portuguese possessions in the Indies, having no
right to trade there; and likewise the inhabitants of these lands [the
Netherlands] shall have no communication with the Spanish or Portuguese
Fast Indies. .

(2) That the monopoly of the two India companies shall be guaranteed,
and that '* there shall be included in the treaty all the potentates, nations,
and peoples with whom the States.General or the West India Company,
withio the limits of their grant, are in friendship and alliance; and this
Company may push ite trade and traffic in all places within the limits of
its grant where the King of Spain has no castles, jurisdiction, or territory,
and that with such merchandise, wares, slaves, and else as they shall see
fit, and the subjects of the said King of Castile shall in no wise be per-
witted to trade or travel in any ports or places where the West India Com-
pany has castles, forts, territory, or lodges,* unless the Castilians shall
grant like trade privileges in all quarters and places belonging under the
EKing of Castile. . . . And each shall continue to possess and enjoy
such cities, castles, fortreases, trade, and lands in the West Indies and
Brazil as, at the conclusion of the treaty to be made, shall belong to

each. . . ."
*82 *At the end of these canceled articles are inserted the following
substitutes:

XII. This foregoing article was found to be faulty. . ;
XIII. The navigation and traffic of the Indies, mﬁpmtwnly, shall be

maintained.

And there was prefaced the somewhat incoherent explanation that
“when and how the plenipotentiaries shall later be instructed on this
point shall in due time follow.”

Armed with these instructions,® the Dutch deputies reached Manster
in January, 1646, The Spaniards suggested* as a basis for negotiation the

=t — -

1 Altesma, vi, 2, pp. 208, 208,
¥ Warehouses,
' Altzema, vi, 2, p. 214,

* Dispatch of Pefiaranda, in the Coleccion, vol. 82, p. 310,  Aitzema, vi, 8, . 294,
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terms of the twelve years’ truce between Holland and Spain in 1609, Eut
the Dutch insisted on their instructions, and on May 17 submitted to the
Spanish envoys a preliminary draft, in 71 articles, of the proposed treaty.
It was ultimately adopted almost word for word.

There is in it, however, no mention of the Indies, the provisional Article
V running as follows:

V. Be it understood that the foregoing shall be without prejudice, and
it is expressly reserved, hereafter to submit certain articles touching the

htﬁatmn and traffic of the Easi and West Indies, which it is agreed to
upno

d and maiotain.

But these articles were so long delayed! by the home government that
the Dutch plenipotentiaries grew impatient® and '*meanwhile wrote re.
peatedly and asked for the two articles touching the commerce in the East
and West Indies which in October last were stricken out of the lnatruc-
tions. ™

*At last, on November 20, 1646, the States-General referred toa  *83
commiites consisting of Messrs. Boreel, Cats, Stavenesse, and the
secretary, Musch, these canceled articles, with power *' to frame and revise
them in such fashion that they may find place in the aforesaid instructions,
and also among the seventy articles " (of the treaty). On the following day
this committee reported back? these articles ‘‘so revised and framed that
they may now fitly find place among the adjusted seventy arliclea accord-
ing to the wish of their High-Mightincsses ” (the States) *' excepting only
the allernative named by the aforesaid canceled articles, which alternative
might be given the plenipotentiaries by separate resolution, to be used ac-
cording to circumstances in the cases therein described.” The States
accordingly took the matter into consideration, and, discharging their com-
mittesa, resolved to add the following alternative:

Yet, in case of the rejection of the above stipulations, shall both the
subjects of the above named King [of Spain] and the inhabitants of this
state [the Dutch] restrain themselves from travel and traffic in the ports
and p occupied [beset] by the one or the other of the parties with forts,
lodges, or castles; and, in case there are set before the ambassadors of th&
States considerations -:,'.ﬂntmrjr to those above expressed, they shall give

notice thereof to their High-Mightinesses [the States], who can then com-
municate with the authorities of the one or the other Company, or of both,

regarding the matter.
The deputies of Zeeland,* however, urged that, *‘in case it can not be
gained from the Spaniards that there shall be reciprocal traffic and com-

1 Aitzema, vi, 2, p. 345 ; cf. p, 248, at end, ndlhal‘nﬂul request om p. 349
* The impatlence of ibe Hpanisrds ia clear from the letters of Pefaranda (cf. eapecially ﬂﬂml’.n.rl.
vol. 82, pp. 389, M2, 848). Already oo May 31 he writes: “ We have agreod with the Duteh o avery
poiat exeept that relatiag to the Prince of Orange sod that of the navigation of the Indies.” Aitzsma,
i, 3, p. 365, :
b Ansema, vi, 2 p. 288,
* Aftesma, vi, 2, p. 207,
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munication each in the other’s lands, in that case it shall be stipulated not
only that the Spaniards shall keep out of all the places occupied, by and in
the name of this state, in the West Indies and Brazil, together with those
which have been taken from the West India Company by the Portu-
*34 guese, and shall not come into these with military force *or to carry
on trade and business; but shall also keep out of such places as are
there possessed by the Porluguese.”

This proposition' was, after discussion, reserved for further considera-
tion and to be submitted for advice to the next meeting of the provincial
Estates of Holland (i. e., the province of that name).

The articles® regarding the West Indies were presented at Miinster,
December 13, 1646, and met with violent oppogition from the Spanish pleni-
potentiaries, such as had befallen no other of the Dutch demands. They
declared that thees articles® were novelties wholly unknown to the -
tiations thus far, and that their provisions, * especially that they of the
‘West India Company and others should have free access and traffic every-
where in the West Indies,” were contrary to the fundamental maxims of
Spain; that such terms had not only never been granted to Great Britain
or Denmark or any foreign power, but not even to the subjects of the King
of Spain himself, in Aragon, Portugal, or the Spanish Netherlands; that
such terms could not and would not be granted; and, if they were ingisted
on, the negotiations must stop. And, in several successive conferences*
(December 15, 16, 17, 18, 18), the Dutch envoys * were met, on the points
touching the East and West India Companies, with very many difficulties,
so that they almost despaired of carrying the affair through, since the
Spaniarde showed themselves 8o sensitive in this matter that they debated

or balanced almost every word.”
*85 Long before, in fact, the Spaniards had received explicit *instruc-
tione on this point from their home government; for on July 8, 1646,
Pefiaranda had written the King of Spain,® in the very letter inclosing the
preliminaries already agreed on:

In the [matter] of the commerce of the Indies we have the instruction
by which we are to govern ourselves, and Your Majesty shall be at once
informed of what is ratified, without its being subject to any new revision
ofours. [ . . . "en el [articulo] del comercio de las Indias tenemos

I Alizema, v], 2, p. 287.

* Altzerma, v, 2, p. 270,  Leclere, Négoclations, ill, pp. 487, 488,

* Pefiaranda had been assured by the Dutch snvoy, Knuyt, that the demands of the Dutch oo this

polat would not be lnordinate, Ses his letter to Castel-Rodrign of May 28, 1848 ((Cblsocion, Vol. 82, p.
a9).

* Allzema, vl, %, p. 370, Leclere, Négooiations, ifl, p. 488, Altzema makes the discossions close on
the 16th.

® Colascion, vol, 82, p. 881, Thla passage is also qouoted (verbalim, save for the changs 1o lndirect
discouree) o the Consulia of the Bpanish Cooneil of Stats, held st Sarayossa, August 12, 1848, ([ Coler.
ciom, vol, 83, pp. 401, 404.)
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la instruccion con que nos habemos de gobermar, ya' Vuesira Majestad
estard informado de lo que rafifica, sin gue esto quede sujedo a nuevo arbi-
irio nuesiro.” )

Yet Article V,* which had been submitted by the Dutch envoys in pre-
cisely the form in which they had received it from the States General, was
finally adopted with but one or two very slight moditications. In their
reply of December 15 (as printed by Leclerc, iii, pp 487, 470) the Spanish
ambassadors had argued only:

As Lo the 5th * [article], that the Dutch may recover all that the Portu-

"

E.lm have taken from them in Brazil, the n%ht remaining to His
ajesty [the King of Spain] over all he had there when the revolt of Por-
tugal began.

Eut the Dutch answered,* in their reply drawn up on the 16th and
Iith:

ArticLe V. Nothing can be changed in the contents of the article; so

it must stay as we have put it. (‘" Um ne rien changer au confenu de
[ Article, ains doil demevurer comme nous lavons mis.")

*And, finally, at the close of their five days' conference, on the  *s4
19th, the minute as to this article ia:

ARTICLE 5. A , excepting that the Spaniards reject the clause
"withr?]ul being at liberty to go further ” (*‘sans se pouvoir élendre plus

This last point was, however, later conceded by the Spaniards, and the
phrase remained part of the treaty. Bot their first objection seems to
have been at least partially met by inserting in the clause, " which the
Portuguese have taken from the Lords, the Btates,” the restricting phrase,
“ gince Lhe year 1641."

Less simple is the question as to the (to us) all-important clause, regard-
ing ‘' the forts and places which the said Lords, the States, shall chance to
acquire and possess after this.” This passage first appears in the revised
instructions given the envoys by the States-General in November, 1646,
and in its original Dutch reads precisely as in the text of the completed
treaty. But in the French text of this article, as submitted to the French
envoys in December, and as printed by Leclerc (in his Négocialions secréfes,
ii, p. 468 —probably from a draft in the French archives), one reads, not
the word ‘‘ conquerir,” as in the published treaty, bat ‘* acquerir.”

Yet it could hardly have been this reading which was in the hands of
the French envoys at MUnster, when, in the same dispatch to Mazarin*

' As quoted by the Counell of Stats, this becomes * y ™',

"L the Dutch text of Use Instraciions of the SiatesGenernl (given by Aitsema, vi, % p. 384), with
the French text of Lhe nriicies sobulibed st Mioster oo Decamber 18, 1648 (given by Leclere, Nigocie-
tioma, [, p. 488), and both with the finlsbed treaty.

' Laclare, Nigoclations, 11, p. 480,

¥ Laclere, Nigociaisas, I, p. 470.

¥ Laclere, Nipociations, 1, p 391,
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wherein they report that the Dutch plenipotentiaries ** tell us that, as
ragards the three pointe of the treaty not yet agreed on, the Spaniards
have granted them that of the Indies just as they have asked it” (en la
sorie qu'ils l'avoient demandé), they make this most significant comment:'

Another thing which gives us food for thought is the yielding of Lhe
Spaniards in the matter of the Indies, which is beyond doubt one of
*47  *the most important articles of the whole treaty, in which the Dutch
find an advantage which they had not hoped, and which has not been
granted them without some extraordinary motive. The King of Spain con-
sents to be no longer at liberty to extend his boundaries in the East Indies,
and to limit them to what he occupies at nt: and the conquests which
may be made by the United Provinces ehall remain theirs, whether over the
natives of the country orover the Portuguese, whatever may be the event of
the war of the said King of Spain against the King of Pnrt.uﬁal. This would
seem a conspiracy clearly made between them to despoil this latter [the
King of Pﬂﬂ-l.lgﬂ-{. in order that, while the Castilians drive him from the
continent |i. e., of Europe], he may lose also what he holds in the Indies
by means of the Dutch, who as merchants, with whom interest is all-
powerful, could not be more flattered by the Spaniards than by leaving
themn the opportunity and the hope of making so great a profit. And, as
the ministers of Spain have shown in this much servility and subinissive-
ness, there is room to fear that the price of this ahandonment is not alone
the ruin of Portugal, but that there has been besides a secret promise to
come to terms without France, il being certain that three days earlier
Pefiaranda bhad declared that they would sooner risk everything than yield
this point.

Yet it should be added that these same French envoys had, six months
earlier (14 June, 1646), written home? that ‘‘The gentlemen whom we
sent to M. de la Thuillerie [French minister at The Hague] is back, and tells
us it is the opinion of -the said Sieur de la Thuillerie that the affair of the
Indies may hinder a long time. But that is not the belief of our friends
here, who think that the Spaniards will pass over this point blindly, as
over the others, and especially so, as since the change of Portugal they
have had no more interest in the Indies.” However, on August 31 they
had learned from Mazarin, ¢ propos of the arrival at Paris of a Spanish
courier sent to the envoys at Miinster:

It is not known whether this courier may not bear orders to the pleni-
potentiaries of Spain to go further and grant the States the point of the

commerce of the Indies; but we have been assured from divers
*88 *quarters that up to the present Castel-Rodrigo and Pefiaranda
have had precise orders not to yield on that point, and to do nothin

about it beyond what was granted in the last truce [that of 1809]; to whic
wae are assured the said States will in no wise consent.

As to Article VI,? it was first submitted in the first of the alternative
forms suggested by the States-General—that granted the Dutch freedom of

¥ Leclerc, Négociafions, iii, p. 8048.
* Leclere, Nigociations, §il, p. 216 ol also p. 322,
* Leclere, Negoriations, Wi, pp. 488_47],
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traffic in the Spanish colonies; and, when the Spaniards would not hear to
this, then in the second of the alternative forms. But if one may trust
Leclerc’s draft, there was here, too, appended to the phrase ‘including
the places which the Portuguese have taken from the States and occupied ”
the words ‘‘and those which the said States, without infraction of the
present [treaty] shall hereafter come to acquire and possess” [*' viendroni
a acquerir el posseder”). But, as finally agreed on,' December 19, 1646,
it lacks this phrase and is identical in form with the article of the com-
pleted treaty.

When, however, on January s, 1647, these articles, as adopted at
Milnster, were submitted to the Dutch States-General, and by them to the
several provinces,? there came a storm of suggestions and objections. Of
these, the only ones throwing light on the points now under considera-
tion are certain emanating from the Estates of Zeeland.* This body
urged that Article VI ought to be amplified, even beyond the original in-
structions, so as to provide ‘‘ that the Spaniards generally must keep out of
wll the places whici the Porluguese possess within the limits [of the grant)
of the West India Company.”

On the other hand, the words * as also all the other places " ** can
not and must not be permitted, lest therefrom it should *come to  *s0
follow that the King of Spain possesses in the Indies places where
he has no castles, forts, or lodges, and thereby should be corroborated the
claim of the aforesaid King that he having, hy virtue of gift from the
Pope, title to the West Indies, and not allowing that anybody without his
permission should therein travel and trade, is in possession and control of
the whole thereof.”

That is to say, the Dutch must not tolerate so much as an implication
that Spain can give away lands held only by the natives,

The Zeelanders objected, too, to the limiting phrases ‘* since the year
1641," ** 8o long as they shall continue in the hands of the Portuguese,”
and ‘' anything contained in the preceding article notwithstanding.” This
last phrase, they understand, is ingisted on by the Spaniards in order to
prevent the East and the West India Companies from pleading the liberties
given them by their charter, under Article V of the treaty: but these
charter rights might better be expressly limited, and such a limiting clause
is submitted.

But even more suggestive, perhaps, is the form of a new Article VI
presented by the Estates of Zeeland to the States.General for substitution
in the treaty.? In it the clauscs now in point run as follows:

* that the suhjects of the said King [of Spain] shall not traffic nor anywise

! Aftsema, vi, 8, pp. 272, 274 of. Leclere, §il. p. 471.
¥ Altzema, vl 2 pp. 272, 274,

8 Altzema, vi, 3, pp- 297_q00,

i Ajteagpa, vi, £, p. 504,

¥ Alzems, vi, 8 07
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travel in the ports and places which the said “tates have and possess within
the district of the West India Company, therein being specially included
the places by the Portuguese from thie state taken and occupied, together
with those which the aforesaid States shall hereafter, without infraction
of the present treaty, come to acquire [verkrygen] and poesess, and fur
ther, in general, all other places which the Crown of Portugal or any
*00  *Portuguese, within the aforesaid district of the West India Com-
pany, now holds and possesses.” .

As everything points to the Estates of Zeeland or to their deputies in
the States-General as the most zealous promoters of the provisions of the
treaty touching the West Indies, this clear intimation that the Portuguese
possessions alone were in their thought in framing the questioned clauses
should be of use in the interpretation of the treaty.

But, on discussion of all these suggestions by the States-General,! in
the session of May 18, 1647, it seems to have been felt best to abide by
what had already been gained; and the articles were eventually ratified
without further change.

By this historical survey it has been made clear, I think, that the ques
tioned clause came originally from the West India Company itself or from
its sponsors; that, after sharp scrutiny, it was accepted by the Spanish
envoys precisely as it was submitted, save for a poesible (but, if actual,
most significant) change of ** acquérir " to ** conquérir;” that, in the minds
of its authors, it had reference only to posseesions of the Portuguese; but
that, already in the minds of the French diplomats, and possibly in the
intent of the Dulch plenipotentiaries, it was susceptible of ambiguous in-
terpretation. The points of most interest in this history will doubtless be
found the commments of the French envoys on the one hand and the sug-
gestions of the Zeeland Estates on the other.?

01 *4- Whal was the policy of the Duich as lo recognizing a right
of any other power lo lands still occupied only by natives ?

What was the feeling of the Estates of Zeeland has been shown above.
But it was notoriously the general attitude of the Dutch—especially after
their great publicist, Hugo Grotius, early in the seventeenth century, had
in his Mare liberum impugned the basis of Spanish and Portuguese claims.
More even than did other Europeans, they sought their title from the
natives themselves. Their relations with the aborigines of the Guiana
coast seem from the first to have been those of friendship and alliance:

! Altzema, vi, 2, pp. 317319,

* Postseript.—Bince submitting tbis report I have had opportanity, in the Dutch archives st The
Hague, Lo examine the original manuseript records of the MOnster nagotiailoss. But nelther In the six
thick volumes contalning the procke verbal of the Dutch envoys nor in the four contaloing the actios of
the States General relative to the treaty did my somewhat hurried searoh revesl anything of importance
Lo the Weat India question which was nol long ago printed by Alizema or by Leclere. For the correst-
nesa of thess scholars as to the data of chjef joterest to us | can, bowever, now vouch,




13

No. 1.

and, though no specific treaties bave been adduced, still less 18 there any-
where implication, in the acceasible Dutch sources, of a claim derived from
Spain. Of the relations of the Dutch with the Indians the Spaniards were
constantly complaining, and specific illustration is perhape unnecessary.

5. Was this provision of the irealy ever appealed to by the Dulch in
support of aggressions on territory claimed by the Spaniards?

Throughout the century and a half of their neighborhood in South
America—a period filled with reciprocal aggressions and complaints—I
have as vet found no instance of appeal to this clause of the treaty by the
Dutch. For the present purpose it may be enough to point out that no
snch instance is cited by the British Blue Books.!?

*Yet it may, of course, be replied that, while the Duich might *42
be unwilling, by urging such a claim, to admit Spanish rights over
unsettled territory, Spain might still be estopped by the clause from re-
senting their encroachments.

6. How have later hislorians and diplomafials inlerpreted this clausef

In the multitude of authorities I have consulted I have found as yet no
other interpretation than that it refers to Portuguese possessions. Most,
indeed, dismiss the article with a mere passing mention; and their evidence
can be counted, therefore, at best, but negative. Two, however, offer

something more.

! Posiscripl, —Having, since the submlssion of this report, mads search In the Dutch archives,
throngh the whole of the diplomatic correspondence betwesn Lhe Netherlaods and Bpain during this
peried, mod also throagh the papers of the Stales-(General and of the West India Company. [ am able to
affirm this posilion with much grester positivenesas. To other clauses of the trealy [ find the Datch ap-
pealing ; to this never. The Bpaniards, however, once appealed to I, and the case is a0 foteresiling one.
It was in 1888, The Bpanish smbassador laid before the Biates Geoeral (January 18, 1688) & complaiut
regarding as alleged project of csrtaln Dutchmen at Amsterdam and sisewbers Lo establish in Americs,
* in ibe nelghborhood of the great river of Darien." a * free port in the form of & new commonwealth."'
This region, claimed the ambassador, baloaged notoriously to the King bis master, and was in his posses.
whon ; wharefors  thla would be In direct viclation of Article ¥ of the Treaty of Peace ** of 1048, * which
trealy,” be adda, *' Is observed religicusly by both pariies.” Thersapon after six moalhs’ inquiry and
dellberstion, the States-Genersl roplied (July 27, 1888) that the projectors in question had in view noth.
ing which was contrury to the irealy, and would take oo sctios at all without the permission of the
States Geseral ; morsover, Lthat befors grasting this psrmission the Sistes-Geosral would find cut whether
the ruterprise were in aay way ln coaflict with Article V or any other article of the Treaty of Minster,
and In that case would wholly forbld it  Asd nothing more is heard of the project. (Ree, for the docu-
menls in Lhis spisode, vol. il of the report of the Commisalon, pp. 185-187)

Had the Imtch been disposed to lnvoke the Tresiy of Milsster against Bpsoish aggressions, they
sarely could have had no more templing cccasion than was given by the sssaulta on the Essequiblw posts

the lattor half of the eighteenth century. Yetl find neithor in the protesta of the West India Com-
paay and of the JiatesGeneral nor I the diplomatic correspondence with Spain any allosion to that
weaty, Owee, indeed (Baptember 3, 1754), the goversor of the Emequibo colony saked the Company if
the boandary betwoen Holland snd Spals in Guiaos wers not regulated by the Treaty of Minster; but
they wers obliged Lo reply (Jaonary 4, 1755) that neither in thet treaty nor io any other could they find

sayihing aboat it
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Jacques Basnage, theologian and historian, was one of the foremost
trained diplomatists of Holland in the early eighteenth century. His share
was large in the negotiation of the Treaty of Utrecht, which re-
*93  affirmed the provisions of the Treaty of *Munster. Just at the close
of his life he published at The Hague his huge Annals of the Uniled
Provinces, and in it he subjects the Treaty of Miinster to careful analysis.’
“ By the third article,” he says, *‘ each was to preserve its property.” And
then, a little after, speaking of the fifth, ** The same thing was to hold in the
Indies, both East and West. And included therein were the towns which
the States-General had taken in Brazil from the Portuguese since 1641; or
which they should take in future " [La méme chose devoil s'observer awx
Indes tant Ortentales gu' Occigentales. Ef on y comprenott les Villes que
les Etats-Générauz avoienl ocupés [sic] au Brésil sur les Portugais depnis
Pan 1641; ou gu'ils ocuperoient [sic] @ Pavenir]. The error as to the con-
dition of things in Brazil is palpable; but the interpretation of the treaty
is none the less clear.
And the Comte de Garden, perhaps the best known of the general his-
torians of diplomacy, in his General History of Treaties of Peace, writes:?

‘.EI{ this Article [V] Spain abandoned to the Duaich all the conquests
which they had made over the Portu E:EE«B in the different parts of the world
while Portugal was a province of the Spanish monarchy. This sacrifice
was not great on the part of the Spaniards; since 1640 they had vainly been
striving to subject Portugal, and they could consequently flatter themselves
little with the hope of recovering these distant possessions. So thv made
no difficulty about ceding also to the Dutch, by this same Article V, their
rights to all the forts and places which the Portuguese had taken from them,

since 1641, in Brazil, and likewise also to the forts and places which the
" Dutch could conquer thereafter without infringing the present treaty--
that is to say. which they could conquer from the Portuguese in the Indies
and in America” [®* * * “de méme que sur les lienr el places que les
Hollandais pourraient conquérir dans la suite, sans infraction au présent
traité, c'est-d-dire qu'ils pourraient conquérir sur les Portugars, awr Indes
el en Amérique "),

*04 * Postseripl.—1 am happy to be able to add what amounts to an

official Spanish exposition of this article of the treaty of Miinster.
When, toward the close of the eighteenth century, Spain grew impatient
of the fetters put upon her trade in the East Indies by the clause of this
article forbidding her ** to go further,” and when her efforts on behalf of
her Philippine Company were met by protest from the Netherlands, she
tried to stir Dutch generosity by pointing out in detail the greatness of
her own concessions in this treaty. Thus argue the Spanish diplomatists

in their memorial transmitted to the Dutch States.-(General on Decem-
ber 4, 1786:

-

! Hasnage, Annales des Provinces [nies (La Haye, 1728), vol. i, p. 102,
¥ Garden, Misloire gendrale des Traitcs de Paix, wol, i, pp. 168, 169,
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** The condition of affairs in the two Indies, and especially in the East,
when the negotiations for the Peace of Westphalia were begun, was as fol-
lows: The Datch wished by that Treaty to retain not only all the conquests
th? had made in the Indies, but even, with the help of Spain, to obtain
and secure a right to the reconquest of what had been conguered from
them under the new Portuguese Government. In point of fact Spain alone,
by reason of her rights to the Crown of Portagal, could have a nght to the
conquests belonging to that crown in the East and West Indies; and hence
it was Spain which could concede these to the States-General of the United
Provinces. Inspired by that aim, the Dutch plenipotentiary sought, in the
negotiations which preceded the Tmati of Westphalia, or Mlinster, to win
over the Spanish plenipotentiaries to the e iting of the Peace, cajoling
them with the plgi that the Portuguese, if attacked in the Indies by the
subjects of the United Netherlands, would be the less able to defend them-
selves in the Spanish peninsula, and thereby the conquest of Portugal
would be the easier for Spain.

‘““ France, which on the one hand had supported the revolt and inde-
pendence of the Netherlanders, and on the other hand had aided and abetted
that of the Portuguese, was startled by the negotiations carried on between
the Dutch and Spanish envoys. France and Holland had agreed not to
make peace the one without the other; but the French plenipotentiary, the
Comte d’Avaux, found out that the Dutch deputies had almost completed
their Treaty, and they confessed to him that the three points which had
remained unsettled were nearly mmnsgad.

The first of these points was that Spain should resirict her limits
in *the Fast Indies to those which she then possessed, conceding or *95
leaving to the Dutch the conquests in all the remainder; and out of
this arose the alienation of the French plenipotentiary.”

The Spanish memorial then quotes in full the significant passage from
the letter to Mazarin,! and resumes its argument thus:

‘** From this passage it 18 very clearly to be seen that the sole object and
thought of Holland in the Congress of Miinster, as regards the East Indies,
was to obtain from Spain an agreement not to extend her limits there; fo re-
strict herself lo what she then occupied and o leave to the Dulch the con-

ests which they might be able to win from the Portuguese, without

ought of forbidding the Spaniards to carry on their trade by whatever
ronte might suit them. This same object is that which appears with the
utmost clearness in Article V of the Treaty of Miinster. . . .

*The second point agreed on was that Spain and the States General
should remain in possession of what they respectively occupied at the time
of the treaty in both the East and the West Indies, as also in Brazil and on
the coasts of Asia, Africa and America; this point follows literally the pro-
vision in Articles Il and 1V of the truce of 1609 and in the instructions of the
Spanish plenipotentiaries. The third point was that the States-General
should preserve their possession and rights as to the forts and places
which the Portuguese had taken fromn them since the year 1641, as also to
the forts and places which the said States shall come to conquer there bere-
after [ Uegassen a conquistar de alli adelante’] without infraction of the
presen! Trealy. This exorbitant concession made by Spain to Holland was
that which the [French| plenipotentiaries in the Congress of Miinster com-

— o — — o —— ——— o — ——

! Prinled on pp. *86. *87. above.
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Elvain-ad of, as we have quoted in the words of the historian of the Peace of
estphalia; but it is to be noted that, according to this same Article V,
the navigation, traffic, possession, and rights of congquest conceded to the
States-General must be withou! infraction of the t Treaty, which 1s
the same as to say that they must not conflict with the navigation, traffic,
posseseion, and rights reserved likewise to Spain in both the Indies and on
the coasts of Africa, Asia, and America. . . . Spain was to retain by this

article all that she possessed on the coasts of Asia, Africa and
*96  America, and all the rights which on these coasts have *pertained

or do pertain to the Crown, except what was taken and um::ﬁd
by the Portuguese from the States-General. . . . The Dutch ;;lani n-

tiaries strenuously urﬁd thf}dparmnuent sanction, by a treaty framed for
the navigation of the East and West Indies, of what Spain and Portugal
had, up to the temporary concession in the Truce of 1609, refused and
opposed, obtaining at Milnster the enormous concession that they should
acquire as their own their new conquests, receiving under certain circum-
stances those made by Spain.” ['‘ obfentendo en Munsfer la condecenden-

cia exorbitunte de que iriessen privalivamente las Nuevas Conguistas
dexando las ﬁﬂchuf a mm en ﬂ:l'ea circunstancias.” |

Grave are these concessions, and significant the quotation, without a
word of protest, of that comment of the French envoys' which puts the
widest interpretation upon this clause of the Treaty of Miinster; but it is
still clear that, even as a basis for an appeal to Dutch genernsity, the Span-
lards are not themselves disposed to accord it so broad a meaning. An-

awer from the Dutch side to this document there is none to be found in the
records. ?

It seems fair, then, to conclude that:

1. It is improbable that, in the intent of its framers and its ratifiers, the
Treaty of Milnster conceded to the Dutch a right to win from the natives
lands claimed by Spain.

2. It does not appear that it was ever interpreted in this sense by either
Spain or the Dutch.

(Georce L. BUre.
W asHINGTON, April, 1896,

! Bee page *B7 above,

* The Spanish criginal of this memorial, as transmitted by the Dutch smbassador st Madrid, may
be found in the Dutch Rijksarchisl at the Hague among the diplomatic correspondence of Pagel, Becre-
tary of the States.Geoeral, in the volome macked * Spanje - Secrefe Brisven, 1758-1788."" A Dutch
translation of the whole document, but without the Bpanish origical, may be found printed in the
Becrele Resolutien of the Estates of Holland, under January 19, 1787, The clausss ilalicized la the
translation above glven are, of course, thus italicized in the manuveript.
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*Report as to the Territorial Rights of the Dutch West India Com- #gg
pany.

By Gmomow Lowoorw Boma.

In the course of the controversy over the Guiana boundary it has been
alleged (1) that the charters of the Dutch West India Company named
the river Orinoco as one of the limits of its grant, and (2) that within the
limits of the grant these charters gave territorial jurisdiction.

Thus the British Blue Book ** Venesuela No. 1”7 states (p. 5):

In 1621 the Charter of the Dutch West India Company was granted by
the States-General. . . . This Charter, reaffirmed in 1637, gave the
Orinoco as the limit of the Company’s territorial jurisdiction,

And again (p. 7):
After the Treaty of Miinster, fresh regulations were again issued by the

States-General to the Dutch West India Company, in which the Orinoco
is again treated as the limit of its jurisdiction,

And yel again (p. 8):

In 1874 the Charter of the West India Company was renewed, and
in the preamble the Colonies of uibo and Pomeroon were enumer-
Etgd, the limit of the Company’s jurisdiction being still fixed at the river

rinoco.

*To determine the grounds for these statements, and to learn *100

what more in the grants to the Company might be pertinent to this

question, I have, at the request of the Commission, made a careful study
of the charters of the Company and of all the legislation of the States-
General in its behalf, so far as printed in the great official collection of the

States-General's acts.?

i The (rool Placaal-Bosk, This Is the ooe souree cited by the English Bloe Book (save thal, for
the charter of 1674, it names only the " Nederl. Joer-Boek *' of 1780} The copy I have ored of the
Prool Placaat- Boek Is that In the Astor Library, printed at The Hagoe, by the publle printer, st loter.
vals from 1858 to 1748, and breaking off with Velame VI, at the year 1740, These volumes contain the
legislation of the StatesGenersl from the beginning, together with many earlier documents (from 1097
oa) beering oa the bistory of the Netherlands, and they inclode the most importast asta of the pro.
vincial Estates of Hollsod and of Zeeland, s well as those of the Biales General—thoagh, alas, not the
eotire legialation of any of these bodies. The work is very fully indexed; but 1 have not trusted the
index alome,

Bince completing this paper I bave studied at Albsay (io the State Library) the remainder of
this series 8o 1784, together with a foll sot of the printed minutes of the Estates of Holland; and at
The Hagus and in Middelburg have been able to consult the manuscript origisals of these records. |
bare found, however, to supplement or modify the conclusions of thls paper, nothing of lmportance.
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I AS TO LIMITS.

The Company received its first charter on June 3, 1621. This charter
consists of forty-five articles. The only specification of limits is in Article
I, whereby all outside the Company are prohibited from travel and trade
(** te varen, ofle negoliernen, ofte eenigerhande traffijcq te drijven ™) to the
coasts and landa of Africa, from the Tropic of Cancer to the Cape of
Good Hope, or furthermore, to the lands of America, beginning from the
south end of Newfoundland through the straits of Magellan, Le Maire,

or other straits and passages lying thereabout, to the Straits of An
*101 Jan [corresponding to our Bering Strait],? whether *to the North

Sea or to the Sounth Sea, or to any of the islands on the one
side or on the other or lying between the two; or, moreover, to the Austra-
lian and southern lands, stretching and lying between the meridians of the
Cape of Good Hope on the east, and on the west the east end of New
Guinea, inclusive,”?

It will be seen that there is here no mention of the Orinoco, nor in-
deed of any other American limit between Newfoundland on the one coast
and Bering Strait on the other. The charter was meant, that is, to in-
clude the entire coast of America,

Six days later, on June 9, 1621, there was again issued, by itself, this
edict of prohibition,* the specification of limits being couched in precisely
the sgame terms as in the charter. On June 10, 1622, the salt trade within
the Company’s limits, which had not at first been included in their monop-
oly,* was added to it; but the limits are themselves not specified, save by
reference to the earlier documents. The main objective point of this salt
trade was beyond the Orinoco—at Punta de Araya, near Cumani.* On
November 26, 1622, these prohibitions of June 9, 1621, and June 10, 1622,
had to be renewed; but the territorial limits are not again specified.

On February 13, 1623, the charter was slightly amplified;* but

*102 there was no change of limits, and therefore no mention *of these.
Nor were they mentioned in the prohibition of May 24, 1624, which
forbade emigration or transport of emigrants save through the Company.

! Strictly speaking, the Sirait of An Jan is pot laid down on the old mape st the same point as
our Bering Strail; but that is only becanse the noribern Paclfic was unknown. As It was the strail
supposed to divide America from Asla, It exactly colocides with Bering Strait as a limit.

¥ Grool Placoal. Bodk, vol. |, cols. 585-878. Cf. Aitzema, Saken van Stuel en Oorlogh, vol. i, pp. 82-
88, where the charter is also printed in full; as also in Tjassens, Zee Politie ("s Gravenhage, 1870), pp.
808817,

Y Groot Placost-Boek, |, cola. 877-8580. There is in the Library of Congress an official conlemporary
impression of this Flacaat ("' in's Gravenhage, by Hillebrant Incobssz,” 1621). It in from Lhis that T have
transeribed Lhe extract above.

4 @roct Placaad-Bosk, 1, cola, 879-882. It in prioted also by Altzems, i, pp. 68, 67, and in part by

* @rool Placaal- Boek, 1, cols. 381584,

* Grool Placaal-Boek, i, cols. 885-588, Also in Altzema, i, p. 67, and io Tjasssns, pp. 318, 310,

' Groof Placaal- Bosk, |, cols. 898-598,
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And the form of government promulgated on October 13, 1629,1 for the
territorial acquisitions of the Company is equally without definition of limits,

In thinking the charter “ reaffirmed in 1637,” the English Blne Book is
in error, Granted for twenty-four years, it did not expire till 1845. Even
then it was not at once remewed, for its friends sought strenuously the
consolidation of the West India Company with the East, whose charter
had also just run out.? It was not until July 4, 1647, that the States-Gen.
eral promulgated the intelligence that on March 20 preceding they had pro-
longed for another quarter-century the charter of the West India Company.
The limits were unchanged, and are not restated. When at the end of
1671 the charter again expired,® it was thrice renewed for periods of eight
months at a time, pending discussion, and naturally without any mention
of territorial limits.

The fate of the old Company had long been sealed, and on September 20,
1674 the States-General created by charter an entirely new one.* Its terri-
torial limits were vastly narrower; ‘* To wit, that within the period of this
carrent century, and thereafter to the year 1700,* inclusive, no native or
subject of these lands shall, otherwise than in the name of this United
Company, be at liberty to sail or trade to the coasts and lands
*of Africa, reckoning from the Tropic of Cancer to the latitude of *103
thirty degrees south of the Equator, including all the islanda in that
district lying on the aforesaid coasts, and especially tho islands St. Thomas,
Annebon, Isle de Principe, and Fernando Polo, together with the places
[ plaetsen] of Essequibo and Pomercon, lying on the continent of America,
and also the islands Curacan, Aruba, and Buonaire™ ( . . . ‘‘madis.
gadirs de plaetsen van Isekebe ende Bauwmerona aen hef vaste Landl van
America gelegen, als mede de Eylanden Curagao, Aruba ende Buonaire™),
And that is all. Elsewhere in the old domain anybody might now trade.®

b Grool thnrm-t_-:l eola. 12801848, S

® Grool Placasl- Bock, |. Also In Altsems, and In Tjeasens, pp. 857, 338,

¥ December ¥4, 1871 ; August 27, 1873 ; March 80, 1871, Bes the Grool Placaal- Bosk, I, pp. 1329, 1830,

4 @rool Placaul- Boek, iil, pp. 1831-1343. The oficial contemporsry impression of The Hague, 1874,
iw in the Library of Congress, snd it is that which I here iranseribe,

* The worthy legislalors evidently cvanted the yoar 1700 a part of the pext cenlary.

¢ Postscripl. — This charter had been long in process of crestion. As early as June 7, 16849, it was
sader discussion in the proviscial sstates of Hollsad, the limits thes saggesiad being precissly thoss
later adopted. Oa Apeil 2, 1874, this proviaclal body sabmitied Lo the BlatesGeneral another drall, in
which to the two places oo the Americas mainland, Emequibo sad Momeroon, was added New Nother.

land { which the Amsterdamers still boped to regsln from the English), and also a provision that the new
West India Company might relailn “ snch farther places and distriets on the Amerieas mainland s it
should Lake sctaal possession of by the creation of forta, warehousss, or established Lrade ' (" ende da
verders plodsen onde districlen cen hel vaste Land van America gelegn, dewecke inds Oclroye aende
wvoorgaende Wesl Ind* Oomp' verqual ends mede onder denseloem Limilen gecomprehendeeri geweest wyn,
voor 80 vesl dese nisiwe Cenerals Wesl Ind* Comp* vands voorgencemds verdere plasisen ende dimtriclen

dadelycks possessie door hel maken van forien, Logien ofte gestabllicerden handd, komi le nemen, en le
behowden ). Bat, in the now draft rubmitted by the Estates of Hullind on Aogust 18, 1674, this lo.

mmﬂiuhdw#m In those serlier forme, 0o more than in the Goished
charter, is thers the slightest mentlon of the Oriooos. (See the printed mioutes of Lhe Holland Eatsics
and the masuscript records of the States General at The Hague)
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On November 30, 1700, this charter was renewed for thirty years more
(to date from January 1, 1701), without change or restatement of limits;
and again, on August 8, 1730, for another thirty years (to date from
January 1, 1731), still without change or restatement.? At theend of 1780

it was again renewed for a single year withoat change of limits, and
*104 on *January 1, 1762, for thirty years more, expiring with the dis-
solution of the company at the close of the year 1791.%

It is thus clear that, from beginning to end of its existence, the char-
ters of the Dutch West India Company never named the Orinoco as its
limit. Yet in the renewal of 1700 there is a mention of that river which
is at least of interest. Differing rates of toll had been established for
cargoes to ‘* New Netherland,” to *'the West Indies,” and to ‘*other
places of America;"* and now, " for the better elucidation of the aforesaid
charter,” the States.General ** further explains” ‘' that under the name
of New Netherland” may be included “‘that part of North America which
streiches westward and southward from the south end of Newfoundland
to the Cape of Florida,” while ** under the name of West Indies are under-
stood the coasts and lands from the Cape of Florida to the river Orinoco,
together with the Curagao Islands,” and that by the phrase ‘ the other
places of America” (*'de verdere plaetsen van America™), whether, *“in
the oldest or the preceding charter,” * are denoted all the Caribbean islands
—Cuba, Jamaica, Hispaniola, and Puerto Rico included—together with
all the coasts and lands from the River Orinoco aforesaid, through the
straits of Magellan, Le Maire, or other straits and passages thereabouts, to
the straits of Anjan,” ete.

It will hardly be cluimed that the Orinoco is hereby made a boundary
of the colony of Essequibo, for this would carry the other frontier to Ber-
ing Strait. And somewhat the same difficulty is offered by those enact-

ments of the fourth and fifth decades of the seventeenth century, in
*105 which alone in all the *legislation of the States-General I have else

found a mention of the Orinoco. It is one of these—that of 1637—
which the English Blue Book® has in its text taken for a reaffirmation of
the charter; and it is part of another which, by some confusion, it has re-
printed in its appendix,® 3

The circumstances of these enactments seem to have been as follows:
The policy of carrying the war with Spain into America had proved so
popular, especially after the Dutch successes in Brazil and the capture of
the Spanish silver fleet in 1625, that in 1632 it was found necessary to put

! Grool Placaatl.Bovk, ’Iv pp-. 1883, 1884,
¥ Grool Placaat-Bock, i, pp. 1401-1407.

*1 follow the contemporary official impression of this = Nader prolongalic van hel Oclroy
Hague, 1781)  Hartalock, Beschryving van Guiana, §, p. 218, and Netacher, Geschladents van de Enhliu.
p. B3, nole, are both slightly la error as to these dates.

! Groot Placaai-Boek, vi, pp. 1401-1407.

* Blus Book, p. 8.

* Blue Book,"p. 8.
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some restrictions on the privateers.! At any rate, on May 14 of that year
the States-General issued an enactment that for the space of one year (to
the end of May, 1683) no armed ships '‘ ghall be free to sail to the coast of
Africa, Brazil, or New Netherland, or elsewhere where the Company may
have trade [daer de Compagnie Negotie soude mogen hebben], on any ac-
count whatsoever, nor under any pretext that may be urged - lack of pro-
visions, fresh water, or whatever else —on pain of the penalties prescribed in
the charter against those who violate it:* Yet shall the aforesaid ships prior
to the date above named of the last of May, 1633, be free to sail to the West
Indies, to wit, the river Orinoco, westward along the coast of Cartagena,?
Puerto Bello, Honduras, Campeachy, the Gulf of Mexico, and the

coast of Florida, together with all the islands lying within *these *10¢
limits, in order there to carry on all manner of warfare, by sea and

by land, against the King of Spain, his subjects and allies."

A month or so after the expiration of this prohibition, on July 15, 1633,
it was renewed,* this time without restriction as to period, but with a
notable change as to territory. Brazil is added to the permitted lands,
while the clause defining *on any account whatsoever ” (from *‘ nor under
any pretext ” to '* prescribed in the charter against those who violate it ™
—*“noch” to *‘ gestatueert”) i8 stricken out. Ships of war were now,
therefore, prohibited only from sailing *' to the cousts of Africa, or New
Netherland, or elsewhere where the Company may have trade,” but may
sail “to the coasts of Brazil; likewise into the West Indies, to wit, the
river Oronoco westward along the coast of Cartagena, Puerto Bello, Hon-
duras, Campeachy, the Gulf of Mexico, and the coast of Florida,"® ete.

It is this enactment of 1683 which is printed in part in the English Blue
Book"* as '* Regulations for the Dulch West India Company,” and with the
appended note that *‘ there are some minute verbal alterations, not affect-
ing the sense, between the text of 1632 and that of 1633.” It has been
pointed out that the regulations are not for the Company, but for the
“armed ships” of others; and I think it will appear that the transfer of
Brazil from the prohibited coasts of the one edict to the permitted coasts
of the other aflects the sense at least enough to make it clear that the
Orinoco i8 mot meant as a limit of the Company's jurisdiction—for
Brazil, in 1633 as in 1632, was the most highly valued and the most

! Grost Placaal-Bosk, |, cola. 590-803, and especially the note, sod Altzema, §, pp. 87-69. [t calls
laall: * Ordre ende Raplemen! . . . waar op ende waer naer alle gemonteerde schepen wpl dese respective
Provinfles rullen vermoghen fs varen in seecker ghadeelle ran de [imilen van 't Dolroy van de Wesl Indische

1= O geenderly ooreaecks, noch onder wal prelexd sulckes soude mogen geschieden, " ay van vervalien
s sjm, fondle vam Vieres, verach Waler of andersinls, op de penen inden Oclroye legens de (ontravenbrurs
van dien pestatuserd."’

V= Noar Wesl-Indiea, la welen da Riviere Oronoogus, Westwaeris langhs de Kusie van Chrfagens. ™

' Oroed Placast Bosk, |, cola. 599-802. Cf. Altsema, I, pp. 47-89, and Tjasscos, pp. 319-323.

*The Dutoh taxi may be found on p. 88 of the Eaglish Blue Book.

! Blse Book, p. 55,
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tenaciously held of all the Company's possessions. It is not as a
*107 limit of *the West India Company, but as the first term in a defini-
tion of the West Indies, that the name of the Orinoco occurs; and a
glance at the maps will show with what perfect geographical fitness, for
the mouth of this river is precisely the point where the long line of the
Caribbean islands, terminating in Trinidad, reaches the coast. And surely
there are other reasons, besides those of boundary, which could make such
a landmark as the great mouth of the Orinoco, beyond which to the east
there were in any case by common confession no Spanish settlements, a
wige limit for shipe of war. It is, alas, not quite certain, as the Guiana
coast i8 not mentioned either among thosee prohibited or those permitted,
that it is not in both enactments included under ** the coasts of Brazil.”
Much more susceptible of the interpretation here urged by the English
Blue Book would seem another statute of the States-General, enacted in
1685 and renewed in 1637.* On January 6, 16835, ** by advice and delibera-
tion of the Directors ” of the Weet India Company, the States threw open
to all subjects of the United Provinces the trade in ** wood, tobacco, cattle,
and all kinds of wares or merchandise in certain parts of the limits of the
charter of the said Company,” namely: . . . ‘ The ships of the afore-
said subjects shall be free to sail to the West Indies: To wit, the river
Orinoco, westward along the coast of Cartagena, Puerto Bello, Honduras,
Campeachy, the Gulf of Mexico, and the coast of Florida, together with
all the islands lying within these limits, but they shall on no account what-
soever be free to sail to the coast of Africa, nor to New Netherland, or
elsewhere where the said Company has trade.” . .
*108 And on October 16, 1687, this edict was renewed ml.huut *change
of terms.? In both enu:tmenta Brazil is entirely iguored; but on April
29, 1638, the trade of Brazil was thrown open by a separate ordinance, which
was supplemented by others of August 10, 1648, and December 11, 1649.*
In these the phrase of territorial description is ** to the city Olinda de Per-
nambuco, and the coasts of Brazil " (** op de Stadt (linda de Parnambuco,
ende Kusten van Brazil"); and the ** Wild Coast,” as the Dutch called the
coast of Guiana, isa nowhere mentioned.
Now, here at last we have the Orinoco named in such way as to suggest
a limit of monopoly. But a more careful inspection shows that it is as the
first Spanish point, not as the last Dutch one, that it is named. Itis to be
the beginning of free trade, but may nevertheless lie somewhat beyond the
last port closed by monopoly. And what was restricted by theso enact.
ments was not the territorial authority of the Company, which every-

—

! Groot Plocoat-Boek, |, cols. 807-810, There Ia in the Library of Congress s contemporary official
irapressive of this Plaklast,

* Grool Placaal-Boek, |, cola, 807-810. Tt ia the text of the renewal which s followed by the Pia.
caal- Boek, the variations of that of 1835 beiag polnted out o & sote. Tt Is prioted also by Alteema, i, p.
89, and by Tjssssens, p. —,

¥ Groof Placaal-Bock, |, cols. 808_g13, 815418,
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where, as in Brazil, for example, remained on precisely the same fooling
and with the same limits as ever, but solely ite monopoly of trade.!

On August 10, 1648, the States-General issued yet another of these reg-
ulations as to trade. It was not, as might poesibly be inferred from its
date, an outcome of the Treaty of Miinster. 'The territorial limits of this
particular restriction were adopted by the West India Company itself as
early as October 14, 1645, after much discussion as to the best interests of
trade, and were submitted on April 8, 1647, in precisely this form to
the States-General, in the report of the committee on *the reform of *109
the West India Company.? It is clear at a glance that what
i8 here thrown open to free trade is again the Spanish coasts of the Carib-
bean and the Gulf, and that the Orinoco serves as a point of departure for
these, while what is reserved to the Company is the entire remaining coast
of America, with that of West Africa. Were this a territorial claim, it
would imply Dutch ownership of all America and Africa. Itisin fact a
trade restriction implying in itself no territorial claima whatever, though
territorial possessions doubtless had their share in determining this restric-
tion of trade. As originally drawn in 1645, and as submitted to the
States-General in 1647, what was permitted by the regulation was not
primarily trade, but ** to attack or injure the enemy,” and it was explicitly
set forth that *' it is not intended to license the ship or ships . . . merely
to trade in or carry timber, salt, tobacco or cotton, and all other wares,
: but it is also designed to commit offensively and defensively every
hostility and damage on the King of Castile’s subjects.” Bat, the peace
with Spain having intervened, in 1648 it was enacted without these aggres-
sive clauses, but without change as Lo territorial limits.

As the new and final charter of 1674 granted the new Company formed
by it nothing else on the American mainland than “‘the places of Esse-
quibo and Pomeroon,” the Orinoco could bardly again come into question,
even as a trade limit, unlees the Orinoco were counted the boundary of
Pomercon. That it was so counted never appears in the legislation of the
States-General, and seems expressly precluded by the terms (** the territory
of the State, extending . . . to beyond the river Waini, not far
from the mouth of the river Orinoco™) *of the remonstrance ad- *110
dreasaed by the States-General to Spain in 1769,

There result, then, from this review of the legislation of the States.
General the conclusions:

1. That neither in any charter of the Dutch West India Company, nor
in any “ reaffirmation ” or extension of any charter, is there mention of
the Orinoco as a limit.

2. That in none of the published legislation on behalf of that Company,

' Postscripl.—This has been prisied in the Blue Book * Venezuels No. 8" pp. 58, 08,
¥ This docomenti may be found in English translation la the first volome of the Documents relafive
io the colomial hislory of New Fork, pp. 218-248.
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is the Orinoco made a boundary of territorial right, possession, or juriadic-
tion,

8. That its second and final charter of 1674 seems to exelude the Orinoco
from the territorial possessions of the Company.

Il. AS TO JURISDICTION.

The original charter of the Dutch West India Company, in 1621, granted
in its second article:?

That, further, the aforesaid Company in our name and by our authority,
within the limits hereinbefore prescribed, shall have power to make
contracts, leagues, and alliances with the princes and nativea of the
lands therein comprised, as well as to build t any fortresses and de-
fenses, to [provide]* governors, troops and officers of justice, and for other
necessary services, for the preservation of the places, maintenance of
order, police, and justice. And, likewise, for the furtherance of trade,
to appoint, transfer, remove, or replace, as according to circumstances
they shall find proper. Furthermore, they may promote the set-
tlement of fruitful and uninhabited districts, and do everything that
the service of these lands* [and the] profit and increase of trade shall

demand. And they of the Company shall regularly communicate
*111 *with us, and shall report such contracts and alliances as they shall
have made with the aforesaid princes and nations, together with

th: conditions of the fortresses, defenses, and settlements by them under-
taken.*

The third article of the charter provides that the States-(General ghall
confirm and commission all governors, and that these, as also the vice-
governors, commanders, and officers, shall swear allegiance to the States
as well as to the Company.

By the fifth article the States promise to supply such troope as may be
necessary—these, however, to be paid by the Company.

Such are the provisions creating and limiting the territorial jurisdiction
of the West India Company. They were never changed. Eveninthe new
charter of 1674 these articles were copied outright, with but one or two
corrections in diction.?

m— _ —

' Groot Placaal- Boek, vol, 1, col. 587,

¥ This important verb Is omitted s the charter, aa printed In the Grool Placaal Bosk, o Altzems,
and in Tjassens—and so, perhape, in the original document; but it ls supplied, in the new charter of 1874,
s ~ genslellen."

* L o, the Netherlands, not the eulonies: ses Profsssor Jameson's discassion of this phrass in his
Wiliem Usseling, pp. 71, 78. The words, which are of copstant occurrence, always refer to the mother

* On August 27, 1648, st the requost of the Btates-General and by instroction of the Company,
“ Director de Laet delivered unto the assembly suthentie coples of such treatios, contracta, and capitols-
tiors sa ihe said West India Company bath made and coocluded with the kings, princes, and potentates
within the limits of their charter, 'Whereupon deliberation being had, it ls rescived and soncluded that
the aforessid suthentic coples be locked up and pressrved.” (Minutes of the Btates General, as tranalated
in Documaits m&mMMfﬁhafﬂﬂ Fork, |, pp. 258, 254.)

" In Article I1 * bagropen,” * comprised,” becomes gelapm * sitaated ;" the long word nootssscbelijaky,
" necessary.' yields to the shorter word moolelijeke, * needfal; ™ and the lacking verb ssmstallem ls sup-
plied. Articles IT and V are wholly unchanged.
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But as early as 1629 the States-General found it wise to prescribe more
definitely for the government of the new territories. On October 13 of
that year they issued an ‘‘ Order of Government,® both as to policy and as
to justice, in the places conquered and to conquer in the West Indies,” ex-
plaining that **it bas been made clear to us on behalf of the West India
Company that for the better direction of affairs it would be useful
and serviceable to the said Company that under our *authority there *113
should be enacted by the said chartered Company a definite system
of government, both as to policy and as to justice, in the place or places
(with God's help) to be conquered.”

The provision for the protection of the vested rights of **Spaniards,
Portuguese, and natives''-—the phrase occurs more than once —suggests
where these conquesis were to be made.

** The councilors,” says the fifteenth article, **shall further seek at every
opportunity to establish friendship, trade, and commerce with neighboring
and near-by lords and peoples, also alliances and compacts, to the damage
and enfeebling of the King of Spain, his subjects and allies, and to the best
furtherance of the common weal of the Company, making the aforesaid
treaties on behalf and in the name of the High and Mighty Lords the
States-General and of the West India Company; and shall, regarding all
theae, take first and forernoet the advice of the General and Governor.”
All property of the Jesuits, or of ‘' other convents or colleges of clergy, of
what order soever,” is to be seized and confiscated to the profit of the Com-
pany, just as if belonging to the King of Spain. The twenty-first article
provides for ** any places, within the limits, situate on the Continent or on
the adjoining islands " which may *‘come ko be conquered and possessed.”

Again, on April 26, 1634, the States-General, ‘‘ by advice and delibera-
tion of the Directors of the general chartered West India Company,” issued
an ** Order and Regulation "*—this time “ regarding the settlement and
cultivation of the lands and places by the aforesaid Company conquered in
Brazil.” In this they provide minutely for the government of all such
as shall go to dwell * within the limits of the lands and places
*conquered or yet to conquer in Brazil by the chartered West India *113
Company.”

Still again, on Aogust 23, 16836,* they further provided for the govern-
ment of the “ conquered captaincies, cities, forts, and places in Brazil;"
and yet again, on October 12, 1645, when the capstone was put on their
structure by the creation of *‘the Supreme Government in the lands of
Brazil already through God's blessing conquered, or yet to conquer.”

For the government of (tuiana, or of any of its colonies, no enactment

| Greot Flacaai Beak, vol. I, pp. 1586187,

* Greel Plecasi Bosk, vol. |, cola. #31-888, A sopy of & conlemporary impresslos of this sisiuis may
be seem in the Library of Congress,

* Grool Flacost- Bosk, vol. il, cole. 19471884,

4 Grool Plocoal Bosk, vol. B, sola. 13031948,
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of the States-General ia to be found. The control of its posseasions in this
quarter seems left wholly to the Company.! And in none of these enact-
ments of the States General, nor yet in any of the explicit codes issued by
the Company for the instruction of its servants,? have I found any provi-
gion for the trade outposts which play such a part in the colonial records
of Guiana, or any intimation as to the territorial claims involved in the
establishment of these.

It is, however, worth adding that when in 1665, in the controversy over
New Netherland, the British ambassador argued that the Wesat India
Company’s charter was more limited than the patents granted by the Eng-
lish King, the States-General replied that **that granted to the West India
Company is as ample as any which the King bath granted or can grant.
And the Company is expreasly authorized by the second article of its

charter to plant colonies, occupy lands, and furthermore, as fully
*114 and amply as apy patent from the King can extend, ®and such is
expressly declared under the Great Beal of the State.” *

From this survey of the charters of the Company and of the other legis-
lation of the States-General it appears, then, that the Dutch West India
Company was charged with ample territorial jurisdiction in all districta
which it should conquer or colonize within the limits of its charter. Bul
it does not appear that this territorial jurisdiction was made coextensive
with these limits, or that there was ever mention of the river Orinoco in
connection therewith.

But there further exist, among the acts of the States-General, certain
grants of territory on the Guiana coast, made by the West India Company
with the concurrence of the States or by the States at the instance of the
Company. It remains to ask what of territorial jurisdiction or boundary
may be specified or implied by these.

Thus, in 1889, the Dutch West India Company conceded to the German
Count of Hanau a strip 30 Dutch miles broad, which they bave been
quoted* as granting ‘‘ from their territory of Guayana, situated between
the river Orinoco and the river Amazons.” Unfortunately a careful study
of this grant, whose full text is given by the Dutch historian Hartsinck,®
and which is translated in full by Rodway and Watt,* the English histo-
rians of British Guiana, fails to find in the document any such clause as
that quoted.” The phrase actually used is, indeed, full of suggestion of

' Postscripl.—1 wm glad 1o add that the Company's provisioos for these may now be found Im my
rxtracts from Duoteh Archives, in Vol. 11 of the report of the Commission.

'Twumurnpuﬁq impressions of that lssoed with Lhe new charier of 1874 —that by the official
printer of the States-Genora] ("s Gravemhage, 1478) and that by 1he prioter of the Company lteell ot Mid-
delburg—are ln the Library of Congress.

' | owe to Professor Jumeson Lhe sugpestion of this Interesting passage.

* Blus Book * Veoasuels No. 1" p. 8.

* Hartsluck, Baschryving van Gulanas, vol. i, pp. 317-222

* Rodway and Wats, Annals of Guiana, vol. ii, pp. 5, 8.

" I bave sinoe studied the original in the Duteh srehives st The Hagus, bol without finding this
clanse or any Hie it
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another sort. Forthegrantreads: . . . “ A piece of land situated on
the Wild Coast of America, between the river Oronoque and the

river of the Amazons,” adding the condition, *‘ which His *Excel- *115
lency will be entitled to select, provided he keeps at least six Dutch

miles from other colonies there established or founded by the said chartered
West India Company or with its consent.” . . . (" een streeke Lands,
gelegen op de wilde Kust van America, tnsschen Rio d' Oronogue en Rio
de las Amazonas,” . . . ‘“mits blyvends len minsten zes Hollandsche
mylen van andere Colonien door de wvoornoemde geoclrojeerde Weslin-
dische Compagnie of mel hare permissie aldaar opgericht en geétab.
lisseert ™).

That the grant implies that the whole Wild Coast was counted by the
West India Company open to Dutch colonization can not be guestioued.
It seems to imply also that there were atill on that coast unoccupied
stretchea of 30 Dutch miles in breadth lying at least six miles distant from
the Dutch establishments of Surinam, Berbice, and Essequibo; and that
such a stretch might by the Dutch be granted outright, even to a foreigner.
But it does not assert an exclusive Dutch right to colonize that coast; and
it must in this connection be constantly remembered that throughout
most of this century the Governments of Great Britain and of France were
also freely granting patents of territory on the Guiana coast, and that there
has been found no record of the slightest Dutch protest against it. Great
Britain was, indeed, earlier in the field than the Dutch, the colonies of
Leigh and Harcourt antedating any known Dutch settlement on this coast,
and the patent to Harcourt covering the whole territory from the Amazon
to the Essequibo. It should be added that the colony of the Count of
Hanau was a flash in the pan, no attempt ever being made to establish it,

Among the published acts of the States-General I have as yet been able
to lay hand on only one other grant of territory in this region. Itisa
contemporary impression® of a **“ Charter from the High and Mighty *114
States-General relating to the Colony on the Wild Coast of America,
under the leadership of the Knight Balthazar Gerbier, Baron Douvily;
printed in the year of our Lord 1658.” It tells how, on November 15, 1658,
the States conceded to the baron? ** as Palroon the right toerect a colonyon
the continental Wild Coast of America, in the district of the charter granted
to the West India Company "(* * * * Dal den Heer Ridder Balthazar
(Gerbier Baron Douvily als Palroon sal mogen oprechten een Colonye in
West-Indien op de vaste wilde Cust van Amumﬂ, in 't distrikt van r

I A ecopy of this lmpressios s ln ihe l..-lhlrj' of Euumt At Warkingtoa, lhi‘u sinee r.tu&u-d 1.I.u-
erigiaal st The Hague.

¥ Gerbler, though & Dutehman, had spent most of hils Vife in English service as the frieod of Becking-
bam and of Charles [, to whom be owed his ttla. Balked In his career by the Puritan revalution, be
seems Dow Lo have bad it In mind o recew under Dulch auaplces the Wiaposo colony of the Engllshman
Hareomrt Thers |L waa, io the extrems sast of Gulana, that be attempted his sottement ; bot his snter-

pries cimme speadily Lo sanghl
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Octroy aen de West-Indische Compagnie verleent”). But neither in the
‘“ articles of liberties and exemptions,” granted him by the Company, nor
in the appended * advertisement” setting forth enthusiastically the
beauties of the new land, is there any other definition of its location and
limits than that it is to be “ on the continental Wild Coast of the West
Indies, of five miles in breadth, or along the seashore, and further so far
inland as shall by the colonists come to be cultivated on the Wild Coast in
America, with jurisdiction over the bays Jying within the colony, and half
|the jurisdiction over] the rivers on the two sides of the afurementioned
colony™ (. . . een Colonie fe moghen oprechien op de vaste Wilde Custe
van de West Indien van vijf mylen in de breele, ofte langhs den Zee-kant,
ende voorls so verre lantswaerts in als door de Coloniers sullen kunnen
werden geculitveert op de wilde Cusie in America, mel Iurisdiclie aen de
Bayen in de Colonie gelegen, ende de helft van de Reverien, aen beyde syden
van de voorn. Colonie).!
117 *From the terms of these grants may unquestionably be inferred
the assumption by the Dutch Government of a right to plant colonies,
either directly or through the West India Company, in the district known
as the Wild Coast. There is, however, in none of them anything to suggest
that this was counted exclusively a Dutch right; nor is there in them any
claim of soversignty over this coast as a whole.
I hope for much more from the unprinted records of the Company,?
which by your instructions I am to examine in Europe.

Respectfully submitted. GeorGE L. BUges.
WasninaTon, May, 1896,

! The sttampls st fresh colonles on the Cayenne and oo the Wispooo in 1878, and the charter granted
in 1880 to Jan Reeps, of Hoorn, Lo ereol a colony ™ on the west side of the river Amaszon, as far sa Lo
Cape Orangs," were not the affairs of the West India Company, whoss lerrilory now (sloce the new
charter of 1874} lncluded on the malnland caly Essequibo sad Fomercon. Thare ia ia the chartar of Besps
oo mention of & Duteh clalm to Gulans as & whole. (Bre Lthe mincles of the Stales-General March 4, May
49, June 3, 1088, and Janoary 7, 1889 ; the minules of the Eststes of Holland July 18, 1888; and the
charter and prospecios of the coloay, prioted st ihe Hague, 1880. A copy of the latier s In the Lescx
Library.)

* Postscripi—This hope was only partially justified, What [ found lo these documests may be

learoed from my report oo Lhe evidence of Dutch archives. Nothing In them invalldates the conclusions
reached above.



*Report on the evidenoe of Dutch archives as to European occupation *121
and claims in Western Guilana.

By Grosnsz Lowoors Buas.

To the Commission appoinied ' To investigale and report upon the frue
divisional line belween the Republic of Venerueln and British Guiana™;

Early in May, 17946, I had the honor to receive from you the following
instroctiona:
Washington, D. C., May 7, 1896,

DeAr Smm: For the satisfactory completion of the work of the Vene-
muelan Boundary Commission, it is found necessary to verily and supple-
ment the materals in its hands by researches in the archives and libraries
of the Netherlands. It is the Commission’s wish to intrust you with this
mission.

It seoms best that you proceed at once to The Hague, and there first
examine carefully the records and diplomatic correspondence of the States.
General from the time of the earliest Duich settlements on the coast of
Guiana to the final transfer to Great Britain of the colony of Essequibo,
seoking to learn what claims were at any time made to territory or juris-
diction on this coast, and especially what correspondence may ever bave
been had, as to boundaries or terrilorial aggreasions, with the Government
of Spain. Having completed this, you may then make similar research in
the records of the provincial Estates, especially in thoss of Zeeland, for such
dealings with h‘min or with the colonies as may bly throw some light
on territorial claims made by or for the latter in Guiana. This done,
all sccessible *of the Dutch West India Company, whether at *122
Amsterdam, Middelburg, or wherever now to be found, should be thor-
oughly looked into, with a view to ascertaining the exact location and
extent of its settlements and trading posts, the character of the territorial
claims based on these under its En.rlarﬂ, and the relations sustained by
them toward their Spanish neighbors. Should you have reason further to
beliave that there may be found in municipal archives, libraries, or private
collections, records, xfl:.nu or correspondence throwing light upon the
territorial limits or claims of the Dutch colonies in Guiana, these may also
be examined, 80 far as the courtesy of their custodians makes them
accessible to you.

The points to be kept :Podaﬂguin view in this research are:

1. The exact holdings of the Dutch upon the seacoast and the dates of
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their occupation or abandonment, with all evidence as to the existence and
location of trading posts, guardhouses, or other establishments, however
slight or temporary, west of the mouth of the river Moruca.

2. Whatever can be learned of the nature and extent of the trade car-
ried on, and of the control exercised, if any, by the Dutch in the whole
region north of the Sierra Imataca, between the mouth of the Moruca and
t&hnt utf the Orinoco, with any intimations of territorial claims in this

istrict.

8. The precise situation, nature, and duration of any Dutch posts estab-
lished in the valley of the river Cuyuni and its tributaries above the junc-
tion of that stream with the Mazaruni, with anything that can be learned
of Bpanish garrisons or missions in these parts or of the relations here
hetween Dutch and S];‘aniuh colonists or authorities.

4. Whatever can throw light upon the precise nature of the territorial
claims, as to junsdiction and boundaries, of the Dutch West India Com-
pany, and of its plantations, or upon the attitude of Spain or her colonial
authorities toward these. _

The Commission will be glad to receive prompt intelligence, by tele-
graph if the matter seem to you likely materially to icfluence its conclu-
gsions, of all important discoveries made by you; and will expect from time
to time detailed reports of your procedure and results. Suggestions as to
other promising channels of research it will at all times be willing to
receive and consider; and, should there seem to you serious risk in delay,
you are empowered to enter upon any such avenue of inquiry before re-

ceiving the formal sanction of the Commission,
*123 *In case, in the course of your investigations, you should find
documents or papers which you deem of sufficient importance to have
copied, you will have this done, ubtaining the certificate of the custodian,
wherever possible, as Lo the correctness of the copy, and in all cases making,
yourself, a comparison of the copy and the original,

Should you, in the course of your investigations, require the nssistance
of any clerks, mpriata, or stenographers, you are authorized to employ them
and to paly them for their services such compensation as may be reasonable
and usual in the places where they are so employed.

Very respectfully yours,
8. MALLET-PREVOST,

Professor GEoree L. Bure. ==l s

The mission thus intrusted to me has been accomplished. I have now
the honor to submit a final report of its method and its results.

l. METHOD.

In obedience to your instructions I sailed for Holland by the steamship
Werkendam on Saturday, May 9, 1806. Landing in Rotterdam on the
morning of May 22, I went at once to The Hague and entered on my
researches in the archives of the realm at that capital. As the details of
my procedure are already familiar to the Commission through my frequent
communications to ite secretary, it will be enough here to say that I was
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busied there until nearly the end of August. My research covered the
sources named by the instructions of the Commission—the records and
diplomatic correspondence of the States-General, the records of the pro-
vincial Estatea, the papers of the Dutch West India Company, and in-
cluoded, besides, many documents suggested by queetions arising in the
course of my work or laid before me by the ever-helpful archivists. The
papers of the West India Company, all now gathered in these central
archives, proved far more voluminous than I had expected, filling
many hundreds of volumes, *and I waa gratified to find that it was *124
in precisely that portion of them with which my study must deal that
least had been lost.!

It will give an idea of the extent of the task and may aid in the verifica-
tion of its results if I here subjoin a list, by catalogue numbers, * of the manu-
script volumes examined by me:

8 a7 88 111 208 342 380 473 4191

8 a8 h | 112 209 343 3581 474 405
10 349 92 113 300 344 38¢ 475 497
11 40 93 114 ao1 345 383 478 528
12 41 a4 142 302 346 384 479 524
13 42 95 163 303 Bas 3856 480 527
14 43 f6 167 304 369 482 481 528
15 44 U 169 318 370 483 482 531
22 45 98 170 334 871 44 483 533
25 46 99 171 335 378 485 454 54
28 50 104 172 336 avs 484 485 535
27 5l 106 173 aaT 374 467 458 538
28 52 107 174 338 378 468 487 537
20 53 108 175 339 377 470 488 538
30 54 109 176 340 378 471 489 530
38 55 110 188 341 879 479 400 540

1 The miming records whoss loss Lhers was most resson to deplore wers: (1) The minotes of the
proceedings of the Ninetesn (the supreme board of the Weet [odia Company under it first charter,
1621-1674) ; of thess only the first volome (1838-18634) remaina. (1) The sarliest volume (1823-1614) of
the minutes of the Zesland Chamber of the Company, and the volomes covering the pericd 1846-1837. ()
The minutes for oartain years of the proocedings of the Ten (the suprems board of Lhe Company under Ha
second charter, 1870-1791), namely, for 1718, ITE8, 1788, 17410, 1743, 1746, 1746, 1780, 1752, 1704, 1786,
1767, 1789, 1761, 1763, 1765, 1767, 1769, 1770, 1776, 1777, 1788, 1735, 1788, 1789: the archivist in
charge of the West Indla papers, thongh be had oftsn noticed these sirange lscune, could give mo ex.
plaaation of them. The lettars recelved by the Compsay from the Emequibo colony during the pericd
17661778, whose ioes threatened to be most serions of all, proved later to be intsot among the papers at
Loadon.

" Thess catalogoe nombers are liksly al no distant day to be replased by others, since a new cala.
logme ls in prospect. The old catalogue, bowever, will doablloss remals acomslble st the archives. The
titles of such of these volumes ss [ found of fruit Lo my ressarch will of course be found sttached to the
transoripts which I berewith sobmit. The Ume st my disposal doss mot warrani a classification and

description of them bere.
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*541 708 BO4 10384 1859 2119 2368 3077 3123
543 709 #08 1085 19066 2120 2860 8078 3183
568 800 813 1036 2006 2121 2370 3080 3124
570 801 216 1047 2007 2122 2389 3081 3135
504 RO4 017 1048 2008 2157 2390 3083 3133
596 806 B21 1049 2000 2158 2301 3083 3184
507 806 BB8 1051 2010 2183 2392 3084 3135
598 807 83p 10532 2012b 2238 2304 3085 3136
800 808 940 1053 2012¢ 2243 2345 3086 3187
801 809 B4l 1385 2012d 2255 2306 3087 3188
602 &10 944 1396 2013 2260 2307 3088 8149
620a Bl3a 945 1611 2014 2269 2388 3089 3143
620b B813b 946 1626 ¢ 2022 288T 2430c 3080 144
643 Bi8d 047 16261 2026 2313 2430 xc 80D1 3145
644 824 853 1627d 2080 2319 2430 xd 3092 3150
17 B4l 254 1907 2081 2820 2480 xx 8093
758 B42 D55 1916 2004 2321 2578 3094
759 B43 880 19172z 2099 2322 2579 3005
T Bid B66 1918 2100 2334 2580 3006
168 845 g67 1918 2109 2332 2581 3007
775 Bd6 968 1925 2110 2335 a 2624 3098
' R4 870 1933 2111 2336 2657 2101
T8 855 a7l 1947 2112 2854 2658 3102
79 B56 g2 1848 2113 2358 2658 3105
180 B59 o974 1853 2114 2359 20681 xax 3108
82 BE5 975 1954 2115 2863 2066 3107
785 801 1005 1955 2116 2385 2076 3108

- 706 p02 1023 1958 2117 2366 2080 3120

7 803 1028a 1858 2118 2367 3075 3121

All these numbered volumes belong to the papers of the Dutch West
India Company. To these must be added, therefore, the registers of the
States-General, of the Dutch Admiralties, and of the provincial Estates of
Holland and of Zeeland.! Added must be the diplomatic correspondence be-

tween Spain and Holland, in its three series—the letters of the Dutch
*128 *Ambassadors in Spain to the States-General, to the Secretary

(Griffier) of the States-General, and to the pensionary of Holland,
who discharged the functions of minister of foreign affairs. Added, too,
must be the records of the negotiations connected with the Peace of West-
phalia, the Peace of Utrecht, and the Peace of Amiens. Of sundry iso-
lated documents falling under neither of these classes, adequate description
will be found in the footnotes to the transcripts which 1 herewith submit,
or in those to the present report.

1 The minutes of the Holland aod the Zeeland Estates are scoossaible also in prist; but passages of
grave importance had Lo be verifisd by the manuseripta.
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In all my labors I received from the officials in charge of the archives
the most uogrudging colperation. Neither my large demands on the
working space of the reading room, nor the heavy labor of fetching the
hundreds of codices from remote upper chambers caused a word of com-
plaint. Documents and maps I was allowed to copy freely; and copyista
and photographers were kindly fonnd for me. At my shoulder, to aid in
difficult readings or to lend their experience in questions of interpretation,
were ever the patient and astute scholars in charge of the reading room,
and there was hardly a member of the staff to whom at one time or another
1 had not occasion to make appeal. To all these archivists, from highest
to lowest— to Jongheer Th. van Riemsdijk, the archivist in chief; to Mr.
Telting, the adjunct archivist in charge of the West India papers, and to
his colleague in charge of the East India papers, Mr. Heeres; to the com-
mies-chartermeester, Mr. Hingman, who was my guide to the diplomatic
papers and to the records of the States-General; to Mr. Morren, who aided
me in collation and who was the untiring purveyor of codices; to Messrs,
Ross and Van Oyen of the reading room, and to Mr. Caland, my assistant
in transcription; and to the janitors as well, who so cheerily fatched
and carried away—I owe alike a hearty gratitude which I ®*should *127
be sorry here not to record.' Nor should I by any means omit to
mention the generous aid given me in 80 many ways throughout my work
at The Hague by the foremost of all students of the history of the Dutch
colonies which now make up British Guiana, their historian, General P
M. Netscher.

In July I was joined by Dr. De Haan, of the Johns Hopkins University,
who in June, on his way to spend his vacation with his parents in Leeu-
warden, had offered his help in my work. Of this I was now glad to
avail myself, and from this time forward he took from my shoulders most
of the burden of collation and of translation. In August there joined me,
much to the pleasure and profit of my work, Mr. Coudert, of your own
nomber, who remained with me there for some weeks.

Toward the end of August my work had in its chronological progress
reached 1791, the date of the suppression of the West India Company. It
seemed wise to break off here for a visit to Zeeland, where in the pro-
vincial and municipal archives at Middelburg, and in the municipal archives
of Flushing and of Vere, I hoped, in view of the close relations of these
three Walcheren cities with the Guiana colonies, to gain fresh light,
especially upon their earlier history. This hope was disappointed. Arriv-
ing in Middelburg, I first addressed myself 1o the archives of the province
of Zeeland, where, in the absence of the archivist in chief, I was courteously
received by the commies-chartermeester., His assurance that none of the

L My obligations to Lhess scholars have not cessed with my return. Mr. Telling, sspecially, has

patisnily soswered & multitade of questions arising lo the digestion of my work; and Mr. Vas Oyes,
alded by Mr. Ross, has carried out for me coriain researches in the early papers ol the BistesGoneral

which | had been sable to bring Lo com pletion.
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papers of the Zeeland Chamber of the West India Company still lingered
here was but confirmation of what I had learned at The Hague. He
*198 could, however, put before me in the *original manuscript the
minutes of the Zeeland Estates, and, what was better, a voluminous
body of letters and documents, serving as piéces justificatives to these
minutes, from the sixteenth century onward. In these documents, which
are arranged in the chronological order of the minutes themeelves, I sought
diligently through those years in which any action of the Estates with re-
gard to Guiana gave me reason to hope for new light from this illustrative
matter. The search was, however, wholly without fruit. Nor could I
learn of the existence of anything else in the provincial archives likely to
throw light upon my problem.

In the same building with the provincial archives of Zeeland is also the
provincial library, and to this I now betook myself. The librarian, Mr.
Broekema, devoted himself to my service and put into my hands not only
certain printed books which I had hitherto sought in vain, but also several
manuscripts. Among the latter were the minutes and journals of the
“ Commercial Company of Middelburg trading within the limits of the
West India Company’s charter” from 1720 to 1781. [ was especially
gratified to find here also manuscript copies of the municipal records—the
minutes of the city councils—of both Middelburg and Vere. This made
unnecessary the visit I had planned to the municipal archives of these two
cities, for it was only these minutes I had hoped to consult there; and it
was the more welcome because I had reason to believe that at Vere the
archives of that ancient town were in some confusion. In none of the
booke and documents examined by me did I find, however, anything of
gerious value to my quest.

I should now have turned my steps toward Flushing, had I not learned
from the commies.chartermeester at Middelburg that in the English bom-

bardment of 1809 the town archives had been utterly destroyed.
*129 Effort has since been made, *indeed, to gather from private sources

what may partially supply their place; but in Middelburg there was
put in my hands a complete printed catalogue of these gleanings, and it
needed but a hasty turning of its pages to show that a journey thither
was needless. [ returned, therefore, to The Hague, not much wiser than
I came, but convinced that from Dutch provincial and municipal archives
in general there was little to hope.

Another quarter promised better fruit. During the course of my re.
search at The Hague there had been published by Great Britain the Blue
Book * Vepnezuela No. 3,” largely made up of extracts from Dutch records;
and of this Dutch portion an advance copy had, through the courtesy of
Her Majesty’s Government, been gince June in my hands. From this I
had learned, not more to my own surprise than to that of the archivista at
The Hague, that a very important portion of the papers received by the
Dutch West India Company from its colonies in (Guiana were in British
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hands, and must be sought in London. Thither, therefore, I now turned
myself, accompanied by Dr. De Haan.

Reaching London on September 3, and presenting myself at the
American Embassy, [ received the neceasary introduction to the officials of
Her Majesty’s Foreign Office. There I met a kindly reception and was
conducted to the Colonial Office, where, as soon as matters could be put in
readiness, the Dutch colonial papers, together with the maps of the Schom-
burgk boundary survey, which at the instance of the Commission I had
also asked to see, were laid before me and left to my free use. Regarding
the maps, which were outside of the scope of my original errand and hence
of the present paper, I have elsewlere reported to the Commission.

The Dutch documents (which, I was assured, are all that are now *in  *130
English hands of the Dutch records of the Essequibo colony) form a
single series of letters, with their inclosures, from the Colonial Govern-
ment to the Dutch West India Company. They are bound in vellam, in
thick quarto volumes, numbered consecutively from 456 to 504. Chrono.
logically they begin with the small body of letters from the revived colony
on the Pomercon (1686-1688). All the rest belong to the last century of
Dutch occupation, beginniog with the opening of the year 1700 and coming
down to the expiration of the West India Company at the close of 1741,
some documents being of even so late a date as March, 1792. The docu-
ments are, in nearly every case, originals, and with their inclosures form
a series much more complete than any now in the Dutch archives at The
Hague. It seems probable that with the transfer of the colony, in 1814,
the Dutch Government handed aver to the British its own best official set
of these colonial papers. That at least the earliest nine volumes once be-
longed to the Zeeland Chamber of the West India Company is clear from
their bearing its monogram on their covers; and it is probable from the
older numeration still visible on their backs that all did so.!

With these documents we were busy until nearly the end of Septem-
ber. The extracts printed by the Blue Baok were compared with their
originals and the Dutch text transcribed where there could be any doubt
as to the precise meaning of a passage. This, under my oversight, was
especially the task of Dr. De Haan, while I meanwhile examined the
documents *as a whole and transcribed or marked for transcription *131
such other passages as seemed to deserve the attention of the Com-
mission. Of the documents of Dutch origin printed in the Bloe Book there
remained a few whose originals, even in London, were inacceasible to us.
These were those drawn from the archives of British Guiana—extracts

1 This clder nomerstion, begionlag with No. 269, ends with 823, there being some lscunm and
slight varistions from the English order. There ia an old nameration by letters from A o XX, The
British pumbers are printed on red slips and pasted oo the volame. This. and the title " Colosial Ofcs
Trassmiesions * oo & similar red alip, are the coly mark of their present ownership exoept the stamp
beariog the words “ Fublle Record Office: Coloaial Office,” with which bindings asd pages alike sre

plestifully besprinkied.
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from the minutes of the old colonial councils of policy and of justice.
Such transcripts of the Dutch as had been transmitted from the colony
were freely shared with us; but a part of the extracts had been sent in
English translation only.®

Throughout our work at the Colonial Office all possible helpfulness was
shown us by those with whom we bad to do. For the courtesies of Sir
Thomas Sanderson, of the Hon. Francis Hyde Villiers, and of Mr. Reddan,
of the Foreign Office, and of Sir Robert Meade and Mr. C. Alexander Har-
ris, of the Colonial Office, I may especially express my thanks. Mr. Har-
ris was almost constantly at call, and facilitated much our work with the
documents. [ have also to thank him for transcripts generously furnished
me since the completion of my work in London.

During the stay in London I had also opportunity for research at the
British Museuin and at the Record Office, and here, too, received every
courtesy and aid from the scholars in charge.

On September 26, we returned to The Hague, and took up again our
work at the archives there. By the 20th of October 1 had brought down
my etudy to the close of the Dutch occupation in Guiana. Crossing that
night to England, and finding time next day for a little added research in

the British Museum, I sailed for America by the steamer Teufonic,
*132 boarding *it at Queenstown on Thursday, October 22, In the course

of the work at The Hague I had found occasion to make researches
in the Royal Library and in that of the Department of the Colonies as well
as in the archives, and had made several trips to Leyden for investigatiou
in the university library there. I could learn by inquiry of no private col-
lections from which I was likely o gain further materiale of importance;
and other research in the public archives and libraries of Holland I had
been led by what I found at The Hague and in Zeeland to count needless.?

Thie part of my report must not be closed without grateful recognition
of the helpful courtesies at The Hague of the American minister, Mr.
Quinby, and of his secretary, Mr. Rix, and at London, of our ambassador,
Mr. Bayard, and of Secretary Roosevelt.

With the transcripts, which were the material outcome of iny research

abroad, I reached Washington on October 28, I have now the honor to
lay them before you.?

! The passages which we were thus unable to verily were thoss In the Blue Book * Vesasuals No. 8™
bearing the numbers 78, 82, 86, 100, 107, 109, 119, 117, 123, 139, 147, 184,

¥ Une exception I musl make Lo this in favor of the private archives of the Btadbooders. These
archives of the House of Urange, pending the completion of the new bullding in whisch they are to be
housed and made scerssible to scholars are coly partially and with difficulty to be used ; and it was so
late in my work when I found mysell in need of aid from them that I grudged my waning time to the
uncertain attempt. For a single point which, bad it presented itself earlior, | should certainly have
sssayed a search among them, I may refer to & note in my report oo Maps from Oficial Bources (st page
160 of Vol. 111}

* These transoripis are printed in full, under the tite of * Extracts from Duich Archives,” in Vol.
11 of the Report of the Commisslon.
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“Il. RESULTS. *133

But what, you ask me, do these documents show? In answer, let me
take up, first, their testimony as to the earliest relations of the Dutch with
Guiapa;' then, in territorial order, what they show as to the Dutch in the
Essequibo, in the Pomeroon, in the Moruca, in the Waini, in the Barima,
in the Amacura, and in the great western branches of the Essequibo, the
Cuyuni and the Mazaruni; next, their evidence as to the history of Dutch
claims to boundary in these regions; and, in conclusion, what can be learmed
from these Dutch documents as to the settlements and claims of the
Spaniards. At your request I shall take also into account such concurrent
or conflicting evidence upon these points as is furnished by other historical
sources. To make clearer my results I submit also herewith a series of
historical maps, showing the progress of European occupation in the Ori-
noco- Essequibo region from the beginning of the acquaintance of the Dutch
with Guiana to the loss of their western colonies there.?

*I. GUIANA AND THE DUTCH. *154

-'—'—\,‘

The national existence of the Dutch began with the year 1570, In 1581
they formally renounced their allegiance to the King of Spain. Till then,
however rebellious, they had been his subjects. Such title as their explo-
ration or commerce could give was the King of Spain’s title. Even the
assertion of their independence brought with it no claim to lands outside
the Netherlands; nor is there reason to suppose that the Dutch yet dreamed
of such a claim.®* The King of Spain, indeed, was now their foe; and they
knew well that he was not King of Spain alone. That realm but gave him
his most familiar title. He was lord of Portugal as well, lord of the fairest

1 This Seld {and in part the othaers aleo) has already been dealt with by Professor Jameson's report
on Bpanish and Dutoh seltlement In Qulsna prior to 1848, The coocluslons reached by his study, based
on the pristed sources, are bul reinforced by my research among the documents, Yet, as thls research
bas broeght Into my hasds not unpeblished docaments caly, but also the manuseript originals of pristed
soaross, and thus enables me lo speak with greator fullosss or positivencsa on oearly svery poiot tooched
by him, it bas been thought wise to review the whole terrilory., [ shall, bowever, count It unnecessary
o do more than refer W Prolessor Jamason's paper for thaumors slaborate trestment of sundry phases of
the subject. [Bm U.B. Com. Report, Vol. |, pp. 87-80.]

* Thess maps are priated la Vol. 1V (stlas), as mape 5-18, A briel paper * On the Historical Maps,”
la Vol 111, gives s summary of the evidence on which they rest.

! In view of thess facts, 1 find repecially pussling a claim that “ the Duoloh sppear to bave besn the
first who, in the sarly part of the sixteenth contury, turnsd their stlsntion to Gulana ” (Blue Book * Vea-
erwela No. 1" p. 4); and, as & result of my ressarch, it is oot ssay to credit the statement in soy sanse.
In reply Lo & request for the svidence on which It rests, [ have learned of nothing definite sxcept only that
when in 1528 the Welsers of Angebarg, haviag recsived a grant from Charles the Fifth, lad their sxpedi-
tion to the Bpanish Main, their troop was made op of " Germans and Flemioge” But the Welssrs were
South Germans, thelr destination was not Gulans, and the “ Flemings " who st this dale were avsilable
for such an antarpriss were far more likely to hall from the grest towss of the popalous Southern Nother-
lsnds than from the provinoss psopled by the Dutch. Of relations of the Dutch with Gulana prior to
ibeir indepeadence | bave found elee no suggeetion,; aod the ressarches of the Diuich historians of Dutch
commerce give no conntenance W0 sach & theory.
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landsof [taly, lord of the Mediterranean isles, lord still of half the Netherlands;
but his proudest title was that of lord of the Indies. Thence he drew the treas-
ures with which he dazzled and bullied the world.' America was but
*135 a Spanish *island. No other European State, save Portugal, had
yet planted a colony on its shores; and Portugal was now one of the
dominions of the King of Spain. Whatever cloud might rest on the ex-
clusiveness of his right by discovery to the northern half of the continent,
none now obscured his title to the southern. That this title had, further,
the explicit approval of the Pope of Rome was hardly likely to give it added
sanctity in the eyes of Protestant powers; but as yet that title, however
its busisa might be questioned, was not attacked fromn any quarter. If
Drake, the Englishman, and bis fellow-freebooters made the Caribbean
seas their own and took tribute of the treasures of Peru, it was con-
fessedly but a raid into an enemy's territory; land they neither sought
nor claimed.

Yet if the English, though in name at peace with the King of Spain,
might thus singe his beard on these far shores, so with double warrant
might the Dutch. And such, not conquest or settlement, was, so far as

the records show, tho aim of the first Dutch project for a visit to
*136 these coasts. #auggester was an Englishman. On June 10,
1581, one Captain Butz (or Batz, as his name is apelled by turns—

t llww conscious the Duich were uf this fact appears coostantly in the pages of Uselinx, of Van
Meteren, of Grotlus . Under many forms they reiterats Ralvigh's complaiot that * It is bis Indian Golde
Lthat 'mdlul'gﬂilh‘nnd disturbeth all the nations of Europe,®

* Jan de Lact has sgain and sgain been made responsible fur the statement Lhat ss sarly as 1080 the
Nutch traded 1o the Orinoco.  Hartsinck, the old Dutch historian of Guissa (i, p. 206), was perhaps the
first to sot afloat the blunder, Ho makes Gumilla jointly responsible for the statement; but Gumills
merely follows De Laet. What De Lact really saye is someihiog very differcot, It is in one of his chap-
ters on the Orinoco, and he has been spraking of the expeditions of Raleigh from 1695 to 1817,

* For some years now ihere has been carried on o grest trade in tobacco aed other things oo this
river, buth by the Eaglish, singly and in companics, and Ly ua DNatchmen, so that there have beon years
when eight, nine, and more ships at & time from the United Netherlands have boan oo this river ™ | Niewars
Worsldt, edua. of 18285, 1630, bk. xv, cap, 21). In his Latin text (oot clied by Hartsinck), which was pab-
lished some years later, this Malement was somewhat expanded as follows: * In the mesntime, and even
carlior, saveral expeditions were underiaken both by the English asd by cor poople [the Dutch] to the
river Orinoco and the town of Basto Thomé for (he purpose of irading, snd especially for twbacco
which is there diligrotly cultivated by the Spaniards; s that, sa rests on good avthority, our people
somelimes went up that river with ¢ight or wioe shipa I a single year and bargulosd with the governor
of Bantu Thomé, befure Live King of Spain had by a most severe loterdict forlidden all Spaniards Lo carry
on trade with foreignera.”

Now, it is certain 1hat Sapio Thomé itsell was vol in exlslence befura 1691 or 1592 (see, s Lo Lhis,
Profeasur Jameson's prport ; and the prolibition meant must be the edict of February 27, 1808, or, more
probably, thuse of April 25 and May 11, 1703 (see p. *154, note). This, therefore, ia the period to which,
Jun Te Laot's statement must apply ; snd this tallies with what little else wo know of this Orinooo Urada,
Of course, all that could be learned lrum the passage in any case would he, pot that the Duteh, but that
the Spaniards were alresdy established in Gulass, Mr, Schomburgk, however, not caly falls inte the
Lunder of Hartsinck, but makes tbe pisssgn more Uributary to his argument Ly sddiog (Blue Book
* Yenezuels No. 1,7 p. #38; " Venezuela No. 5, p. 28) Lo the statement * 5o early as 1680 the Dutch nav.
ignlad the Oricoco ™ the further staloment * and selilements were aliempled on such paris as were not
oveupled by the Bpaciards,” This is, 8o far an | can determine, & wholly unsupporied sssumpiics,
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it was not *improbably Butte or Bates), who had already made five *1387
voyages to the Indies, offered to the provincial Estates of Holland

Another error, whoss evolution is nol quite so easy Lo lrace, Is that which appesrs In ils moet fully
daveloped form In the History of British Guisna by Mr. Rodway, whers we read (i, p. 8), that befure the
ead of the sixtesaih ceslury Dulch traders bad established depdls for Indian prodocts om the Gulana
consl, and that ** two such depils were established o Guiana sbout the year 1580, the one lo the Pome-
roon, and the other st & small Indian village called Nibie in the Abary Creek™ The historian even goes
into minats parteulars as to the managemeant of thess depils, telling oe Lhat “ caly sboat lon [men] were
loft sk the store, one of whom was nsturally made Commander "—with much else of plotureaqas detall.
Bat, sonvinclagly circomstastial sa all this la, there s, [ fear, nol Uhe alightest doabd that all the fact it
contains is antedated by & centary. A hundred years later thers was indeed a trading poet on the Fome-
roon {see Extracls, p. 148), though by no mesns s0 well-manned as in Mr Rodway's deseription ; asd
thore was then also, or had lately been, an Iodian village near the craek Abary which the Dulch koew by
the nama of Naby—1. ¢, " Nearby * (seo A. v. Berkel, Amarilaansche Foyagim, Amsterdsm, 1898)

How thess alight alements grew Lo such stately proportions can la part be conjectared. Mr. Rod.
way’s lmmediats spoasor was perbaps his predecessor, Dr. Dalton, whose History of British Gulana (I,
p. 108) talls pearly the same story, less the details s to the management of the posta.  The post Nibie is
bare, bowever, only & post * where thers was an Indian village called Nibie.® For the source of & state-
ment by Dalton one ls prose at ooes Lo tara Lo Hartsioek, on whom he drawa for nearly every lact of thia
sarly history and seldom withost misssderstandlag him; but in this instance there la clearly an lnter-
mediary. Dr. Dalioa has bot trasscribed the passage, with elight changes In wording, from Mr. Bebhowm-
bargk's Deeripiion of British Guisna (pp. 81, 82). Where Mr. Schombargk fvund it, be does oot tell us ;
bet [ think [ am able Lo guess. In a little collectivn of the ecolonial laws published st Goorgetown in
1825 onder the titde of * The Demerara and Hwequsbo Vade Mecum ™ there la an historical introdue-
tion which is almost certalaly s cosnecting link between Hartslock's statemests sad their enlargemest
by Mr. Behombargk. Io this we read (p. 1): ** Their first settlemants [i. o, the firsi selilements of Lhe
Dateli] were made near the River Essequebo, lowards the River Fomarcun, or Bouwercos, asd cs
Abary Creek, where there was & small Indisn village called Naby.” Asd, in the chrosclogicsl table
which follows, there appears as the frst item :

* 1580— A boat this peried the Zeelanders attempled small seltlemonts, for the purpose of trafc with
the native tribes, on the banks of the Amasos, Oronooo and Fomercon, oo which last they had & small
mtablishment called Yoos Zeslandia "

Now, in this form it is ot bard Lo Urace both elements of Lhe story Lo the pages of Hartslnek. That
hlstorian, at the beginaing of his chapler on Lhe settlemant of the Dutch in Gualass (I, p. 208), declares
that “ the trade of the Hollanders and Zeolanders, not caly Lo the rivers Oricoco and Amasos, bul Lo Lhe
whale coast of Gulana, ssemas to have begun in or shortly before ihe year 1680," snd a litte later (p. 307)
be gives their coloay oa the Essequibo ihe name of * Nova Zalandin' As this is & palpable coofesica
with the later Nova Zelandia, which he places oo the Pumeroon, it was natural snongh that his borrower
should combloe the later location with the serlier date. That Hartsleck ls wrong, both as Lo date sod e
to looation, will presenily be soen. As Lo the alleged settlement oo the creek Abary, whai Hartslock
says is st the beginning of his chapter on Berbice (i, p. 80). *The boundary of this coloay 1o the
northwest in al the cresk Abary or Waybari, which liss abouat thres miles from the river of Berbics and
oa which there is ssiablishod & post of thia colony ; and which, aa Is related, separstes the eolony from
Demerary in parsosccs of an agreement made in the year 1874 betwoen ihe Commandear of Esseguebo
and the Secretary of Berbics, Mr. Adrisan van Berkel, ss smpowsrsd thereto, whereby it was stipulsted
vhat they of Berbice should withdraw a post of fifteen or sixteen men which they bad stationed in the
Indian village Naby, about three hoars from Demerary, for the baying up of dyes and other wares from
the Indians, and shoald leave the west side of the creek to them of Essequibo.” Now, it is cososivable
that oae whoss Dulch waa scanty, finding this the first thing stated about the colony of Berblos, might
have undersiood * greupaalem.” bouadary, lo mean seilloment; and, thus started, have guiosd from the
rather clumay sentence coly & confused ides of an sarly post. Is any case, otber basis for the legend |s
sol Lo be foand. That Hartainck has himssll somewhal misunderstood Van Berkel, whom be cites as his
suthority, is 0 us of oo moment.

It mewi not, bowerer, be Inferred Lhat all hisiorians have fallen inlo thess arrors. The more schol-
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*138 *to make another in their interest if they would fit out three or four

more ships to send with his own. The proposition was referred to a
committee, and was further discussed in the sessions of June 14 and July 7;
but on July 22, notwithstanding the evident favor of the project by the
Stadhouder, the Estates declined the Evglishman’s offer. *‘ As regards
the propoeed voyage of Captain Batz to the lands of Peru and the islands
lying thereabout,” says their resolution, '*the Estates of Holland, in view
of the great burdens of the land for the carrying on of the war, cannot
undertake the expense required; yet,” they add (perbaps to let the stranger
down &s easily as possible), *' the Estates will look on with approval if any
private individuals in the cities of Holland care to aid the project, and will
even lend a helping hand thereto.”* As was long ago pointed out by
Dutch scholars, nothing seems ever to have come of it,? and the entey-
prise, if carried out, would have been rather a feat of war® than a com-
mercial enterprise. Yet the episode shows that to the Dutch all Spanish
South America was still Peru, and that a venture thither was a gerious
matter. There is no reason to suppose that the objective point was
(Guiana rather than any other part of Terra Firma or the West India
islands, and that Dutch settlements already existed on these shores is, of
course, out of the question. 4

arly history of the Gulana colonies by General Notacher rejects though it does not fully exposs them;
and the standard historisn of the rise of the Dutch sea power, the able and consclentions De Jongs, wrii-
ing a8 an archivist in full possession of all the soarces, long ago pointed cut (vol. |, p. 48, note) that ounly
Hartainek's misunderstanding of De Lact ia respossible for 8o early a connection of the Duteh with
Gulana

The claim of the Britsh Blue Book (** Veaczoela No. 1" p. 4) is more moderate and ila source guite
different,  ~ There is abundaot evideoce,” it says, “ coming from Spanish sources, that during the latter
hall of the century, prior Lo 1890, the Dutch had established themsslves on the coast of Gulana ;™ and in
suppart of ihia it refers to the *letters, elc., 1885-1808." of the provivce of Cumaod, lo the Bpanish Ar-
chives of the lndles. I can only regret, as Professor Jumeson has already dove, that oo item of this
sbundant evidence has been given to the world, and most add pot only that I have found in Duteh ufficial
sources polhing to support this claim, but Lhat it ssems wholly inconsistent with what [ bave learned
from them.

* All the passages relating to this episods are pristed in full among the transeripta, ta Vol, 11 of the
report of the Commisaion, pp. 3-8. For brevity's sake, I shall hencoforward refer to thess * Extracts
from Dotch Archives ™ as ' Extracts ™ simply.

¥ Du Jooge, Nederlandsch Gesag, |, p. 35; Berg ven Dossen Mullkerk, in the Gids for Novemhar,
1848,

® ot Meer sem op rich salf staand sorlogefail dan sna Naderlandachs handels-ondernaming,” 1 Do Jonge's
|shrase.

* Yet it is precisely this episode on which Mr, Schomburgk bases his stalemect (BloeBouk " Ven.
reu la No. 1" p. 285; * Veoezvels No. 5" p. 25) that “ the StatesGenorsl privilaged, In 1561, certain in.
dividoals to trade Lo these seillements exclusively”—i. a., to the Dutch settlements posialated by him
(see p. 138, oots). There is question neither of the States-General, nor of & privilege, nor of trade, nor of
seitloments, nor yet of Guisna. He has been misled by a careless statement of Hartsiock (i, p 208)—a
oargloss stalement rtrangely misanderstood.

* | have searched once mors, with Mr. Teltiag ™ (the archivist in charge of the Weat India papers),
writes me General Netscher, the emioent historian of the Gulana colonies, under date of November a0,
1498, in kind confirmation of my own ressarch oo this poiot, ** all the resolations of the States Gensral of
1481, and some years thereabout, but we did oot find soyihing.”
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*It is nearly a decade and a half before I again find mention in *138
Dutch official records of any expedition to the coasts or islands of
South America. Then, in March of 1595, the Estates of Zeeland granted
freedom of convoy to one Balthazar de Moucheron for a cargo of goods to
the Spanish Indies. This was, of course, for peaceful traffic, and his ob-
jective point would seem to have been the island of Margarita, long the
leading Spanish entrepdt for these parts.? It was just at this time that by
a Zeeland ship, not impossibly this one, was discovered just south of that
island of Margarita, on the Spanish mainland of South America, the re-
markable deposit of salt which for years made Funta de Araya (or Punta
del Rey, as Lthe Dutch more ofton called it) one of the leading destinations
of Dutch commerce ; and the established route thither led along the whole
length of the Guiana coast.® In the sawne year there is record of a venture
to Santo Domingo by a union of Holland and Zeeland merchants.® In the
following year we hear of another Zeeland expedition to the Spanish
Indies, * and there were not improbably many gimilar enterprises not
mentioned in the records, for it was only when *freedom from convoy *140
dues was sought that legislative action was needed, and even after
the establishment of the admiralties no ship need seek a commission unleas
it chose.*

It was in 1591 or 1592, according to his own statement, that William
Usselinx, the inspirer above all others of the West India trade, returning
from the Spanish islands, began his agitation in the Netherlands in behalf
of Dutch trade with SBouth America.* I have already spoken (p. 135, note)
of Jan de Laet's statement as to Dutch trade with the Spaniards on the
Orinoco even before Raleigh's expedition of 1585. Yet it is improbable
that this trade to the West Indies antedates 1504; for to that year is as-
cribed? the beginning of direct trade with Brazil, and all tradition and prob-
ability make Brazil the earliest, as it was tho nearest, destination of
Dutch trade in America.®

It will be noted that as yet, so far as the records show, the trade is with
recognized Spanish settlements, and therefore not of a sort to create a ter-

1 At Jeast Do Jongs is probably right In connecting (6. p. 46) this expedition of Moucheron with Van
Meteren’s mention of & voyage o Margerita

* Van Rose, Fesckisdenis der Staathwiahowdiunds in Nederland, §i, p. 5. (Cf. also Jan do Last's chap.
ler on Arags in bis Niewwe Wersldl), The Remowsirantie described below (pp. 181-153) speaks of thia
routs of the salt ships, which [s else well known., (For the passage, see Exiracta, p. 34.)

* De Jonge, i, p. 48.

' That Mouchoroa snd Adrissn ten Hasll had part in this, as Nelscher statss (p, 2} is only & guess of
De Jonge's (i, p. 48).

¥ S0 resclution of the States Genersl, 22 Dec., 1899 (Rijksarchiel, Haguo)

¥ 300 his Wemoric arnwpamde, olc. (Rijksarchiel, Hague, and prioted by Van Rees), p. 1.

T Bea De Jooge (1, p. 38,) ¢itlog & macuscript [heductic io the Dutch Rijksarchiel The Brsxil of that
day, it mast be remembered. was nol thought of aa reaching sa far north aa to the Amazon.

* e oudste geregelde vaart op de kusten van America door onze peelisden, s geweest do vaart op
Braxilid,"—De Jomge (i, p. 38). [udired trads with Drazil, by way of Portugal, was (o vigue st lossl s
early as 10940,
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ritorial tisle. Of Guiana or of direct trade with the Indians, there is thus
far no mention.?!
*141 *But in 1596 there was published in England a book which set the
imagination of all Europe on fire—Sir Walter Raleigh’s ** Discoverie of
(Guiana.” It called universal attention to the wealth of these coasts and to
the advantages of trade with the natives. The Netherlands were not the last
to feel its influence. Already before the end of 1586 one begins to hear in the
records of the States-General of the trade with the West Indies; and on
March 24, 1597, the merchant-banker Hans van der Veken, of Rotterdam,
was granted a commission for two vessels, ' manned with Germans and
other foreigners, to go to the coast of Guinea [in Africa], Peru, and the
West Indies, and there to trade and bargain with the savages,” this com-
mission ** containing also request to all princes and potentates to let these
shipe and their crews pass freely and in peace thither and return again to
these provinces.”® GGuiana is not yet mentioned; but, in the children’s
phrase, we are growing warm. On September 3 of this same year
*142 (1587) the States-*General were requested by Gerrit Bicker and his
associates, merchants of Amsterdam, ** who have it in mind to equip
two ships, 8o as to send them to a certain coast and haven of America Peru-
ana, being a place where never any from these [ Nether]lands have been, and
which is also not held by the Spaniards or the Portuguese,” to grant them
freedom of convoy both going and coming, ** and this for two full voyages, if

! For the geneslogy of the story that la 1878 the Bpaniards found Dutch colonists In the Moruca, |
may refer to the conviacing discussion of Professor Jameson (pp, 58-8", above]l The British Blus Book
{* Yeaesuels No. 1 ") bapplly igoores this claim; bat it adds & fresh ono of its own, It states that ** Ibar-
goen in 1887 . . . visited the Essequibo and reported white men, who can be shown to bare beeu
the Dutch, to be sstiled bigh up the river;” and in support of this statement It clles without Lranscrip-
tivn a nonsidersble portion of the Spaniah archives. [ am indebled Lo the courlesy of Her Majesly's
Government for the exsct passage. The Spssish explorer lbarguen, reporting in 1897 to the King,
states that he visited the Essequibo where (it ls the fullowiog phrase ooly which Is given me in the
wurds of the original) * he heard very gredt news of the men who were clothed and fightlng with arma.”
How these sre kouwn to be * white mea ™ and " seliled ™ and “ high up the river,” or how they " can be
shown to have been the Dutch,” [ have not learned.  Ia Ihatch Jocumenta sleo | find wmention, indeed, of
men in the interior of Guisna who are clotbed and who fight with arms; but thess are only the fabled
inhabitaots of El Dorado—whom, by the way, it was precissly |barguen's errand to seek. But thare is
snuther passage of this report of Ibarguea's which, If correctly reported, shows unquesticsably the pres
ence of Dutchmen as traders on this coast. Mr. Rodway, writing In the Gulans magssine Timehri lur
Ducsmbar, 1896, and apparratly sseribing his informations to Mr, Reddan, now of Lthe British Forsign Office,
statoa that [barguen (whao, it seems, was the sergeant-major of Domingo de Vera, the loader of the bady of
Spanish coloaists sent In 1596 to the Orlacco) says in his report that on his way from the Ordoveo to the
Essequibo he arrested * five Flamencos ln s boat, who were trading with the ladisos of Barima® And
this account sesmns borne out by the statement regardiog lbarguen's report—usfortusalsly, without quo.
tation or liters] translstico—which | owe Lo Her Majesty's Government. Yet this st most shows Dutch-
men, not in the Essequibo, but in or near the mouth of the Orineco, sad suggests only that Dwich trade
to Basto Thomé of which we slready know from the pages of Jan de Lasl. 1o the followlng year (1098)
two Duich expeditions, sa we koow from the journal of ome of them, stopped thus to trade with the
lodisos is the Barima oo their way op the Orinoos Lo Banle Thomé. (CL p. ®144, below, and vol. i of
the Commisaion’s report, p. 17.)

* For the passage in full see Extracts, p. 2.
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po be that God Almigh ty should be pleased to bless their first voyage as they
hope,—and this out of regard to the great sums they will lay out on this
voyage and the risk therein lying.” Whereupon it was resolved to grant
them the desired convoy ** to a certain coast and haven of America Peruana,
provided that they shall lade in the aforesaid ships no forbidden goods, and
that they shall further be bound, on their return, to bring satisfactory evi-
dence that never anybody from these lands has traded to the aforesaid
haven, and shall make true report in the meeting of the States-General of
their experiences, with specification of the places where they have been
and have carried on their trade.” And “ it is the understanding,” goes on
the record, '‘ that like freedom shall be granted to others who shall like-
wise desire to go to other unknown havens.” *‘ But this,” ends this gigni-
ficant passage, ‘' the deputies of Zeeland declared themselves uninstructed
to grant.™

The encouragement was not lost; for but three months later, on Decem-
ber 15, 1597, Jan Cornelisz. Leyn, of Enkhuisen, and his partners, having
it in mind with two ships ‘* to sail to the land of Guiana, situate in the
realm of Peru,” sought freedom of convoy for their first six voyages, both
going and returning. Whereupon it was voted to grant their request,
but only for the two voyages ' which they have it in mind to *make *143
with their two ships to the unknown and unnavigated havens of
America, to wit, to the land of Guiana, situate in the Kingdom of Peru, as
berein specified;” and this upon precisely the same conditions as to ladiog
and report as in the preceding case.” And a week later, on December 23,
the Estates of Holland voted aid toward the arming of this expedition ** to
Guiana, in the Kingdom of Pern .2

* Hel Landl van Guiana gelegen in het Coninckryck van Perw” clearly
we have in these expeditions the very earliest Dutch voyages Lo the
Guiana coast. And luckily, to make the matter doubly sure, we have left
us from one of these voyages, and that ihe first, the stipulated final report
to the States-General. At least, there is no reason to doubt that the ship’s
clerk, Cabeliau, whose '‘report coocerning the unknown and unsailed
course [voiage] of America, from the river Amazon as far as the island of
Trinidad,”¢ still rests in the archives of the States-General, and who
gailed from Holland in a squadron of two ships on December 3, 1587, was
the scribe of this expedition to ** America Peruana.” Having lost sight of
their smaller vessel on the way, Cabeliau’s party reached the American
coast on February 8, 1508, at a point near the mouth of the Caurora, just
west of the Cayenne, five degrees by their reckoning north of the equator.
As they lingered Lo trade with the Indians in the Cayenne, where they
found an English ship busy with the same errand, there arrived also on
June 3, 15988, two ships of that other expedition " to Guiana, in the realm
of Peru;” and with these they “ joined company in order together to ex-

i Extracts, pp. 9, 10, *Extracts, pp. In, 11, "Extracts, pp. 11, 12 Extracts, p. 13,
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plore the entire coast as far as to the river Orinoco.” As far as the Corentyn
they pushed into all the rivers as they went, finding nowhere Kuropean
occupation, but trading with the natives. *‘Between the rivers
*144 Corentynand Orinoco *are these rivers: Berbice, Apari, Maychawini,
Maheyca, Demirara, Dessekebe [Essequibo], Pauroma [Pomercon],
Moruga, Wayni. These neither singly nor in company did we visit or trade
in, because our time was nearly used up and because the Indians gave us to
believe that there was not much there to get, and also because our provisions
were growing scant, so that we did nothing more than to cruise along the
coast, in order to take knowledge of it, until we reached the river Orinoco.”
But into the river Orinoco, the Barima, and the Amacura they sailed, " and
there bartered and traded;” then pushed up the Orinoco *‘ about 40 [Duteh |
miles, to the place or settiement where the Spaniards stay, which is named
St. Thomé, where Don Fernando de Berreo is Governor and also Marquis
of Guiana, the river Orinoco and all the coasts being still unconguered as
far as the river Amazon.” Thence wending their way homeward, they
were able to report that *‘in this voyage we have discovered, found, and
navigated more than twenty-four rivers, many islands in the rivers, and
various havens besides, which have hitherto neither been known in these
provinces nor gailed to therefrom; nay, more, were before our voyage un-
known to any map or geographer.”' And to this statement, Cabeliau,
‘* ag clerk of this expedition,” makes affidavit. It was the certificate de-
manded by the States-General, and its validity was conceded, for on Octo-
ber 19, 1599, the freedom of convoy conditioned upon it was without pro.
test awarded by the States-General to Gerrit Bicker and Company, ** hav-
ing made the voyage to America Peruana,” as already on August 11 it had
been to their colleagues ‘‘ returned from Guiana, in tbe Kiogdom of
Peru."?
*145 By these acts the supreme political authority of the *Netherlands
becomes a witness that the coast of Guiana was theretofors unvisited
by the Datch. An investigator of political titles may well be content with
such evidence. Nor is there, 8o far as I can find, the slightest reason to
question its truth.®
" For Cabelisu's journal in full, see Extracts, pp. 13-2,
» Extracts, p. 11, note,
* To this same expadition seem to belosg the oldest existing Dutch maps of sny part of this cosst,
one of tkewm dated 1698 and both now in the collection of the Dutch Rijksarchisl Sec De Jonge's sxcel

lent pole oo them (i, p. ). For reproductions of them see the Atles of the Commission, mape 67, 56, One
representa Lhs mouth of Lthe Caysane, the other the souithwest cossts of Trinldad. Thess are precisely Lbe
places where we know the axpeditioa Lo have lingered. De Last, in his deseription of the Wiapoco (ed.
ul 1880, p. 588 ; od. of 1838, pp. 834, 850), quotes from tha joursal of another Duteh expedition which was
there in 1698, and which was very possibly that of the great and litle Sphers Wundi, which joloed Cabe.
lisw's party off the Cayeane; for, although Cabelisy slmost cortainly did not visit the Wispooo, be cites it
among the rivers of their joint discovery, So, tou, in speaking of the Amason De Last sys (ed. of 1883,
p. 6341 “ I the yoar 1398, and even earlier, the merchants of Amsterdam and others sent their ships to
thess ooasls, thal they might opes sod setablish trade with the savages who inbabil thess cossts ™ (ameo
JE5H of stuam ande, A matslodamenses alges alii meroaiors nave s ad Aas oras deslimarun!, wl comURermae
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‘While these expeditions were still abroad, on November 18, 1588, three
other Amsterdam merchants asked freedom of convoy for a ship which
they were lading * to sail to the coasts of America, into the realm of Guiana
and other islands thereabout, in which quarter shipe from these lands have
never been;"” and it was granted for two voyages on the same terms as to
the others.' And, not long after their return, on November 9, 1599, “‘at
the request of Jan van FPenen and Gerrit Diricxsz. de Vries cum suis, mer-
chants and burghers of Haarlem, who are making ready a certain ship
s wherewith to sail along the coasts of Guiana in America, in order
to eeek the rivers of Wiapoco and Orinoco and there to find again a
certain mineral stone lately brought from there *into this country *146
as a specimen by Jacob Adriaensz., mate at Haarlem,” they were
granted freedom of convoy for two voyages under the usual conditions.?

But all these venturers were from the province of Holland.* Where,
then, were the Zeelanders, to whom has so long been ascribed the earliest
traffic with this coast! When, a century and a half later, there burst forth
the quarrel, long festering between the merchants of Holland and of Zee-
land, a8 to the right of the latter to the monopoly of the trade with
Essequibo, the Zeelanders ransacked all old documents within their reach
and put forth memorial after memorial to prove that the trade with Guiana
had from its beginning been in their hands. But, while they discreetly
kept silence regarding these early expeditions of the Hollanders, their
search revealed nothing earlier in support of their own claim than a certain
minute of the proceadings of the provincial Estates of Zeeland on Novem-
ber 20, 1569, which deserves to be quoted here in full:

In the matter of the request of the Burgomaster of Middelburg, Adriaen
ten Haeft, setting forth how that, in the preceding year, 1588, at heavy
coat to himself, he caused to be investigated on the continent of America
many different rivers and islands; and how that in this voyage were dis-
covered various coasts and lands where one could do notable damage to the
King of Spain; and how that he is well minded to send out again two shipsin
order, in the country’s behalf, to discover certain places, a thing which can
not be done so effectively with seafaring folk alone. Wheretore, and in
view of the facl that in Holland, for the sncouragement of exceptional en-
terprises of this sort, great favor is shown to the promoters of such voyages,
such as the providing them with cannon, powder, and soldiers, he a‘.ig'}th
petition that there be granted to his ships from 16 to 20 experienced
soldiers, among them a ®*good commandant, and doth engage that he *147
will himsell provide their rations. Whereapon the representative of

cwm barbaris qwi Aas ores accolebant constitwaremi of slabilirent); and he talls the story of one of thess ships,
which, finding itself by sccident off the Amazon, sxplored the month of that river. This ls the sarlisst
dats for the presence of the Duteh in this region which le anywhere named by this well-informed and
almost coatemporary historias,

' Extracta, pp. 18, 18.

" Extracta, p. 38,
* That Do Jonge [ Nederlandeed Gatag, |, p. 84) sscribea Lo Isase Lemaire s share (o this trade with the

Bpanish Isdies la due Lo an odd misreading of *in Terra Firma “ for ' In communi forma * in the minates
of the States General for April 13, 1800 (Rijksarchief, Hagus).
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the nobility gave verdict that commerce cught here to receive the same favor
as in Holland, and that therefore it ought to be learned through the deputies
there [i. e., to the States-General| just what is done in Holland in this be-
half, in order to be able to do the same here; the deputies of Middelburg,
however, grant soldiers to the number of 16; those of Ziericzee likewise,
to the number of 13, on half wages, subject to the approval of their con-
stituents; those of daea, Tholen, Flushing, and Vere promise that they will
send in at once their report to their town councils on this point, and that the
councils will find out what is done in Holland in such cases.?

There is here no mention of Guiana; and of the enterprise itself there
is never again mention in the minotes of the Zeeland Estates. That Guiana
was its destination is probable enough, but probable only. What it seems
gafe to infer is that this was the beginning of Zeeland's dealings with these
unsettled coasts of the West, —that the coasts in view were conceived of as
belonging to the King of Spain,—and that the enterprise was one of hostile
aggression. In this last lies its significance; the employment of soldiers in

an unsettled region can hardly point to anything less than an attempt
#1458 &t the occupation of territory, *and we seem here to have the earliest

known effort of the Dutch to establish themselves on the coasts of
America. One may even guess where the blow was struck. Jan de Laet,
writing in 1824 of the Amazon, tells us that ** our Netherlanders began some
years ago to visit this great river, and the men of Flushing established on it
two forts, besides dwelling places—one of them on Coyminne, which is like
anisland . . . andisreckoned to be some 80 miles up the river. Theother,
named Orange, lies 7 miles lower down.”® In the Latin text of the same
work, published in 1633, he devotes a whole chapter to Duich relations
with the Amazon, having now learned of the vieiting of that river by

| Notulen, 1809 ; for the Dialch, soe Extracts, p. 25. [ have sought diligeatly but in vain in the pro-
vinclal archives of Zesland for anything in 1he sccompanylag papers of thia year or of the following which
eonld throw further light on this coterprise. The later papers which cite this ls sopport of the claima
of Zealand in Gulana are the Berichi published to the world by the Estates of Zeslsnd in the lstter balf
of 1750, and reprinted in the Nederlandsche Juerboeken for Docember of that year (pp, 1493-1819), and
the memorial of the directurs of the Zesland Chamber of the Duich West ladia Company on the same
subject, of August 28, 1781 (Nederlandsche Jaerboeken, 1581, i, pp. 10791188} It ehould parhaps be re-
mambered that it wea In this year 1599 Lbat there salled forth from the Zesland port of Flushiog the Dutch
armada ander Pister van der Doss, which, sfter taking a town In the Canaries snd svenging stihe Inle de
Principe that unsuccensful enterprise of Balthazar de Moucheron in 1898 which Berg van Dusssn Mullkerk
calls the " earlical attempl sl coloolzation from oat the Netherlands,” sent seven or sight of its rhips
across the Atlantic to ravage the coast of Brazil. They returned, with great booty of sugar, in the fol-
lowing year.

 Niswwe Wereldt, eda. of 1825, 1880 (p. 582 of the latter). This is the scurce of the statemect in
the Zeeland memorial of 1760, which has crept thescs (oto all the histories, Blasow's Nirwwe Wereldi s
thare cited ; but Blasow's Nnooe Werald [s only De Last's text set to Blassow's maps, Unflortunatsly the
Zecland memorial carelessly puts the forta * oot far from ™ the Amazon, and makes the dats “ sbost the
sams time * as Ten Haefls venture. Before De Last's edition of 1680, the coloay had slready beem de-
stroyed by the Portuguese: in 1829 it waa found in ruios by the Dutch, a fact which finds dos losertion
in that edition, This establishment was doubtlsss that * tobacoo-plantatios os the Amasoa™ for which
the Zeclanders clalmm] relmbursement in 182] (see p. 109, below), In De Laet's history of the West
India Company {Leyden, 1844) we loarn of the date of its destruction (1828), sod of the flight of Lhe
survivors to the Wispoco, (e Last, Historie, pp. 111-113 : sad ef. Nolacher, Geschisdends, pp. 83-817.)
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Netherlanders in 1588.' " Others also in the following years,” he adds,
‘““attampted to enter and explore the great river Amazon, and in this the
enterprise and industry of the Zeelanders was especially conspicuous;” and
to these as a whole, not to the men of Flushing alone, he now ascribes the
colony and the two forts.* Two pages further on he speaks of a neighbor-
ing river, the Aracoa, ‘' which our people explored in the year 1800.”* One
or both of thess deeds may belong to Ten Haeff’s expedition; if not,

®*it has left no trace. But, if these were its work, they show, what *140
might antecedently have been expected, and what seems confirmed

by the subsequont history, that the Dutch occupation of Guiana began at
the extreme east.

There is, indeed, one statement afloal which would seem to contradict
this. In his memorandum in support of the boundary urged by him, Mr.
Schomburgk states: ‘‘ It is said that at the close of that century [the six-
teenth] a Chamber of Merchants existed at Middelburg, trading to the
River Barima.”* By whom it is said, or when, or where, he does not so
much as hint. The historians of Guiana, one and all, know naught of it.
The historians of Dutch commerce are as ignorant. The Zeelanders them-
selves in 1750 found nothing so precious to their search. 1 have sought it
faithfully, but in vain, among the manuscript records of the Dutch. The
English searchers have not found it in their Spanish documents. After a
prolonged search through the literature of the subject, I am fain to confess
that I can find no item of fact out of which it could have been evolved.*

Another error, more easy o trace and expose, is that set afloat by Hart-
ginck (i, p. 207) of a charter of freedom of convoy granted by the States-
General on July 10, 1602, to certain Zeeland merchants for trade with the
coast of (Guiana. As he gives his sources, it is easy to establish that there
was no charter, that the merchants were not Zeelanders, and that their
destination was not the Guiana coast. The applicanta were that same Jan
van Penen and Gerrit Diricxz. de Vries whom we already know from
an earlier petition® to bave been *merchants of Haarlem. What they *150
asked was, first, freadom of convoy for a single voyage, and, second, its
continuation for subsequent ones. The States-(General referred the matler
to the Admiralty of Amsterdam, instructing that body to grant the first re-
quest when the voyage had actually been made, but to refuse the second
altogether. Accordingly, when, in January, 1604, the petitioners presented
themselves to the Admiralty, proof of their voyage was insisted on; and it
then came to light that its real destination was to ascend the river Orinoco

! fee note, p. T145, sbove.

¥ Nowven Ordda, 1653, p. 834

* Noves Orbis, p. 636,

4 Bloe Book * Venaroela No. 1.° p. 138 ; “ Venaruals No. 5,7 p. 25,

* Is it possible that it can be bot a confusion with the Middelbarg wlony of Lthe following cenlury
(1688-16485) io the Pomercos, the resemblance of whose sarlier name—Baroma, Barums - to that of the

Barima haa given rise o 0 many misconceptions !
" Bes p. 148, above,
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(probably in search of the precious metals, as in their expedition of 1589).
Up that river, however, ‘“ by reason of the multitude of the Spaniards
whom they found there,” the Dutch ship had been unable to penetrate.
Freedom of convoy for this voyage was granted; and there was an end of
the matter.®

The imposing list of Zeeland merchants which Hartsinck couples with
this supposed charter as traders “‘ about this time " to the coast of Guiana
is borrowed mainly from the Zeeland memorial of 1750,* and is only a list
of patroons taken at random from a record book still extant, which covers
nearly the whole seventeenth century.® Yet Hartsinck’s list, which adds
to these the Haarlem merchants just mentioned, and even their captain,
Rijk Hendrikszoon, is repeated, with more or less of respect, by all later

historians, including even the careful De Jonge* and Netscher.*
*151 *Traders, indeed, there doubtless were. Under date of the year

1600 the well-informed contemporary, Van Meteren, points out, in his
annals of the Dutch, the motives which impelled to the West Indian trade
and gradually changed its character. ‘‘ The United Netherlands also sought,
in furtherance of their commerce, to discover means of trade with the
West Indies, and sent many ships (and great ones withal) to the unin-
habited West India islands after salt. * * * This trade came very
opportunely, since the trade to the coasts of Africa, or Guinea, by reason
of the multitude of ships which from all lands repaired thither, gave no
longer so good profit as at first. Therefore they endeavored, through this
trade to the salt islands, gradually to open a commerce with the West
Indies, withont seeking to make any conquests there, but rather Lo win
the friendship of the Indians and to protect them against the Spaniards,
for whom, apart from this, they have no love, and thus to come into traffic
with them a course which in time must develop a trade, gince the Dutch
can sell all wares cheaper by half than do the Bpaniards, on account of the
heavy Spanish taxes and tolls.”

That the trade with Guiana, once set in motion, was not allowed to
sleep one may, therefore, even in the absence of explicit data, well believe;
and that at least one Dulchman was keenly alive to the opportunity and
need of fortifying this trade by the establishment of colonies we have cogent
evidence. There lics in the archives at The Hague a petition, unsigned

' This error 1= partislly exposed by Netacher (. 39). For the documenta ia full, see Extracts, pp.
8, 18,

¥ Nederigndiche Jaerbocken, 1731, 11, p. 1088,

* The Book of Commimions. etc,, 1828-1871, of the Zeeland Chamber of the West India Company. I
shall later spesk of this more folly.

' Nederlandech (Fazag, |, p. B3,

* Page 88. The “ Jan van Fero,” whoso name seems (0 have been especially seductive Lo Lhese
writers in, | am convioced, s myth, suggested only by the Huaarlem = Jan van Peoen” The first Van
I'ere known Lo 1he records of Lhe West [ndia Company is Abraham; and he first twok his seal as &
director on Octuber 8, 1828, The colony of Berbice, which yave his pame such prominenoe, was not
founded 1111 1627, Of. Extracts, pp. 18, 44, 48,
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and undated, but bearing the title, ‘‘ Remonstrance to the States-General
of these United Provinces on the subject of the colonization of the coasts
of Guiana in America.” . A transcript of that document I have the honor
to lay before you. ! I believe it, on the ground of its ideas and its
style, the work of Willem Usselinx, the well-known originator of *the *153
Dutch West India Company, and to be identical with that discourse

on the colonization of the Indies of which he himself tells vs in &
pamphlet of the year 1808.* But, whatever may be thought as
to its authorship, it will hardly be questioned that this was the pe-
tition which was dealt with by the States-General on February 25, 1603.
‘I doubt not,” begins the paper, ' that it is well enough known to the States-
General what a rich, beautiful, fruitful, populous, pleasant, and
*precious region, siluate in America and named the province of *153
Guiana, was now not long since discovered by some of the merchant

ships of this country.” His opinion of its limits and its neighbors may there.
fore have some slight worth to the present research. The province of Guiana
in America, he says, stretches *‘ from the great river Amazon to Punto della
Rae or Trinidad.” ‘It is 8o situated that the nearest districts inhabited by
the Portuguese in Brazil are distant therefrom more than 300 miles. And the
nearest places dwelt in by the Spaniards are also about 200 miles from the
guarter where the mine above mentioned has been discovered, which one

LoFa

! Extracts, pp. $7-34.

" In his Ferioogh, Aoe noctwrendich, cte. (cof. Professor Jamescn's Umelinz, sote 32). " It most oot be
thoaght,” be writes in this pamphlet, * that the Spasciard has so Laken possession of all the most frulifel
lands and places of Lhe Indies Lhat nons are left which are of good climats, froitful, and comfortables Lo
dwell in, and In which profit |+ to be made, sloce we know that he b stlll dally making war ln order Lo
gain certaln ones, while others can ot well be reachad by him oo scconnt of the clumsiness of his great
ships, as well aa through the resistance offered him there by the [ndians, sod sume are atill saksown Lo
him. . . . Andifono answers that the Porlaguess and other Spanlards have beiler advantages for
this lrade than we, sioce they have there coriain places, [ admit it; bul when they firal came Lhither
they had not so grest sdvaotages, either in ships or otherwise, as we now have, the more 80 as these
lunda are now as well known to us sa to them, and we bavs good opportunity to get all that we should
be fn meed of for Lhe setablishment of coloaies from certain neighboring places—which places do oot need
to be berv specilled—while the Bpanlard in the beginoing had o get from Spain everything that he
nosded. HBot sinee [ have sdequately treated this poiot in a discourse oa the coloaization of the Indies,
which | composed some years ago, | will mot hers repaat it; it is snough to bave showa that the mesns
to gain & shars in the rich trade of the lodies is to cocupy pleces there with poople from thess lands.”

That Guisoa is bere In his thought can hardly be doubtful to any familiar with the local conditions ;
and why he should not care to name it, sven In clilng the title of bis earlier discourse, is also evideat
enoagh from the cootext. Van Heea, the foremost Dutch studsat of Usselinx's caresr, polnts out (in hia
Foacliodenia der Hoathwishoudbunde in Nederland, Ui, p. 102) that from varioos expressions in his
jwmphleta may be Inferred his acheme for the establishment of colonies oa the ceast of GGolana.

The * Remonsirance ™ la sot in Usselinx’s bandwriting, for 1 have compared it with many aoto-
graphs of his In the Rijksarchiel and can not find the slightest resemblance.  The document has strayed
from ita place in the archives, snd Mr. Hisgman, the commirs-charicrmecater who for masy years bas had
rharge of the papers of Lhe States-General, thinks it lees likely to be the original preseated Lo that body
than & ropy which beloaged to the provisclal Estates of Holland The abses~s of siguatars, Indeed,
wniild seem 1o preclude all 1thought of i being the original. Were the papers of the Blates OGeneoral
romplets its souree oould doubtless be made certain, as well as the date of ila presestation ; bot they

e ek,
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must first people and fortify; the said province being also inaccessible from
the borders of the aforessid nations (over and above the great distance) by
reason of many high mountains, great wildernesses, and forests, and cut
off from them by very deep rivers.” The Portuguese, then, to this writer,
were wholly outside the province; the Spaniards in it, but remote from the
spot he would first colonize; the Dutch not yet there at all. But the States-
(General, however tempted, replied that for the present it could not take
action as to this requested colonization of Guiana.!

Whether or no this document is the work of Willem Usselinx, it is cer-
tain that Usselinx was at just this time® urgiog the colonization of America
in general and of Guiana in particular. ‘' Inasmuch,” writes his country-
man and contemporary Van Meteren, ‘‘as the navigation and trade to the
East Indies brought good business into the United Netherlands, some be-
thought them that a navigation and business of the same sort to the West

Indies, or America, might be brought about through the creation of a
*154 well-organized Company. Among ®others one Willem Usselinx, of

Antwerp, merchant, a man who had spent several years in Spain and
in the islands everywhere, and had well posted himself as to the trade and
opportunities of the West Indies, or America, disclosed and suggested in all
quarters the proper means which were of use to that end. . .

** For it was evident [he urged] that the Spaniard had still manjr foes in
America, or the West Indies, who were strong and not easy to conquer,
and who, with a little help, would be able to resist the Spaniards, especially
if one should furnish them weapons and should teach them to use horses,
and also to move and manipulate troops, so as to make the Spaniard show
his back. For it was well known [he said] that from the island of Trinidad
as far as the Equator the Spaniards had po places or fortresses. These
arguments and the like, with other tidings and information possessed by
him, which it would not be politic as yet to spread abroad, this Usselinx
knew how to employ. Wherefore he was charged, in the year 1804, to
draw up a policte, or prospectus, in order to see if it would find share-
holders, or adequate voluntary subscription by merchants, for the forma-
tion of such a Company and the inaking up of a good capital,

“*The prospectus consisted, first, of a complaint against the Spaniard,
who sought to shut out the Dutch from all navigation, trade, and business,

as was shown by his establishing in Spain a new toll (beside the
*155 old) of thirty per cent.®* Further, that *there had lately been dis-
'Extracts, p. 86. o '

* That Usseliox did oot begin writing on this sulject until 1800 we koow from his own worda, As
to this and ss to his career in general, | may refor to Professor Jameson's admirable blography of him.

¥ Thin refers Lo the edict of Valladolld, Febroary 27, 1808, by which, whils the closure of the Indies
was reaffirmed, forelgn traders were admitted to Bpain isell noder payment of a thirly per cont. toll, Ita
furiber provisions are given by Van Metoren (in hia Nederlandiachs Hislorie, sub anno 1603), Owing 1o
the opposition made by France snd Eogland, this edict was repesled before the end of 1804 (December
11); but early in 1803 trade with the lodles was forbiddun afresh under severer pemaliies, - In Lhe fol.
lowing year, which was 18087 writes the Dulch historian Pomtanus in his Ametek demensivm Historia
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covered certain fraitfol lands and islands, of good, healthful climate,
inhabited by good and friendly *folk desiring the acquaintance and *156
friendship of the Dutch people, whom they knew to be foes of the
Spaniards, in order to be helped by them against the Spanish tyranny, etc.,
especially the people of the interior, these being not barbarians but tolerably
civilized and organized, not going naked but clothed, and well disposed, in
case sgome people should be sent over thither to teach them, to till and culti.
vate their land the better, it being found adapted to the planting of sugar,
ginger, oil, wine, indigo, cotton, hops, and other fruits, the soil bringing
forth many sorta of useful products serving for good and valuable dyes,
besides the mines of gold, silver, and other minerals, which are the sinews
of war. These lands would also in time make a good market for the wares
and industries of the Netherlands. Moreover, on the seacoasta of these

{1811), *the King of Spain promulgeted a severs edict, by which be sought not oely to closs to Lol
landers and Zselanders the realms of Sjain aad Portugal, bat strictly forbade them to navigale into any
pari of ihe Todles, East or West, under the heavy penally of death and coafiscation of all thelr properiy.”
It may be worth while to transcribe hers, from an officlal compllation of thess Spanish laws for the
Indies (* Swmarios de la recopilacion gemeral de las Leym, Ordemengos, provisiones, cedulas, imsirucciones,
y cartas dooradas, § por los Reyes Caidlicos de Castilla s han promulgade, expedids, y despachads, para las
Indias Ocridentales . . . por ol licenciado Don Rodrige da Aguiar y Acwha™), pnbiished st Mexico In
18677, & sammary of such relating to forelgn traders aa wers then In fores. They ocenr in Lib. Wi, Tie 28

(pp. 235a-237Th), * Dv los sstrangeros, qus passan d las Fadies " :

Lzr L.
Que Ninguo sstrangero, pueda tratar, ni contratar % D. Fellpe I11. oo Veotoallls, & 6. de Abril,
en laa Todisa y an Valladolid, & 11. de Mayo, de 1804,
Lav 1L

9 D. Felipe IL en Valladolid, & 37. de lulio, de
la82,

Que Ningun esirsogero, ol persona de les pro-
hibidas, posda tratar, ol contratar, de estos Haynos
& las Indiss, ni passar & ellas, sin babilitaston, y
lioencia del Roy: ¥y los qoe la tarieren, lo poedan
hazer eon solos sos candales ; s pana de perdimiento
de blenos, v de la tal habllitacion

- ¥

L=x V.

Qos Niagun estrangero pueda passar & las Indiss,
al tralar, ol contratar en sllas, ni de ellea d esloa
Reynos : #d pena de perdimiento de las mereadurias,
splieadss por terciss partes: so que tambies imce-
rran los patarales, que para sllo fosren supoastos.

Lxr VL

Que sn ningun poeric de las Indiss, se admita
irato con esirangercs : ﬂplﬂdl-llﬂdl,rplrdi-
mieato de bienea,

Y D. Felipe IIL en Madrid, & 2. de Oclubre, de
1608, Y & 28 de Diziembre, de 1418,

® D. Felipe I11. en 8. Lorengn, & 18, de Novem.
bee, 1811, Y alld 3. de Octubre, da 1814,

Ler YIL

Qoe nlagun estrangero poeda estar, oi vivir en 9 El Empersdor D. Carlos, so Medrid, & 15. de

Octobre, de 1535,

las Indiss, ni passar & sliss: ¥ loa que haviere, sean
echados dellas: y aviendo pasmado sin lleencla,
jderdan lo gue havieren gaasdo.

Y D. Felipe IL en Toledo, & 33.
de Hepulembre, de 1560. Ea Madrid, & 17, de
Detobre, de 1882, Fn el Fscorlsl, & 28, de Octu-

hre, de 108485,
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lands there was found great abundance of salt, with which always, if there
were lack of a better cargo, the ships could be ballasted and laden.

‘‘ Beside the worldly blessiogs, it waa to be hoped also that such & trade
would conduce to the honor and praise of God, inasmuch as the saving
faith and the gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ could thus in course of time
be transplanted thither.” . . .}

Glowing as are these pu.‘:turﬂﬂ of the new land and clever as are the
arguments for its occupation, there is (with the poasible exception as to the
Zeelanders on the Amazon) for long no evidence of Dutch settlement in
Guiana.? When, in 1608, Usselinx wrote his ‘' Exposition, how necessary,

useful, and profitable it is to the United Netherlands to preserve the
*157 *freedom of Trading to the West Indies, in the Peace with the King

of Spain,”* he seemed to know nothing ef colonies in Guiana; and it
ia bard to explain by any theory of politic suppression both his neglect of an
argument which would so greally have strengthened his plea and his evident
eagerness for a beginning of such colonies. '’ All the trade that we have had
in the West Indies up to now,” be writes, ** has been [in the district] from
Margarita to Cuba, where the King of Spain has almost everywhere terri-
tory, and, since by the proposed article of the Truce we consent not to
trade to places where the Spaniards are, we abandon this former trade.”+¢

; ‘“ But now let us speak of this West Indian trade, which is very
umntﬂ]hganﬂr discussed by many, who urge that it is of small importance
to us because we have there no places or foothold, and the trade which we
have had there we abandon with the Truce. But at this we must look a little
more closely; and I hope in what follows to prove the contrary.”®

. . " For, since in the article of the Truce it is granted that we may
trﬂde and traffic in all places, havens, and cities where the King of Spain
has no territory, we are therefore given liberty to trade in Florida, the An-
tilles, the whole seacoast of Guiana, a great part of Braszil, and beyond to
the Strait of Magellan, being a good 500 miles where the SBpaniard has no
territory except on the Rio de la Plata; furthermore, throogh the Strait of
Magellan, in the rich land of Chili and many other lands and islands lying
in the South Sea.”*

So writes the Dutchman the best informed of his day as to the affairs
of the West Indies. The Twelve Years' Truce with Spain, which in 1609
want into effect, embodied the pmvmnna discussed by Usselinx. The

— o

——m e e— —

: 'fl.n Materen, Frﬁ'rfmﬁdr Historia, sub anno 1607,

¥ The * projectad Guians company ™ (geconcipiserde Fuianse Compagnis) mestionsd In another manu.
seript mecorial of thia pericd which De Jooge bas printsd (pp. ¥87-381 of pt | of his Nederlondecd
(Fesag) can hardly have had sn sctual existence, and may be an enterprise relsted to the petiticn sbove
deseribed. De Jonge thinks this memorial written between 1897 and 1603, and sospects Usselinx of ite
anthorsbip,

* Duteh * Fertoogh,” ot

* Yertocogh, p. 6.

* YVertoogh, p. 8.

* Vertoogh, p. 10,
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Dutch might no longer trade to the Spanish ports in the Indies, but

were free to traffic, even *there, with ** all other princes, potentates, *|58
and peoples.”* To the Spaniards this can bardly have implied a per-
mission to found colonies; but the Dutch, at least in private, were hardly
likely to share this view,? and in 1614 we find both the States General and
the provincial Estates of Holland seeking to encourage discovery and settle-
ment by general provisions granting to the finders a temnporary monopoly
of trade. That such enterprises were, however, not wholly safe may be in-
ferred from the fact that in 1618 the Zeelander Jan de Moor and his part-
ners asked permission to arm their ships engaged in trade with the West
Indies; and that the government was concerned to protect the truce is
shown by its granting this only under pledge that they should not be used
except in self defense.® Throughout the period of this truce I have lighted
on no mention of Guiana colonies in any official record, but this by no
means disproves their existence; long after their existence is certain the
effort to keep them a secret is demonstrable, and they scarcely appear in
Dutch official papers till after the Treaty of Miinster.

That there had been some attempts, at least, at settlement in
Guiana may be gathered from a certain confidential report *made *150
just at the end of this truce, on January 25, 1621, to the Stadhouder,
the city of Amsterdam, and the directors of the East India Company, as
to the best regions for seitlement in the western seas. The author, one
Comnelis Janssen Vianen, who tells us that he has voyaged to Guinea, to
the West Indies, along the coasts of Chile and Feru, and so around the
globe, and believes he has in these travels ‘ found the proper means to
touch the Spaniard where he is weakest,” thus writes of Guiana:

Bixthly, as to the opinion of some that notable profit could be made
from sundry plantations and fruits, which one must first find and plant, on
the continent of America between Brazil on the east and the river of Orinoco
on the west, in and about the river Amazon.

I anawer that sundry of our Netherlanders have there as yet by the
means described made but small profit, although up to the present the
trade there in peace; and it is not to be doubted that, if an attempt ahnu]g

be made with superior force to win the country, and through such produc-
tion to drive out of the market any of the products of Brazil and the West

! Domont, Corpe dipl., v, pp. 99-100. CL Van Bees, |, p. 336,

* It was in 18049, the very year of the Troce, thal the great Dutch publicist, Hugo (irotius, published
(st first snonymoosly ) his famous Mare (iberem, whose axpress purposs it was W show that Bpalo (now, of
coures, inclasive of Portogal) bad no right to the mosopaly of the ssas or of the trade of the ladies, In
1814 the work appeared in [lolch tramslation. Ita foll Uie ia: “ Free Navigalion, or Demonsfration of
the right of the Duich o trade with the [ndios ™ | Vrye Zeevaeri, ofis Bewys van "trecht dat dew Hollanders foe-
compl ower de [mdische Coophandel]. In soocossive chapters the suthor argues thal the Portogusss (aad
hooos, of coarse, Lthe Bpaniards) have no right of lordship over the natives becanss of disopery, or of
Fapal gift, or of cenguesi; snd, after demossirstiog also the freedom of the ses, he concludes hia work
with & chapier showing “ That the Dutch ought o retain thelr right to the Indias trade—be it o peace.
be it in troos, be it In war.”™ He doss ool spsak ol coloples; bot the extension of bls argoment was

“’.
3 Zasland Admiralty, Minstes, July 18, 1818 (Hagos Rijksarchiaf).
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Indies, the Spaniard will make a powerful effort to hinder it, the more so
as thereby his commercial waters in Brazil and the West Indies would be
obstructed, It is therefore iny opinion that little is to be amumgliahad
there, in view of the impending war - for experience has taught us here at
home that the lands exposed to war yield little or no profit.!

Their duration, however, was probably but transient. When in 162]
there was created a Dutch West India Company with monopoly of Dutch
commercial and colonial interests on the coasts of America. the only claim
for reimbursements mentioned anywhere in the records is that made by

the Zeelanders for their * tobacco-plantation on the river Amazon.”?
*180 But their foes have left us further evidence. From *dispatches of

the government of Trinidad and Spanish Guayana, reprinted by Great
Britain from the Spanish archives of the Indies, we learn of a certainty that
by June of 1813 the Dutch were established in the Corentyn,? and, though
they were driven from there the next year by the Spaniards, were alleged
to have already three or four more settlements between the Amazon and
the Orinoco—four from the Wiapoco to the Orinoco, says a later letter of
the same year. Two of these, according to a letter of the year 1615, were
on the Wiapoco and the Cayenne, baving been established in 1614 (s0 the
confused passage seems to mean) by Theodoor Claessen of Amsterdam*—
that on the Wiapoco, according to another letter, by two merchants of
Flushing. It is probable that these others were on neighboring rivers, that
on the Corentyn being the westernmost.

Nor does all this wholly lack confirmation from Dutch records. In the
archives at The Hague there is, or was, an ancient sketch map of the

Cayenne, bearing no date but showing settlements with the names of
*181 Dutchmen appended; this De Jonge *long ago suspected to belong to
a very early attempt at colonization. And the Zeeland directors, in
their memorial of 1751, cite a certain request addressed in 1689 to the West

1 Extraota, pp. 87, B8,

¥ See the printad minutes of the Holland Estates for 1821, under date of April 8th and April 30th.
Even from this Amazon setilement the Dutch were expelled in 1035 (see nots, p. 148, above),

" To the fact of this Dutch colony om the Corentyn, though not Lo its precise date, there is Duleh
Leatimony aleo. ™ Os this river Coreolyn,” writes Jan de Laci In the carliost aditiog (1828) of hls Niewwe
Werelds, ** we Dutchmen traded aod slso kept people there many years ago (veel jaren gheeden); their
High Mightinesses, the States-Geoeral, had graoted a charter therefor (Aaddem dasr Oeofroy ran veriesnt).”

 Blus Book *' Venrruels No. 1" pp. 82, 88 “ Venesuela No. 2" pp. 204-304,

* Do the map of Jan de Laet, first poblished in 1825, and probably drafied in 1824 (De Last's preface
is dated November 18, 1424, there appoar slong the coast and rivers sast and west of the Wispoco and
Cayenne, aa well as ou these streams themselves, o number of the tioy circles which slsawhere on this
map lodicats villages, Evropean or native. To most of them no names are sttached, and they lndicats
posaibly Indian towns, possibly settlementa; but it is noticeable that the westersmost are on the Corentyn.
{(They are oddly retained, with no sdditions, in the maps of Biseaw.) Quits spart from this, the inter.
pretation of which is doubtful, it 1a bighly probable that It was the westernmost seltlemest wh'eh would
most attract Spanish notice and Spanish hostility ; aad this seema from the Spasish documents to have
boen just the case with that on the Corentyn, Afer the colony oo the Essequibo is knawn to be satah.
lished, we find all Spanish aggression dirscted against that,

* De Jonge, i, pp. 85, 51. No map answeting his description can now be found.
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India Company by the veteran Zeeland merchant, Jan de Moor, which is
gaid to show that as early as 1813 the Guiana colonies were in full exist-
ence. !

To all this evidence drawn from other sources should be added that,
positive and negative, uf the English colonizers, Leigh, Harcourt, and
their fellows, whose ventures about the Wiapoco were in precisely the
region where Dutch settlements are earliest vouched for by the Spanish
papers. Yet, though we have from these undertakings several reports of
one sort or another, and though evidence of rival Dutch enterprises would
unquestionahly have been of value in allaying the hesitation caused by
the Spanish sympathies of Kiog James, we find in them no mention of
Dutch settlements outside the Amazon. Harcourt in 1608 made a careful
exploration of the coast as far west as the Marowyn, and in his detailed
Relation (printed in 1613, and reprinted in Purchas’s Pilgrimes, 1625, vol. iv,
pp. 1267-1283), he expressly says (p. 1278 of Purchas):

i X tuuk ion of the Land, hy Turfe and Twigge, in behalfe
ul’uur Sovere rd King James: [ took the said possession of a part,
in name of t n whnle Continent of Guiana, lying betwixt the rivers of
Amazones, and Ore ¢, not beeing actually possessed, and inbabited by

any other Christian Prince or State; wherewith the Indians seemed to be
a{I content and pleased.

The territory granted him by the English King's charter stretched from
the Amazon to the Essequibo.

* Among the British colonial papers there exists a document ad- *162
dressed to tha King, evidently emanating from Harcourt or one of his
colleagues. It bears no date, but has by the editors of the Calendar of State
Papers been conjecturally ascribed to January, 1623. It can not bave been
written later than March, 1625, the date of James’s death, Its objectis toset
forth “*breife motives " to maintain the right of the English * unto the River
of Amasones and the Coast of Guiana.” * Your Majesty’s subjecta ™ it begins,
“‘many yeares since found that countrie free from any Christian Prince
or State or the subjects of any of them.” * Your Majesty’s subjects with
the faire leave and good liking of the pative inhabitants have theis 13 or 14
yeares cootinoallie remayned in the said River and also in the River of
Wiapoco being upon the same Coaste.” *‘ Your Ma™ hath bine pleased to
graunte severall Commissions for these parts, and (w* good advice of your
Councell) hath granted two severall lettera Pattents the one in the 11™ of
your Raigne of England, the other, the 17*.” *' The Count of Gondomer?
did bouldhie and most confidentlie affirme that his Master had the actuall
and present possession of theis parts; whereupon he obtained of your

\ Nederfandechs Jaarbocken, 1781, i, p. 1088, The year 1813 Is thoa the rerlicst date to which the
Zseland Chamber of the Weatl [ndia Company In 1781, (o its desperate search for evidence to sustaln jts
mosopoly of the Essequebo trade, could carry back the Gulapa coloples, though it used In that search
historical resords now lost

¥ (Jondomar was ths Spanish smbassador in Eagland.
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Ma™ a suspence and stay of all our proceedings for a tyme. Awmd two
yeares and a halfe afterward the said Embassadour caused about 300 men
to be sent into the River of Amazones, then to beginn the foresaid posses-
gion and to destroy the English and Dutch there abideinge.™!
In 16268, after the accession to the English throne of Prince
#1643 Charles, to whom his book had been dedicated, Harcourt *published
a fresh edition of his Relation, much revised and enriched. Among
the added passages is this interesting account of the above mentioned
Spanish attempt to purge Guiava of strangers (p, 7):

And here I think it fit to give notice of the dealing of a Spanish
Ambassadour (whilest be resided in England) against these men [the
English colonists in Guiana], after he had procured them to bee altogether
abandoned by their owne Country, by his false suggestions, and violent
importunity: For not content and satisfied to have wrought a suspension
of all proceedings upon the Patent of the Amazones . . . he was still
troubled at the leaving of a hundred persons in those parts . . . and
underhand made a dispatch into Spaine, to procure a Force to supplant
and ruine them; whereupon 8. ships were sent from Spaine, that had their
directivns and commission to fall in with Brasill, and to take in there a
competent force to effect the same: which shipe with 300. Portugals and
Spaniards, accompanied with about 1500. of their Indians in their Periagos

came into the river in the pursuite of this designe, . . . [whereupon]
way (at last) was given unto the enemie, by running up farther into the
Country and the inland parts, . . . 8o that the enemie . . . were

forced to withdraw themselves into their ships, and to depart the river,
leaving some of their men thereabouts, then to beginne that actual pos-
session, which the Count of Gondomar had two years before bouldly
affirmed to be in being on the behalfe of his Master, when hee obtained the
w of the forementioned Patent of the Amazones, and of all the pro-

ings thereupon; which act of his, may (perhape) be esteemed in the
number of his greatest practises amongst us.

The mischiefe intended unto our Country men, was bitterly, at the
same time, effected upon divers Dutchmen, to the lusse of their lives,
because they were more loosely seated, and more openly exposed unto the
enemie upon the borders, or Islands of the maine river.

The men left there by the Spaniards, were afterward chased quite
n:ay by the English going aboard the next Dutch ships that came into
the river.

Already in his first edition (1613) Harcourt had stated that sam-

*164 ples of the commodities of Guiana were to be seen, not *only in his
own custody, but also **in the hands of Master Henry Hovenaar a
Dutch-man, who in the yeare of our Lord 1610. performed a voyage to
Guiana, to the places where our Company was seated, and now or lately
did abide in Thames-streete, neare unto Cole-harbour.” To this he adds,
in the new edition of 1826: ‘‘T'he like examples have bene often (since that

1 S0 Calendar of Stats Papers, Colowial Series, 15741680, pp. 88, 87. For a certified transeript of
this document, ma of several others from the Paublic Record Office, I am Indebted Lo the courtesy of Her
Majesty’s Govarnment. For ressons why I suspect that the document should be deled s year or iwo
later, ses p. 177, vote 4.
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lime) produced both by Englishmen, Dutch, and Frenchmen, that yearely
retarne from thence.”

In concluding his argument Harcourt again (p. 76) urges the King of
England to the " obtaining and gaining the Soveraigntie of so many great,
spacious, and goodly Countries and Territories, not yet actually possessed,
and inhabited by any Christian Prince or State whatsoever."

It is clear, too, that as late as 1609 Harcourt and his party, the English-
men most likely to know and most interested in knowing, supposed the
Spaniards still occupying the Essequibo; for it is in the closing months of
that year that his cousin, Unton Fisher, whom he had left in the Marowyn
for further exploration, reports on the testimony of an old Indian that
‘““now bee [the Spaniard | hath cleare left Dissikeehee and not a Spaniard
there.” The only mention of the Dutch which I find in this report from
Harcourt's westernmost explorer is where, in this same passage of 1604,
Unton Fisher tells how the old Indian had come down to the mouth of the
Surinam, hearing that the Dutch were there, to trade with them for axes:
but this probably refers only to a trading ship.*

This silence of the English explorers as to Dutch settlement in Guiana
can not weaken the force of the positive Spanish testimony, which
makes it certain that as early as 1813, and at *least until 1615, the *165
Dutch were settled on this coast. Bul, in view of it, it is very un-
likely that, save in the Amazon, they were there much earlier; and both
the English and the Spanish evidence, as well as the Dutch, suggest that
these earliest Dutch settlements may have perished in their infancy, and
in part or wholly at Spanish hands.

To these must be added the testimony of the later Englishman, Major
John Scott, who, not far from 1670, in his account of the colonization of
(Guiana, wrote thus of what he thought the earliest Dutch settlement:

The fifth colony consisted of about 250 Zealanders, with two small
shipe, landed their men at Cayan, anno 1615, but could not bring the natives

to a trade; were often gauled by the Indians, and were at length forced to
quit their post. Returned to Zealand the same year.

The worth of this last authority must be discussed in connection with
the statements as to another Guiana colony, whose story it is now time to
take up. Suffice it for this first chapter to have reached, with 1613, a date
at which the existence of Dutch colonies in Guiana is certain.

Thus far my resultsa may be summed up as follows:

1. The earliest Dutch expedition to the coast of Guiana, then conceived
of as a part of the Spanish kingdom of Peru, reached that coast in 1598,
This expedition was formally recognized by the Dutch States-General itself
as ome to a place theretofore unvisited by Netherlanders.

! Duteh sbips irading 1o 1he Wiajoco are alsc mastionsd by the alightly carlier English explorer,
Charles Laigh, in 1801, This (snd the ssricus misunderstanding of it by the Blue Book) has beeu

poisted oul by Professor Jamesoo (p. §7, abuve). Purchas, lo bis Pilgrimage, has two or thres other
initances of Doteh iraders @et oa the Golesa coast mt thin period.
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3. The earliest Dutch settlement on this coast may possibly have been
on the Amazon in the yvear 1600; but the earliest date at which the exist-
ence of any Dutch occupation can he affirmed with certainty, or even with
probability, is the year 1613

3. Of any claim by the Dutch to Guiana as a whole, or to any part of
its western coast, there ig thus far no intimation.

*166 *2. THE DUTCH IN THE ESSEQUIBO.

That there is no credible evidence for the presence of the Dutch in this
river prior to the year 1613 has already been seen.! All ascertions of their
presence there before the foundation of the Dutch West India Company in
1621 go back to two documents alone. These are aught but confirmatory
the one of the other; and each deserves a closer study. Longest known
and implicitly (with more or less of distortion) followed by most later writers
is the memorial submitted to the States-General, on August 23, 1751, by
the directors of the Zeeland Chamber of the West India Company, in de-
fense of its claim to the colony of Essequibo.? Its aim was of course a
thoroughly partisan one. In the report published in the same behalf a year
earlier (in ibe autumn of 1750) by the provincial Estates of Zeeland, this
(Guiana colony was alleged to have been in existence and in the hands of
the Zeelanders prior to the establishment of the West India Company in
1621; but the only document adduced in support of this was an account

book of the year 1827, which could bardly prove anything of the
*167 sort.®* The Amsterdam Chamber, in the *reply drawn up by it

(January 9, 1751) at the request of the States-General, had passed
lightly over this point, resting its claim on action of the Company at a
ninch later period, and content with referring somewhat loftily to the
published literature of the subject as showing that Hollanders, too, had
traded to the Guiana coast before 1621.¢ But the Zeeland direetors felt
the claim important, and in their answering memorial (August 23, 1751)
came to its support with what seems fresh evidence and with the skill of
finished casuists.

! As to Its esrlier occupation by other Europeans see Professor Jumeson's report (pp. 48-82) and my
own paper Ow the Hisforical Mape (in vol, Iii, pp. 188191,

* The autograph orlginal of this document Is In vol, 2008 of the West India papers, in the Dutch
Rijlsarchief. 1t was officially printed, and was prioted in the Nederlandschs Jasrbosken for 1781, pp,
1079-1 138,

** Welke Colowie reeds by de Komur Zeelawd bekemd en bevarew is geweest, ten lyie van hat vevloemen
run't Octrooi fen jare 1621, witwysens de owdats Bocken em Rogisiers, n onder andeve sen Jowrnasl Boek wan
1627. in opwolging van dat van Comyn, in Evsequebo pehouden, doends Rekewing van desselfs Administratic
arn de Heeren Majoors van de Wilde Kvat in Zocland."—{ Nod, Jaerbocken, 1700, p. 1494.)

* " Bn mel goem weerder gratie word berogpen fol de rerats onidekking van Guajana e ot beraren van dis
Laudstreek sederd et jaer 1098 tof Aef jaer 1670, for.  Want am Ue Hoog Mog. wist ap te houden met rew
historirel werhasl wan de Bquipagion 200 wel wit Hollond, als van dders op de gemelde Kust soor Aet jaer 1881,
godaen en waer van do prablicke en mal den druk gemecn gemoelite Schritten overrisedige petnigemin geevem,”
ot —{ Nod Jasrbosken, 1751, p. 194 ) ]
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Beginning their argument with a reminder of the project of Ten Haeff in
1509, they bring into close connection with him a list of later Zeeland
founders of American colonies, without feeling it necessary to point out
that the earliest of these hegan his activity in 1626, and that they have but
borrowed the names from an old West India Company record book covering
the period 1626-1671. ** It is true,” they now add, in a sentence well calcu-
lated to muddle all later research, ‘* that, as regards the colony of Esse.
quibo, the name of the first projector and founder thereof we have not
yet heen able with certainty to learn; yet it is nevertheless more than
probable that it was first visited and colonized by the Zeelanders, namely,
so far as can be traced, by a certain Joost van der Hooge, who thereafter
was also the first director of the Zeeland Chamber, and that, if not for
several years before the creation of a General West India Company (a con-
clasion to which much color is given hy a certain request presented to the
Board of Nineteen in the year 1630 by Jan de Moor, wherefrom it be-
comes *apparent that already as early as 1613, and so eight years before *164
the charter was granted to the West India Company, the colonies on
the Wild Coast were already in full existence), at least by the time of the
begiuning of that Company such an establishment must already have existed
there, in view of the fact that in the first mentions of the river Essequibo in
the books, registers, and minutes of the Company then brought into exist-
ence one finds this colony spoken of as of an already established possession,
strengthened by a fort which then bore the name of Fort der Hooge, after
an old noble Zeeland family near of kin to that of the noble lords van
Borsselen, and shortly thereafter the name of Kykoveral, and yet without
the slightest shadow of accompanying evidence that this had come about
through the Company or at its order, as would in that case certainly appear
in the resolutions of that hody, and nevertheless the Zeeland Chamber was
at that time in possession of that river and that fort, and also of the trade
which was therecarried on —these being, perhaps, brought into their hands
by those individual founders themselves, who afterwards, as we have
already seen, formed a part of the Zeeland Chamber of the said Company
and were made directors thereof, as, for example, Messieurs Van der
Hooge, Ten Haef, Elfsdyk, Van Peere, and others, who had theretofore
traded to the aforesaid coast, were elected and installed as directors in the
aforesaid Chamber.”

* But be this as it may,” they continue, taking breath in a fresh para-
graph, ‘' so long as from the side of the Amsterdam Chamber not the
slightest evidence can be produced that the aforesaid colony and river, be-
fore or at the beginning of the Company, was traded to by the Holland-
ers or by any other inhabitants of the State except the Zeelanders, it may
safely be concluded, on the hereinlefore specified and more than
*probable grounds, that the inhabitants of Zeeland alone and exclu- Ity
sively, from the beginning on, have traded to the aforesaid river,

! Bea pp. 148, *147, above,
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When in 1657 the control of the Essequibo had passed into the hands
of the three Walcheren cities (Middelburg, Flushing, and Vere), and they
had planted in its region their new colony and had given it the new name
of Nova Zeelandia, there stood on the bank of the Pomeroon, we are told,
not only the fortress Nieuw Zeeland, and below it the village Nieuw Mid-
delburg, but a little farther downstream the ** Huts ter Hooge "—believed
to have been a fortified lookout.! The Zeeland Estates, in their paper of
1750, fell into the error of supposing the colony of Essequibo to have borne
from its outset the name of Nova Zeelandia.? This the Zeeland directors
corrected; but is it not possible that they fell into the kindred error of for-
gelting the site and date of the Fort ter Hoogel

The other document which gives for the foundation of the colony of
Essequibo an earlier date than 1621 lies in the library of the British
Museum, where it bears the mark ** Sloane MSS,, 8662.” It is a thin bound
volume, lettered on its back, ** Var. Tracts on the E. and W. Indies.” The
book is, however, all written by a single hand; and the author has made

no effort to conceal his identity, for the volumne begins with an
*173 *elaborate preface, to which he bas signed at the end his name in
full--**Jobn Bcott.” It is an auvtograph fragment, or rather a
collection of sketches and materials, belonging to an unpublished and
probably never finished work on the islands, and coasts of America,
*174 from Newfoundland to the Amazon,® and *its author is that
Major John Scott, once of Long Island, who after an all too prom-

-_

! The uitimate source lor this stalemeot and for the maps (e, g, Bouchenrosde:'s) which st down
thess places on the Pomercos, | suspect to be the Middelburg geograpber Arent Roggeveen, fn his
Brandemde Feen, whose text was writlen whils the colony was still In existence, and whaose sathority, as
be expressly tells us, is that of Cornalis Uoliat, who was the engineer of this colony. But Roggeveen
spells this ou bis map 't Huye der Hooghte,” and in hie text * 't Huys der Hooght"; 1. 0., probably, " the
bouse of the beight "—for & height well suited to fortification we know thers was st or abont (his polat.
That Roggevesn, a Middelburger and & contemporary, coald so have caricatored the familiar name of
“Ter Horge,” had he found that in Gollet's ehart, is inconceivable, Ar to Golist and Roggeveen, ree
also pp. 214-217.

* Nederianmdsche Jasrboeken, 1760, p. 1494,

* In bis preface Scott himsell thas describes the scope and method of the projected work :

“In my yooth [ was s great lover of Geographie and History in Generall, but aboute the Eighleenth
years of my age I tooke up & resolution to make America the scene of the greatest actions of my life, and
thers 1o sett mywelfe & worke (if possible) to finde out the Latitudes, the Lomgitndes, and to know the
oridgioall discovery with the situations of all places both on the Contineot and In the islands ; s also the
names of Persons and of what Natloas they were who have porsessed them, and what fortane esch Nation
hath had, and (ss neare as | could) the lortuns of the severall governo™ succorsively, and of the respective
Collonies, the most remarkable disternpers and diseasss, the Commodityes abounding and sdvantages of
irade, what places were more or less Tenable of Nature, and what were made strong by fortifications, in
w' manner, and to what degres; Morsover how thoss Culonles bave prospered or decliced in Trade, in-
creased or decreased in number of Inhabitants from Europe, and the proper causes thereol; Together wi
the strenth [sic] of the seversll Indian Nations, their costomea Guver nmenta, and Commodities, sod what
sdvantages may be made of thew in poiot of Warr or by Trade. [ labour'd likewise Lo diseover the
Rocks, Sandes Shelves, and Soundioge about every Island, snd in the Eotrance of all Ports, Haveos,
Hivers, and Creeks, as well oo the Terra firma as the lslands, my scope st first belng only for my owne
particalar sattisfaciion, but now I am not ont of hope these things may be buth of some repotacion to my
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inent part in the politics of New England and New York had fled to
Barbados, and who while there had been chosen to lead the expedition
which in 106568 captured for England the Dutch colonies in Guiana.'
Among the chapters here completed are those on Guiana and on the West
Indian islands Barbados, Grenada, and Tobago. The first named of these
chapters, with a long extract from the second, was a few years ago tran-
scribed by a colonial scholar (though apparently without discovery

of its authorship) and published *in A Guiana newspaper.? Thence *I75
it was copied into the book of a miesionary, Bronkhurst,® and so
reached the world of scholars. Its reception by historians has not been
flattering, and the name of its author will hardly add greatly to its weight,

selfs, and & geserall advantage io the English Natlon, by which especially 1 shall have my end aad reckoa
these sighleens yeares last past, by runsiag through all mausmer of dangers (at seve'll times) to make Col.
lections and Observations, have been spent to good parpose for my Country, and thereby pot mee In pos.
seasion of the greatest felicity that can befall & man in this life.

“ I had once & purpose to have given you & large diseriptios of all Americs, but then consldering the
Spanish Indies had not onely been performed by other Authors but thoss Authors especlally such as are
Autheatick bave writ sothing for thelast 80 yearss . . . besides I was loath to cloy the World with
loag THacourses about old Matters w* would not have ansspsct on such affairs as are proper for cur Con.
sideration, but choss rather to give new accounts from observations of my owoa (or such liring Testi.
moales & | could eredit) Touching those places we have not been suffiiently eett lorth by any man before
me: Purpossly omitting that part of the Spanish Indies that 1 have poe knowledge of . . . [Ichose
rather to content myselle with w' (in great part) I know, what my owoe eyes have seen, and much of what
my fost have trodden, and my sences brought voder an exact inquiry, confloelog my selfe with the River
Amazon oo the Bouth . . . That River parts Brazile and Gulsss, and its mouth is crossed by the
Equisoctiall Line ; from whenes in my Mapps and History | pass Northward to Newfound Land.

= Mors thas 1800 miles aloag the shore, surveyiog all the Islands worth nottios [sic] comprehended
within thet vast part of the Atlastick Ocean one hondred snd six of which lalands I bave been Parscnally
npon, bave Travelled most parta of New England and Virginia, and & greate part of Guisos, and other
places of the Maine between the Troplck of Cancer and the forementioned grand River, and w Shipps
snd Barqoes hare ssyled into very masy of the Rivers, Bayes Ports, and Creeks within the two boaodaries
of this discription. As for those places which have not come under my sarvey, and the Originall of many
of the Coloutes, whether English, Spanish, French, or Dutch whoes [sic] plantacions are settled beyond the
Memory of any man that [ sould meet with, in such cases | took my measares from the best ssthors ma
Herers Ovids and Acceta among the Spaniards, Thunis & Grave Authour among the Fronch, Joha Delast
among the Dateh and from many other Authours and sev'll curious manascripts that came to miy hand
besides the Carts [mic] of which [ ever labour Lo gett the best extant and besides actually to covercs [sic]
with good Arilets that bad besn upon the plsce, and sach persons [ ever strove to oblldge and draw to
me of w* Nation soover they were ; | made |t my businsss likewise to purchase or borrow all the historys
and Joarnalls that [ soald hesre of whether Lattin Ittallian Spanish or Portogais Freach Dutch or in our
Language, wherein | may say | have by reasoo of s geoersll gensrous conversation had lnck sxirsor.
:l-q.udh-rﬂ.-*p-innlhﬂuhi-mmdlhn been att in 80 Notorious, that over and above
tbas knowlsdge of & grest aumber of Geatlsmen which [ have been oblidged too [#ic] for & Communication
of printed books, Maonuscripts, Paticats Commissions, and papers relsting to those parts, the many booke.
sallers of Eagland sad Holland will doe me Hight to testifie my continoall inquisition.”

1 For the passages in which SBoott himesil tells the story ol this captare and describes the Guisna of
his tims, see Extracts, pp. 138-157, His part in this expedition i slse known, sed Professor Jameson,
who knew of the manoseript through Broakhuret's extracts, had already (p. 84, above), from thils internal
evidence, eatablished the Identity of its suthor.

8 The Rowal Gasafte, Georgetown, July 24, 1879,

' The Coleny of British Gugana and ile Labouring Popaslation, london, 1883,
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for Bcott’s reputation for accuracy of statement is not unimpeached.! His
facilities for information were, however, remarkable, and especially so for
Guiapa.® For his statement as to the founding of the colony of Essequibo
in 1616 by one Captain Gromwegle,®* and for the reasons why it muast be
doubted, I may refer to the report of Professor Jameson.

I have only to add that my own examination of the manuscript records,
while vindicating Scott in assigning to 1664 the death of Groenewegel, and
while carrying back to 1645 that governor’s advent in the colony, brings
to light no earlier mention of him in the books of the West India Com-
pany, and convinces me that be could not earlier have been commandeur
on the Essequibo. That in 1818 he or any other built there a fort seems
unlikely from the fact that a fort needed to be built there in 1627.¢ That he
may in that year have come to some other Guiana colony is not impossible,
though the records of the Zeeland admiralty for this and the adjacent years

fail to show the name of such a captain.® In view of the fact that
*176 *Scott credits to Groenewegel's *‘ ingenious observations ” ouly a

part of the particulars of this story, and in view of his demonstrable
inaccuracy as to dates and names in what else he tells us of the beginnings
of colonization in Guiapa, I think it must be felt that, though there are
doubtless elements of truth in his story, his authority is much too slight
for a statement else so unsupported, and so incousistent with facts better
known.® Isit not more probable that Scott has confused with the original
establishment of the Dutch in the Easequibo the founding of the first

! See Lhe cilations of Prolessor Jameson, p. 84, above. [L o U. 8. Com. Report, vol. |, p. 84.]
Lord Willoughby, there quoted. koew him well and waa by no means an ofriendly witness,

! Bee (in addition to nole, p. *174) Extracts, pp. 184, 130, and p. 135, note.

* 30, and oot Gromweagle, as HBronkhurst priots it, it is always spelt in the manuseript—ol coarse,

of Lhis Drilel Fromimepal,

4 Bea p. 180, below. Had it beem merely the repair of so old fort that was peeded, or aven ita ro
placemant by a new one, this would almost certaloly have been showsn by the wording of the record.
Trus, between 1616 and 1837 a fort might have been destroyed and sbandoned ; but snch an svent was
likaly Lo leave trace in record or tradition.

* These records are lor this period complete sl The Hagoe ; and between 1815 and 1881, at least, no
such name can be found in them.

* Among these betler known facts (in addition to the evidence, nagative and positive, derived from
Dulch records) are the lollowing : 8ir Walter Raleigh, in 1817, on that second voyags to Guisna which
resulted in the sack of S3anlo Thomé, the Spanish settloment in the Orinooco, thus writes, in his journal,
under date of Decenber 10, of his instructioos to the party sent up that river: * [ also gave them order
to seod ioto [Dessekebs for | assured them that they could not want Pilotis ther for Orencks, being Lhe
maxt great river adjoyniag unto it, and to which the Spaniards of Orinoke had dayly recourse” Now,
Sir Walter Ralelgh, despite bis long impriscament, was perbaps the best posted Eoropean of his time as
to the affairs of Guisna, Moreover, he bad brooght with him snd had just put ashore st Cayense for
trade with the [odians two Dutchmen, and had hoboobbed in thet port with the captais of & Dutch trad.
ing-sbip, " one Jansoo of Flushing, who had traded that plance about & dussen yeares.” It is searcely com-
ceivable that, had thers been then & Dutch colony in the Essequibo, Ralsigh could have failed to learn it
Even Sir Robert Schomburgk iofers from this that the Duoteh weore not then in Essequibo, and in bis foot.
nole on the passage, reconciles it with his theory of an earlier Dutch occupation of that river by mating
that, thoogh ** the lutch were hers established as early as 1380-90," * they were, however, driven from
their scttlements by the RBpaniards, assisted Ly the Indians "—he j= rlearly 1linking of the slleged ex.
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colony of planters there—the Nova Zeelandia of the Walcheren
cities—in 18581 Of the latter *Groenewegel was, as we shall pres- *177
ently see, indeed, the first Commander, and 8o in a sense the founder.

In June, 1621, the truce with Spain having now expired, there came at last
into existence the long-projected Dutch West India Company. Its charter
granted it monopoly of trade over all the coasts of America, both Atlantic
and Pacific, not to mention West Africa, the islands, and the Antarctic
continent, and this without a suggestion of frontier within these bounds.
All existing Dutch colonies on these coasts passed, therefore, into its hands.
The only claim for reimbursement which finds mention in the official
records is one made by the Zeelanders for their ** tobacco plantation on the
Amaszon.”! Of other establishments on the South American coast nothing
is heard.

Even after the grant of the charter, however, the Company was long in
organizing. The stock had first to be taken up. The Zeeland shareholders
did not meet till May 26, 1693,* to choose the directors of the Zeeland
Chamber; and the supreme board of the Nineteen, made up of deputies
from this and the other chambers, first came together on August 3, 1628,°
Among the items of business prescribed for this opening session one finds
mention of the coast of Brazil, at the one side of Guiana, and the Punta de
Araya, the salt depot, at the other, but no word of the Wild Coast
itself.* We learn, *however, that already a ‘' goodly number of *178
colonists " are presenting themselves. Bat it is not until the session
of September 10, 1624, that one reads among the topics for consideration:

The deputies of Zeeland will please bring with them the instructions
given to the ships bound for the Amazons, and further information as to the
condition of things in that quarter ; and the deputies of all the chambers

paleion of Duichmen from the Mornos in 1598, That both thess latter sssumptions sre errors ls of mo
coméequence o the question mow In band. (Bee Ralelgh, Discowsris of Guwisna, od. Bebomburgk, pp.
106-208.) In the second place, Fray Pedro Simon, the contemporary SBpanlsh historlas, writing st Bogoth
withio the same deceds, narruies in mach detall the chastisement by the Spaniards, ln 1819, of the hostlls
Arawsks (n the Pomeroon, the Essequibo, and tho Berbioe. What is more, he states that these Indiass
bave, ap to Lhalr eorruption st this time by the Eoglish (he mesns Ealelgh's party), been always the
frisnds of the Bpanlerds, Ha dlearly knows sothing of any presencs of tha Dutch in thess rivern. (Hes
his Noticies, pp. 884888, snd Prolessor Jumesson's report, p. 81, above.)

1 As to this foundation on Lhe Amason, see p. ® 148, abore, nots.

*This | lears from the minotes of the sharcholders thomselves (Hagoe, Rijksarchiel, West India
papers, vol. 4T0).

% Bo Lesiify the Niseteon's own minotes (West India papers, vol. 811 Of. Extrecta pp. 38, 89, nots,

 Yet, in the English docusnent quoted above (p. 102) from the British colonial papers, s document
conjeciarally calendared scder Jansary, 1638 (at which date no sessivn of the Dutch West India Company
had yet been held), cne reads: ~ The West [ndian Companis io Holland do now send (wo or three shipps
full of men voto the Amazones lntendings speedilie to supplie them w'* masie more for Plantation.” [t
woald be of valus Lo know the grounds for the aseription of ihe document Lo so early & date. Nothing is
ila comtents demands it ; and & time subsequent Lo the ruptare of the negotiations for the Spanish mar-
riage, In 188, would seem more coageslal o the preseatation of sech & memorial. The copy In questios
of the dosameat ls endorsed * For the Prince, his Highnes.”
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shall come instructed, so as to devise means for the securing of that region,
whether by the planting of suitable colonies or otherwise. '

At the session, however, after hearing the memorial of the Zeeland
deputies, nothing was done save to furnish a copy toeach of the chambers
for consideration and report.

Uanluckily, the loss of the later minutes of the Nineteen? leaves us in
the dark as to the immediate sequel; but from a passage in the Zeeland
memorial of 1751, possibly based on these records, we learn that in 1627
articles were adopted ‘‘ for the establishment of a colony on the Wild
Coast,”* and that on March 4, 1628, the Nineteen asked from the Zeeland
Chamber a written report on the *‘ colonies of the Amazons." A bright
light is also thrown on the Company's plans by their still extant form of
* Cornmission for Captains,” drawn up in 1626:* ** Since we bave under-
taken,” declare the directors, *‘ in virtue of the charter granted by the

States General of the United Netherlands to this Company, to send
*179 certain ships to *the West Indies, there to further the peopling of

uninhabited places, and among other things to build a fortress, in
order to be secure against the raids and invasions of the Spaniards and
other nations our foes, and since to accomplish this with the greater sure-
ness, we have need of a capable, true, and experienced person to have
command thereover as captain,” therefore they do appoint the candidate in
question.

But meanwhile there comes to our aid a body of records which from
now on will give far more definite information as to these Guiana colonies.
The minutes of the Zeeland Chamber itself, whose first volume (16823-1626)
has, alas, long been lost, are from May 4, 1626, onward for twenty years
(to May 81, 1648) preserved to us intact. We find, indeed, in these
precious volumes, for some time after their abrupt beginning, no explicit
mention of any colony. But already on May 21, 1626, it was * resolved to
look about for a capable person for director of the businees in the Ama-
zons; and if a capable one can be found to send him thither by the first
ship."* Of ships to the Amazons one hears abundantly.* On October 8,
1626, the Burgomaster Jan de Moor and Confraters Godin and Ten Haeff
were made a committee ‘* to report in writing what new trading places
within the limits of the charter might be found where it would be ad-
visable for the Company to cairy on business, in order that, on their re-
port, action may be taken by the Nineteen,”

And at last, on November 28, 1626, we find what I believe the earliest
mention in extant records of any Dutch establishment on the Essequibo:

! For the Dutch, ses Extracts, pp. §8, 3§,

* This first volume, slone pressrved, covers the period from Angust 3, 1423, Lo December 24, 1884,

¥ Nederlandshe Jasrbocken, 1781, pp. 1088, 1088, The srticles are probably those of whish oaly
u part in to be found ln the colooy-book of the Zeeland Chamber. See Extractas, p. 63

¢ For the document in full, see Extracts, pp. 40,41,

* See Extracts, p. 41,

® Sse Extracts, pp. 42-18, for examples.
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The committee on waresa is authorized to make up a suitable cargo to
the Amsazons for the yacht Arnemuyden.
To send with the aforesaid yacht Arnemuyden 20 ripen-
ing *youths, in order to land them in the Amazon, the Wiapoco, or *180
the uibo—wherever the folk of our Chamber may be found—for
the purpose of being employed there. And each of them shall be granted
2, 8, or 4 guilders a month, according to their capacities.!

Again, under December 10, 1628, we read:

Resolved, To let Jacob Canyn come home from Essequibo, as he asks
to do, and to fill his place with another.?

And only two days later, December 12:

Johannes Beverlander is taken into the service of the Com for
three years, to lie in the niver of Essequibo along with Jan van cﬁ::éoaa;
and that for twenty-one guilders a month.*

It is more than six months before there is again in these minutes any
mention of the Essequibo. Then, on August 28, 16274 it was, on report
of a committes—

Resolved, To raise the wages of Jan van der Goes in uibo, after
his first three years (for which be is bound to the Company), to ive pounds
Flemish a month, and to send the supplies asked by him, as is set down
in the request, together with other necessaries, and to authorize him to re.
tain five or six men out of the ship Arent, and that by next [ship] we shall
send him 30 men and cause a fort to be made.*

*Thereafter nothing more in 1627. But from these brief items *18]
out of the first year of its known existence I think it possible, if due
weight be given to what is omitted as well as to what is said, to draw with
safety two or three important inferences. First, that the establishment in
the Essequibo antedates May, 1628 Second, that so late as 1827 it was
still a trading post rather than a settlement, with not so much as a fort yet
erected. Third, that its commander, as yet & mere agent without a title,
had in Aogust, 1627, not yet completed the third year of his service. Itis
of course possible to reconcile all these with a longer Dutch occupation;
but, when taken in connection. with the absence of all authentic evidence

I For the Dutch, soa Extracia, p. 41
» Extracta, p. 45. [t has besn Inferred from this passage Lhat Canye was Commander of the Duteh

sslablishmest oo the Emequibo; and Is support of thls has been quoted the passage of the Zesland
Chamber's memorial of 1781, which speaks of  an scoount-book of 1827, In continnatioa of Lhat of Cooyn,
kepl in Essequibo, giving a report of its sdministration to the saperiors of the Wild Coast In Zeeland.”
{For the Duich of the entire passage, soe nots, p. 184, above.) This sccount-book (| Jonrmarl- Boek) can o
longer be foand. [t seema more plaasible to (afer from the two passages that Canya, or Conyn, was only
rlerk of the Esseqoibo post ; and the satry of December 12, by which Baverlander seems sent Lo taks his
place, while Jan van der Goes is named as in command, without any preosding or lollowing resolution for
Iris prometion, seems Lo me convinclog.

* Extracta, p. 44.

* The dale 1628, given by Nelscher for this entry. and from him borrowed by others, s only a
printer’s error.

¥ Extracts, . 45,
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for their earlier presence in that river and with the purpose of the West
India Company, so clearly implied in September, 1624, to plant new estab-
lishments on this coast, I think it not rash to conjecture that Jan van der
(roes was at the head of the first Dutch occupation of the Essequibo, and
that the beginning of that occupation was in or about the year 1625.

And I am able to add a bit of evidence which seems to me to raise that
conjecture to a practical certainty. In the year 1625 the Dutch merchant
and geographer Jan de Laet gave to the world the first edition of his New
World; or, Description of the West Indies. His preface, written after the
work was completed, is dated November 15, 1624, His book is one of
great zeal and industry, and of exceptional conscientiousness. Moreover,
Jan de Laet was from the outset a director of the West India Company,
and alive both to its intereats and to its new sources of information. Yet
in this edition of 1625 his description of the Essequibo is drawn mainly from

English sources. He quotes, however, in support of hisstatements as
*182 to its pavigation and products, * our people who some *years ago

visited this river.” Of the Spaniards he says that, according to the
account of the Englishman Masham, they had some people here in 1591
[1597], but ** seem to have come to naught again.” And a little further on,
in his description of the Orinoco, he tells us, following Raleigh, that
‘“among other traffics which the Spaniards there carry on, one is to go
with canoces to the rivers of Barima, Pomeroon, and Essequibo, and there
to buy women and children from the Caribs, and with great profit to sell
them again in Margarita.™

The book of De Laet met with great success. It became evident that a
new edition would be demanded. But before this appeared, in 1630, there
were some things which needed to be changed. On January 28, 1627, one
reads in the minutes of the Zeeland Chamber (De Laet was a member of
that of Amsterdam) this entry:

In reply to the letter of Confrater Jan de Laet asking of the Chamber
of Zeeland that it will please send him certain copies of log books of [voy-
ages to] the Amazons and elsewhere, consent is given, on condition that
he be instructed to send them back within a month or six weeks.?

It is significant that just these journals should have been asked. More
significant is the change, in the new edition, of the description of the
Essequibo. There is no mention, indeed, of Dutch settlement. On the
contrary, the allusion to an earlier Dutch visit to the Essequibo is stricken
out. But the account itself has grown fuller and more definite. The
English writers fall into the background. There is knowledge of the
Essequibo’s division above into three arms, and that good land lies on all
three. And the Spaniards no longer ‘‘seem to have come to naught,”

! Nuwws Wereldt, 1628, pp. 474, 475, 480,
¥ For the Dotch, see Extracta, p. 44,
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but ‘‘ have come to naught.” The passage *in the chapter on the *183
Orinoco is, however, retained—perhape by oversight.!

Now, it is quite possible that, had there been in 1630 no Dutch colony
on the Essequibo, Jan de Laet might still bave written his text of 1630; but
it is quite impossible that, had he known a Dutch colony there in 1624, he
could bave written his text of 1625.7

*] have dwelt on the beginning of the Dutch establishment in the *184
Essequibo, that I might, if possible, fix its date with certainty. What
needs to be told of ite growth may be told more briefly. In 1627 it seems
still but a trading post. But meanwhile other Guiana posts were becoming
colonies. Before the end of 1626 two bodiee of settlers had been gathered,
and early in 1637 were sent out, the one to the Wiapoco, the other to the
Cayenne.* In June of 1627 the Nineteen enacted a scheme of common
government for the Guiana colonies, present and to come, Cayenne to be
its seat and each of the others to send thither deputies;* and tempting priv-
ileges were insured to private founders of colonies. In the same month
they empowered Jan de Moor to send a fresh colony to Tobago.* In July
were sent out the settlers for the new colony of Abraham van Pere, on the

I Niswswe Weralds, 1680, pp. 577, G838,

* To be compared wilh these passages is also that deseriplion of Gulsna, published by Jan de Last la
another work in 1838, which is printed ln full at p. 355, balow.

, too, in this connection s a bit of English evidence. In Febroary, 1427, Capt. Heory

Powall landed on the island of Barbados, thee wholly oeinhabited, 40 or 80 English setilera. He Lhen

set out for the meighboring malnlend of Gulssa to boy from the Indisss materials for the plantation.

yoars later Fowell himself (in a petition for the retarn of the Indians be had thea carried off from

ths main—ths docurnent is la the Bodlelan Library, Rawlinsen MSS, O, 34, snd wes pricled by Mr. N,
Darsell Davis in Timehri for June, 1891) thos told the story of the expeditioa:

“ Haviog Joft the aforesald servants upon this Islasd, [ procesded ln my voyage to the Mayne, to the
river of Disscaba [Essequibo], and thare I loft 8 men, and left Lhem a cargeson of trade for that place.
And | traded with the Indians of the aforesaid Mayns for all things that was to ba golten for the planting
of this Island of the Barbsdoes. And coming dows the river of Disscaba, thers was thres cannoes wilh
Indianas of the people that I had trade with, followed we to the river's mouth and upoo & small Ialand at
the river's mooth went sshore, a little before might, faire by the shipps, and had a deslrs Lo speake with
ma. 1 went achore to them, and lay that night wpon the Island to koow thelr lataat to follow me so
farre. Thelr answer was that they did perosive by ye things that 1 had bought of them that [ was bournd
io plante ao Island thei lay to the Northward of them and that they had relation from iheir forefathors
that had been apos an lsland that way that was sot inhabited, and they desoribed the nama of the Tsland
o me, and that they had a desire Lo goo with me ss free peopls Lo manare those fruits, aad that [ should
allow them a place of land, the which [ did, and they would masure thoss fruits, and bring up their chil.
dren to Christisstle, snd that wo might drive s coastant trads betwesn the laland and the Mayms, for
thare was manis mors of the Indlans of that place, that had a desire lor o come for that Island, the nexi
yeare, if T would come ithers againe.”

It will be notioed that the Englishman had apparsntly no knowlsdge that there were thea Dulchmen
in the Essequibo. And this seems also cloar from another dooument of Caplals Powalls, & sworn state-
menat made by him in 1858 ; and also from the afidarit, In 1660, of & John Fowsll {probubly his nephew),
who was with him io this expedition. These two (from the libeary of Trinity College, Dublin, and from
the Bodlelas, respectively) ars likewise peinted in Timshri for June, 1891,

* fee Extracts, p. 43; aad, for further details, De Laot, Historis . . . vande . . . Wost-Fndische
Compagmia (1844), & 111, 113, and Netecher, Geschisdenis, pp. §3-57,

+ Bee Extracts, pp. 47-53.

* Bes Extracts, pp. 54, 55,
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river Berhice. A fort was to be built for them, and equipped with guns at
the cost of the Company.' But no colonists for the Essequibo. That the
Company reserved for itself, and had no mind to intrust to patroons: but
it neglected to colonize it for itself. It was this, I suspect, and eapecially
what was heing done for the neighboring river, which called forth
from Jan van der (Goes the complaint, perhaps the threat, which
one can divine behind the generous action of the Zeeland Chamber
on August 23, 1627, The Essequibo, too, they conceded, should have
its colonists and its forts; Jan van der Goes should receive his supplies
at once, and, if he would but be patient, in time a larger salary.
*185 *The five or six men to be retained from the Arent and the thirty
who were promised were very probably the desired colonists for the
Essequibo.® That the thirty were sent, there is little reason to doubt; for,
on April 10, 1628, it was voted ' to provision the yacht Armuyden for ten
months, and also for three months for as many colonists as are to go along.
The said ship shall go to the Amazon, the Wiapoco, the Cayenne, and so
on to the Essequibo, manned with 35 men. The same ship shall carry over
all the necessaries for the colonists.”4
That the promised fort was built is not so certain. Nor have we any-
where in these early years, except perhaps from the sentence of Jan de
Laet as to the whereabouts of the good land, a hint as to where in the
river the colony was planted. That ita center, if not its sole seat, was the
island at the junction of Mazaruni and Cuyuni is, however, made nearly
certain by several considerations. In the first place there is found nowhere
in later records any tradition of another site or of a removal. In 1764 the
Zeeland Chamber declared to the States-General that ** from all old time ™
the fort bad been at this place. Again, the island was the only natural
stronghold of ita sort. It was, moreover, probably suggested by a pror
occupation —an cccupation leaving a tangible inheritance in solid stone
walls which to the end were utilized in the Dutch constructions bere, and
which in part remain to this day.®

' Bee Extructs, p. 48,

* What is sald by Geoeral Netscher (p. 84) of the sltern stive destination of certaln colooksts in Nov.
smber, 1838, In an error, The passage sbout * Amazoa, Wlapoto, or Essequibo™ belongs only to the
" 30 ripening yootbs,” who were, of course, to be smployés st the Lrading posta,

i By * colonists,” however, most not be noderstood tillers of the soll, moch less free planters, * The
colony of Essequibo,” mid the Zeeland Chamber itself I 1781, In the memorial resulting from it search
through its own records, “ from the begiening on, down Lo the year 1884 was Inhabited oaly by sach per.
soas a8 were amployds of the Zeeland Chamber, and whoe . . ., si that tdme were called * oolonists *
and ware kapl thors for the carrylog on of irade, which soon grew Lo soch proportions that ln some years
= hondred barrels or more of aooatts dye came over at ooce,”—{ Nederfandpchs Jasrboskem, 1781, p. 1097}

¢ Extracta, p. 58; also p. 53 and pots.

U As to the origin of these nld walls of Fort Kykoveral there are three distlnet theorles. (1) That
tbey ars Spanish. The evidence aa Lo & Spanlsh cccopation of the Essequibo has boen discossed by Pro
femcr Jameson (pp. 45--83, sbove) and in my own paper Ow the Hislorical Mape (vol. Jil, pp. 188-191). (1)
That they are Portuguese. This belief frst sppears st the tme of its dismantling, in 1784, whea the Es
sequibo governor deseribed It as ™ an old Portuguese work, buflt extraordioarily tight aed stroog.” * Hall
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AB BEETCHED BY GENERAL NETBCHER N 1845
{5es mote, pp =05l )
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SECTION OF WALL OF FORT KYKOVERAL
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[See note. pp #i83-%87)
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*The colony was for lung not a commercial success. In 1032 the *186
Nineteen decided to abandon it.' as they had already abandoned, in
1631, that on the Cayenne.? The colopists, indeed, seem to have come
home in & body, Jan van der Goes at their head. But after conference
with him, the Zeeland Chamber (April 8, 1683)* voted not to give it up.
Abraham van Pere had offered to carry on the trade to Essequibo in con.

a domsn yeurs later, in 1770, Hartslock, in his Deseriplion of Guians, declared that * thia fort was, by the
thlﬂldqlmﬂhi-ml—llluiidiﬁl.hhmlhﬂhﬁbm'Dl]'ul.'ull:]lln.
runi (but was in 1784 brokes op, afler which there was bullt with the stoce s sogar windwill oo the
Company's plastation Dulnenborg. and later, In the year 1788, with the remainiag stone & slmilar mill on
ths Company's planiation Lulxrbergen),” and again that * Fort Kykoveral was built of hewn stone (surely
by the Portagusss, sinos the srma of that realm are cut in stons above the doorway)”—"' sekeriyk door de
Portugecsen: dewyl hei Wapen van dai Ryk boven di Poori it wilpchowwen.” (Brachrywing van Guiana, |,
pp. 37, 308, 382), (3) That they are Dulch, This has foand sopport In the statement of Major Joho
Seold (given In foll by Professor Jumeson on p. 68, above) that in 1818 & fort was boilt hers by the Dutch
capiala “ (lromwegle." The worlh of this svidence bas bean dlscussed both by Professor Jameson (pp.
84, 65) and by myself (pp. *173-°177). The Bt Rev. Willlao Hart Coleridge (Bishop of Barbudos and the
Lawward lales, 1824-1841), who oste visited this remots portion of bis dlocese, has loft & deseription of
the ruima which strasgely mingles Portaguess founders with the date smigned by Scolt to the Lwmteh,
Menticalng “ the old fort Kykoveral,” he remarks thal |t was * bullt in 1818," sod that thers remalos of
it & postern in brick, on the side remots from Cartabo. (Un the kay of the arob of this postern, he says,
ooe can make out, though hall sffaced, 1he Forlaguess arme. The wooden pillars which onoe sustained
the * stallings ™ are, be adds, still visible (Thils passage which coours in & nols o & pasiorsl charge de.
livered at Georgetown, Demaerara, July 18, 1839, ls sccemlble Lo me coly lo Fresch trapslstico—uihe
charge belng reprinted at pp. 11571183 of vol. 1l of the great Rappori mr lm guesiions colomiales by
Lochevalior, 1848, 1844: It fell Into my hands too late for & suocesaful ssarch for its English original)
On the other band, Gecoral Nelacher, the careful modern Dutch blstorian of ibe culooles which now
form British Guisas, who in 1546 and agein in 18860 closely axamined these ruias with intent to verify
Hartsinck's stalament s o the Porlugoess arme, foond over Lhe doorway mothing but o simple
cross. The sketches of the place then made on the spot by him In his joarnal | have, throagh the
kisdness of that gensrova scholar, been permitied to examios; snd, in response fo my request to
be allowed to reproduce them, be has with his own hand made & copy of them, which [ have the
bosor 0 sabmit berewith. In further axplasation of the akeiches he has bad the kindosss (0 add the
following nots :

* Remaina or rulos of & very small ancient Bpanish fort, for pearly a conlury the residesce of the
Commandeurs of the colony Esssquebo, called by the Dutch Kykoweral on soocusnt of its domineering
sitastion st the coofluence of the Massarusl, Cayus| and Esssqoebo—as seen and suparficlally sketched
hl"hl“l‘ld.-hmilhlm. Ouly two-thirds of the stons walls of the fort were then snd are
probably still existing; wbe part oo the Cartabo side s built of granits or quaris; the vortheasters side
of the wall Is brickwork of == 4 feet at the botlom, with & gate or portico of 8 fost by 4 feet (loside), and
? pu.brasurss for artillery. The rest was all jo roios and nothing wea left of the bullding or barrsck.

“Hen' P H. Nereowes,

“ Tax Haoum, Oclober 15%, 1856."

{(ieneral Netscher has himeelf, in bls (Feschisdenis pan as Nolomien (pp. 388, §89), discunsed Lhe crigin
ul the fort, polating out that the pressnce of the Portagures lo the Esmequibo prior o the Duich oceupa-
ton is a thing wholly foreign both to Dwtch sad to Portuguese tradition, and inconsistent with all we
know of the circamstances. Ha talls me, too, Lhat the Bpanish and Portuguese scholars and diplomats
befors whom, st every opportanily, be has broaght the guestlon, sgres that the cross was an emblem
mach more Hksly o be thus osed by the Bpanlards than by the Poringuese,

V Nederlendochs Josrbosken, 1780, p. 1494,

* Nederlamdechs Jasdosken, 1781, p. 1080,

s Extracia, p. 83; ol Naderlandschs Jasrboske, s sbovp,
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nection with that to his colony of Berbice.! The contract was
#*187 *closed with him on July 18,* and in August Jan van der Goes was
reengaged, with two assistants, to take charge of affairs there.®
Thus the Essequibo establishment, even if it had been aught else, now
fell back into a mere trading post. It is clear from the contract with Van
Pere that no products are expected from that colony except the dyes sup-
plied by the Indians. Rates are, indeed, stipulated at which “in
*188 case the Company *shall pleass to send any person to Essequibo with
the aforesaid ships ¥ of Van Pere they may do so; but this seems to
be meant only for the personnel of the post, for one hears in the minutes
of no others. Still the Essequibo did not pay. On April 16, 1637, there
was again discussion in the Zeeland Chamber as to its profitableness, and
the matter was referred to the committee on commerce.* But while this
was pending there came an interesting consignment from the colony. On
May 14, 1637, ‘‘ Confrater van Pere was authorized to turn over two kegs
of syrup, or sap of sugar-cane, arrived from Essequibo from Jan van der
Goes, to Sr. Segers, in order that be may try to reduce it to sugar.”* It
is the first mention of agriculture in the colony, and a suggestion of that
industry which was later to be its greatest source of revenue.® But not
yet: Jan van der Goes, it appears, was dissatisfied, and the Company was as
clearly dissatisfied with him. On August 17, 1637, we read that “ inasmuch
as Jan van der Goes had written from Essequibo that he, with all the folk
who were there with him, was minded to come home by the first ship, it
was some time ago resolved for the present to send thither in the place of
the said Van der Goes, by theship De Jager, Cornelis Pieters Hose; and on
account of the great demoralization of the folk and their wish to come
#180 home, *it is resolved that they shall be allowed to come home and
the colony provided anew with five-and-twenty other respectable
persons, from whom the Company may receive more service, and more
1 Extracts, p. 87.
* Exiracts, pp. 47, 88,
1 Extracts, pp. 66, 67. There he was at the visit to Gulans, in 1834, of the North Hollaod mer.
chant, De Vries, who came sseklog & sits for & colony of his own. Dle Vries coasted no farther wost
than the mouth of Demerara. Thers Jan van der Goss came in & cance to mest him, and Is called br

him * bead man in Essequibo oo behalf of the West India Company ™ (* Jaw van der Gom ,
d¢ Rivier van Jockabic, dis dasr Opperhoof/l was van wogen ds Wosl-Indischs ﬂhpnu'LlﬂulIH:l
puggests the head of & commercial sstablishment rather than the goveroor of & colony. (D Vries, Korte
Historiaal, p. 138.)

4 Extracis, p. 71.

* Extracts, p. 71

* Under date of April 2, 1855, thers is, in Lbe minutes of the Zecland UChamber, ao satry which, al
first blush, might suggest that tobaceo, Loo, was raised in Essequibo. In the chest of & skipper arrived
from the Gulsss poast there waa found, along with s letier of Jan vas der Goss and & bag of money,
eighty-three rolls of tobsoco. But the fact that this was & pozzle in the Chamber iteell, and that potbing
more Is beard of Lhe matter, makes it more probable that the tobaoceo, if it oume from Jan van der Goes
st all, bad bean smoggled in from the Orinoeo, the nsual source of tobaoeo for Essequibo in later years
The best reasoa for believing that it may bave beea grown in the colony is Lhat it was proscumced
“ very poor.” In any case, we bear nothing further of tobacco, (Bee Exiracis, p. 84.)
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edifyingly withal.” And Confraters Lonissen and Van Pere were made a
committee to pick up these new servants, with instructions ** to look for
the discreetest persons so far as ghall he possible,”?

This resolution perhaps mainly aimed at a salutary effect on the desert-
ing colonists, who must, it seems, already have arrived; for just three days
later (August 20, 1637) we read that "' the persons who have been enlisted
for Essequibo, being mostly from the people who came with Van der Goes
and have not much to live on, shall for this once, and without its being a
precedent, receive a shilling a day for costs.”®

Jan van der Goes, however, remained for the present in Holland, and
in the minutes of 1630 and 1640 we hear much of a certain expedition led
by him to the Orinoco in search of a silver mine; but as the enterprise was
confessedly into hostile territory in time of war, and as it came to naught,
it has no interest here.?

Meanwhile the establishment on the Essequibo went on as before. In
1840 (August 6) we read that “the Committee on the Business of Esse-
quibo having reported as to the folk and the cargo which they had deemed
advisable to send thither, their report was adopted, and the committee was
authorized to arrange with Van Pere and Van Rhee [the patroons of
Berbice], inasmuch as they are sending a ship thither, regarding the
transportation thither of our folk and ®*goods, as well as the charges *190
for bringing from there the cargo of dye.” Yet It is unlikely that the
““folk ” here mentioned were colonists proper (i. e., settlers); for *‘ folk ” is
in these records regularly used for any group of the Company's own ser-
vants, while for settlers that word is rarely employed.

In 1642 (June 30) there was drawn up by the Zeeland Chamber and
inserted in its minutes, a standard list of the supplies to be shipped to the
Essequibo at each of the infrequent consignments to that colony. This
list* throws much light on the size and aims of the post. It would seem
safe to infer from it that there were then employed on the Essequibo not
more than thirty men, and that their business was wholly the gathering of
dyes; for the articles are such as would be bartered to the Indians or used
in the gathering of these products and of the food supply of the colonists.
Omn delivering these supplies, the ship was to ** take in such dye and letter-
wood as at the time shall be ready " and return directly home.

In 1844 one finds in the quoted address of a letter to '* Adriaen Jansz.,
Commandeur, and Adriaen van d. Woestyne, Clerk, at Fort Kykoveral in
Essequibo,” for the first time such titles for its officials and a name for its
fort.* They suggest a new departure; but there is nothing else in the

! Extracts, p. TL It Is not imposaible that this exodus of the colonlsts may bave had to do with &
projeciad altack spon Essequibo by the Spaniards of the Orinoco. (See Extracta, p. T8.)

" Extracts, p. T2

* For all the passages relating to it see Exlracts, pp. 88_ 00,

* Extrscia, pp. 100-10%
® Extracta, p. 102. “ Adrisen Javsz.” may possibly be but & distortion of the name of Jan

Adrissses van dar (osd.
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minuates to imply it. By March 9, 1645, Adriaen Jansz. has given place as
Commandenr to Aert Adriaensz. van Scherpenisse. '

The Easequibo establishment was still not a success. The charter of the
Dutch West India Company seemed about to expire, and it was time its
affairs were set in order. On May 29, 1645, a committee of the Zeeland

Chamber, submitting suggestions to this end, reported that, ** as con-
*191 cerns the river *of Essequibo, the committee’s opinion is that now

for some time it has been traded to with small profit to the Company,
and for the reason that individual colonists * are permitted to trade there as
well as the Company, so that the goods coming from there can not fetch
their proper price. On this point they are of advice that, at the expiration
of the charter, either the trade there ought to be held exclusively for the
Company or it were better that the aforesaid place should, subject to the
proper fees, be thrown open to free trade." *

On Janvary 18, 1648, there was drawn a contract with Abraham van
Pere for a special voyage to Easequibo after the annatto dye; and now
there is inserted a clause binding him to bring also any other merchandise
he may find there.* On May 28, 1647, there is a similar special contract
of the Company with a ship belonging to an outside party: going out with
goods for Brazil and supplies for Essequibo, it shall bring back from Esse-
quibo *‘ the dye and other goods which the Comipany may have there, and
from the Caribbean Islands, if it choose, a cargo of tobacco, cotton, or
other prodocts of the soil.”* Similar contracts were made on November
19, 1648, and on January 14, 1649. Annatto dye is the only product of
Essequibo named. *

Such are our scanty materials for a notion of the character and limits
of the Dutch colony on the Essequibo at the close of the long war with

Spain. So far as they enable us to infer, it was a body of two or three
*192 dozen unmarried *employés of the West India Company, housed in a

fort at the confluence of the Cuyuni and Mazaruni with the Easequibo,
and engaged in traffic with the Indians for the dyes of the forest.” Agricul-
ture, save for the food supply of this garrison, there is little reason for
supposing. Of tobacco or of sugar one hears nothing alter the mention of
the specimens received in the time of Jan van der Goes. The first sugar

! Extracts, p. 108,

* Uniler the privileges granted to colonists by the Company in 1637 and 1038, the members of sny
West [ndian colony ware at liberty to trade freely on the unsetiled cossts. Agaiost this encrosshmant
on Lheir monopoly in Goiana the Zeeland Chamber had now for many yesrs prolssted In vain. [Ses
Extracta, pp. 69, 70.)

» Extracts, p. 104,

! Extraata, pp. 104, 108,

¥ Extracta, pp. 104108,

¢ Extracts, pp. 110_1192,

" The only other avocation mentisned is that of fishing: one Jan wvan Opstall, o employé of the
Company o Essequibo, lo 1844, complained of the loss of & finger while flabing for the Company, and
asked compaensation, but the Cumpany could not find this in the contract, The fshleg was probably for
the food sapply of the post - as ofies later, ]
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mill on the river seems to have been established in 1864; and at that date
there was as yet no provieion for the registry of lands in Easequibo.®

This purely commercial character of *the Essequibo establishment is *193
the more striking because the other Dutch colonies on the coast, both

those of the patroons and those planted directly by the Company, had all

been of settlors.
How far afield or io what direction, their commerce with the Indians or

their exploration of the country took the Dutchmen of Easequibon, or what
they counted the limits of their occupation, we have as vet no means of
knowing. The Company had as early as 1827 thought of providing Jan
van der Goes with a sloop,? and there is no reason to doubt that he had
used one to vigit neighboring rivers unoccupied by Europeans, as even the
private colonists of Berbice were encouraged to do.? Of outposts there is
thos far no mention. ¢

Such as it was, the post on the Essequibo remained in 1648, as it had
always been, the westernmost establishment of the Dutch on this coast,
and was now, with the exception of Berbice, their only Guiana colony.®

With the conclusion of a lasting peace with Spain and with the renewal
for another quarter century of the Dutch West India Company’s charter,

! Both thoss facts appear from the petiticn of Jan Doeosen, July 5, 1884, whe was celablishing »
magar mill st Broowershosk, opposite Fort KEykoveral, on the sorth bank of the mingled Cuyuni sod
Mazaroni, near thelr junction with the Essequlbo. For lack of s colosial reglstration be begged the
Company to reglater it in Holland ; and the Zesland Chamber, sot knowling what slse to do with It,
entered it “ till further order ™ In their “ Book of the Colonies "—where it remaios ooigoe. (Bee
Extracts, pp. 132, 138) The creek by which the mill stood has ever since been known ss Suger Creek
(Zsiker Orwek). The petition clearly impliss that this mill wea the sarllest. [It, of conrse, does not follow
ihat bafore Lhis mill 8o sager was ralsed in the colony, but caly that, if s, it was pressed out sfier the
primitive Indias fashioa. Batl the Zecland Chamber itsell, in lta memorial of 1781 [ Ned Jaerbosken, 1781,
p. 1092), affirma, as & result of its search throagh the records, that * beside the mosopoly of trade to the
colony, the Zselaod Chamber of ita own snthority alen sstablished therein plasiations for the coltivation
of sugar and of viber prodacis there growing, whereo! the earliest example la foond lo thelr Minules
under Jooe 8, 1671 ;* and it even bases an argument oo this late beginning of cultivation. That the date
shoald Le earlier is suggeeted not merely by Doensen’s petition, but by an eotry of 1689 (Extracts, p.
138) ; buat it s sot enintelligible that the Chamber shoald overlook Lhings which happessd in the period
(1688-T0) when the colony was nuder the control of the Walchersa citlies. They sre unlikely, howaver,
to be ln error as to the earller yeara Modyford, ihe English governor of Barbados, indesd wrote home
in 1843, in a letier orging the colonisation of Gulasa, thel “the Duich have already oo two or thres
rivers built sager workes, oon of them st Marawinl . . ., another st Berbios River and asciber at
Emsequcke [ Essequibo].™ Bal he may more esally bave been mistaken aa to this coe polst thas the
Dutch records. (See British Calmder of Stats Papers, Colowial Beries, 1674~1080, pp. 578, 874 ; for a
transeript of Lhe document | am aguin indebled o Her Majesty's Goverament. |

¥ Extracta p. 46,

' Extreois, pp. 46, 47.

' When, lu 1424, the Uuteh merchant De Vries, In his prospecting toar slong this coast, reachsd the
Dvmerars, Jas van der Goss game Lhither to meel him; but Lhere ls nothlag io De Vrie's soooust o sng.
geet the existencs of & post there, (See his Norte Historisel, p. 135.)

* The Spanish document conjectorally sscribed by the Blos Book (* Venesoela No. 1,” Appeadix |,
Pp. B4, B7) to 1840 (this s modified in the Errais later published, to “ some Ume befors the tresty of
Minster *) la palpably of moch later date. The Pomercon was ool settled till 1668, and Surinam was in
British bands i1l 1867. Though unlrustworthy for soy date, tho document belougs, perhaps, to aboat
the yaar last named.
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one might look for a rapid colonial development. But the Company was
now robbed of the privateering which had been its leading source of
revenue, and bankrupted by the long and fruitless struggle for Brazil.
#1804 It *is not till 1855, when the hopelessness of the recovery of Brazil
had become apparent even to the Company itself, that the Zeeland
Chamber seems first to have thrown open again the Guiana coast to
colonization, on condition that the colonists should draw all their supplies
and warea from Zeeland and ship thither their cargoes.’ And it was not
till late in 1658 (October 12) that they drew up a prospectus, inviting, under
tempting conditions, the settlement of the Wild Coast.* This they followed,
in 16857, with a new body of  liberties and exemptions " for patroons.!
That these prospectuses were publicly promulgated does not appear, yet
the invitation certainly reached the ears of both patroons* and of colonists,
and “‘on March 22, 1657, the first free colonists, to the number of twelve
persons, some with and some without family, wife, children, and slaves,
arrived " in the Essequibo.*

But the Chamber still shrank from assuming alone the management of
such a colony, and in 1857 (June 9) we find ite members petitioning the
provincial Estates of Zeeland to assume the direction of the enterprise, ** it
being their intention,” they state, ‘‘ with theapproval of the Estates, to es-
tablish a colony and new population on the Wild Coast of Essequibo and

neighboring places, stretching from the first to the tenth degree north
*195 of the Equator between the rivers ®*Orinoco and Amazon, where

there is granted them the exclusive right to voyage and trade, by
virtue of their agreemient with the West India Company”—i. e., the
agreement of this Chamber with the Company as a whole.*

This pelition failed through the opposition of some of the less commer-
cial members of the Estates; but before the end of the year they found a
taker for the task. The three great trading towns of Zeeland, the Wal-
cheren cities —Middelburg, Flushing, and Vere—offered alone to undertake
the matter; and there was transferred to them, in conjunction with a
committee of the Zeeland Chamber and subject to the supreme jurisdiction
of the Company and of the State, the colonization and management of the
entire coast. ‘' The aforesaid cities,” ran their contract with the Company,
‘“ shall establish and plant colonies on the continental Wild Coast between

} Nederlamdsche Jacrboakem, 1751, p. 1098, It would soem thal the Ninslsen was also al this time pro-
moting ecloniwation in Guisns; for the Zoeland memorial of 1780 quotes from Its mioates, mow lost, &
* body of liberties for foaaders of ocolocies,” under date of Auguet 30, 1665, in which colonists ware
forblddea to approach the cologles of the Zeolsnd Chamber mearsr than fifleen Dutch miles along the
cosst or in the interior. And reference ls In this connection made to their minutes for Beptember 30,
1858, and Beplember 8, 1659, (Nederlondschs Joerbosken, 1750, p. 1504, note.)

? Extracts, pp. 113-117.

'lll-ﬁ#ﬂ,pp.]ﬂ-—-lil-

4 Extracts, pp. 117-120,

¥ Nederlandache Jasrbosken, 1781, p. 1083,

¥ Extracts, p. 134,
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the first and the tenth degrees.”! The agreement between the cities them-
selves (December 16, 1657) is content to speak of their enterprise as ““the
business regarding the peopling and cultivation of the Wild Coast in
America under the charter of the West India Company.™?

Of their actual procedure we are happily fully informed through the

still extant minutes of the managing board of the colony, made up of the
tatives of the three cities, four among whom were also members
of the Zeeland Chamber, sitting at the West India House in Middelburg.
They rechristened the Wild Coast ** Nova Zeelandia,” and choosing as Di-
rector of the colony that same Aert Adriaensz. who had already fora
dozen years been in command in the Essequibo,* they added to *him *198
(December 24, 1657) one Cornelis Goliat, whom, on account *‘ of hia
experience in fortification, military science, and land-surveying, as waoll
as in ciphering and book-keeping,” they made '‘ Commissary over the
stores of the aforesaid place and Commandeur over the 25 soldiers to be
sent thither, and furthermore engineer for the parceling out of lands, the
making of maps, and the laying out of sundry strong-places or forta for
the protection of the colonists.” Thus burdened with functions, Goliat
was dispatched to the Guiana coast, and on Aungust 19, 1658, they re-
ceived from him a *‘ short description of the rivers Demerara, Eseequibo,
Pomeroon, and Moruca, lying on the coast of Guiana, otherwise named
the Wild Coast, now Nova Zeelandia.” His results had, long ere this,
profited the colonists themselves; for these, setting sail from Zeeland on
February 9, 1658, had under his guidance established themselves, not in
the Easequibo, but in its neighbor river to the westward, the Pomeroon,
and the adjoining stream, the Moruca.*

Of this establishment, on which was expended most of the energy of
the new effort at colonization, and which soon monopoliged in current use
the name of Nova Zeelandia, I have elsewhere to speak. The Essequibo
was, however, not abandoned. There still, at Fort Kykoveral, was sta-
tioned the Commandeur of the entire colony; and when, by 1664, the
Pomeroon experiment was languishing, the erection of a sugar mill
in Eseequibo points to the turning of agriculture toward that river.
A sudden end of things to both settlements was brought before
the end of 1665* by an invasion of the English “from Bar- ®197
bados, who, under Major John Becott—taking advantage of the

: Extracts, pp. 178, 178

* Extrects, p. 196 ; of pp. 128, 178,

& There san be ltile doubt, st Jeast, that ba was the same ss the Aert Adrissnss. of Boherpenises,
whom we find named Is the Zeelsnd Chamber's minotes for 1644, (Extracts, p. 108; ol also pp. 139,
159.) E-mnﬂd-ljﬁimrhhﬂhuhmmmum- {Extracts, p. 139.) His
mdﬂm_iﬂ-jwﬂﬂ'-"ﬂmrqhﬂhuundhﬂmﬂhmm

i Extrecis, pp. 127-119,

¥ See pp. 114-317 below.

'Thi-hh.ﬂpﬂllhnhpﬂuhuﬂiﬂhnhh]lﬂ, The loss of the mioutes of the Zesland
Chamber from the sad of Febroary, 1884, o the clre of that year leaves m without light from
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war then in progress between Great Britain and Holland in Europe—cap-
tured all the Dutch establishments westward of Berbice and left garrisons
in the Pomeroon and in the Essequibo. But the Indians, more friendly to
the Dutch, were induced to refuse the English all supplies; and the starv-
ing garrisons, after being harrassed and shut up in their forts by the
French, the allies of the Dutch, surrendered within a few months to Berge-
naar, the Dutch commandeur in Berbice, who early in 1887 turned them
over to a fleet sent for their rescue by the provincial Estates of Zeeland.
Thus ** Essequibo and Pomeroon, first taken by the English, then plun-
dered by the French,” and now ‘‘by the whole world abandoned "—to use
the phrases of the Zeeland KEstates themselves—passed again into the
hands of the Netherlands.®
But into whose hands! The commandeur of Berbice would gladly have
held them as his cupture; but the Zeeland Estates ignored his claim and
occupied them *“‘as res nullius” (abandoning the Pomeroon, but main-
taining & garrison in the fort of Essequibo) till they could find an owner
who would meet the cost of their expedition. They at last (late in 1668)
offeread them to the three citizs; but, these, dismayed at the
*196 cxpense of a fresh beginning, would no more of them, and *thought
of selling the colony. There was only the West India Com-
pany to fall back on. The Company, now nearing its end and more
impecunious then ever, was slow to come to terms; but on April
11, 1670, its Zeeland Chamber concluded with the Zeeland Estates
a compromise, by which it should again receive *‘the Fort and the
Colony of Essequibo,” on condition of paying the costs of the garrison
which had occupied it and of pledging (beside certain favors to the
neighboring colony of Surinam, newly won from the Eunglish, and not
for the Company) that **the colony of Easequibo” should hencefor-
ward be open to all Zeelanders, ' excepting that the trade in annatto dye
shall be carried on by the aforesaid Chamber [of the West India Company |
alone.” And on October 15, 1670, the States-General, having heard *' the
request of the directors of the West India Company of these lands, setting
forth how the Chamber of Zeeland had some time ago begun to form a
colony on the Wild Coast of America upon the river Essequibo, and how
this colony, having fallen during the English war into the hands of the
Eunglish, was recoversd again out of the hands of the English by the forces

that quarter, unless the break be In ltself sigoificant. From the English colonial papers sad from Scoti’s
own scceunt, one gathers only that he set out from Barbados In October, 1885, snd reached there again
ia April, 1688, But the narratlve of the Surisam governor, Bysm:, makes it probable that Esequibo
wia stiacked late in 18658; and this is the date amed by Adrian wvan Berkel, who was thers in 187)
{ Amariksansche Vopagim, p. 26), and by the Zeeland Chamber in its review of the incidest ia 1086 (Ex-
tracts, p. 178). For 1884 | find no soch costemporsry authority. It must, of course, be remembered
that to the English of that day the year 1883 ended Ia March of what we now call (and what the Duteh
ihen called) 1888 ; and an error may saslly have thoa arisen,

! For the detalls of this eplsbde see the English scooanta printed in Extrscls, pp. 188-138; Neder.
lawdeche Jaerbocken, 1TH0, pp. 1496 g0] — 1781, pp. 1102, 1108 ; snd Extracta, pp. 179, 180,
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sent out to the coasts of America by the province of Zeeland, and that
thereafter the aforesaid province of Zeeland had suffered itself to be per-
suaded to place it again in the hands of the Company,” sanctioned the
transfer and its conditions, '

All this time the colony, though many of its settlers had perished or
fled over sea to the West Indian Islands, had not been wholly deserted;
and it is not unlikely that the virtual abandonment of the Pomeroon ac-
crued to the advantage of Essequibo. The former had been richly supplied
with slaves, and 1,200 of these, seized by the English, were turned over by
them in Essequibo at their surrender in 1666. These were doubtless
put to use, and even before the formal resumption ®of the colony by *184
the West India Company, one finda considerable consignments of sugar
as well as of dyes. But it is from that event and from the arrival of the
energetic skipper, Hendrik Rol, in 1670, as the first governor® under the
new régime, that a new era of prosperity for the colony seems to date. In
his first year there ware but three private plantations in Essequibo, two of
them worked by 12 or 14 slaves apiece, the third, lying an hour above Fort
K ykoveral (doubtless on the Mazaruni), by 28 or 30. In 1671 he won from
Berbice the control of the Demerara. By 1678, if not earlier, he was traf-
ficking with the Caribs in the Barima, as well as with the Arawaks, and he
was also just opening a trade with the Orinoco.?

Such was the condition of the Guiana colony when, in 1874, the old
West India Company, so long in the agonies of death, at last expired. To
take its place there had already been created (by charter of September 21,
1874) one wholly new, with territorial limits widely different. Instead of
the entire coast of America, there were granted to the new one on that
continent only " the places of Essequibo and Pomeroon.” Of the situation
or limits of these places there was no other definition than the phrase
**gituate on the continent of America.”

*To the new West India Company, however, the meaning was not *200
doubtful| and they entered without ado upon the administration of
the colony. So slight was the break that Hendrik Rol was not disturbed,
but remained its Commandeur until his death. But from the advent of the
new Company ita records are preserved to us in far greater completeness,

e —

1 As to all this see Nederfowdeohs Jasrdosken, 1760, pp. 18011808,

' From hare oa | shall oftsn call by this more familisr title the Essequibo Commandear. His fune-
tions wers mainly civil, sot military, and svectoally thers axisted beside him ia the coloay s bead of the
gurrison, keown as the commasdsst. That the Commandear was not called Governor, sa be wished 1o
be, seems Lo have boon caly s metler of rank sod pay ; sad it costs ws nothing Lo give him 1he more ap-
propriste tie Biriely speaking, however, the Esmequibo governor remalned s Commandenr till, in
1781, Btorm van ‘s Gravesande recelved the higher title of Direcior-General, Domersrs then recelviog a
sommasdeur of {ts owo, though still sobject to the asthority of the Director.Genersl, who resided In
Essequibo. From 1784 the Director.General resided in Demerara. and it was Essequibo which had the
Commandeur. In 1792, when the colonles passed from the West India Company Lo the State, tha THrectar-
(ieneral became a Governor-Genersl, and this title be retained.

5 A, van Berkel, Ameriksanscle Vovagien, pp. 45-48; Extracts, pp. 13814,
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From 1675 we have without a gap the missives by which the Company
governed the colony, and from 1670 almost a8 uninterruptedly the letters
and documents which came from the colony in return. From this wealth of
material it is clear that the continuity of the colony was henceforward un-
broken. Twice, indeed, before its final cecupation by Great Britain it was
for a time in English or in French hands—from 1781 to 1784 and from 1796
to 1802, But these occupations, bloodless and purely military, suspended
neither its local institutions nor the trend of ita territorial growth.

This territorial growth, though slow, was steady and knew no serious
interruptions. The field of its activity, however, had striking changes.
Until well into the eighteenth century the plantations of the Essequibo
clustered themselves for safety about Fort Kykoveral, at the junction of
the Essequibo with its two great western branches, and along the portions
of these three rivers just above this junction. Down to this time much the
larger part of the colony was on the west of the Essequibo.? When, in 1701,
the colonial Court of Policy found it wise to divide the colony, for purposes
of military organization, into two districts, it was thought fair tolet the plan-

tations in the Mazaruni make one, those in the Essequibo the other.?
*201 *But, as these upper lands became exhausted, the more fertile lower

reaches tempted even those who were already established above; and
at the completion of the new fort on Flag Island, near the mouth of the
river, and the transfer thither from Kykoveral (in 1738-40) of the garrison
and the seat of government, the exodus had already become general.* By
1778 there was no longer any demand for grants of land up the river, and
nearly all of it was given up to forests and annexed as timber grounds to
the plantations below;* and by 1777 there was, with one exception, not a
sugar, coffee, or cotton plantation above Flag Island—in fact, no culture
whatever except a few cassava grounds.' Flag Island bugs the east side
of the river, and whether it wns due to this fact or to the opening and
rapid colonization of the Demerara, while the Pomeroon remained closed,
or only to the groater attrativeness of the lands, the centre of gravity of
the colony speedily transferred iteelf to the east of the Essequibo. Before
the plantations on the west had reached the mouth of that river, those on
the east formed a solid row clear around to the Demerara.* The Pome-
roon was not reached by them until the very last years of the eighteenth

I 1. nots, p. 348, balow.

* Bloe Book " Venernels No. 8,7 p, 88, The translation js bere not ustroe to the manuseript, bat
the manuscript ls only & contemporary copy and the ssnse demands that * the (de) river " should be * that
{dis) river.” and that the * river " (ririers) of the following Nne which from Ha form might be sitber &
singular or & piural should here rather be tracalated = rivers™

* Already Ly 1748 the Cayunl could be counted very remote, |Extracta, p. 116.)
 Bloe Book * Venervels No. 8,7 p. 183 (No. 885),

! Extracts, p. 840,

* Bae Atlss of the Commisslon, mapa 88, &7, 88, 70.
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centary.! Meanwhile, the original site of the colony became a wilderness,
As early as 1764 Storm van 's Gravesande could epeak of * the few colonists
who still live up the river"—meaning, as the context shows, at the old
site of the colony, about the junction of Cuyuni and Mazaruni.?

*In the river Essequibo itself cultivation had at the outset of the *209
eighteenth century been carried as far up as the first great rapid,
that of Aretaka.' About the middle of the century a Jew named De Vries
had even successfully attempted a sugar plantation above this first fall —
donbtless only far enough up to secure fresh land. ¢

A town, even a village, there was never at any time on the Essequibn,
““This is perhaps the only instance of a European colony, among thou.
sands throughout the world,” said in 1782 the proclamation providing for
the creation of the new capital on the Demerara, ' which has arrived at
some magnificence without the establishment of either town or village.”*
The settlers lived, as they preferred to live, scattered on their plantations.
The Company's officials and garrison were for long all housed on Kyko-
veral. In 17186 the Commandeur got permission to build a new govern-
ment house on the mainland just opposite the island, on the Mazaruni side
of the point formed by the two streams. The house was dubbed ** House
Near-by " ( Naby), and the hamlet which gathered about it was called Car.
tabo, from the plantation which occupied the point. After 1740, when the
colonial government was removed to the new fort on Flag Island, Cartabo
fell to ruin. According to Hartsinck, writing in 1770, when it was *‘ now
in ruins,” it had consisted '‘ of twelve or fifteen houses.”* On Flag Island,
now coming to be called Fort Island, there likewise grew up a cluster of
buildings: the fort, the public offices and warehouses, the quarters of the
garrison, the dwellings of the officers— inventories of these buildings
appear from time to time *among the records of the Company: but *203
a village in addition never arose there.” Even the colony church
was for long not here, but on the plantation of Ampa, midway from Flag
Island to Kykoveral.®

But while the territory thus actually occupied by the colony for pur-
poses of cultivation, whether in the neighborhood of Fort Kykoveral or in
the coast district, was confined within such narrow bounds, there was
another colonial activity, which laid far wider regions under tribute.

| Extracts, pp 812437, As to & slogle squsiier on the Pomercon, sn lsolated plantatios on the
Morsca, and & forbidden stiempt to setils on the llarima, see pp. 222, 242, below.

¥ = Nog bovem in de riviers wonen.” Blua Book " Vesesuela No. 8 p. 1. Ol also maps 84, §7, in
the Atlas of the Commission ; these make yel clearer this desertion,

" Boe Atlas of Ube Commission, map 89,

& Blue Book “ Yeoesuela No. 8" p. 151. For other meations of De Vries see pp. 88, 88,

* Rodway, History of British Gwiana, Ul p. A

* Bache yring van (Guiona, |, p. 163,

" For a sketch of what waa there in 1748 see & corner of map &0 in the stlas of the Commission.

* Of the hall.mythical Nieww Middelbarg ca Lbe Pomercon (18088-82) | must slsewhers speak. Ses

PP "115-7317, below,
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This was the colony’s trade; for this trade was mainly a trade with the
natives.

Ag we have seen, this was at the outset and for more than a quarter
century of its existence its exclusive function. Ewven after plantations
had there been established by its proprietors and the colony thrown open
to private planters, it was alone this trade with the Indians which the
Company retained a8 its own monopoly; and for many decades this
remained its chief source of income and the object of its most jealous care.
This it was in defense of which it built its forts, planted its outposts, main-
tained its garrisons. It would, therefore, be palpably unjust not to take
this into account in any measurement of its territorial rights. To deter-
mine, however, its worth as a form of occopation, one must examine some-
what more closely its character and methods.

The products mainly sought by this trade were such as could be fur-
nished by the Indians, and by the Indians alone: the dyes and oils and
precivus woods of the forest—annatto (called by the Dutch oriane), letter-
wood, carap-oil, balsam copaiba. Annatto, the most important of these,

was worked up by the Indians into balls or cakes for transportation;
*204 but *all alike were gathered without cultivation.! The natural sup-

ply of these was, therefore, at best, but constant, and the increasing de-
mand made it necessary to seek them ever farther afield. The means em-
ployed to this end by the colonial authorities were of two sorts, which must
be clearly distinguished. They had, first, the agents whom they called out-
runners (uitloopers). These, who must have existed from the very beginning
of the colony, scoured, by canoe or on foot, the whole country, stirring up the
Indians to bring in their wares and barter them at the fort or themselves
carrying into the wilderness the trinkets for exchange and brioging back
the Indian produce. The outrunners were regular employés of the Com-
pany—in the later time usually half-breeds or old negroes familiar with
the Indian dialects—and seem to have been sent on definite tasks. ‘ All
the old negroes,” wrote the Essequibo governor to the Company in 1687,
“* are off for their several old trading places among the Indians, to wit, six
for annatto, two for balsam copaiba, and two for letter-wood and pro.
visions.”? Later these outronners regularly appear in the muster-rolls
of the colony. The districts or routes of their activity are, however, never
named. Occasionally in the correspondence of the colony one hears of them
in this region or in that, but too vaguely to infer their exact where.
abouts.”®

Of far more moment to the present investigation is the second means
employed by the colony in the trade with the Indians. In addition to their
outrunners (uitloopers) they came also to have their outliers (uitleggers). It
was by this title, as we have seen, that the employés first sent to the Esse-

! Yot it is to be notad that the dye-trees had Lo be plasied by the Iadiass. {Extracts, p. 158,)

% Bee lotter of Novomber 4, 1887, printed by Nelacher, Geschisdends, pp. 374-877.
¥ Bes, 0. g., Extracts, pp. 180, 161, 173, 267,
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quibo were known; and, in truth, the relation later borne by the posts

*of the outliers to the central fort of the colony was not unlike that #2305
borne for long by the colony itself to the home land. It wassomewhat

more than half acentary after the beginning of the colony when a beginning
was made of this new method. The suggestion may very possibly have
come from Berbice. In 1671, when the neighbor river of Demerara passed
into the control of the Easequibo colony, the Berbice authorities had in
that river a post of 15 or 16 men, and the commander of this force had
been stationed there some fifteen or sixteen years.! But it could scarcely
have been on the taking possession of this river, nor yet on the occupation,
two or three years later, of the Mahaicony, farther east, where also the
Berhice colony had had an ontlier, that the system actually went into effuct;
for it can hardly be doubted, from the tenor of Commandeur Beekman's
letter suggesting such a post on the Pomeroon in 1679, that this was the
beginning of a policy new to Essequibo.? Yet it was not long thereafter
before there were posts on the Demerara and the Mahaicony as well, In
1691, the date of the first muster-roll proserved in the colonial records, we
find mentioned only Pomeroon and Demarara; but by 1700, the date of the
pext roll left us, Mahaicony has joined them.* From this point on to the
end our record of these posts is fortunately complete; not only are mus.
ter-rolls much more frequent, but, what is better, the pay-rolls of the
colony, sent year by year to the home authorities and preserved with
scarcely a break in the series, give us the names *not only of the posts *206
themselvea but of every employé at these posts to whom a guilder was

paid on the colony's behalf. They tell ns the name, nativity, and term of
service of all the outliers, or postholders, as they come later to be more
commonly calléd, and of all the byliers (byleggers), or under post-holders,
who to the number of one or two were associated with them in the man-
agement of the pcsts.*

From these sources it is clear that these posts were few, definite, con-
stant. Besides the Poineroon, the Demerara, and the Mahaicony there
were but two other quarters of the Essequibo colony where such a post
was ever in existence; in 1736 there was established (and thereafter main-
tained) a post on the upper Essequibo, and thrice during Lhe eighteenth
century (1703, 1754-58, 1766-1772) a post was planted on the Cuyuni.
These five were all. The location of these posts did not, indeed, always

1 So testifios Adrisan van Berkel, the Berblce secretary, who visitel the post ln that year, and who
mada the bargsin by which the river was turned over lo Essequibo. {Awmerikaamschs Vopagion, pp. 80,
31.) It ia clear from Van Berkel's account, as from other sources (cf. Extracts, pp. 138, 139), that the
Fasequibe coloay was already claiming the Demerars and carryiog oo trade there; but it does ool ap
pear that it had there, like Berbios, a force lo aciual possession.

s Extracta, pp. 144, 145,

» Extracts, pp. 178, 199, .

s For specimens of Lhess recurds, see Fxtracts, pp. 194, 199, 208, 207.  As to the comploteness of the

serios, sos polas, p. 811, balow.
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remain precisely the same. The post at the mouth of the Pomeroon was,
before the middle of the century, pushed a long way up the adjoining
river, the Moruca, and before the end of it, migrated back to the seacoast
again. That on the Edsequibo was at least once moved much farther up
the river. The three successive posts on the Cuyuni were almost certainly
at a3 many different points. That on the Demerara was about the middle
of the century absorbed by the new colony which had arisen in that river.
Yet each quarter had but its single post; however, for strategic or
other reasons its site might vary, its relation to the colony remained the

samse.!
*207 *What may have been the political significance of these posts is less

easy to determine. Among the forms of occupation specified by the
Treaty of Milnster, in 1648, as precluding visit and trade by the subjects of
the other power, was that by loges (in the Dutch text, logien). This word
was at the time defined by the Holland Estates to mean warehouses.?
But it is by this word that the posts are described (notably that on the
Cuyuni) in the formal remonstrances of the States-General to Spain
(1759, 1769).* The postholder and his one or two white assistants were
usually old soldiers and remained enrolled among the military of the
colony, at least until the year 1775.¢ The posts were supplied with arms,
and the northwestern post, at least, had cannon as well; it was sometimes
garrisoned with a larger force, and more than once stoutly and success-
fully resisted attucks from an arwed foe.* When, after the raiding of
the Pomeroon colony by the French, it was resolved in 1680 to abandon
the plantations there, the West India Company instructed the Essequibo
governor to leave there ‘' three men with a flag for the muintenance of
the Company's possession.”* It was possibly this order which was in
thought when in 1737 a later governor wrote the Company that the
Moruca post must be kept up ‘‘because it was established for the
maintenance of your frootiers stretching toward the Orinoco.”? The

! True, thers seema tu have been for a year or Lwo (1708-1708) & second post on the Pomeroon—{fur
what resson does not appear, Toward the close of the cestury, after Demerara had Locome a partially
distinet colony, it sstablished one or two posta of its own; bot these do not concern the presest discus
ston. For Lthe prool of what is hers stated as to the posta on the Pomeroon, the Morucs, and the Coyuni
I must refer Lo the laler pages dealing with thoss rivers. As to Lbs post oo the upper Essequibo, see
p. 208 of vol. Wl of the Commlssion’s report.  Of the project, never carried out, to ostablish a post oo the
Barima, 1 shall speak fully in connection with that river, As to the Company's share in the establish-
ment of the posts, ses note, p. *B10, below,

* Boo note, p. *80, shave., Cf. also pp. *81. *86.

! Extracts, pp. 384, 489,

* Extracts, pp. 448, 504, 004,

¥ Extracts, pp. 336—383, 341, 258, 485, 460 ; Blue Book “ Vemesuels No. 8. pp. 79, 74, 118, snd
prasim.

* Extracts, p. 191.

' Extracta, p. 178.
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presence of a post is, however, more than once coupled *by the *208
Essequibo governors with the thought of taking or maintaining

ion of a district.?

The functions of the postholder and his assistants have been so fully
and so clearly described by the colonial governors themselves, in docu-
ments now accessible in print, that they can hardly need here 80 much as
a summing up.! The foremost during the earlier history of the colony
was, of course, the traffic with the Indians. Buat with the oversupply of
the markets or the gradual exhaustion of tho forests, others took the fore.
gronnd. *‘The most important work of a postholder,” wrote the Esse-
quibo Director-General in 1778, ‘‘lies in this, that through friendly and
companionable intercourse with the Indians he geeks more and more to
win them to us, that he further keeps a sleapless eye on the doings of the
neighboring foreigners, both Christian and Indian, that he watches for
runaway slaves, and has them caught and returned by the Indians.”* To
this, in the case of posts situated on avenues of inland communication,
like that on the Moruca, or, to a less extent, that on the upper Essequibo
or that on the Cuyuni during its brief existence, was added the super-
vision of travel and of import and export. Of the trade in poifos, or
Indian slaves, which their Spanish neighbors believed the chief activity
of these posts, there is less mention than might be expected in the
records of the Essequibo colony. In the interest of the good will of
the Indians, the rules governing it were *strict.* Though always *208
carried on to a greater or less extent, it is poasible that the share
taken in it by the Essequibo posts has been exaggerated by the identifica-
tion with them of the itinerant slave gatherers of other colonies, who
likewise found in the Caribs of this wild intervening region the best pur-
veyors of human flesh and blood.

But, beside this trade of the Company, and in spite of the monopoly
long maintained by it, there was also a trade with the Indians carried on
by private colonists. So far as this was the work of planters, aiming
chiefly at the supply of their own wants, it needs no attention here. But
there was in the colonies a clasa of men who gave themselves wholly to
trade, especially to the slave trade and to smuggling. *‘‘Since this river
begins to be filled with many inhabitants,” wrote Commander Beekman,
of Essequibo, in 1687, * some of them rove continually among the Caribs,

' E. g.. Extracts, pp. jo0, 322; Bloe Book * Vesezvels No. 8.7 117, 181, Of the holsting at Inter.
vals of the Conpany's Hag (as stalsd by Mr. Rodway, danals of Guiana, I, p. 89), [ have bees able o
find no meation. Even Mr. Rodway doss not mestion it in his later Hisery or in his report on The

Bowsdary Quesiion, though In (he latier ho discusses Lhe posts st much length.

* Boe, 0. ., Extracis, pp. 841-843 ; Blue Book “ Venezuels No. 8 p. 191, and eepecially 1he ia-
structions given Lo Lhe postholders themselvea (Bloe Book * Veoszoela No, 8.7 pp. 151-138, 140, 345 ;
Extracts, pp. 881-584; and below, p. *241).

¥ Extracts, p. BB,

* 3s¢, o ., the onlinance of 1688, printed by Netachor, Faschisdouis, pp. 387, 388,
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buy up everything, and glot them with wares.”! These were the so-
called ‘‘ rovers” (swervers).® They were mainly Europeans, and seem to have
spent their lives in ecouring the forests, making vast journeys into yet un-
vigited wilds, not less, perhape, to gratify their love of exploration and adven-
turethan to winalivelihood. Toone whowould draw from the peregrinations
of these wanderers any inference aa to territorial boundaries, there present
themselves two serious obstacles: our almost utter ignorance of their
routes, and the probability, from what little we do know, that they were
wholly indifferent to boundaries of any sort. If, too, we find rovers

*210 from Essequibo far afield in the region *stretching toward the On-
noco, 80 too we find there rovers from Berbice and from Surinam,

from the French colonies on the main and in the islands, from the British
in Barbados, from the Portoguese in Brazil, and from the Spaniards at the
west.®  Some, too, seem to have changed their political allegiance at will. 4
The chief external trade of the colony, and the only one of interest

to the present research, was that with the Spaniards of the
Orinoco. Begun as carly as 1673,% it seems always to have been carried
on by that inland water roule coonecting the Moruca with the Barima,
and must have involved more or less of intercourse with the Indians of
this region.®* Now connived at, now hampered by the Spanish authori-
ties, it was always encouraged by the Dutch West India Company,
save for & brief period of prohibition (from 1684 on) when they were
clearly moved by distrust of their own governor.® Prior to the middle
of the eighteenth century this trade was carried on mainly by

*211 the Dutch. But from 1761 it became the settled *policy of the
Company and of the colonial authorities to transfer the conduct

—

! Netacher, (Feschiademis, p. 374, where the lelier is given in foll.

* This word is, in the Blue Book, rendered by a puzeling varisty of English ones: sot oely by
“ rover,” or * wanderer,” bot by “ renner,” ' Lraveller,” * Lrader,” * ilinarant trader,” * itinerant hawker,”
* depredator * (p. 117), even by * pirate ™ (pp. 116, 117).

* The esrliest of whom 1 have foand record are those named by Major John Sontt (see Extracta, pp.
184, 135), who in 1865 gave him exoellent information as o the Upper Orinoeo. For further mention of
ravers, or of 1hoss who were probably such, ses Extracla, pp. 188, 168, 159, 181-184, 178, 182, 228, 9490,
230, £74-278, 278, 308, 815, 319, 320, 389, 572, 873, 403, 414, 547, 648; Bloe Book * Venezuela No, 3.
PP T4-T8; 91, B8, wB_p7, 100, 102, 103, 118, 116118, 128, 130, 132, 188, 186, 148. Spanish documents have
also much to sy of them, Their lawlessoess Is noled by Dulch and Spanishalike. The competition of the
Burinam Lraders was eapecially complained of by the Essequibo suthorities ( Extracts, pp. 238, £78, 393,
338).

* Buch ma that Ignace Courthlsl, who played sn large a part in the Intercolonial trade during the
eighteenth century.

# Extracts, p. 140

* There is in the minutes uf the Zeeland Chamber for 1780 a very pursling passage { Extracts, p. 283),
which seema to imply that Spasish Lraders cwme from up the Esmequibo, and which may perhapa point
to a iraftic by way of the Coyuni. (f the trade in borses, which waa carried on by the Dutch wia that
river at the beginning of the eighteenth century snd which some have thought s trade with the Spas-
inrds, [ speak elsewbore. (Ses pp. *308-"316. below), More or less of smuggling seems always o have
been carried on by that roots.

' Extracis, pp. 188, 178, 182 ; and, for further discussion, see pp. *200, *288, below.
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of this trade to the Spaniards.! Bo successful were they that from this
time forward one scarcely hears of Dutch traders to the Orinoco;* and in
1794 the Governor-General, thoogh himself a son of the colony, was seem-
ingly ignorant that this trade had ever been in other than Spanish hands,
and described to the home aunthorities with interest the Moruca-Barima
route as ** the course of the Spanish lanchas.”*

Fishery must from the first have been of prime importance to the food-
supply of the colony.* From an early date it was systematically carried
on both in the upper rivers and on the seacoast to within the moaths of
the Orinoco and the Amacura.* Hunting, too, especially that of the wild
hog abounding in these regions, was a matter of moment; and it led the
Dutch up the Cuyuni and Mazaruni and into the coast region as far as the
Amacura.*

Of the mining enterprises of the colony, so far as these led beyond the
plantations, I shall speak in connection with the Cuyuni and the Mazaruni;
and something as to the cutting of timber and thatch must be said in dis-
cussing the Pomeroon, the Waini, and the Barima,

*The treaties of the Dutch West India Company with nalive tribes *212

are carefully preserved; but there is none with the Indians of Guiana.
No such treaty is known to the extant records of the Company or to the
documents transmitted from the colony. In 1776 the Essequibo Director-
General, having sought in vain in the colony itsell for documents throwing
light on the original compacts between the colonists and the Indians, wrote
to the Company to learn if they could supply him with copies of any such.
“ There must have been made in the olden day,” he urges, ' some conven-
tion between the Europeans and the free Indian nations,” *‘ though there
is here nothing of the sort to be found.”” But the search of the Company
must have been equally ineffectual, for his question was left unanswered.
Nor have I found anything in the records to suggest that the Dutch here
ever looked on the Indians as possessing any ownership of land,

To sum up this long chapter:

' Exiracis, p. 394 (cf. also p. 218); Bloe Book ** Venesuela No. 8," pp. 118, 119,

¥ The readiness with which it was taken op by the Rpaniards s soggested by Storm's words, lo
1764, about thelr passage of the Moroca post (Blee Book * Venszuola No. 3,° p. 131} Bo, too, in his let-
ter of Seplember 27, 1783 (id,, p. 198}, Lhe clouss * the road to the Spanlards leads past this post = should
rather be translated *the road of the Spaniards hither* (* Ovk is de possagis der Spenjeerden naer hier
roordy de door )

* Extracis, pp. 18, 817. In the transeripts berewiih submitted (vol. ii) pains have been taken Lo
include whatever might Lhrow light on the history of Lhls Orinoco irade. The tabls of conlenta will
prove, | Lhiak, an sdequate guide to thia

* CL pots, p. 195, above

* The Orinoeo snd Amacurs fshery | first find mentionsd in 1881 (Extracls, p. 180), but then in
terma which saggeet that it was 0o new thiag. O later Spasish attempls 1o have thls coast Bshery of
the Dutch I shall apeak In conmection with the several rivers.

® Extracts, pp. 162, 187; Blus Book " Vesesuels No. 3," p. 88,

T Exiracta, p. 509,
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1. So nearly as can be determined, the Dutch occupation of the Esse-
quibo dates from the year 1825.

2. Until 1657 the colony, & mere post for traffic with the Indians, con-
gisted of a score or two of the Dutch West India Company’s employés
housed on the island of Kykoveral at the junction of the Coyuni and the
Mazaruni.

3. Settlement, begun 1657 and from 1658 carried on with vigor both in
the Essequibo and the Pomeroon under the charge of the Walcheren cities,
was interrupted for a year or two by the British seizure of 1865-86; but,
resumed in 1670 by the old West India Company and continued from 1874
by the new, met with no further interruption,

4. From its beginning until 1740 the colony, radiatiog from the

*213 junction of the three rivers, had ita center and major part *west of

the Essequibo and south of the Cuyuni, but from that time on drew

toward the seaboard, till by 1777 cultivation above Fort Island was prac-
tically abandoned.

5. No town existed, at any time, on the FEssequibo.

8. Trade, from the first, knew far less narrow limits than settlement.
That with the Indians was carried on (1) by the West India Company's
ountrunners and (2) by its posts, and (8) by private rovers. The routes of
the outiunners are little known; the rovers were irresponsible and heedless
of frontiers: the posts were few, fixed, certain, and had a military and
political as well as a commercial use. Trade with the SBpaniards of the
Orinoco was carried on through the territory now in question, by way
of the Moruca-Barima passage. Till after the middle of the eighteenth
century it was mainly in the hands of the Dutch, but later fell wholly into
the hands of the Spaniards.

7. Fishing and bunting, from an early date, led the Dutch into the
upper rivers, and westward along the coast aa far as the Amacura and the
mouth of the Orinoco.

. Of treaties with the Indians there is no record,

®214 *3. THE DUTCH IN THE POMEROON.!®

The first Dutch occupation of the Pomeroon, so far as is known to his-
torical records, was in the year 1658, It was in that year that the three

' The name has been spelled in & strange variety of ways: Baroms, Barcums, Baruma, Baumeoroes,
Baomeronos, Bavroo, Baorum, Bagroms, Bolrrum, Boweros, Boomeros, Boumeronos, Boumerooos,
Bouroma, Boorooa, Bouronne, Bourum, Bouwercn, Bowroom, Bowrooms, Paroma, Pasroma, Panrooma,
Fawroma, Pomeron, Pomeron, Posmaron, Pontmarros, Poumaron, Poumeron, Posrosma, Powmerns,
Fumaron, Yet | have not seen any spelling in which the scoented vowel (answering to the oo of Pom-
eroon) le not o or w or some eqilvalent of thess. (I bave cooe found Baurcema, but the Dutch of ls pro-
nousced like our oo, ' Pomercon "™ first appears late In the last centary.) This makes impossible any coa-
fusion with Barama or Barima.

* | have slreasdy poloted out (pp. 188, 137, note] the baselessness of the sssertion of the presence of
the Dotch there in 1680, This and all other mggestions 1 bave setn of an earlier date than 1868 for the
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Walcheren cities, having taken off the hands of the West India Company
the colonization of the Guiana coast, sent the engineer Cornelis Goliat to
survey the region and lay out the new colony.! It was doubtless on

*his advice that they made the Pomeroon the site of their leading *215
settlement. Golial sent home a description of the region from the
Demerara to the Moruca, with a chart and a plan of the proposed settle-
ment. On the right bank of the Pomeroon, some 15 or 20 miles above its
mouth, there was to be a town which should bear the name of Nieuw
Middelburg. Above this was to be built an imposing fortreas called, after
the colony, Nova Zeelandia. Below the town, on the same eide of the
river, was to stand the '* House of the Height,"* doubtless a fortified look-
out, such as was usuval in the Dutch colonies. Bat it is greatly to be feared
that none of these ever approached completion.® '‘*Had it not been for
the English war,” wrote the Zeelanders themselves less than a century
later, in their memorial of 1750, ‘' Nova Zeelandia would surely have
become one of the most flourishing colonies of America, one Cornelis
Goliath having brought over a new map of the region and having already
framed a plan for the building of a town, Nieuw Middelburg; yet Zeelandia
Nova was not to attain this good fortune, but throogh the sword of our
foe [the British] and the plundering of our then ally [the French] was to
be left lying empty and waste."* It lived but half a dozen years.
Colonists, indeed, poured in, negro slaves were liberally supplied,

*and by 18685 the governor of the neighboring English colony of *210
Surinam could pronounce it ** a most flourishing colony,” ** greatest

of all [the Dutch] ever had in America.” But the end was at hand.

occupation of the river are demoostrably misonderstandings of the careless statement of Harislnck. Io
1818, scoording Lo the contamporary Fray Pedro Bimos ( Neficias Hisforiales, p. 884), the Spaniard Geron.
imo de Grados made an expedition Into this river and compelled Lhe natlves to yield submission and give
blm provislons (cf. also p. 258, nota). It la, of course, not Impossible, or even improbable, that after
their sstablishment In the Esaquibo the Duteh traded also in the Pomeroon; but there has been found
no evidence of thia

! Extracts, pp. 197, 128. The prospectos of the new coloay, issved on November 26, 1687, ls printcd
by (ito Keye, in bls ** Onderscheyt insschon Kouds ox Warme Laudrm,” or * Beschryvings van el heerlyele
e pesegends Landi Guafena,” (1859, 1880) which la ltsell but a larger proapectas. In this the eclo
sisers are called ~ Palrocns of the Zesland Colony sl Esmekebe [Essequibo], Paurcoma [Pomercon], and
Marungs [Morucs].” and the suthor speaks more than once (ma, e g, abl p. 104) of thair * colomy on e
Rivers of Paurcoma and Maruga in (Jugpana.”

¥ o Hwis der Hoople,” not ** Hwis ber Hooge,” an It has been cvmmonly ealled, For dlscosslon of this
sama and ita meaning, see pp. *170-*17%, above, That st this point there was & height, Lhe first of lts sort
oo the river, we koow frum the careful reconnolesanos made in 1779 by the Spanish nfficer Inelarts, wha
choss thia hill as the satural site for bls projected fortress,

¥ That the foundations, at lewrt of 1he Lrtressen wore labd appears from a lotter of the Essequibo guv.
ernor im 1780, wherein he declares thess still Lo be found there (Bloe Book * Vesezusla No, 3,7 p. 114)

i Noderiendschs Jasrbosken, 1780, pp. 1800, 1801. Evea spart from the English fsvasiva, bowever,
the colony bad begun to lasgulsh. The means of tha thres citiss were unequal to the task.  As early as
1880 Vere was uoable Lo pay lts stipalated share of the costa, snd before the eod of 1843 Lhe munaging
eouncil in Z-eland had becoms so smbarrassed that it broke up altagether (Extracts, p. 179). Thaere la,
therefore, Lhe more reason for doubling that the plans of Golist fruited ln realltics.

¥ Exiracis, p. 137,
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In the winter of 1665-66 the English from Barbados, led by Major John
Scott, after taking possession of the Essequibo, swooped down also on
the Pomeroon, and left the colony in ruins. What was left was devoured
by the military occupation of the French, who followed the English in its
possession. It was an entire year before the invaders were here dispos-
sessed, and the settlers had meanwhile scattered to the four winds.? But,
though thus destroyed prematurely from the earth, Nova Zeelandia still
lived on paper. Even before the colony’s ruin the chart of Goliat fell into
the hands of his enterprising townsman, the geographer Arend Roggeveen
of Middelburg, and when a little later that map-maker brought out his fine
atlas of these coasts—the ** Burning Fen, lighting up all West India "—
Nieuw Middelburg, with its fortress Nova Zeelandia and its Huis der Hoogte,

took a handsome place on the map, which it did not lose till almost
*217 our own day.? All *through the eighteenth century no map was

complete without them. They still figure in the Venezuelan maps
of the present century. This was the only town which, even on paper,
the colony of Essequibo knew until the rise of Stabroek, toward the end of
the last century; and it is not strange, perhaps, that their Spanish neigh-
lmrs of the Orinoco, unable to understand a community all mt.l.ered nn

! Bee pp. *108. *197, snd asthorltios there u’alqd According to lhnlul.n of the Sintes- f'um.-r.l il
wan on March 3, 1867, st the request of the Zecland Chamber, “ examined sand cossldered whelher and on
what basia " the colonles which had been captured by the Eaglish and retaken by the French might be
elaimed back ; whereupon, " after daliboration, It was fonnd good wad resolved that Mr, Van Dec nlogen,
the minister sxtraordinary of this State in France," be instructed to demand ** the restitution of the islnnds
of Tobago and St Eustache, together with the colony of Pomeroun, all situate In Amerlea™ ([ . .

" de reatitutie van de eylenden Tabago emde S, Kustachs, midisgaders van de Colonie van Raumeroma, uﬂ;
in America gelegm ™) A fortnight earller, on February 18, 1887, suthorlty had beea given the Zeeland
Chamber to send out & certain person * whom for the preservation of their colonies they had resolved o
send Lo the Wild Coast, in order there to take command of Fort Kykoveral, situste in the River Esse
quiba,” Bol between thess dales [on February 28) Admiral Crynssen, who had befors the end of 1868
been sent cut by the Zeeland Estates, arrived on the Guisss cosat, and soon bad the colonies 'm hin pos-
sension,

* Roggeveon's Brandmds Fers was first prioted in 1675, bot the taxt was writtes while the colony
yel existed, for he speaks of it as still In beiag. He quokes Goliat as his suthority, and ssems Lo follow him
implicitly. Arccording to bis narrative it would seem that Goliat's charl bagan st the Coppenam, * fhe
selre in my ler hant gekomm,” be says, spoaking of Lhe comst west of that river, " van smen Foliafh, rimade
Tngenienr en Commandewr wvan Esequeba, mal de volginde Rivier tot Powmeron los, heel curicun afgeleghs™
{(* This has come loto my hands very carefully drafted by one Golist, engineer and commander of
Essequibo, together with the following rivers as far aa the Pomeroon ™). This last clause doubtiess refers
alao to Goliat’s map, and s of interest as showing Lhe limit of his survey. lo his description of the
PFomercon, 1o which be gives the alternative title * or Rio Nieow Zeolandt,” Roggeveen writes: | |

* There are sundry other branches, emptying both from the west and from Lhe east into the river, '-'h'Lrh
one most pasa before one reaches the Houss of the Hooghl and Nieww Middelburg, and tha Fort Nowva
Zeelandia™ (" al eer men komt by "t Hoys der Hooght, endes Nicuw Middelburyg, ende 't Fort Nora Zeelandia™
—italies as in Roggeveen's taxl). " The town Niruw Middelburg and the Fort Nora Zedlandia are built
by the oft-mentioned Goliath, as engioeer sod commandenr at that place, whose description here enda”
Goliat fa rald to have been * known, above all, as & very capable and sccurats surveyer aod map maker,*
anil distingnished himsell in that field afer his returs from Golsss (Nagiglas, Devemsberichim ran
Hrewwen).  Roggeveen seltled in .H-l.lelbur! about 18568, and had great local emioence as » geographer.
He is sald Lo have platted his maps himsell. (Nagiglas, as above.) In the title of his atlas he ealls himself
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plantations, assumed it to be the Dutch capital. But, though the Pomeroon
colony was gone, the ** place ” was still counted of an importance to
warrant its *mention in 1674, along with Essequibo, in the charter *213
of the new West India Company. There is, however, in the records

of that body for some years no mention of any attempt to make use
of it.?!

It was in October of 1678 that Abraham Beekman, then Commandeur in
Essequibo, wrote to the Company (in the earliest letter from the colony
now found among its records) that '* The river Pomercon also promises
some profit. In order to make trial of it,” he explains, *' [ sent thither in
August last one of my soldiers to barter for annatto dye.” The
soldier *had been temporarily recalled because of a raid of the *219
C'aribs: ** but the scare being now over,” writes the Commandeur,

**1 ghall send him back there within four or five weeks (the dye season

 Arent Roggeroen, Liefhoblar Mothematicus, professic doemde in de sclfde Komat ot Muddelburg in Zeland.”
Rigrgeveen's map Is iithfully followed, as to the sites of thess places on the Pomeroon, by Ilartsinek’s
description (Bechryring van Guiana, |, p. 29) in 1770, and by Bouchemroeder's map of 1796 98 (stlaa of
the Commission, map 70), which, bowever, marks them ss * ancient ™ or * reined.” The passage of
Rogge veen's text which especlally shows the colony ln exisience when ho wrote la ane not withoul an
intercat of its own. * It ls neadless,” he sayn, In apeaking of the Fascquibe, “ to write muckh further of
the charscier of thia river, for this has becoms well enoogh keown since tho three cities, Middelborg,
Flushing, and Vers, bave there srected & coloay ; yet their principal relatlons sre with the river Pome-
roon.”  ((m reel verder van de galegentheyl dessr Rivier o schryven, is niel noodigh, alwo suleks genoegh
beleent is geworden, ["sederi dat de dris sisden, als Middeltnergh, Viissinghe en Veere, oldaer een Colimic
lieliben opgerecht; doeh de principasle correspondentie ls in de Kevier Ioumaron. )

1 Just whea the last Eurcpeas of the Nova Zslaadia coloay lell the "omercon ean not be jearned.
The Dutch sdmiral, Crynesen, oo taking possession in 1887, la sald o bave left & garrison in that river sa
well as in Essequibo (Hartsinek, Bewhrywing ven Guwiana, |, 344); bot this was doubtless anly ontil the
wish of tha Zeelanders could ba learnsd as to the resumplion of the colony. We hear no more of
Europeans there ; and, in 1871, s Berbice stiempt, reported by Adrisss van Berkel, to send thither a
cargo of wares, together with the Essequibo govermor's confiscation of the veature, implics that only
Indians wers then in posssssion there. A masmseript amoag the “ Evertsen papers” (marked " Moore,
1790 "), lo the Lenox Library, ccatalnlog a clpher for use by the squadrow destined in 1672 for the re-
capture of New York, gives signs for Cayenne, Burloam, Berbice, and Esseqqulbo, bl noac for Poruerwen.
Yet in 1473 the English caplain, Peter Wroth, iliscussing the resources of the Dateh for the defense of
Surinam, thought it possible Lhat they might * sirengthen themselves (rom the garrisons of Rerbiee,
lssakebe [Essequibo], and Baruma [Pomercon]” (British Celemdar of Stale Papers, Colowial Series,
America and Wead fndiss, 16659-0674, pp- #17, 518.) Asother Foglish document of a ball dozen years
Inter, though it evisces some geographical confusion, has doobiless refsrence to the district between
the Essequibo and the Orisces, It Is & pelitlon io the King by one Marke Fleicher, whao, " having
pitched mpon & place Lo the leeward of Soripam sod Essequibo, called Demerars, fitting for & plantation
anil place of trade,” *requests His Majesty will graot his pateat for establishment of same, or at least o
provisivasl order Lo proseculs the affair with assistance from the governors of the Leeaard or Caribbee
Isiands, and privilege to iransport tn Barbadoes and other lslands the trees and canes cat down for clear
ing the groued.” (Britsh Calmdar of Staic Papers, Uolowial Secier, Awevica awd Wesd Jndeen, 1657~
1680, Noa. 714, T71, pp. 258, 381, Thess Lwo saniries evidently refer o ithe same petition, and | bave
treatcd them sccordingly.) Demerars la, of sourse, no! Lo Lhe leoward of Essequibo; but, in view of the
wording of the petition and of the circumwtances, the place had in mind probably was so. Tt is pot
strange Lhat the Lords of Trade and Plastations, io reply, desired first * Lo be infurmed on certain points:
as Lo whelber any are soaled thorsabouls, what tract of laod he mesos Lo take in" ele. Thus they
snswered on July 20, 16878, A sequel does ool appear.
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not fairly beginning there before that date), and if the trade prospers it
would not be a bad idea to build there a little hut for two or three men,
so that they may dwell permanently among the Indians and occupy that
river. Thuos these would be stimulated to furnish a deal of annatto—for
the place ig too far off for them to bring it here to the fort.™

Of this post, which was speedily established, one hears often in the
letters of the next few years. The anpatto trade flourished there, but by
1686 the Company had a better use for the Pomeroon. An Essequibo
planter on a visit to Holland—one Jacob de Jonge—persuaded them to
open that river to himself aud other settlers. Afler satisfying themselves
that the Walcheren cities and the Zeeland Estates no longer had a valid
claim there, they granted the petition, made of the new settlement an in
dependent colony, and appointed De Jonge commandeur. He set out at
once for his colony, arriving and beginning operations there in April, 16886.
Colonists followed, and the settlement was in a hopeful way, when, after
even & briefer life than that of its predecessor of 1658-18665, a European
war again proved fatal. Om April 30, 1689, just three years afier the
colony's birth, the French, guided by the Caribs through the water passage
leading from the Barima, and reinforced by those savages, fell upon the
settlement in the night and utterly dispersed it.*

No attempt was ever made to reestablish it. The West India Com-

pany, on receiving full tidings, only instructed (November 15, 1689)
*220 the Essequibo commandeur to leave there the *Company’s flag, with
three men, in order to retain possession.® The post was established

and maintained, though, aa would appear, with but two men instead of
three. Al least, according to the muster-roll of SBeptember 8, 1691, there
were there only a postholder and a single assistant.* In 1700 it was oo
the same footing; but in this year we begin to hear a new name for its
gite; where the pay-roll for this year makes Jan Debbaut *‘ postholder
in I'omercon, at the Company’s trade house,” the muster-roll makes the
same soldier '* postholder in Wacupo.”* By 1704 the pay-roll, too, adopts
the new title for the post, calling Jan Debbaut ** postholder in Wacupo.”

Now, the Wacupo, or Wacquepo, 18 a branch of the Pomeroon, joining
it from the left just a little above its mouth; a branch of much commer-
cial and military importance because it has (or had), at least in time of
high water, a navigable communication with the river Moruca to west.
ward, and, through that river, with the system of bayous by which
canoes make their way to the Waini, the Barima, and the Orinoco.
Through this passage it doubtless was that the French had made their

' Extracts, pp. 144, 145,

¥ Extracts, pp. 174, 181, 188; Blus Book * Venssuela No, 3" pp. 80-88.

¥ Extracts, pp. 190-184.

4 Extracis, po 193,

* Extracts, p. 189, From 1700 to 1703 the muster-rolls Suctosle between Wacupo and Pomercos
alter that, they call this post always Wacupo—spelling the sams varlously.
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way in 1680 for the deetruction of the colony. It was, therefore, very
natural that a post for the protection of the Pomercon should find a site
on the Wacupo; and this site offers a ready explanation for the double
name. This solution gains support, too, from another name. In the
journal of the Pomeroon Commandeur for 1886 one reads of a ** postholder
in Courey.”! Now, Courcy, or Korey, ie the name of the swampy
meadows through which the canoce-channel led from the Wacupo

to the *Moruca (or, rather, to its branch, the Manawarima);* and *221
no point on the Wacupo could be a more natural site for a post than

the junction with the passage through these wet meadows. If a post were
already there in 1688, it is surely not improbable that its buildings should
be chosen for the later occupancy.

It would appear, however, that there was now for a year or two a
second post on the Pomeroon; for we learn from the pay-rolls that on July
14, 1703, Paulus Veefaart was made "' postholder in Pomeroon,” and both
the pay-roll and the muster-roll for 1704 register him there, with an assist.
ant, while Jan Debbaut and his assistant are still accredited to Wacupo.
On April 6, 1705, however, he was discharged from the Company’s service;
and, although on the muster-roll for June 18, 1705, his assistant, Dirk
Schey, still appears in the Pomeroon, it was perhaps only to finish out the
year. In the following year we find him serving as bylier in Demerara,
and the name Pomerocon does not again occur among those of the posts.?

The post of Wacuopo remained and flourished. Twice during the War
of the Spanish Succession its garrison had succeesful brushes with the foe—
in 1709 and in 1712 —the second time repelling with its four men a much
superior force of French and Spaniards.* In 1707 Commandeur Beekman
suggested the laying of a toll "' in the rivers Moruca and Pomeroon " on the
traders from other colonies who passed through these inland waters for
traffic on the Orinoco, but his successor deprecated the step as involving
too great expense.® It would, indeed, have been necessary to plant a new
post on the Moruca or to mmove that of Wacupo to some point
where it would *command both entrances to the Orinoco route. *222
For other reasons this step had at last to be taken. In 1726 (October)
the then Commandeur announced to the Court of Policy his conviction
that the Wacupo post was too far out of the ordinary course of boats and
his wish to remove it to the Moruca. With the secretary and one of the
councilors he made a tour of inspection and selected there a site for the
post; and the Court of Policy voted (December 2, 1726) ** to establish the
house and the Post of Wacapo upon the aforementioned site as soon as

I Bles Book = Vesssuals No. 1. p. 84,

" Extracis, p. 387. U6 Atlas, map 88,

' [o the moster-roll of Oclober 30, 1707, the Wacupo posl ls called, ii ls tree, ** The Company's dye.
hoose in Pomercon and Waoupo.®

4 Blos Book ' Venssuala No. 8.° pp. 78, T4; Extracta, pp. 138134, 241,

¥ Blos Book * Veosssels No. 8,° pp. TL, T8; Extracts, pp. 130 355
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possible.” That this step was then or soon after taken is my belief.
My reasons for it I shall set forth in detail in my study of the occupation
of the latter river.!

The removal of the post to the Moruca must have left the region of the
Pomeroon practically deserted. Planters since 1889 there had never been.?
A little before the middle of the eighteenth century (** ten or twelve ycars
ago,” wrote the Essequibo Director-General to the Company in 1758) one
Erasmus Velderman was granted by the Court of Policy permission to
dwell in the river and raise there the cassava needed to keep him alive,
but without owning any land; and when at his death (prior to 1758) he
assumed to bequeath his holding to an Essequibo planter (Jan La Riviere),
the Court forbade the inberitance. Velderman may have cut some timber
there, but if so, thinks the Director-General, it was probably very little.®

Director-General Storm van 's Gravesande (1743-1772) was indeed frankly
and earnestly opposed to all occupation of the Pomeroon until the available

lands not only in the Essequibo but in the Demerara (which had been
*323 opened under his auspices, *and of whose success he was justly

jealous) should all be taken up.* In 1758 he wrote to the Company
that permission to cut timber in the Pomercon had in 1753 been granted by
the Court of Policy to one Edward Ling (an Englishman from Barbados
then resident in Essequibo), but that, after taking out only two shiploads,
Ling had gone back to Barbados. But there is here certainly a lapsns
memori® as to the scene of Ling's operations, for the records of the Court
of Policy show that he asked to cut, not in the Pomeroon, but in the Waini,
and that in 1754 the Court expressly reaffirmed this in refusing the similar
petition presented by Abram Van Doorn (one of their own number) and
soveral other colonists. They had granted, they said, to Ling and his
partner *'liberty to cut timber in the Waini, but by no means in the
Pomeroon.” If Ling cut timber there notwithstanding, as is of course not
impoasible, it was clearly in express violation of his permit.*

In 1756, however, another English planter, Isaac Knott, again asked
permission to cut timber in the Pomeroon, to supply the demand in the
English West India colonies; and this time the Court of Policy, temptel,
perhaps, by the large annual payment he offered, gave its consent. The
Director-General, however, protested; and through the home authorities
his opposition seems to have been effective,

1 See pp. *280, #2381, below.

* [a 1808, indeed, the Company instructsd Commandenr Samuel Beekman to sead again a planter
thither (s0 saye Baekman's lotter of Aogust 11, 1898}, but it doss not appear thal ome was sctoally in.
duced to go.

¥ Extracta, pp. 878, 374; Blue Book * Veoeazusls No. §,° p. 104,

¢ Blos Book * Venczuela No. 3," p. 108; Extracta, pp. 373, 374.

* Extracts, pp. 343, 376; Bloe Book * Vonerusls No. 3," p. 98,

* Extracts, pp. 367, 371, 378, 378-2377; Blus Book " Venezuela No 3" p. 108, One Jacques de
Saligoac is mentioned by the Zeeland Chamber as If & fellow-petitioner for the same faver. The matter
soemns 00w o0 have dropped out of thought; bat the FPomercon remained closed. One Willlams, »
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Thue the Pomerocon remained, as the Director-General called it,
“‘ a district bringiog mo earthly profit to the Company "—*he might *224
have added ‘' or to the colony"—until the very last years of the
eighteenth century. It remained under the care of the Moruca post,® and
was mainly resorted to by the colonists for the cutting of timber or of
thatch.? In 1783, indeed, while the colony was in the possession of the
French, grants of land in the Pomeroon were made to certain French
colonists, on condition that they should begin work on their plantations
within six months.* But before the year was half gone the restoration of
the colony to the Dutch was under negotiation, and it is hardly likely that
any of the grantees were 8o rash as to enter upon the occupation of such
uncertain property. Certain it is that after the Datch reassumption of the
culony, in March, 1784, nothing is heard of these settlers in such colonial
records as reached Holland. From this time on, it is true, applications for
lands in the Pomeroon poured in thick and fast.* But the authoritis
suffered these to accumulate pending formal action for the throwing open
uf the river. Not until the year 1794, in fact, although the coast planta-
tions had then for some years been approaching the mouth of the Pome-
roon, was completed the survey and map on whose basis that river itsolf,
with the adjoining territory as far as the Moruca, was to be thrown open
to settlement; and not till the following year did the home authorities
take action thereon. The plan submitted by the (Governor-General of
the colony included a reservation of ground for a town at the mouth
of the Pomeroon, and provided for fortifications at both ®sides of *225
the entrance to that river.* These suggestions were still under
ardvisement,* and little or nothing could yet have been done toward the
actual occupation of the river when, in April, 1786, the British took pos-
session of the colony; and the Bouchenroeder map, completed after
this seizure, shows no trace of cultivation in this river.? But by
the year 1802-3, when it was for a little time once more in Dutch hands,
it seems fair to infer from the way in which the river is mentioned,

colunist who had dessrved wall of the Company In the suppression of & alave revaolt, ventured in 1774 o
sk for 3 000 scres of land la the rver Pomeroos, oo Lhe sast side,” in order Lhal he might raiss limber
ihers (Bloe Book * Venezuela No. 8" p. 188} but bls petition was probably shelved with the others

3 Bles Book “ Venczoela No. 5," p. 1324,

? Pamses grastsd to boats for thia purposs besomas very fregquest in the records In the later years of
this century.

* | owe Lhe koowledge of this to Mr. Rodway ( Bistery of British Guisna, IL, p. 21), who bad sccess
to ihe records still remaloing in the coloay.

t A multituds of them are silll to be found in the yolume of the West [ndis papers (iisgue, Rijksar.
chiel, vol. 2012 d) marked * Sukbon beirckkelyk Aol wilperen van GFrondm, Eweguebe o Denerary, 1755
79 [{]." Noae ssk for lsad we of the Pomerooa.

* Extracta, pp. 607, 808, 811 433 : Atlss, map 69,

* Extracts, pp. $37-83%,

¥ Atlas, map 70.



No. 8.

both by the authorities in the colony and by the Colonial Council in Hol-
land, that cultivation had now reached if not invaded it.!

From the first Dutch occupation of the Pomeroon, in 1658, down to late
in the eighteenth century, the claim of the Dutch to that river seems to
have been unquestioned. The attack of the English in 1665-86 and that of
the French in 1880 were hostile invasions in time of war. In 1769, for the
first time, we hear in Dutch records of a counterclaim: the Spanish governor
of Orinoco was said to have declared that the territory was Spain's as far as
I he bank of Oene, in the mouth of the Essequibo.* During the years which
followed, though Spain and Holland were at peace, there was more than
one Spanish incursion into the Pomeroon;* but, though ravages were com-
mitted along the coast and Indians abducted from the interior, there was
no attempt actually to take possession of the river. Of the Instruccion of
the Spanish Intendant-General of Veneszuela, in February, 1778, for the oc-

cupation and settlement of Guayana ‘' to the borders of the Dutch
*296 colony *of Essequibo” the Dutch authorities seem to have known

nothing; but of the reconnoissance later in that year by the Spanish
officer Inciarte, which not only made careful inspection of the Pomeroon, as
of the rivers west of it, but even selected asite for a fortified place in that
river,* they knew. The Moruca postholder reported the presence of the
Spaniards, and the Indians had heard them say that they were coming back
in three months to erect a fort; but the Director-General having assured
himself that they were “‘all gone without having done any harm” to the
post or to the Indians, evinced no disquiet about the matter, and no steps
soem to have been taken toward protest or further investigation.® The
latest incursion known, that of 1794, was repelled by the Indians, under
the lead of a Dutch colonist.®

It appears, then, in brief, that:

1. The river Pomerocon was first colonized by the Dutch in the year
1658. This colony, while still in ita infancy, was destroyed by the British
1n 1665-86.

2, After lying a score of years unpeopled, it was again colonized in
1638; but only to be laid desolate by the French in 1689,

8. Thereafter the river was never again thrown open to settlement until
the very last years of Dutch occupation.

4. It remained, however, in the constant possession of the Essequibo
colony, guarded by a post and drawn on for dyewoods, timber, and thatch,
being explicitly held in reserve for the later growth of the colony.

1 CL, e, g., Extracts, pp. 853, 880.

¥ Extracts, pp. 467, 488, 498 ; Blue Book * Venesoela No. 8,7 pp. 175, 176,
8 Thos in 1768, 1775, 1788, 1794. Bee pp. "244-*248, below.

& Soo his report, in Seljus, Limites Britanicos de Guayana, pp. 87-96,

¥ Extracts, pp. 881, 084,

s Extrscta, pp. 632437,



97

No. 3.
*4. THE DUTCH IN THE MORUCA.! *227

Only 2 or 3 miles west of the Pomeroon there empties into the sea the
little river Moruca.? It comes, however, from a very different quarter of
the compass. Taking its rise in the low coast lands to the west, half way
to the Waini, it flows for two-thirds of its course southeastward, nearly
parallel with the seacoast. Then, receiving from the interior the two
creeks, Haimara and Manawarima, it turns, at its junction with the latter,
sharply to the northeastward and so reaches the sea. The stream owes its
importance to this unusual direction of its course and to the fact that from
its upper waters there is a passage navigable by canoes, at least during the
rainy season, Lo the rivers at the west, and so into the great water aystem
of the Orinoco. The powerful current forever sweeping westward along
the Guiana coast renders the eastward voyage along that coast all but im-
possible for sailing vessels, as also for boats propelled by hand; and
the Moruca became, therefore, as to some extent it still is, the *regu- *228
lar avenue for the coasting trade with the Orinoco —not alone that of
the Essequibo, but that of the other Guiana colonies as well.* Through
these inland waters a foreign foe from the mouth of the Orinoco or a band
of hostile Indians could steal into the Moruca, and even, through another
passage navigable at high water, into the Pomeroon, without that certainty
of warning which hindered an approach by sea. It was doubtless by this
route that the Spaniards carried on that early traffic with the Pomercon
and the Essequibo of which we know through the pages of Raleigh and of
Jan de Laet.* Through it, doubtless, in 1637 went that Dutch expedition
from the Berbice and the Essequibo which laid Santo Thomé in ruins,

But the first mention in Dutch records of any attempt to take the stream
into posesession is when in 1658 the engineer Goliat inspected the coast in
search of a site for the new colony of Nova Zeelandia. In that year he
sent home a *‘ short description of the rivers Demerara, Essequibo, Pome-
roon and Moruca,” and when the Pomeroon was made the site of that new
colony the Moruca seems to have been included.®* In the book put forth to

' The name appears la many forme: Marce, Marcea, Marocco, Maroco, Marooque, Marcoques,
Marcoqus, Maruoa, Marags, Maruks, Moroca, Morocco, Moroco, Morooess, Morowoso, Morroea, Moruos,
Moruosa, Morogs, Moruka, De Last spells it also Ammegore (Nowws Ordis, 1834, p. 849); but thia ls
almost certaloly s coofusios with ihe name of the Amacura—cl his p. 880,

* Maps disegres somewhat as to the distance of the Moruea from the Pomercon; but thls was the
resuli reached by ths two ccloalal surveyors in 1704, (Bee Atlas, map 89, and of Extracts p- 819, Tha
Dwich rod of that day, it mest be remembered, was cnly three-quarters the leagth of the English oss.)
Biriolly speaking, no exact statament ls possible, sinoe the Pomeroon emptios st llﬂslnl.lgluh tha
Moroos and to the cosst that the western Hmit of Ita mouth s indetermisable.

8 OL, o g, Blee Book " Veoesnela No. 8, p, 121,

“ CL, pp. 183, "358. The basslessness of the loag-curreat ervor that la 1598 the Spealards drove
the Dwutch oot of the Morooa has besn coavincingly shows by Professor Jamesoo oa pp. 85-80, above
[i &, U, 8. Com. Rep,, v. L].

* Boe pp. *114-"314, above for the asthorities for these slatements. It has seemed best to repoat
here much alrsady told in speaking of the Pomercon, rather than o leave the story of the Moruoo incom.
piets, Thalr closs amsocistion gars them in moch & common history.
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tempt settlers to the colony the seftlement itself is spoken of as the
“Colony on the rivers of Paurooma [Pomeroon] and Maruga
[Morucal,” and its projectors are called the patroons of the Zeeland
Colony in Essequibo, Pomeroon and Moruca; Byam, the contemporary
English governor of Surinam, calls the Colony in 1665 ‘“ Bowroom
*320 *[Pomeroon] and Moroco;” and Major John Scott, who in the winter
of 1665-66 captured the colony for the English, says that he was
commissioned to seize several setilements of the Netherlanders in Guiana,
*“as Moroco [Moruca), Wacopow [Wacupo], Bowroome [Pomeroon], and
Dissekeeb [ Essequibo].™®

After the ruin of the Pomeroon colony in 1666 we hear no more of the
Moruca; and there i8 no reason to suppose it occupied again before the
reestablishment of that colony in 1686. Then, in the correspondence of the
Commandeur, De Jonge, we find it again mentioned, though only as a
near place for barter with the Indians.? As, however, il was proposed to
make plantations on the Wacupo, at its very threshold, on the Mana-
warima, the main tributary of the Moruca itself, and in the Korey
savannas between the two, there can be little doubt that the lower Moruca
also would speedly have been inhabited, bad not this colony, too, been
abruptly ended by the raid of the French in 1689,

From this time onward it is nearly a score of years before I again find
mention of the Moruca. In 1707 the Dutch commandeur of Essequibo,
Samuel Beekman, proposed to the Company the laying of a toll *'in the
rivers Marocques and Boumeron [Moruca and Pomeroon]” on boats, balsam,
Indian slaves, and cacao brought in from the side of the Orinoco through
this passage by the traders of Berbice; but Beekman's successor, who
followed him in the same year, opposed the project, and it was not carried
out.* That the Wacupo post, though so near, did not then or for some

time after effectively guard the enlrance to the Moruca seems de-
#3230 ducible from *the Commandeur’s objection to this toll on the ground

of expense, and from the fact that when, in 1613, an Essequibo agent
was met at the mouth of the Pomeroon by a party of French and Spaniards
and driven back into the Moruca, he could only reach the post two days
later by way of the upper passage through the savannas of Korey. ¢

It was in order to make the post an effective guard of the Moruca, as well
as of the now less used Wacupo entrance to the Orinoco route, that in Octo-
ber, 1726, Commandenr Gelskerke informed the Essequibo Court of Policy
of his intention to inspect the Wacupo post, *‘ knowing that the said post
lies far out of the ordinary course of boats which come hither through the
inland waters;"” wherefore, ** it was his intention to choose a fit place in
the river of Morueca to which be might transplant the house and post,

! Bee pp. 108, *197, "215, *218. above; and Extracts, pp. 188-187.

" Blue Book * Venezuela No. 8, p. 64,

* Blue Book * Venezpels No. 8, pp. T8, T4; Extracts, pp. 258338, 341,
* Exiracts, p. 237,
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gince all boats which come through the inland waters must pass that
way.” Accordingly, in company with the secretary and ore of the
councilors, he made a journey thither, and in December reported to the
Court of Policy their decision ** that the fittest place " for the post '* was
at the landing where those fetching horses, coming from the Orinoco into
the river Moruca, usually make a stop (a place called in the Indian lan.
guage Accoujere), it being possible to build the house there so close to the
river side that a hand grenade can be thrown into the boats, the river being
at its narrowest there.™

There is every reason to believe that the traosfer thus foreshadowed
was then or soon after actually made. For, though for many years the
post retained the old name of Wacupo, one begins from 1731 on to
find coupled with this name that of *Moruca,? which gradually *231
crowds the other from use.* And when, in 1757, the Spaniards of
Orinoco, hearing that the Dutch were building a new post on the Moruca,
sent to reconnoiter, they found the old post still 6 leagues up the river from
its mouth —a point which seems fully to tally with the site chosen in 1726.

It is at such a site, well up the Moruca, that the post appears on the
map of Governor Storm van '8 Gravesande, in 1749,* and on the little
Jesuit map handed in by him in 1750.* And this site well answers to the
description given in 1747, by the Spanish governor, in a description of the
inland passage for boats, of ““the stronghold called the post, which the
Dutch of Essequibo maintain with three men and two small cannons, 16
leagues from the colony tuoward the ship channel ” of the Orinoco.* The
Capuchin missionaries who visited it in 1769 described it as ** a thatch-cov-
ered house on the east bank of the river Moruca,” and declared it to have
been tolerated theie about forty years.®

For the purpose of giving warning of the approach of an enemy the
post at its new site was speedily put to use. In May of 1628 the Court of
Policy, having learned fromn the postholder of the seizure by the Orinoco
Spaniards of a Surinam fishing vessel, and being else informed of the prob-
ability of a war Letween Holland and Spain, *' resolved to reinforce
the aforesaid post of Wacupo with two soldiers and to direct *Jan *232
Batiste [the postholder] to keep the necessary beacons in order, so
that * they might ‘* receive the earliest information in case the Spaniards

i Bloe Book * Venezsela No, 8" p. 80. The Dutch of the phrase defining the site russ: “ am ds
walsrplaais daer de peards Hadders, wit & Oromocgus in de Rivier van Maroco bomende, ordimair pley-
wberem.”
2 The name * Waoapo sad Moroea ® does not oecar in the pav-rolls aotll 1788, but Is frequent there-
after. Of Extracts, pp. 178, 308, 807, 809, 233 ; Blus Book “ Veneznela No. 8,7 pp. B8, BB, W.

* From sbout 1747. Cf Bioe Book * Venesuels No. 3, pp. 89, #1, M ; Extracts, pp. 317, 831, 837,
It is oot until 1764 that the name * trading-place in Morues ™ appsars in the pay-rolils

4 Atlas of the Commission, map 80,

¥ Atlas of the Commission, map 81,

* Venasaslan * Documents,” ili, p. 184

* Blue Book * Venessala No. 1," p. 114
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should send any armed vessels to this colony,” and the postholder was
instructed, in case the post of Wacupo should be attacked, to ‘‘ defend
it to the utmost.” The soldiers were accordingly sent, together with these
instructions.* Apart from such reenforcement of soldiers at times of
danger, the post was equipped (as we learn from a report as to ordnance
received by the Company in 1731) with four small cannon—two two-
pounders and two one-pounders.?

If it had been in the thought of the colonial authorities that the advance
of the post might lead to increased trade with the Indians the hope was
disappointed. In 1737 the governor had to report to the Company that
* the post Wacupo and Moruca, formerly the most important trading-place
for the Company’s annatto trade, has these last years fallen off in this
business.” He had taken pains to learn the cause of this and had found it
due, not to the neglect of the postholder, but to the cownpetition of the
Surinam slave traders, whose more lucrative traffic made the Indians slug-
gish aboul dye gathering. * While I see no way of changing this,” adds
the governor in words full of interest, ** we must nevertheless keep up this
post, because it was established for the maintenance of your frontiers
stretching toward the Orinoco.” ?

By 1754 another use for a post on this side of the colony had forced it-
gelf upon the thought of the planters. The escape of slaves to the Urinoco
was a growing evil, and the current sweeping westward along the coast

made it quite posasible for these runaways to take the route outside
*233 by sea instead of the *inland passage guarded by the post. To

intercept these coastwise fugitives, the post, a half-dozen leagues
up the river, was, of course, quite useless. In January, 1754, it was
accordingly resolved by the Court of Policy, on petition of the citizen
militia, '* to place a post on the side of the Moruca,” at its mouth, ‘‘to
prevent the desertion of slaves.”*

The panic soon after, caused by the rumor of a Spanish invasion from
the Orinoco, gave the colony for a time other things to think of, and other
uses for the Moruca post. On September 2, 1755, Director-General Storm
van 's Gravesande, alarmed by the prospect of a Spanish attack, had wnt-
ten of detaching ** eight or ten men to garrison and defend as far as pos-
sible the post of Moruca, which will,” he fears, ‘*bear the brunt.”*, A
week later (September 10) the militia officers petition *' that an armed boat
be placed at Moruca to keep guard” and to report any approach of the
enemy;* and by October 12 the Director-General is able to report to the
Company that ** two small vessels have been made (whereof one is ready,

 Blus Book * Venezuels, No. 8," p. 81.

¥ Extracts, p. 238,

¥ Extracts, p. 278,

‘ Blue Book ” Veneroela No. 8,7 p. #7; but ootice, p. 98, the lemporary abandosment of Lhe project.
* Flue Book  YVeneruela No. 3,7 p. #0.

* Blue Book ™ Yesszuela No. 8,” p. 101,
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and the other almost 80) to keep guard' between Moruca and Pomeroon,”
and another, a private barque, *‘ equipped to go and lie by the angle of the
Pomeroon.” In the same letter he reports that he has ‘‘sent order to
Moruca to cause all inland waters and passages to be blocked,”? so that
the foe ‘* may not be able to pass with small vessels.”

Yet, on January 5, 1756, the panic having subsided, the Court of Policy
again took in hand the change of the post; for it was clearly at this time
in thought, not to establish a new post at the mouth of the Moruca,
but to remove the old one *to that site. This was accordingly *2.4
ordered.® The order was, however, not carried out. This we
know, first of all, from the Spaniards. Toward the end of 1757, Iturriaga,
the commander of the Spanish forces in the Orinoco, heard through the
Capuchin missionaries that the Dutch were building a new fort on the
Moruca. Accordingly he sent a subordinate to visit the place and bring
back tidings of the result of his reconnoissance. This subordinate, on
December 2, 1757, reported in writing that the ounly basis of the rumor
was the intention of the Dutch to remove Lo the mouth of the Moruca
** the guard which, under the name of post, they maintain on the Moruca
channel.” For this purpose, he learned, they had '‘cut down trees and
made clearings. He heard, also, of the houses to be built for the Arawak
Indians and the Dutch;” but this news he was unable to verify with
certainty. Iturriaga, on receiving this report, conjectured that to preveat
desertions and for the protection of the sugar plantations from slave
revults, the Dutch might build there a sinall fort, with a few small canuon,
and manned by from four to six men.*

But, three months later, the subordinate sent to reconnoiter had
another report to make. On March 30, 1758, he wrote that the change of
the post on the Moruca had not taken place. The Dutch had built at the
mouth of the river only a house 15 yards long, with a stockade and gates;
““ and this,” he writes, ““is for the use of those engaged in the trade
of the Colony, and to serve as a rest-house while the river is in
flood.” The old post was still kept up at its old site, 7 leagues up
the *river from the sea, and was equipped with three unmounted *235
cannon, three pounders, and manned by a corporal and two soldiers,
besides the Arawak Indians. The latter were gathered in three villages,
of ten or twelve houses each, lying a league apart on the banks of the
Moruca.*

1 % De wachi® (not * the way,” aa in the Blus Book).

¥ * Toe ie lasts bappen,” 1. &., 10 block by felling timber,

» Bloe Book ~ Veneroela No, 3" p. 108. This action is staled by the mioates of the Court to be
" in sstisfaction of the resolution of this Cuurt dated the Tih October, 1783 (Blue Book “ Venezusla
No. 3" p. 108). As the resclution la sccemible, If anywhers, caly lo Gulana, 8o transeript of this resalu-
tom of October 7, 1788, existiag awong ihe papers transmitted Lo Eurcpe, | have beea usnable 1o

sxmmine it
& Vensszoelan ~ Documesta,” 1, pp. 161188, Blue Book ** Veneszvela No. 1,7 pp. 89, #0.

* Blos Book “ Venettuala No. 1.° p. #1. VYenezuvelan * Docamenls,”™ §i, pp. 104, 103,
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The post was doubtless, then, at this old site when in 1758 (January 6)
the Essequibo secretary wrote of a canoe load of cattle aground “ in a
certain canal, called Itaboe, situated under the Company’s post Moruca,™!
and at this old site it is shown by all fresh maps of the colony drafted prior
to 1784.* The moet minute and satisfactory account of the site of the
Moruca post, however, is due to another Spaniard, the young officer [nciarte,
who in 1779 made an official reconnoissance of the entire region from the
Orinoco to the Pomeroon. His lucid report® makes it clear that the post
was on the south of the river, at a point in its upper course where the
streams turns at right angles from a southeasterly to a northeasterly trend

—a point opposite the modern Catholic mission of Santa Rosa.*
938 *As to how the watch-house, or rest-house, at the mouth of the

river, was cared for is to be gathered only from passing allusions.
A settler, one Beissenteufel, was granted land for a plantation at the
mouth of the river on condition of maintaining there the outpost watch.
But, soon after, he had the misfortune tu blow himself up with a barrel of
gunpowder, and it is possible that the walch-house was then abandoned,
though it may have been somehow kept up until the abandonment of the
plantation, in 1767.* Yet in 1765 the Moruca postholder, who had ap-
parently come down to the coast in the effort to intercept certain fugitives,
could report, ‘I am lying between the mouth of Moruca and Pomeroon, so
that I can see everything that passes the seacoast”—language which
certainly does not imply the presence there, at that date, of a regular
lookout.®* Amnd the historian Hartsinck, writing in 1770, after mentioning

i Extracts, pp. 874, 875.

® Atlas of the Commission, maps 84, 88, 43, 85. Cf. also the Spanish maps of Cruz Cano sad Burville
{maps 80, 71), and especially map 43, the English map (1783} of Thompeon, who was for & Lima in com-
mand of the coloay during the English occopation of 1781-82

? Printed in full in Seijas Limifer Britanicos dr (Fuapana, pp. 87-94 (pp. 84-R9 of the English trans
lation).

4 See, 0. §., the Schomborgk map published in the Bloe Book * Venezuela No. 5.° The site thos
described by Inclarte perfectly tallies with thatl assigoed the post in the most carefal of the extant Dutch
mapa of this region ( Atlss of the Commission, map 88— though trasamitied in 1791, the map mast have
been drafted oot long after 1789), except that the whole course of the Moruca, ss in all maps of the last
century, is repressnted as northerly. That the post was on the * east * baank, i e, the right bank, of the
river waa also Lestified by the Capuchin missionaries in 1782, (Bloe Book * Venesvels No. 3.° pp. 388,
£64.) Anad with this all the maps agres. Hartsinek, the Duteh bistorian of the colonles, writing in 1770,
indeed says: * On ihe said river or creek Moruea, which about 2 or 8 [Dutch] miles from the ses mnlles
\tself with the creek Wacupo, . . . wehave st the junction of these croeks & post, which was lormaerly
s fortified howse equipped with several cannon, but s now falles to ruin.® Bot Hartslnck was never ln
the colony, and his grography of all this reglon is oo confussd Lo lnspire falth in his concluslons. The
* pow fallen Lo ruin ™ is perhaps only the strong phrass of an Amsterdamer for thatl naglectsd stats of
the colony's delonsss which was jost then being masde a ground for the overtbrow of the Zselanders'
monopol ¥,

b S pp. "84T, *248, below, and cf Extracts, p, 580,

¥ Blos Book " Venerusls No. 3.7 p. 187,
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the post's erection there in 1757 at the joint cost of the Company and the

planters, declares that ‘' it has since fallen to ruin.”!

At this gite the post remained until the English and French occupation
of the colony in 1781-1784. For a decade before this, however, there had
been discontent over its remoteness from the sea. On August 27,

1772, Director-General Storm *van 's Gravesande wrote the Com. #3237
pany of his surprise to find it so far back, and pointed out that,

while *‘it lies indeed directly before the inland passage through the
Itabos and there wholly commands that,”® ** it is absolutely useless as
far as regards the runaway slaves, who pass along the coast by water;”
for these had now learned to take the sea route and profit by the west-
ward current. This complaint grew frequent. By 1777 the colonial
Court of Policy was unanimously of opinion that *‘ the post in Moruca
i8 located too high in the creek, and therefore should be removed and
placed lower at the seacoast:"? but the commandant of the garrison in-
sisted, in opposition to the rest, that the post should be made a military
one, with a corporal and eight soldiers, since a civilian with Indians could
not arrest the deserting soldiers who escaped by that route.* The Director-
(General protested Lo the Company that, as a postholder’s chief dulies were
only to win the good will of the Indians, to keep a watchful eye on neigh-
boring foes, whether European or native, and to catch runaway slaves hy
the aid of the Indians, the soldiers would do more harm than good.* But
the Company seems to have sided with the commandant, and on June 24,
1778, the Ten ordered that Lthere be erected at the seacoast a new and
purely military post, equipped with four or five 8 pounders and the necessary
ammunition, and maoned by a corporal, a cannoneer, and three soldiers;
and, notwithstanding the Director-General's protests, these instructions
were reiterated on May 7, 1779. A sketch plan for the proposed post

*was also transmitted.®* It would not appear, from the resolution *23s
itself, that this was meant to disturb the old post on the inner waters,

but the Director-General seems to have felt himself free to interpret it
otherwise, for on September 23, 1779, he wrote to the Amsterdam Chani.-
ber: ‘'I have had a piece of forest cleared by the Indians for the Post of

' “Op de Westhosk van deese Rivier [Pomeroon] is, in den Jaare 1757, op koste van de Ubmpagnic en
de Burgery van Esseguebo le somen, sen Post gelegd, om hel weyoluchien der Saaven, over Zee, te belellen:
dock daslve is sedert in verval geroakl.” |Beschryving van Guiana, |, pp. 228, 849} This phraseclogy,
i mast be confeased, suggeils a more cossiderable post than the lookout abuve described ; mod this is not
loss true of the language of the DireclorGeneralin 177¥ and of the Court of Pulicy in 1788, {Exiracts,
Pp. 881, B8O, )

? Diemalws Ligrt wel repi ooor de bimnenlendichke pamagie door difabes [sic] en kan die doer volstreki befel
im.” (Bles Bovk “ Venezuela No. 8,° p. 180, where, however, sa will be noticed, the trapslstion s not
quite sxacl) * Diffabos” ls, of course, for ditiaber :  ihe lettor is 8 copy by & secretary, and thers are
in it several slips of this sort (ef. vol. iii, p. 141, note. )

¥ Exirscts, p. 830.

4 Extracts, pp. 889, 041, 848,

¥ Extracta, pp. 043, 844.

¥ Exiracts pp. 888, 509,



104

No. 3.

Moruca on the old site again, at the angle and mouth of the Pomeroon, in
order to move the post back thither, since the present post is of little or no
nse.” He is preparing, that is to say, to establish it at the point between
the mouths of the Pomeroon and the Moruca, where the lookout had been
placed in 17571 “ Yet,” he adds, ‘‘since for this twenty-five or thirty
men are needed, in order to lay it into polder [i. e., to dike it], and thedry
season is already too nearly gone, I have resolved to go thither myself in
the coming March and April . . . soastocarry out the work promptly
under my own oversight.”* That this plan was carried out I find no reason
to question; yet the new site can hardly have been more than ready for the
post when early in March, 1781, the colony was seized by the English.?
Whether or no the English maintained the post, the French, who suc-
ceeded them in the possession of the colony, abandoned it; for on Decem-
ber 5, 1788, the Spanish officer, Inciarte, who had made so snccessful a
reconnoissance here in 1778, reported the abandonment to his superiors,*
urging them to take advantage of the opportunity by occupying the place.

This, however, so far as is known, was never done.
*239 *When, in 1784, the Dutch reassumed possession of the colony,

steps were promptly taken for the carrying out of the Company's
long deferred plan for a military post at the mouth of the Moruca.® Its

! Boe pp. 184, *138, above

¥ Extracts, pp. 881, b82.

* Note again that the map of the Eoglish captain, Thompson (Atlss, map 43), who was commander
of the Eaglish foroes hers, represents Lhe post at the old upper site,

. .. ™ pero noticiuse de gue con motive de Aaberse apoderado los francess de la dicha colowis dr
.ﬁummhm han abandomade los holandeses la FPosia avansada gwe bemian d orillas ded rie
Moruca,”

 Extracls, pp. 679-888. Hince my relurn from Europe my sitestion has beon called (by Mr, Rod-
way's study on The Boundary Question, lately published by the government of British Guolana) to a pam-
age which, ss it purports to come from & Dutch document, deserves bere & word of comment. The doca-
ment In question ls the report ol & jolot commitise of the Wesl India Company, composed of
depaties from the Amsterdam and Zeeland Chambers, which sat sl the Hagos in May, 17838, and drew
up & plan for the recrgenization of the Golans Colonies, then In the hands of the Preach bat shout to be
given back to the Dutch, Thia report in printed in the appendix to the fikh volume of the Brieven over
ket Bestuur der Colonien Exssguebo en Demerary gewisseld fusschen de hseren Arisiodemus en Hincervs—
an anonymous attack oo the coatrol of Lhe colonies by the Company, published at Amasterdarm In 1785-58.
As there printed, the report contalns, smong many others, this recommendation: * That also on the
Orinoco & post for defenss both againet the escaping of slaves and other things ought Lo be established,
and manned with o detachmment from Fort Taland ® (Dol meeds aan de Oronogus sen post van defensie o
tegena ' wegloopen der slaven als anderzinly behoord le worden cangelegl en mel een delachemen! van 'l Fori-
Bilgnd poorzien). 1 remomber no such siartling phrase in the manuseript of this document (which, In
that case, 1 should of course have transcribed), and the suspicion is Irreslstible that there la here an sod-
dental omission of & word or two, sod that the resolution originally read * on the side of Orlacco *—L a,
wn that frontier of the colony. (Compare the phrase of the Easequibo Couort of Polley, in 1777: * On the
frootiers, and to the side of Orinoco, thers lies a post in the eresk of Morues "—Rxtracts, p. B20.)
Bat, to my deep regret, there is not tme to seek light from Holland on thia point, aad my susplcios mmst
remaln only a sospicion. Whatever the case, no such instruction as this was transmitied to the colony;
and the language of the Hollsnd Estates sod of the Dirsctor.Genersl of the Colony, in Beptember, 1784
{Extracta, pp. 574, 577), aod especially that of the Colonial Court of Policy in reestablishing the Morees
post ln March, 1785, (Extracts, p. 880), make it very improbable that there had besn sariooa Intest to
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mite we know with exactness from the map made by the colonial
surveyors in 1784.! It was on the *east bank of the Moruca, at ita *240
very mouth. There it thenceforward remained.

With this final change of site there took place also, in pursvance of the
Company’s directions of 1778, a considerable change in the management of
the post. Theretofore the Moruca post, like the other posts, had been reg-
ularly manned only by an outlier (uitlegger), or postholder, and a bylier
(bijlegger), or under-postholder, aided by the Indians, who were encouraged
to dwell about it."

tramafer that post to the Orlecon. It i to be soticed that the Hague report, as pricted ln the work
abave described, recommends specifically so ol her provision for the defenss of Essequibo than the restors
Uon of Lhe fort oa Fort Island and 1he eraatlon of this alleged Orinoco post.

! Atlsa, map 89, Cf. Exiracis, pp. 612-832. Were it nol for this careful official map, which puota
the matter beyond doob, there are sundry parsages whose phraseclogy might suggest that the post was
on Uhe we side of Lthe Morvea, Thos (1), the Instroctions of the Tea in 1778 { Extrecta, p. 683, prescribe
that the new post shall be bullt * at the western polat of the creek Moroce™ (1) When, ln 1788, the
oolonlal Coart of Pullcy took messores for ite establishment, ** it waa resolved to fix the place therefore on
the lowsr polot of Moruos.® (Extracta, p. 880.) Now, tha * lower ™ polat, In the pariance of the Gelana
ooast, should ceriainly mean (hat down the carrent—ihs weslern polat. (8) In 1T, o an investory of
the papers found in the government archives in Essequibo, there ls lated * » projected plaa of the post on
the west side of the creek Moroea™ (Extracts, p. 611.) And(4), In & rough sketoh map of the Pomercon
regioa drawn o 1793 by the surveyor Chollel (Hagus, Rijksarchief, map No. 1844), the post is sotnally
reprossoted om the west of the Morues ot its mouth. But, as regurds thess, it may be remarked that in
three of them tha error, If soch, may have bat & single souree. The trassmitted plan was very probably
that seat in 1779, and might be expected to bear & title borrowed from the resclotion of 1776 which gave
riso o i And the phrassology nssd by [Nrector-Geseral Trotx in sckoowladging this plan—'' & draw.
ing for the post of Moruea oa the west coasl of oar river ™ (Extracls, p. 381) —sounds not malike & cowrt.
sous silempt Lo call stiention to so error.  Chollet’s map of 1793 was confessedly a hasty and misleading
one ; It wes dissatisfaction both with this and with that of the rival sarveyor, Van der Barght, which Jed
to the Goversor-Geserals persomal viait of 1794 and to the careful map of that year. Moreover, ms
coloaial surveyor, Chollet probably had acoesa to the maps in the government's srohives snd may very
posslbly have been misled by the title om the very plan above described. Less sasy of explanstion i the
phirase of the Court of Pollcy In 1785 ; bat it s al loast possible thal they may have need * Jower point *
in distinotion from the polnt op the river where the post had so long stood, or that the polot may be
thonght of ss * lower * with relation to the Essequibo and the coloay as a whole. What makes It bardest
to belleve that the post could sver have stood oo the west bank ls the certaloly that it was not Lhere in
1794 aad the sheenos in the carefal records of the years preceding of any mestion of & removal. Tet
reliance ca sach negative proof Is proverbially hasardoas. Thers Is, 100, In the Reisen of Richard Bchom-
burgk & sotaworthy passage as o substructores still aristing in the mooth of Lhe Moruca st the date of
his visit, a balfl contory ago.

* Om the duties and prerogatives of the Moruca postholder moch light la thrown by the exiant in.
stractions drawa up for him Is the year 1787 by Lhe Essequibo goversor. These “ Provisional lostroe
tlons * lesnad to Postholder Disderik ' Neels ™ by Director-Geasrsl Blorm van 's Gravesands on October 7,
1787, are to bw found oaly in the colonfal records still preserved In British Gulssa. They bave been
priated la wanslstion by Mr. Rodway In his report oo The Bowndary Quaiion, published in 1898 by the
goerernmeat of Britlah Golasa. As they have aot been repriotad ia the Bloe Books of the Britiah Gov.
srament, and sre henoe not ssally sccessible, it will perbaps be of wee to give them in fall hare—of
oourss, in Mr. Rodway's Eaglish caly, the original Duteh belag out of reach:

= 1. He shall treat the free [ndiass kiadly sad gestly, aad do them no wrong, or allow sayons slss
o [Dtreat, injure, or oppress them, and he shall try ss far as lies in his power Lo indoce them Lo some and

Eve on the posi
* %, He shall pay sirict siisstioo lo, snd the Indians shall take notioe of, the desertion of sither red
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*341 *Now, in 1785, it was put under the command of an experienced

#2492 goldier, who bore the military title of commandant, and *whose
pay, instead of the old monthly stipend of 14 florins, was the hand-

some yearly salary of 800 florins.' At first his subordinates seem to have

been all soldiers, but with 1787 a bylier again appears, and thereafter we

find the post equipped with two or even three of theee.?

After the expiration of the West India Company and the assumption
of the colonies by the State, in 1792, the only post which continues to ap-
pear on pay and muster rolls is that of Moruca.* It continued to be main-
tained until the occupation of Essequibo by the British in 1786.¢ When in
1802 the Dutch reassumed possession, one of their earliest acts was the
resumption of the Moruca post, which had been left by the English occu-
pants in a sadly dilapidated condition. It was made the station of a de-
tachment of soldiery, but continued still, and doubtless to the end (Septem-
ber, 1808), to be administered also as a poat,

or black slaves, and all possible means shall be sdopted to pursse sad capture them, snd they ahall be
promptly pald for thelr capiure aa costomary.

# 3. He shall not allow anyons to pass the post withont & pass or permit, axsept well-known lohabi-
tanta who are parsaing thelr slares, and who have hed no Ume to oblalo permits; he must balp and ss-
slst such persons sa moch as lies In his power, and sssist with propristy all others who come with

* 4. He shall, as far s possible, pay strict attention to everything that trassplres in Basima aad
give an exact written reporl of the same, and also of anythlag extraordinary thal transpires oo the

* §. Froe trade in only allowed him om or about the post; he shall be boosd, when required, to
traide on boball of the Honourable Company, and be shall likewlse be allowed to do so for other parties.

* 8. In regard to boats, hammocks, eto.,, which sre broughi to be sold, bhe shall be bound, if re
galred, to give ua the prefercoce to purchase Lhem for the same prices which are offered by others

* 1. From the Bpanlards arriving with tobacco, ata, he shall demand § per cent import daty, and
nhall daliver the amoasl bare

* §. Passes and permits given to pass the post shall be considered as valld for one journey oaly, la
order to prevenl shuses,

“ 9. And be shall further conduct himsell in everything becoming to s loyal and vigilant Director,
and shall be sopplisd with further Instroctions or ampli[fec]atioas of what he will bave Lo do.

* L. Broax vaw ‘s Guavesanoa

“ Bio Essegoeso, st Four Zeenawmia, 7oh Ohvlober, 767,

* Anyone passing the post with a pass to hire Indians, he shall order this person or thess parsoos
Lo call st the post om thelr rotorn, so that he may ioquire of the Indians If they have been ltreated or
forced when Lhey were hired ; In which cass he shall forthwith report the same Lo the Directeur-General,
Afher the snd of the three mooths, this beiag the sxpirstion of the [adian's tme (term of service) aod
the period for retarning to thelr hoases, they shall eall again at the post Lo notily bim of their returs,
and that they were pasd and not ltreated.”

! Extracta, pp. 86u-888. For Bartholy's earller career, ses p. 818, In the pay-rolls he regularly
appears aa commandant, though he is olsewhere often spoken of aa * postholder.”

* This sppears from the pay-rolls and muster-rolls

¥ Muster-rolls of this period may be found in vols, 804 -Bu9 of the Weet India papers Lo the Rijlosar.
chial. The pay-rolls for 1793, 17%3, and 1784 are in vols. SRE8T-3889,

* Extracta, pp, 811, 818-418, 883434, Unprioted records show the postholder there to Lhe snd.

* Exiracis, pp. 856, 857. lo the journal of Governor Meeriens, ooder date of July 5, 1808, there b
a list of the civil functionariss of Esssquibo, among whom the staff of the Morucs poat are now Includsd
Ows F. Schmaltz appears sa " postholder,” on the reduced salary of 400 florine, while poor Bartholy
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Plantations on the Moruca there were none after the ruin of the Pom:
aroon colonies of 1658-1665 and 14861689 until the middle of the eighteenth
century. There came Lhen a single exception. One Frederic Beissenteufel
established at the mouth of the Moruca a plantation which, because of its
remoteness, he christened '‘ Loneliness ” (De Eensamheid).! Here
he *dwelt with his family and slaves, till he was accidentally blown *243
up in an explosion. His widow migrated to Demerara, and the eetate,
after being in 1766 sacked by a party of Spaniards,? passed into the hands
of the Rousselets.* Mrs. Rousselet complained, however, that it was the
greater part of the time under water, and at leogth refused to pay the
taxes levied upon her.t It was accordingly, in 1768, offered at sheriff's
gale with its belongings.* It seems, however, to have found no purchaser;
and it is of this particolar land, not of land on the Moruca in general, that
on January 8, 1772, the Essequibo Court of Policy (replying to the com-
plaint of Mrs. Rousselet, who had appealed to the West India Company)
wrote that ** this land was granted without determination of the number
of acres and upon the express condition that the owner or owners should
be bound to establish an outpost there—it being un estate lying close to
the river Orinoco, full two days’ sail from here, [and, having been] for a
considerable time left uncultivated by the petitioner [i. e., by Mrs. Rousse.
lat], in & word, fallen to ruin and at nearly every high tide under water,
wherefore it must now be sold without delay.”*

It is probable that the estate remained in the hands of the
*government; for, when in 1784 the Pomeroon lands as far as the *344
Moroca were at last laid out for settlement, it was suggested by
the colonial governor that those from the mouth of the Pomeroon to the
Moruca post should be reserved for the colony’s own use; and neither in
this suggestion por in the map of the survey is there any mention of pri-
vate rights in this district.*

With the wxception, then, of the Beissenteufels and the Rousselets in

himself (or one bearing his name) ls oaly byller, at 160 florins & year. And thers ls samed for the first
time & naw official st the post—the ** Misslon-gurden oversesr ™ (* Misseis fuym boas ')

1! Bo | sppears year by year la the directories of the solony.

» Extracts, p. 418

& Blos Book * Venssoels No, 3,"" pp. 144, 145, Exiracts, p. 440. The Roamselets, who were promi.
neat people lo the eoloay. of course did not lve thers, but worked the place by means of an overseer,
Ernssslet, who died scon after this aoquisition, had been coloalal secretary and seemd Lo have had peou.
liarly closs relations with the Bpaniards, which may sccoant for his desiring this Moruca pluntation,

& The documents relating to the quarrel with Mre. Roosselot il moch space in the records

¥ Extracts, p. 491,
* B Bloe Book * Veaezoels No. 1." pp. 179, 180, where & very differact tracalation Is givea. The
Duteh of the ssential portion ls as follows: . . | "pelouden souds sym aldsar o buplemposl e

houden, synde, sem gromd gelages digthy Ris Oromooqus, twes dages ruym seylems vam hier, by de rwpplisats
som peruyma ivd niet geculliverrd, m (e cmamaalin vervallen mesal alle springtyden onder waler, dus mossi
dasalve Dostslools werkogt werdem."' The confusiag punclustion is, of course, that of the original

T Exiracts, pp. 814, 838, It bs troe that & bid ls said to have beoo made for It (Blue Book, p. 180);
bet it is implied thet it was for the sake the cstile slons, aad the land, If sbandoned, would revert to the

eolony.
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the third quarter of the ceniury, the Moruca had, in the eighteenth cen-
tury, no European inhabitants outside the post. By the time of the re-
newed Dutch occupation of 18038 it is very possible that the coast lands
as far as the Moruca had been taken up; for there was then under discus-
gion the granting of landa to the west of that river.!

As early as 1756 we begin to hear of SBpanish threats against the Dutch
post on the Moruca. It is, however, only the threat of a missionary
father to come and carry off by force certain Indians dwelling under ita
protection.® In 1760 the Spaniards, elated by their successful raid of 1758
on the post in the Cuynni, threatened to come ere long and treat the
Moruca post in the same fashion; and the Essequibo governor found it
wise to reenforce the post with four soldiers.” In 1768 threats of a raid on
the post were ascribed to the Dutch deserters who were aiding the Span-
iards in their purging of the district east of the Orinoco.* But it was not
until 1760 that the post was actually visited. In February of Lhat year

there came into the Moruca and to the post an armed Spanish veesel
*2456 bearing a dozen soldiers and two Capuchin fathers and escorted *by a

party of Spanish Indians in canoes. The post made no resistance
but the Spaniards sought neither to capture nor to occupy it. What they
were after was Indians for the missions; and of theee they carried off
such as they could find,* and with them peopled a new mission at Puedpa
beyond the Yaruari. The Capuchins, who were in charge of the expedi-
tion, even gave to the postholder a certificate that this was their errand,
averring that by order of their ecclesiastical superior and with the permis-
gion of the Spanish commandant of the Orinoco they had *‘ passed into
Moruca in search of the Indians belonging to the missions of the Capuchin
fathers.”* But, if the visit of the Spaniards left behind no other result,
it seriously impaired the efficiency of the post by depleting the number of
Indians; so, at least, complained the Essequibo governor in 1772." In
1774 the Spaniards, to the number of forty, made another descent upon the
post, carrying off or killing the free Indians;® and a year later, in October,
1775, there was a yet more serious raid, when with fifty men the Spamsh
captain, Mateo, approaching by the inland passage and leaving his two
ships in the river Biara, came through the Itabo, and was 8o thorough in
his kidoapping of the natives that the postholder complained that *‘there
is no longer an Indian to be found in these parts.” In reply to the post-

! Extracta, p. 880,

¥ Blue Book * Veoazuels No, 3,° p. 108,

* Blus Book * Venezuela No. 5.7 p. 114

* Blue Book * Venezuals No, 8" pp. 154, 187,

* It appoars from the report of the prelect, Seplember 1%, 1770, that thess Indisns thos ** broaght
from Moruca oumbered iz all one bundred and seveaty.” (Venszuelan * Documents,™ ii, p. £47.)

¥ Blae Book " Veoeznela No. 3" pp. 180-188, £81-288 ; Venezoslan * Docutaents,” il, pp. 109, 187-
208, 286, 287,

' Blue Book * Venexuels No 8" p. 179,

¥ Blue Book " Yenezuela No. 3. p. 156,
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holder’s protest, the Spaniard not only affirmed that Mouruca belonged to
the Spaniards, but that his royal master would shortly set a guard in the
Barimani, at the Waini entrance to the inland passage. Yet it does not
appear that the post was actually taken into possession, much less
retained, ®or that any guard was ever actually stationed in the pass- %246
age. In 1786 the Spaniards were again in the Pomeroon for the
abduction of Indians, and yet again in 17984;' but, as the Moruca post was
now at the seacoast, and as the Spaniards donbtless made their way into
the Pomeroon by the Wacupo passage, one hears nothing of them in the
Moruca.

The elaborate reconooissance, not only of that river but of the Fomeroon,
in 1779, by the Spanish officer, Inciarte, was attended by no breach of the
peace; and his report in favor of Spanish establishments on both theee
rivers, though it resulted in a royal order for the erection of a Spanish
village and fort in the Moruca at the site of the Dutch post, seems to have
led to no practical results.? Whatever claims to the river might be made
by the Spaniards, [ can not learn that the Dutch were ever actually dis-
turbed in the possession of their post. There was, indeed, as we learn
from sources other than Dutch, an unsuccessful Spanish attack on the
post in 1707, while the colony was in the hands of the English; but this
was in time of war.

In brief, then:

1. The Moruca was first occupied by the Dutch at their occupation of
the Fomeroon, in 1658,

2. It was seltlead and held by them during the existence of the two
Pomeroon colonies (1658-1665, 1686-1688).

3. Thereafter, though clearly regarded as a possession, it was not again
actually occupied till the transfer of the Wacupo post to its banks, in or

soon after 1726,
*4. Thenceforward it was never abandoned, but was held with %247

growing tenacity.

5. Froun the seventeenth century until the very end of the eighteenth
it had no settlers, save for a single plantation during a few years; but
before its final loss to the Dutch its lands may have been once more coming
into occupancy.

8. Though more than once visited by bodies of armed Spaniards, who
forcibly abducted the Indians settled about it, no Spanish attempt to take
it into possession is known to Dutch records.

| Extracta, pp. 591, 633-837. It la to be sotiond thai im 1790 the commissioners reporting oo the
state of the colony speak of Lhe soming of Spanish bosis o the Morsoa for the sbductioa of Indians s
ihough |t wers an habltsal cocurrenes. (Erxirssis, p. 801.)

* Bes the doomments s Beijas, Limiles Brilemioss do Cuayons, pp. §7-84 Nothlag of all this is
knows (o Lhe Duich records sxzoept Lhe pressace of ithe Spaalsh party la Pomercon asd Morsca. (Ex.
tracts, pp. 541, 581.) Cf also Blos Book ” Vesernela No. 8,7 pp. B05-314.



110

No. 3.
#2485 *5. THE DUTCH IN THE WAINL

For 100 miles or so west of the Moruca no river enters the sea. The
river Waini, however, which there at last breaks through to the beach,
runs for half its course nearly parallel to the coast, and at the point where,
coming from the south, it sweeps around to this northwestward course is
but a score of miles from the Moruea, with which, as we have seen, it is
connected by a passage navigable at high water.!

West of the Moruca there was never a Dutch post, nor ever a Dutch
grant of colonial land.? Such occapation as can be shown for the Waini is,
therefore, of a somewhat nondescript character.

Prior to the eighteenth century scarcely a mention of the river is found
in the Dutch records. For the earliest period this is adequately explained,
perhaps by the fact that the Waini, unlike the rivers to the east of it, was
the home, not of the mild Arawak, but of the Carib. But when in the

last quarter of the seventeenth century the Dutch had entered into
*240 regular commercial relations with the Caribs of the Barima, and *must

hava carried on by way of the Waini both that trade and the trade
with the Spaniards of the Orinoco, it is somewhat puzzling that the name
of the Waini does not oftener appear.

The earliest mention I find of it in Dutch records is in connection with
the advent of those hostile Caribs, driven out by the Dutch of Burinam,
whose coming seems for long to have interrupted Dutch trade beyond the
Moruca. ** These Coppenam Caribs,” wrote the Essequibo governor in
1685,* are taking refuge just to leeward of us, about Barima, Waini, Ama-
cura.” The name of the river does not appear again until, in the year
1700,* the governor reports the sending of the colo